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The conquests by European powers during the nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries threatened the cultural and political existence of 
the Islamic world, and it seemed only a matter of time before the 
last independent Muslim country would disappear from the political 
map. For Afghanistan the situation became critical late in the nine- 
teenth century, when the Russian and British empires advanced in 
Central Asia until they were separated only by the area of Afghani- 
stan. 

Afghanistan became a national entity in 1747 when Ahmed Shah 
united the Afghan tribes under his leadership. Ahmed Shah's power 
was consolidated in consequence of an aggressive foreign policy 
aimed at the conquest of large portions of northern India. But by the 
end of the eighteenth century the hope of Afghan rulers to increase 
their domain was definitely foiled. Lord Mornington, Governor of 
Bengal (1798-1805), initiated a policy of containment of Afghani- 
stan, and Lord Auckland (1836-1842) began to interfere directly in 
the affairs of that country, bringing about the First Anglo-Afghan 
War (1839-1842). The failure of Britain to obtain her objectives in 
this war led to a temporary disengagement, but Britain's forward 
policy was not to be stopped, and the arrival of a Russian mission in 
Afghanistan became the cause of the Second Anglo-Afghan War 

(187S1879) 
The fact that Anglo-Russian advances in this area were definitely 

stopped, with Afghanistan remaining a national entity, was the 
result of such factors as her geographical situation; the rivalry 
between Russia and Britain, which prevented the one from advanc- 
ing at the expense of the other; and the skill of the Afghans in 
perilla warfare. The most important factor to which Akhanistan 
owed her national s~lrvival, however, was the skillful policy of her 
rulers. Much has been written about Afghanistan's international 
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relations, but this aspect-the policy of her rulers-has generally 
been neglected. 

I t  is my contention that Afghan rulers followed a conscious 
policy, first formulated by Abdur Rahman in the late 189o's, which 
rested on the premise that Afghanistan's neighbors were essentially 
hostile and bent on territorial annexation. T o  deter his neighbors 
from aggression, Abdur Rahman relied on a policy of militant 
independence, strict isolationism, and a middle-course balancing of 
powers which attempted to check pressures from one of his neigh- 
bors by obtaining support from the other. T o  conduct such a policy 
successfully, the Afghan ruler had to be careful not to provoke either 
of his two neighbors: Britain, with whom he had a cautious alliance, 
and Russia, from whom he isolated himself in the arrangement with 
Britain. 

My purpose is to present a history of Afghan foreign relations 
from the turn of the century to the early ~gzo's, and to describe and 
analyze Afghanistan's foreign policy from formulation to execution 
under three Afghan rulers. 

This study provides new information that is needed for an under- 
standing of the recent history of Afghanistan. It brings into focus 
certain trends in Afghan foreign policy which have persisted to this 
day. Having attained independence in 1919, Afghanistan gradually 
abandoned its isolationist policy; but Afghan rulers have continued 
to resist the peaceful penetration of their country and they have not 
granted foreigners any vital concessions or positions of power within 
their domain. The fate of the transborder Afghans continues to 
affect Afghanistan's foreign relations, and Afghanistan in the 1960's 
is a nonaligned nation which wants to be at peace with all and 
refuses to support either of the two power blocs in their ideological 
dispute. 

Just as it describes Afghan foreign relations, this book also gives 
an example of European imperialist policy. It shows one of the 
many instances in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries of 
the confrontation of West and East, the unequal battle between the 
industrial, expanding West and the undeveloped, traditional East. 
What is remarkable in our story is that Afghanistan survived this 
confrontation. 

As a study of Afghan foreign relations, this book is essentially a 
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diplomatic history of Afghanistan. It deals primarily with the ac- 
tions and pronouncements of policy makers-the Afghan rulers and 
their advisers, and the officials of various other states. In the course 
of my research a number of questions arose: Who was in charge of 
conducting Afghan foreign relations? What were the objectives of 
A$han policy? Were there any internal factors militating against a 
"sound" Afghan foreign policy? Were there factors of economics, or 
of ethnic or religious diversity, which seriously affected Afghan 
rulers in the conduct of their foreign affairs? These and similar 
questions are answered in the subsequent chapters. 

Above all, it should be emphasized that the conduct of Afghani- 
stan's foreign relations during the early twentieth century, the pe- 
riod of this study, was the exclusive right of the Afghan rulers. This 
function was the concomitant of sovereign power and could not be 
delegated. Furthermore, in a state that had emerged as a centralized 
entity only toward the end of the nineteenth century, and whose 
centrifugal forces of tribal, ethnic, and religious differences had not 
yet been completely eliminated, Afghan rulers could not in their best 
interests delegate the task of conducting foreign relations. 

Afghan rulers always feared that their officials could be induced 
by judicious bribes to connive with their enemies to the detriment of 
Afghanistan's security and independence. Abdur Rahman and his 
two successors, therefore, resisted British and Russian demands for 
permitting direct relations between officials stationed along the Af- 
ghan border to secure the settlement of minor offenses and to curb 
raiding and frontier violence. 

At times when Afghan officials were in contact with British 
officials, as during the Dobbs mission in 1903; or during repeated 
attempts at settling frontier disputes or demarcating the Afghan 
boundaries, Afghan oficials were never permitted to negotiate inde- 
pendently and always had to refer for orders to the amir. In only one 
instance was this rule bypassed: during the Mussoorie Conference in 
1920 Mahmud Tarzi, the Afghan Foreign Minister, was given ple- 
nary powers, provided he did not endanger Afghanistan's primary 
objective, her absolute independence.' It goes without saying that no 
agreements were legal without having been ratified by the amir. 

Prior to AMur Rnhman's reign, Afghans sought outside support 
to rule over Afghanistan. After Abdur Rahman was established in 
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1880, two men in exile-Ishaq Khan in Russia and Ayyub Khan in 
India-were biding their time, hoping to return to Afghanistan. 
Afghan rulers knew of the machinations of their rivals. Abdur 
Rahman was aware of secret negotiations between Ayyub Khan, 
then in occupation of Herat, and Colonel St. John, with the British 
forces in Kand~thar.~ And Habibullah knew of the intrigues of Bibi 
Halima, wife of Abdur Rahman, who sought British assistance to 
establish her son on the t h r ~ n e . ~  

Abdul Kuddus Khan, Prime Minister under Amanullah, ap- 
peared willing to negotiate independently with the British, when the 
events 'of the Third Afghan War threatened to endanger his position 
in Kabul.' And Nasrullah, imprisoned for his alleged complicity in 
the murder of Habibullah, attempted to treat with the British for his 
rescue. This sirdar, who was known for his utter dislike of the 
British, was willing to surrender considerable portions of Afghani- 
stan in exchange for liberation by the British and investiture with 
the authority to rule over the remainder of Afghanistan: But the 
Indian government itself discouraged such intrigues. Britain seemed 
to fear chaos in Afghanistan more than the unfriendliness of an 
Afghan ruler, for she preferred to deal with a strong Afghan ruler, 
who could be induced by subsidies and by British support-in short, 
by self-interest-to refrain from an aggressive policy, rather than 
rely on the uncertain benefit that might be derived from installing 
some other aspirant on the Afghan throne. 

It is reasonably certain, therefore, that the Afghan ruler was in 
command of foreign relations and that even his foreign enemies 
preferred it that way.' It must be admitted, however, that there 
existed a number of factors that did influence Afghan rulers in the 
conduct of their foreign relations. Furthermore, certain conditions 
strengthened or weakened Afghan rulers in their dealings with the 
outside world. 

One factor that was of great importance in keeping Afghanistan 
an independent state was the rugged topography of the country. 
Afghanistan has an area of about 250,000 square miles, of which 
about 85 percent is at an altitude of more than 6,000 feet.' The 
Hindu Kush (Hindu Killer) and a number of other mountain 
ranges, with peaks of more than 20,000 feet, in the Wakhan Corri- 
dor, fan out in a western and southwestern direction, posing an 
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endless series of barriers to north-south communications. Only in 
the western part of the country did it appear ~ossible for an invader 
from the north to pass from Herat in a southern direction, and, 
skirting the mountains, to gain access to Kandahar and the Indo- 
Afghan boundary. 

Before the advent of aerial warfare, the mountains and deserts of 
Afghanistan were enough of a barrier to discourage invaders. Large 
invading forces could not easily support themselves in a country so 
barren of vegetation. Thousands of transport animals were required 
to supply the troops and keep open the routes of supplies. It was 
relatively easy for Britain to occupy certain key towns in eastern and 
southern Afghanistan, but it was difficult to hold these areas against 
vigorous attack by Afghan tribal forces. Two Anglo-Afghan wars 
showed Britain that it was easier to invade Afghanistan than it was 
to hold or evacuate the country.g Britain's experience may have 
served as a warning also to the Russian government, which was not 
impressed by the plans of some Russian military officials to invade 
India.'' The persistent policy of Afghan rulers was that nothing be 
done that would improve communications in Afghanistan to the 
extent of facilitating invasion by foreign armies. They resisted the 
extension of railroad lines into Afghanistan because these would 
have weakened the country's natural defenses. 

Another factor that helped deter foreign invasion was the rivalry 
between Russia and Britain. The possession of Afghanistan by one 
of these two powers would have endangered either the British hold 
over India or Russia's consolidation in Central Asia. Rather than 
permit the other to establish itself in Afghanistan, Britain and 
Russia were willing to accept Afghanistan as a buffer between their 
two empires. But to accomplish this, at least the tacit cooperation of 
the Afghan ruler was required. Afghan rulers had the power tu 
upset any arrangement between Russia and Britain by joining one 
of them in an aggressive alliance against the other. Some British 
officials therefore saw it as inevitable that Rritain would one day 
move into Afghanistan and establish her "scientific" frontier with 
Russia along the ranges of the Hindu Kush. That Britain never did 
so resulted in no small part h-om the Afghan rukrs' skill in playing 
hllffer-state politics and balancing Russia and Britain against each 
other. 



In addition to its rugged terrain and the big-power rivalries, 
Afghan rulers counted on other assets in their dealings with their 
neighbors. One of these was the rise in the Islamic East of Pan- 
Islamism as an increasingly powerful challenge to domination by 
Christian imperialist powers. Both Russia and Britain had millions 
of Muslim subjects within their territories. Muslims in India and 
Central Asia were potential partisans of or at least sympathizers 
with the Afghans, and the destruction of Afghanistan by European 
powers might have led to serious repercussions in India and else- 
where. Afghan rulers, therefore, did all they could to propagate the 
image of themselves as "Islamic kings" and the defenders of the 
faith. 

A similar source of strength for Afghan rulers was the existence 
in India of Afghan, or Pathan, tribes (these terms may be used 
interchangeably),ll some of whom lived in semi-independence along 
the Indo-Afghan frontier. Afghan rulers considered this tribal belt 
to be Afghan territory; failing to gain it for Afghanistan, however, 
they wanted to see it established as a buffer zone between Afghani- 
stan and India, a barrier to British penetration. Afghanistan, there- 
fore, resisted British demands to sever relations with these Afghan 
tribes, and overtly or covertly they countered British measures of 
penetration of this area by their own measures of cultural and 
political penetration. These transborder Afghans were valuable allies 
in the event of Anglo-Afghan conflicts, for the amir's call for holy 
war, supported by financial and military assistance, could rally many 
of them against a British invader. 

Finally, an important asset of Afghan rulers was that their coun- 
try, poor as it was, was economically self-sufficient. Afghanistan was 
not burdened with any foreign debts; debts were unacceptable to 
Afghan rulers as a matter of prin~iple.'~ The existence of a flourish- 
ing foreign trade merely meant a measure of prosperity; it was not 
vital to the survival of Afghanistan.la This economic self-sufficiency 
becomes apparent when one examines the use Afghan rulers made 
of the British subsidy. From the beginning Afghan rulers used the 
subsidy for the purchase of arms and ammunition, and for the 
machinery needed for their manufacture. Some money was also 
expended on projects of modernization, but none was needed to 
redress an unfavorable balance of trade or to provide services vital to 
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the existence of Afghanistan. Furthermore, Afghan rulers kept large 
amounts of their subsidies deposited with the government of India. 
So large were these accounts that in 1903 Habibullah still held about 
9 lakhs of rupees which were due his father and thus avoided the 
showdown that would have resulted by drawing on his own account 
of 24 lakhs, which Britain wanted to pay only after renegotiation of 
the Anglo-Afghan agreements.14 Only after confirmation of the 
treaty in 1905 did Habibullah request 32 lakhs of an account that 
had risen to a total of 62.5 lakh~.'~ Finally, after the Third Afghan 
War, Amanullah was able to refuse the British subsidy when he felt 
that it would limit his power to conduct independent foreign rela- 
tions.16 In sum, it may be said that Afghanistan's economic position 
was not the kind likely to make the country vulnerable to economic 
pressures, such as an economic blockade or the stoppage of subsidy 
payments. 

There existed, however, a number of internal Afghan factors that 
influenced Afghan rulers in the conduct of their relations with the 
outside world, and none of these was of greater importance than the 
Islamic sentiment of the Afghan people. Even so formidable a ruler 
as Abdur Rahman could not afford to disregard this sentiment. The 
"Iron Amir" had destroyed all his rivals, real or imaginary; he broke 
the power of the ulema and combined in his person the temporal 
and religious establishments. But there were limits even to his 
powers. Abdur Rahman could not permit even the merest suspicion 
that he had received his throne from the British, and he could show 
no friendship for either Russia or Britain which would exceed the 
limits of what was necessary in the national interest of Afghanistan. 
"If I showed any inclination towards the English," said Abdur 
Rahman in his biography, "my people would call me an infidel for 
joining hands with infidels, and they would proclaim a religious 
holy war against me." l7 

In the religious hierarchy the mullahs, the lowest sector, were a 
force the amir could not ignore. Following the concept of the Divine 
Ruler, the amir claimed the right to make final decisions in matters 
of religious interpretation. He  reserved for himself the right to 
proclaim jihad, and he "nationalized" the waqf (auqaf), the reli- 
gious endowments, thus making the higher religious officials de- 
pendent on the salary they received from the state. But he could not 



so easily control the lowest segments of this class, the wandering 
mullahs, who depended for their livelihood on the offerings of the 
pious and thus had preserved a certain amount of independence 
from the Afghan rulers. These mullahs were the perpetual preachers 
of jihad. They were often the tools of their amirs, but they were 
even prepared to turn against their king should he show any tend- 
ency of unwarranted friendliness toward Britain or Russia:' 

Another factor, but merely of secondary importance in influenc- 
ing Afghan foreign relations, was the existence of certain checks and 
balances within the ruling establishment of Afghanistan. The 
amir's Council of Advisers included men who held positions of 
power, the heads of the military and the religious sector, the cour- 
tiers, the members of the royal family, and others. This council was 
purely advisory during the time of Abdur Rahman, but it gained a 
certain measure of influence in subsequent years. Although the 
British at times wondered whether the amir was ruling the council 
or vice versa, it soon became apparent that he was not the captive of 
any clique.'' There was also the Loe Jirgah, or Great Council, an 
assembly of tribal leaders and personalities from all parts of the 
country. It convened at times of national emergency, as for example 
for the declaration of war. Although it was no rubber-stamp assem- 
bly, experience has shown that the Amir always succeeded in win- 
ning it over to his point of view." 

During the reign of Habibullah there appeared a coalition of 
nationalistic forces which included, on the one hand, the "Young 
Afghansw-Afghan modernists, students, and some military and 
government oficials at Kabul, who gravitated toward the personal- 
ity of Sirdar Mahrnud Tarzi, their chief propagandist and the editor 
of the Siro'j al-Akhbo'r-and, on the other hand, the traditional 
element, the mullahs and frontier tribes, who saw in Nasrullah, the 
Amir's brother, their protector and benefactor. The British soon 
dubbed this coalition the "war party" because of the inclination of its 
leaders to side with the Central Powers against Britain during 
World War T. This coalition put strong pressure on Habibullah, but 
it could not convince him (nor, perhaps, themselves) that Afghani- 
stan should initiate a war against Britain without massive support 
from Germany and Turkey. 

What mitigated the pressures exerted on the amir by his council, 
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the war party, the "pro-British" element, or other potentially power- 
ful groups was that their leaders belonged to the ruling establish- 
ment and therefore could not exceed certain limits if they did not 
want to run the risk of destroying themselves by destroying their 
ruler. 

For various reasons, the commercial class in Afghanistan did not 
exert strong influence on the Afghan rulers in their relations with 
the outside world. First, part of the Afghan trade was in the hands 
of foreign merchants, who often possessed more capital than Af- 
ghans and had the inclination for that kind of occupation. It is true 
that trade (including smuggling) was one of the occupations of the 
Kutchis, the Afghan nomads, who during their yearly migrations 
traveled far into India, but their trade was, if important to them, not 
a vital factor in the Afghan economy. Second, Afghan rulers, after 
the time of Abdur Rahman, pursued a policy of economic self- 
sufficiency, often setting prohibitive customs rates to protect home 
industries or state monopolies. Foreign trade was therefore subject to 
erratic changes which were not conducive to the expansion of trade 
with Russia and India.21 

Afghan rulers were not economists and, rather than strengthen- 
ing trade, they often stifled it with such devices as state monopolies, 
excessive taxation, and the boycott of Anglo-Russian rail terminals at 
the Afghan frontiers. Afghan rulers were not hostile to trade; they 
merely seemed to prefer a poor Afghanistan which was their unchal- 
lenged domain to a state prospering with foreign trade, over which 
they might lose their control. Although the comn~ercial class, such as 
it was in Afghanistan, was interested in peace, its feelings did not 
generally play an important role in influencing the amirs' decisions 
for war or peace. 

Finally, the military class also was not able significantly to influ- 
ence foreign political decisions. Afghan military commanders in the 
provinces were often checked by the amir's governors. The amir 
controlled the flow of new weapons and ammunition he purchased 
from abroad. Unlike the tribal armies of the border Afghans, the 
regular Afghan forces were often a pitiable lot.22 The nmir con- 
trolled the appointment of the highest military leaders, and it is 
surprising how quickly even they could be deposed or lose much of 
their influence. The fates of such high military commanders as 
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Abdul Kuddus Khan, Nadir Khan, and Saleh Muhammad illustrate 
this very well. 

Like other Afghan groupings, the military as a class did not pose 
a serious challenge to the amirs' foreign political dealings. That the 
foreign policy of Afghan rulers was eminently successful was due in 
no small amount to the popularity it enjoyed among the Afghan 
people, especially the Pashtu-speaking majority, who gave it their 
wholehearted support. This popular support strengthened the amir 
in his dealings with Britain and Russia and made it impossible, 
without resorting to war, for foreigners to gain influence in Afghan- 
istan. Often the deterrent to war with Afghanistan was the fact that 
the British, and at times also the Russians, feared a defeated and 
leaderless Afghanistan more than a hostile but neutral Afghan ruler. 

The conduct of the foreign policy of Afghanistan was the exclu- 
sive right of the amir. Therefore, I examine in this study such 
tangible manifestations of Afghan policy as the correspondence of 
Afghan rulers, their pronouncements at court, their conversations 
and negotiations with officials of foreign powers, and last but not 
least their actions. 

It is appropriate here to discuss briefly the available literature on 
Afghan foreign relations. It is hardly surprising that the great 
majority of sources are in English, written by Britishers whose 
country was so closely involved in the history of Afghanistan. There 
are diaries of veterans of the Afghan wars, accounts of world 
travelers and explorers, and writings about history, politics, geogra- 
phy, and other fields concerning Afghanistan. Russian writings 
appeared around the turn of the century and, like those of many 
British authors, they were often motivated by empire interests. Ger- 
man and French writings were stimulated by the events of World 
War I, the opening up of Afghanistan after the war, and by the 
arrival in 1923 of German and French representatives at K a b ~ l . ' ~  
Books in languages other than these draw heavily on sources in 
English. 

This study of the trends in Afghan foreign policy from IF to 
1923 was motivated by the fact that no comprehensive work on 
Afghanistan's foreign relations which draws on original sources and 
provides new information exists for this period. There is the excel- 
lent monograph by William Habberton, Anglo-Russian Relations 
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Concerning Afghanistan, 1837-1907, but as it was not based on 
archival material available in India, it stresses the policies of the two 
European powers and reflects Afghan policy merely on the basis of 
an occasional letter from the Afghan ruler. D. P. Singhal's India and 
Afghanistan, 1876-1907, a similar study of international relations, 
does not utilize material available in India; it tends for this reason to 
overemphasize the importance of the personality and character of 
certain statesmen.24 Other works that utilize archival material in 
India, such as the books of D. K. Ghose, England and Afghanistan, 
and R. S. Rastogi, Indo-Afghan Relations, 1880-1900, deal with 
Anglo-Afghan relations only up to 1900. Sir Percy Sykes's History of 
Afghanistan, a standard text in view of its scope and structure, is at  
times incorrect or deals rather sketchily with the subject. W. K. 
Fraser-Tytler's excellent study, Afghanistan, is still a most reliable 
work, but it omits much of importance for raisons d'etat. Such 
works as the histories or handbooks by D. N. Wilber, Afghanistan, 
Arnold Fletcher, Afghanistan: Highroad of Conquest, and by Max 
Klimburg, Afghanistan, das Land i m  historischen Spannungsfeld 
Mdttelasiens, are too large in scope to cover Afghan foreign relations 
in great detail. 

Of Russian books there are the works of N. A. Dvoryankov et al., 
Sovremennyy Afganistan; L. B.  Teplinskiy, Souetsko-Afganskiye 
Otnosheniya, 1919-1960; M. G. Pikulin, Afganistan: Ekonomiches- 
kiy Ocherk; N .  A. Khalfin, Proval Britanskoy Agressii v Afganis- 
tane; and W .  A. Romodin, Istoriia Afganistana. The last-named is 
an excellent work, but it and the other books are difficult to obtain. 
They also suffer from the fact that either they are not based on 
original archival sources or they are based on a conceptual frame- 
work in which the economic infrastructure is the determinant fac- 
tor.26 

The fact that no comprehensive study of Afghan foreign relations 
from 1900 to the mid-1920's has been undertaken is attributable 
mainly to the British regulation prescribing that foreign and politi- 
cal files of the British government remain secret for a period of fifty 
years. The archives up to 1922 are now open. In 1956 I received 
permission from the Ministry of External Affairs of the government 
of India to consult secret files up to 1923 from the National Archives 
of India in New Delhi. This material was supplemented from the 
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files of the Foreign and Political Department of the India Ofice in 
London. For a clear and comprehensive view of German activities 
and relations with Afghanistan from 1914 to 1920, the political files 
of the Deutsche Auswaertige Amt have been examined. These 
German Foreign Ofice files are available in microfilm at the library 
of the University of Michigan and were obtained from that source. 
Some documents were obtained from the Hof- und Staatsarchiv in 
Vienna, Austria, but they were found to be also in the German 
political files. 

This study is structured chronologically. Periods of foreign politi- 
cal crises and diplomatic confrontation were selected, and the course 
of a number of negotiations of the Afghans with representatives of 
Britain, Russia, and Germany are presented to reveal and define the 
workings of Afghanistan's foreign relations. Chapter I discusses the 
period of Abdur Rahman and defines the policy he instituted. 
Chapter 2 reviews Habibullah's struggle for British recognition; it 
further stresses the importance of the Russian Memorandum of 1900 
which exerted great pressure on the Afghan ruler and set the stage 
for Anglo-Russian negotiations leading to a settlement over the head 
of the Amir of the "Afghanistan Question." Chapter 3 gives an 
account of the formulation of British demands from the Amir and 
describes the subsequent negotiations. New details of importance are 
brought out concerning Afghan willingness to conclude a 
defensive+ffensive alliance with Britain. An illustration is also 
given of what was to become a familiar "technique of attrition" by 
which the Afghans successfully frustrated the British in endless 
negotiations, confronting them with the alternative of either ac- 
quiescing to Afghan demands or resorting to an ultimatum to force 
the Afghans to accept the British point of view. Since Britain was 
often unable to threaten military action, the Afghans enjoyed an 
advantage that balanced to some extent their inadequate bargaining 
powers. Chapter 4 concentrates on the hitherto neglected Afghan 
reaction to the Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907. Events in Af- 
ghanistan are examined to show that from 1907 until the beginning 
of World War I nothing had changed in Afghan foreign policy. 
Chapter 5 gives an account of the so-called Niedermayer expedition, 
its activities in Afghanistan, and its effects on Afghan foreign 
relations. Chapter 6 discusses the Third Anglo-Afghan War, but it is 



beyond the scope of this study to examine in detail the course of the 
war. Chapter 7 describes the events subsequent to the Third Anglo- 
Afghan War, the Mussoorie Conference, and the final settlement 
culminating in the Treaty of Kabul of 1921. 

The system employed for the transliteration of foreign words 
avoids the use of phonetic symbols or diacritical marks. Foreign 
words listed in Webster's Third N e w  International Dictionary are 
written as they appear there. 



B U I L D I N G  A N A T I O N  

When the British in 1880 reluctantly and with serious misgivings 
recognized Abdur Rahman as Amir of Kabul, Anglo-Afghan rela- 
tions were burdened with the legacy of two wars, the loss of life and 
property and the ill will and distrust that resulted. Russia was 
extending her influence in Central Asia, soon to impinge on Afghan 
territory, and the stage was set for the battle of the Hindu Kush as 
the ultimate "scientific frontier" between the Russian and British 
Empires. 

The new Amir was, to a certain extent, the creature of the two 
rivaling empires. H e  owed much of his political training and his 
understanding of power politics to almost twelve years of exile in 
Russian Turkestan. H e  ascended the throne with the sanction of 
both Britain and Russia. Russia permitted Abdur Rahman to es- 
tablish himself in northern Afghanistan.' Lord Lytton, in a reversal 
of his forward policy, wanted to withdraw the British troops from 
their increasingly precarious occupation of southeastern Afghanistan 
and offered Abdur Rahrnan the entire country with the exception of 
Herat, which was to be ceded to Persia; and Kandahar, which was 
to become an independent amirate under the protection of Britah3 

In his first pronouncement of foreign relations, Abdur Rahman 
conveyed to Lepel Grifin, chief British political officer in Afghani- 
stan, his hopes for the country, saying: 

. . . as long as your Empire and that of Russia exist, my countrymen, 
the tribes of Afghanistan, should live quietly in ease and peace; and 
that these two States should find us true and faithful; and that we 
should rest at peace between them: for my tribesmen are unable to 
struggle with Empires, and are ruined by want of commerce; and we 
hope of your friendship that, sympathizing with and assisting the 
people of Afghanistan, you will place them under the honorable pro- 



tection of the two Powers. This would redound to the credit of both, 
would give peace to Afghanistan, and quiet and comfort to God's 
people. This is my wish: for the rest it is yours to d e ~ i d e . ~  

But an  independent Afghanistan under Anglo-Russian guarantees 
was not what Britain desired. Disturbed about the security of her 
possessions in  India, Britain in  1869 had already extracted a n  assur- 
ance from Russia that Afghanistan was outside her sphere of influ- 
ence. This  assurance, later known as the Granville-Gorchakoff 
Agreement, was reiterated on  a number of occasions: T o  permit 
Russia to become a party to the Afghan settlement was therefore not 
acceptable to Britain. 

In  his correspondence with Abdur Rahman, Lepel Griffin gave 
assurances that Britain had n o  desire to interfere in  the internal 
affairs of Afghanistan, but  conceded it might be advisable that a 
Muslim agent of the British government should reside a t  Kabul. A s  
for British policy toward Afghanistan, Gr i f in  stated: 

. . . since the British Government admits no right of interference by 
Foreign Powers within Afghanistan, and since both Russia and 
Persia ' are pledged to abstain from all interference with the affairs of 
Afghanistan, it is plain that Your Highness can have no political 
relations with any Foreign Power except with the British Govern- 
ment. If any Foreign Power should attempt to interfere in Afghani- 
stan, and if such interference should lead to unprovoked aggression 
on the dominions of Your Highness, in that event the British Govern- 
ment would be prepared to aid you, to such extent and in such man- 
ner as may appear to the British Government necessary, in repelling 
it: provided that Your Highness follows unreservedly the advice of 
the British Government in regard to your external  relation^.^ 

British policy had gradually changed during the negotiations 
between Griffin and  Abdur Rahman from the originally planned 
unconditional surrender of the country to a n  Afghan ruler to the 
attachment of conditions for the control of Afghanistan's relations 
with foreign ~0wers.R Abdur Rahman showed himself not a t  all 
anxious to accept the Kabul throne from the British, nor  did he 
accept the British proposal to divide his country. Britain had already 
set a date for evacuation of her troops, and  the increasing pressure of 
Afghan tribal forces threatened to make the withdrawal a somewhat 
undignified affair? This  was especially so when, after recognizing 



Abdur Rahman as Amir of the country, the British troops of Gen- 
eral G.  R. S. Burrows were defeated at the Battle of Maywand on 
July 27, 1880, and Shir Ali, the British-imposed Amir of Kandahar, 
was forced into Indian exile. Abdur Rahman used the opportunity 
to extend his power over the whole of Afghanistan; he defeated 
Ayyub Khan, and by the end of 1881 he was in control of the entire 

Britain did not want to conclude a formal treaty with the Amir 
and merely indicated in two letters of June and July, 1880, her policy 
of supporting an independent ruler in Afghanistan and defending 
him from outside aggression, provided that the Amir had foreign 
relations only with the government of India. A letter of June 22, 

1880, contained the Amir's reply and acceptance, in somewhat modi- 
fied form, of the British conditions. These three letters constitute the 
Anglo-Afghan Agreement of 1880." T o  strengthen the Amir against 
internal and external enemies, the government of India granted him, 
in 1882, a subsidy of 12 lakhs of rupees.12 

Russian advances in Central Asia led to Anglo-Russian negotia- 
tions and the final demarcation of the Afghan border from Zulfikar 
to Khwaja Salih in an agreement ratified in 1887.'~ Russia solved a 
territorial dispute with Afghanistan over the Panjdeh district in 
March, 1885, by forcefully occupying the area. The fact that Britain 
did not live up to her obligation of assisting Afghanistan against this 
aggression has not been forgotten by subsequent Afghan rulers. 

Afghanistan's northeastern boundary was demarcated with the 
assistance of Sir Mortimer Durand in 1893. At that time Afghani- 
stan lost the northern provinces of Shignan and Rushan while she 
gained the cis-Oxus province of Darwaz and the unwanted Wakhan 
Corridor. The Indo-Afghan boundary was also defined, and, to 
overcome some of the Amir's opposition, his subsidy was increased 
by 6 lakhs of rupees. (For the administration of the Wakhan 
province, the Amir was given an additional sum of half a lakh of 
rupees in 1897.) Demarcation of the Indo-Afghan boundary was left 
to a later, mutually satisfactory settlement. The Amir was further 
assured that the government of India would raise no objection to the 
purchase and import by the Amir of arms and ammunitions. These 
assurances were incorporated in the Agreements of 1893 which were 
signed by Sir Mortimer Durand and the Amir of Afghanistan. 



F O R M U L A T I O N  O F  A FOREIGN P O L I C Y  

Abdur Rahman knew he owed his kingdom to the fact that two 
empires were approaching the borders of Afghanistan, and that he 
was set up to keep them apart. Russia had, at a time when she had 
not yet reached the banks of the Oxus, agreed to recognize this river 
as the southern limit of her sphere of interest. Britain, finding direct 
control over Afghanistan expensive and difficult, was willing to 
accept an independent, strong-though not too strong-Afghanistan 
as a barrier to conflict with Russia. Britain expected to control 
Afghanistan indirectly, by penetrating the country peacefully and 
establishing an influence over the Amir, her subordinate ally. But 
the policies of two empires, decisions of war and peace, and, in the 
end, the fate of India depended on the goodwill and cooperation of 
Abdur Rahman. The Afghan ruler's foreign political task was there- 
fore clear: the preservation of an independent Afghanistan as a 
buffer state between two powerful imperialistic empires. Abdur 
Rahman knew that the powers that agreed to a buffer between their 
territories could also agree to divide the country; the existence of an 
independent buffer was desirable at that time, but not vital to his 
neighbors. 

An Afghan foreign policy could soon be discerned, implicitly in 
the Amir's actions and explicitly in his pronouncements at  durbar 
and in his writings. The pillars of this policy were: ( I )  assertion of 
national independence, (2) insistence on isolationism, and (3) pro- 
motion of a balance of power. 

Assertion of National Independence 

Abdur Rahman had always considered himself the independent 
ruler of an independent Afghanistan, subject to no interference by 
any foreign power in the internal affairs of his country and guided 
solely by his personal interest, which he equated with Afghanistan's 
national interest. "Abdur Rahman, Padshah of Afghanistan, by his 
own will and that of his own independent tribes," as he called 
himself defiantly in some of his letters to the government of India,14 
always disputed the claims of British Indian officials that it was they 
who put him on the throne of Afghanistan and gave him his 
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country? Indeed, the British action was no more than a recognition 
of the de facto situation.'' 

Abdur Rahman soon began to interpret his contractual obligation 
not to have foreign relations with any power other than Britain to 
mean that he could conduct neighborly relations with others, pro- 
vided he informed the government of India and sought its advice. 
Later, Abdur Rahman insisted that, after seeking the advice of the 
government of India, he could make his own, independent decision 
on the matter at hand.'? 

The  Amir also did not see in the fact that he received British 
assistance an infringement of his sovereignty or independence. He 
saw the British subsidy as the result of an alliance in which the two 
partners cooperated in their common interest: the protection of their 
territories from Russian aggression. Afghanistan provided the man- 
power and Britain the arms and equipment." Abdur Rahman was 
nobody's servant. T o  Griffin he wrote in 1880: "I desire nothing in 
lieu of services rendered, nor do I demand favours in exchange for 
duties performed. But I have my claims on the desire of the Afghan 
nation." l0 When the British government presented the Grand Cross 
of the Order of Bath to the Amir, he objected to the word khedmat 
(service) in the accompanying document and wanted the order 
given in recognition of his friendship with Britain.20 Furthermore, 
he preserved his independence in the use of his subsidy and gifts of 
arms and money. From the beginning (i.e., 1883) he disregarded 
British demands that he pay the salaries of his troops in Herat from 
his subsidy; he continued to use the money for the purchase of 
arms.'' Toward the end of his rule, the Amir became increasingly 
insistent on having his ambassador at the Court of St. James and 
representatives in various Muslim c~untries. '~ 

When the international picture began to change at the end of the 
century and Russia pressed for direct relations of a nonpolitical 
nature with her neighbor, Abdur Rahman increasingly maintained 
that he reserved the right to decide for himself whether or not he 
should accept the advice of the Vi~eroy.'~ The Amir sent emissaries 
to various Muslim countries, ostensibly on commercial missions, and 
maintained commercial representatives in Meshed, Rukhara, and 
Peshawar who were de facto representatives of Afghanistan.u 

Abdur Rahman united Afghanistan and kept all power and 
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authority in his hands. H e  soon set up a network of spies to keep 
him informed on the state of affairs in his country. Abdur Rahman 
created the prerequisites of a modern state; he negotiated definite 
boundaries for his state, and he established himself as the absolute 
ruler over his people. At a time when the technology of warfare 
could not yet surmount the barriers of a rugged terrain, it was 
possible for the Amir to arm his people into a force that posed a 
certain deterrent to outside aggression. 

The Amir used, therefore, the larger part of his subsidy and the 
income he derived from his provinces for the purchasing of arms 
and the strengthening of his defenses. The Afghan desire for arms is 
proverbial, and no one will dispute Mahmud Tarzi's claim that "the 
Afghans in general and the frontier Afghans in particular have a 
deep love for arms, so much so that they dispose of their ploughs, 
bullocks and land to buy arms." The Amir was no less an Afghan 
in this respect. In 1880 he had already demanded and obtained arms 
from the government of India to fight Ayyub Khan at Kandahar 
and to consolidate his power over Afghanistan.26 From the begin- 
ning, Abdur Rahman insisted that Britain was under treaty obliga- 
tion to assist Afghanistan with grants of arms and military equip- 
ment to be used for their common protection against Russian attack. 
But it was noted in India that some of the weapons and outdated 
guns, which were replaced with British assistance, tended to appear 
at the Indian frontier. British officials in India and England feared 
that an irredentist Afghanistan would one day use these arms to 
force Britain to make territorial c~ncessions.~~ The frontier tribes, 
which were already dificult to control in spite of their antiquated 
weapons, might get a new impetus in their raiding propensities and 
prove intractable in their dealings with British frontier officials. 

The government of India was, therefore, reluctant to lose all 
control over the import of arms into Afghanistan; the Amir, on his 
part, insisted that he required the weapons for his own safety and 
that of his allies in India. The oft-mentioned greed of Afghan rulers, 
which seemed a reassuring sign to British Indian officials, who 
hoped to solve all problems with money, appears to have been 
nothing but a manifestation of a vital need for arming the country 
for "an evil day." Unlike other Oriental potentates, the amirs of 
Afghanistan lived on a rather modest scale and devoted their in- 
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comes to the purchase of arms which they considered essential for 
their survival. 

Insistence on Isolationism 

The most prominent feature in Abdur Rahman's foreign rela- 
tions soon appeared to be a consistent policy of isolationism. His 
agreement with Griffin isolated him from Persia and Russia and left 
the door for political relations open only to Britain. The government 
of India expected that a grateful Amir would be receptive to British 
guidance in matters not necessarily confined to foreign affairs, and 
that their effort of containing a common foe would lead to the kind 
of peaceful penetration so often resulting from an alliance of une- 
qual partners. It was Abdur Rahman's achievement to resist the 
"friendly embrace," to prevent British influence from getting a hold 
in his domain without going to the point of provoking Britain to 
destroy her reluctant ally. His success in maintaining this unequal 
alliance by isolating himself from his partner was a main factor in 
the Amir's preservation of his independence. 

In his agreement with Britain, Abdur Rahman accepted a Mus- 
lim representative at Kabul. H e  wrote to Griffin: "The Envoy which 
you have appointed in Afghanistan you have dispensed with, but 
what you have left to my wish is, that I may keep a Mussulman 
Ambassador, if I please. This was my desire and that of my people, 
and this you have kindly granted." But in his circular letter to the 
tribes of Afghanistan, dated June 22, 1880, he misquoted Griffin's 
letter as saying: "No envoy will be maintained in Afghanistan by 
the British Government, but if at any time you wish to haw one, a 
Muhammadan, he shall be sent to you; as long as you do not wish 
one, no one shall be sent on behalf of the British Government and 
there shall be no pressing about this matter." '' AS it turned out, the 
Amir did not wish to have one, and the British government began 
pressing him about it. As early as November, 1880, Sir Alfred Lyall, 
Secretary to the government of India, proposed sending a Muslim 
envoy to Kabul, and the Viceroy wrote to the Amir in March, 1881, 
suggesting a certain Muhammad Afzal Khan for this post (he was 
an intermediary in the Abdur Rahman-Griffin negotiations). The 
Amir accepted, but asked the government of India to wait until he 
had returned to Kabul from Kandahar. In October, 1881, the Vice- 
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roy again suggested that an agent, this time Mir Hashim Khan, be 
sent to Kabul. The Amir objected and requested that Afzal Khan be 
sent. But the Afghan Envoy in India suggested another delay, one of 
the reasons given being that "His Highness had one or more execu- 
tions in hand" and was afraid that the British Agent would report 
the proceedings to India. It was not until June, 1882, that Colonel 
Muhammad Afzal Khan arrived in Kabul?' 

If Afzal Khan expected to enjoy the status of ambassador of a 
friendly power at the court of the Amir, he was immediately disap- 
pointed. From the beginning the Amir isolated the Agent from the 
Afghan people. H e  did not even permit two of the Agent's brothers 
who were living in Kabul to receive him on his arrival at court. And 
when the Agent complained to the Amir about being a virtual 
prisoner in Kabul, Abdur Rahman did not hide his motives, saying, 
"Yes, certainly I have ~rohibited them [to have intercourse with 
you], and I do not wish that there should be two Darbars, one at my 
house and another at your place. As the late Amir Shir Ali allowed 
this, he was ruined." 31 

Subsequent agents did not fare better; they were restricted in 
their movements, were inadequately housed, and were not even 
permitted to establish contact with the British subjects residing in 
Kab~1.3~ The agency maintained a hospital that was open to the 
Amir's subjects and could have been a valuable means of collecting 
news and intelligence, but the Amir did not generally permit his 
oficers and soldiers to visit the h0s~ital .3~ The Amir maintained a 
guard at the agency gates, and the British Agent was usually es- 
corted or kept under surveillance by Afghan soldiers. The Amir 
claimed that this was for the Agent's protection and offered to 
remove the guards if the Agent would give him a statement in 
writing that the Amir would not be responsible for any harm that 
might result to the mission.34 The problem of the British Agent 
could not be solved since the Amir never permitted him to be an 
important factor of British influence in Afghanistan.3Qbdur Rah- 
man conveniently pointed to the fate of Cavagnari, the British 
representative at Kabul who, together with the members of his 
mission, were killed by Afghans in 1879, and the Amir's argument 
seemed plausible if not honest. 

Another factor of isolation from his British ally was the Amir's 
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refusal to admit British troops and o f  cers or to permit such strategi- 
cally important means of warfare as railroads or telegraph lines 
within his country. The Russian occupation of Merv in 1884 had 
already stimulated the British to expand their railroad into the 
North-West Frontier; and during the Amir's visit to Rawalpindi in 
the same year Lord Dufferin asked the Amir whether he would be 
inclined to favor the construction of a railroad from Kandahar to 
Herat. The Amir replied that he fully appreciated the advantages of 
such an undertaking, and would like to promote it, but thought that 
for the time being it would not be understood by his people. He 
hoped, however, to link his chief cities by rail sometime in the 
f ~ t u r e . 5 ~  

In a letter on July 20,1887, Lord Dufferin told the Amir that he 

. . . will merely observe that on many occasions Your Highness has 
shown a jealousy of our oficers, a distrust of our intentions and an 
unwillingness to comply with our suggestions which was hardly 
consistent either with the kindness we have shown you or the friend- 
ship you profess towards us. You have even neglected my advice with 
regard to so slight a matter as the establishment of a telegraph 
between your capital and Peshawar, though it is evident that it would 
be very much to your advantage to be able to communicate quickly to 
me your wishes in relation to any dificulties which may arise between 
yourself and your neighb~urs.~' 

The Amir either ignored such letters or pleaded that innovations 
like railroads and telegraphs were unaminously opposed by his 
people. H e  protested the planned extension of the British railroad to 
Chaman as "leading to no good." 30 And when the New Chaman 
railroad was constructed, the Amir threatened with death any of his 
subjects using this section of the line? His boycott was immediately 
successful in reducing by two-thirds the volume of goods shipped." 

Anglo-Afghan differences in this matter were again aired in a 
voluminous correspondence in 1899. The Amir reported on January 
g that the Russian commander of the Ashkhabad forces had sent the 
"good tidings" of the coming of the Russian railroad to Tanurah 
(Kushk). T o  the Amir this was bad news, and he urged the Viceroy 

# #  that a systematic arrangement" be made to protect him from 
Russian aggression. In his answer, Lord Curzon asked sarcastically 
in what respect the arrangements lacked system: whether it was in 
respect to railways or telegraphs, which had so long been recom- 



mended to the Amir. In a subsequent letter the Viceroy discounted 
the Amir's argument that Afghanistan was not sufficiently wealthy 
for constructing such facilities by saying that the cost of a telegraph 
line was very small.42 H e  also contradicted the Amir's statements 
that other nations had suffered much evil and sustained heavy losses 
through such equipment by saying that, on the contrary, those 
countries that had refused railroads and telegraphs had grown weak 
because they could not move their troops quickly in the event of an 
emergency. 

The Amir resisted the introduction of modern technology mainly 
because he feared it might result in the influx of large numbers of 
foreigners into his country. H e  also did not permit British military 
advisers or British troops to be stationed within his domain. When 
in times of crisis, such as the Ghilzay rebellion in 1887 or the revolt 
of Ishaq Khan in 1888, he proclaimed that British troops were 
waiting at the border for his call to come to his aid, it was obvious 
that his purpose was only to warn his enemies and that he would 
sanction the use of foreign troops in his country only when his 
possession of Afghanistan was seriously d~reatened.'~ 

When he permitted the British Boundary Commission to proceed 
to Afghanistan in 1884, the Amir insisisted on curbing the size of 
the and at first he did not accept Lord Dufferin's offer to 
use Sir Peter Lumsden and his officers to inspect Herat. Lord 
Dufferin complained that there was no precedent in the history of a 
small state accepting military aid from his neighbor but rejecting his 
officers. Abdur Rahman's only concession was that in case of war he 
would accept the stationing of two British officers in Herat.45 In 1892 
when Britain urged that he receive a British mission under Lord 
Roberts, the Amir suffered a series of "diplomatic ailments" that 
lasted longer than Roberts' assignment in India. The Arnir ex- 
plained in his biography that he would require a hundred thousand 
men to protect this general of the Second Afghan War and his 
escort of ten thousand troops.4e The success of Sir Mortimer Dur- 
and's mission to Afghanistan in 1893 was in no small measure due to 
his decision to enter Afghanistan without any escort and as the guest 
of the Amir.'7 

Abdur Rahman did not seem to be unduly concerned over the 
xenophobia of his people and even reinforced it on occasion by 



publishing calls to vigilance and instructions on the obligations of 
jihad?' Lord Dufferin protested such proceedings in 1888 saying, 
"One would suppose that you were conferring a great favour in 
allowing the Government of India to spend sums of money . . . in 
demarcating your frontier. . . . But your mind is so constantly 
occupied by the idea of asserting your independence of all control in 
internal affairs, that you see interference in every British action." 49 

Promotion of a Balance of Power 

By the end of the century it was possible to recognize a systematic 
Afghan foreign policy from the Amir's actions and pronouncements 
and, above all, from statements in his biography, which is his 
political testament. T o  Abdur Rahman the power-political situation 
was clear: 

Russia was the more aggressive of his two neighbors. She wanted 
to see the Ottoman Empire, Persia, and Afghanistan destroyed to 
gain access to the sea. 

Britain saw Russian intentions as a threat to her overseas posses- 
sions and a dangerous disturbance of the international balance of 
power. T o  contain Russian expansion, Britain had an interest in the 
existence of strong Islamic states along Russia's southern borders. 

Therefore, the Islamic states, trying to preserve their independ- 
ence, had a community of interest with Great Britain and should 
seek her alliance. 

But since Britain was also an absorbing power which might 
respond to Russian aggression by helping herself to a portion of the 
land of the Islamic states, a "middle course" policy was required: an 
alliance with Britain, but not one that would lead to integration; 
hostility to Russia, but not to an extent as would result in provoking 
aggression; preservation of an equilibrium which would permit 
Afghanistan to remain independent if not neutral. 

Abdur Rahman's relations with the more or less independent 
Muslim populations of the East were influenced by Pan-Islamic 
considerations. Since Afghanistan was one of the few remaining 
Muslim states which had not fallen under direct foreign control, the 
captive Muslims in Central Asia and India were looking to her for 
support and would be her allies if called to jihad. And by virtue of 



his position as the Islamic King, the Amir would try to maintain his 
influence over them and attempt to create tribal buffer states be- 
tween Afghanistan and her powerful neighbors. Afghanistan had 
legitimate rights for expansion into these areas if a change in the 
international situation made this possible. T o  gain strength and to 
give strength to others, Afghanistan had to promote the causes of 
Pan-Islamism. 

Abdur Rahman acquired his opinion about Russian intentions 
during his long Central Asian exile. T o  him, Russian policy was 
essentially that "rightly or wrongly, friendly or unfriendly, with 
peace or war, the Islamic kingdoms should be washed away from 
the face of the Asiatic continent." 50 Russia wanted to absorb and 
swallow Persia, Turkey, and Afghanistan, or she would try to obtain 
their friendship and draw them to herself. Failing in this effort, she 
would arouse them against Britain, with the result that in the 
ensuing hostilities Russia might assist the British in crushing them 
and dividing their countries between herself and Britain." 

Through his contact with Russian officials, Abdur Rahman was 
convinced that Russia intended to attack India. H e  claimed he saw 
Russian soldiers "jumping for joy at the idea that they might one 
day have a hand in plundering this rich country," and he thought 
Russia was quite satisfied when Britain responded to Russian aggres- 
sion by merely helping herself to some territorial gain. Russia ex- 
pected that an attack on India would be accompanied by a general 
uprising in that country, followed by a quick Russian victory, since 
Britain, as a sea power, was no match for Russia on land.52 

By contrast, the Amir declared British policy fickle: "The ideas 
and notions of any statesman or leader who is in power in England, 
become, for the time being, the policy of the empire" to be changed 
when someone else is in charge of decisions. At least, Abdur Rah- 
man saw one continuous trend, "namely, that the Islamic Govern- 
ments, which are a barrier and strong wall between India and 
Asiatic Russia, should exist and have their independence strongly 
maintained, to continue as a strong barrier wall in the way of 
Russian advance towards India." " The Arnir proposed the establish- 
ment of an Islamic alliance among Turkey, Persia, and Afghanistan, 
which would separate the two empires, "neither allowing Russia nor 



England to take any part of our dominions." The Muslim states 
would then support those of their neighbors who respected their 
integrity and independence." 

The Amir declared that Afghanistan could lean on British sup- 
port because she had no expansionist intentions that would require 
her to traverse Afghanistan. O n  the other hand, the friendship of 
Afghanistan was of no value to Russia unless she permitted Russia 
passage to India. Britain had arms and money and needed only 
Afghan fighting men, whereas Afghanistan had enough men but 
needed arms and money. It was therefore clear that Britain and 
Afghanistan were complementary. The Amir blamed Britain for not 
realizing this. Britain never ceased to ask herself whether Afghani- 
stan's friendship was of any use or not, or whether the Afghans 
could be trusted and whether the benefits of their friendship com- 
pensated for the responsibility of protecting Afghanistan. Also, 
would Parliament authorize the decisions of India, and would the 
future British government agree to previous arrangements? 55 The 
Amir deplored that Britain never failed to extend her influence 
toward the Afghan border. H e  admitted that he had gained more by 
Britain's friendship than he had lost, but he maintained "though 
England does not want any piece of Afghanistan (as she constantly 
claims) still she never loses a chance of getting one-and this friend 
has taken more than Russia has1 " " Since neither Russia nor Britain 
could take all of Afghanistan without arousing the hostility of the 
other, the Amir considered the presence of two powerful neighbors 
as not altogether a bad thing. H e  felt that although "these neigh- 
bours are a cause of much anxiety to Afghanistan yet, as they are 
pulling against each other, they are no less an advantage and protec- 
tion for Afghanistan than a danger [and indeed] a great deal of the 
safety of the Afghan Government depends upon the fact that nei- 
ther of these two neighbours can bear to allow the other to annex an 
inch of Afghan territory." 

The Amir's policy with regard to transborder Muslim popula- 
tions was that they should be independent, if not under his influ- 
ence, and serve as buffers between Afghanistan and his imperialistic 
neighbors. Although the Afghan borders were generally closed to 
Europeans, Afghan merchants crossed into Russian Turkestan, and 
thousands of Afghans moved seasonally into India?' They were the 



eyes and ears of Afghanistan, a significant factor in trade, and an 
important factor in arming the frontier with contraband arms. Since 
they lived under Christian rulers, the transborder tribes--especially 
on the Indian frontier-recognized Abdur Rahman as the Islamic 
king who should be obeyed in certain matters and whose call to 
jihad should be followed. 



A C C E S S I O N  T O  P O W E R  A N D  C O N S O L I D A T I O N  

The government of India was soon disillusioned with Abdur Rah- 
man. It felt that it did not receive a fair return for its obligation of 
protecting the Amir from foreign aggression. His policy of isolation- 
ism and resistance to British penetration, which was first manifested 
in the liquidation of collaborators and spies of the British no less 
than those of Russia, and his attempts to spread his influence in the 
independent tribal areas were increasingly resented.' Ever since 
Abdur Rahman had crossed into Afghanistan in 1880 there were 
rumors that he was intriguing with Russia and in secret alliance 
with her. It was therefore not long before India felt that a more 
active forward policy was required to guarantee British interests and 
the defense of India. In Lord Lansdowne's government voices were 
heard advocating harsher treatment of the Amir.2 Britain's moves, it 
was argued, should be p i d e d  by strategic and political needs, and 
not by the feelings of the Amir; it also was suggested that "it would 
for many reasons be safer and more advantageous to have a declared 
enemy than a secret one on the throne of Kabul." But the "anom- 
aly" of Anglo-Afghan relations was finally permitted to last for the 
duration of the Amir's life which was approaching a natural end on 
October 3, r y r ?  

When Abdur Rahman had fallen ill previously, in October, 1894, 
contingency plans were worked out by the government of India in 
preparation for the Amir's death. Lord Curzon, in a memorandum 
of December, 1898, suggested that his son Habibullah, Abdur Rah- 
man's choice for succession, was acceptable, but no pledge should be 
given by the government of India unless this was demanded by 
Abdur Rahman. British troops should, however, be prepared to 
move on Jalalabad in support of Habibullah if he should ask for such 
assistance. Afghan sirdars in British exile were to be kept under 



supervision.5 Should Habibullah succeed to the throne, the Russian 
government was to be told that from an international point of view 
Afghanistan remained in the same position as before. Since British 
engagements with Abdur R a b a n  were personal, new and substan- 
tially changed ones must be conc l~ded .~  The home government 
accepted Lord Curzon's suggestions, including the proposal that a 
mission be sent to Kabul to arrange for a new agreement with 
Habibullah. 

As to the conditions for continued support of the new ruler, the 
government of India in 1891 had suggested such measures as the 
rectification of the Afghan boundary in the area of Chaman and 
Shurawak and the evacuation of Chageh by the Afghans; the ob- 
taining of facilities for railroad expansion, whenever it might be- 
come desirable, toward Kandahar and to Jalalabad; the establish- 
ment of a British officer at some convenient point near the Russian 
border; the construction of telegraph lines; and the removal of 
obstacles to commerce between Afghanistan and India.' 

The Intelligence Branch of the government of India suggested in 
a note of July 22, 1901, that the following guarantees be obtained 
from the new Amir: 

I. Rectification of the Indo-Afghan frontier for strategic pur- 
poses. 

2. Arrangements for obtaining information regarding affairs in 
Afghanistan generally, such as movements of troops, distribution 
and strength of the army and its organization, and armament and 
equipment. 

3. Control of the supply of arms in Afghanistan, and some 
guarantees that they would not be used against India. 

4. Improvement of communications from India to Kandahar and 
Kabul, and information regarding roads and routes all over Afghan- 
istan. 

5. Real, as well as nominal, withdrawal of support from the 
tribesmen on the British side of the border with a view to their more 
speedy pacification and reduction of military garrisons on the fron- 
tier. 

6. The deputation of British officers to assist in the preparation of 
schemes of defense against the Russians. 

To this sanguine assessment of the needs of the time, E. W. S. K. 



Maconchy, of the Department of Military Intelligence, added that 
the Amir might invite the British, either spontaneously or through a 
little coercion, to assist him in the organization of his military forces. 
If the Amir would do so, the Afghan army could be turned into a 
force similar to the Imperial Service troops in India, which would 
have Afghan officers with British counterparts as advisers. Most 
members of the Viceroy's council were skeptical about the probabil- 
ity of the Amir agreeing to integrate his armed forces in such a 
manner, but they agreed that the other suggestions were acceptable? 

Habibullah acceded to the throne without any difficulties; khut- 
bah was read in his name on October 4, 1901, and the new Amir 
informed Britain of his father's death and his own accession to 
power. The Secretary of State was wary and he warned the Viceroy 
not to use this opportunity for a forward move on the frontier. The 
government of India sent condolences to Kabul but nevertheless 
hinted that a mission would be required to meet with the Amir to 
confirm the previous arrangements. Russia was informed that the 
death of Abdur Rahman brought no change in the status quo? 

In his reply, dated October 31, the Amir ignored the British hint, 
saying that he reciprocated the Viceroy's desire for even closer and 
more secure relations between India and Afghanistan, and promised 
that he would maintain the terms of the agreement made by his 
father with the British government "so long as the illustrious British 
Government firmly adhere to them." lo 

The government of India waited until February 7, 1902, when 
Lord Curzon again urged in a letter that a friendly discussion was 
necessary so that the alliance might continue even stronger. But the 
Amir considered the Agreement of 1880 quite strong enough and he 
reiterated that he would abide by it. H e  saw no need for revisions or 
amplifications and expressed the hope that nothing of the kind was 
intended. A visit to India, as suggested by the Viceroy, was desirable 
to prove to the world the existing friendship between the two 
countries, but the Amir felt himself unable to accept it at that time.'' 

Curzon was more blunt in his letter of June 6, and proceeded to 
specify some of the matters of "great portent" about which he 
wanted to talk with the Amir. He  said that the late Amir had at  

times misinterpreted the agreement and, therefore, he wanted to 
know the new Amir's interpretation. The Viceroy claimed he did 



not mention the terms of the Agreement of 1880 because that 
agreement was personal and did not necessarily apply to the Amir's 
sons and successors; hence, neither a subsidy nor protection could be 
claimed by Habibullah until a new arrangement had been con- 
cl~ded.'~ 

But the Amir remained stubborn. In  his letters of November 27 
and December g, 1902, he replied that he could not leave Kabul 
owing to difficulties in settling the affairs of his kingdom. Habibul- 
lah complained of the Viceroy's insistence and said that, since it was 
not necessary to renew the alliance at the death of Queen Victoria, it 
was unnecessary to take such action now at the death of his father. 
He also demanded to know why the ammunition and military 
stores which he had ordered and paid for were detained by the 
government of India, and he showed himself disappointed that 
instead of generously helping Afghanistan during this crucial period 
the Viceroy threatened to withhold the Amir's subsidy.13 Lord Cur- 
zon resented the Amir's attempt to gain time and he considered his 
arguments as neither quite candid nor respectful, but since there was 
"no hint of rupture or inclination to form new connections" on the 
part of the Amir, the Viceroy was willing to wait, especially since 
the Amir accepted a mission under A. H. McMahon to settle the 
Sistan dispute between Persia and Afghanistan." 

R U S S I A N  P R E S S U R E S  O N  AFGHANISTAN 

The British position in 1902-1903 with regard to the Afghan ruler 
was rendered more delicate by the fact that British pressure on 
Afghanistan was offset by a new forward movement of Russia. The 
Russian Memorandum of 1900 was a direct challenge to Britain and 
her policy of isolating Afghanistan from Russian relations. 

On February 6, I ~ O ,  M. Lesar, Secretary at the Russian Embassy 
in London, communicated to Lord Salisbury a memorandum on 
Russo-Afghan relations which said: 

Russo-Afghan relations have been defined by the Arrangements of 
1872 and 1873, which Russia regards as still being in effect and as 
placing Afghanistan entirely outside her sphere of action. Although 
Russia's obligations only bind her to refrain from political action, she 
has, except in the case of transient deviation from the correct standard 



of diplomatic action, consented in the past, from a feeling of friendly 
interest toward Great Britain, to forego even non-political relations. 
This attitude was formerly possible without material loss to Russian 
interests, but the situation has now become entirely abnormal owing 
to the creation in 1885 of a coterminous Russo-Afghan frontier of 
several hundred versts in extent, and to the completion of the Trans- 
Caspian Railway. The  regular course of communications and busi- 
ness between limitrophe Powers can only be maintained "sous la 
fixation pricise de leurs rapports riciproques," and the absence of 
such an organization creates an atmosphere of uneasiness and mis- 
trust bound eventually to lead to regrettable complications. Moreover, 
attempts to settle questions by means of a reference to the British 
Government have proved abortive. The  moment would accordingly 
appear to have come when a definite step should be taken in the 
regularization of these relations, and the Imperial Government con- 
sidered it its duty to inform the Cabinet of London that it "regarde 
comme indispensable le rietablissement des rapports directs entre la 
Russie et I'Afghanistan. Pour ce qui concerne les affaires de fronti2re 
les rapports n'auront aucun charactire politique.15 

Russian action followed, when o n  February 22, 1900, V. Ignatieff, 
Russian Political Agent a t  Bukhara, wrote to a n  Afghan trading 
agent in Bukhara. In  answering to Afghan questions on  the mean- 
ing of certain movements of troops in  Trans-Caspia, he said that they 
had taken place in order to test the capacity of the railroad, and  he 
added that they had attracted attention mainly because they oc- 
curred a t  a time when Britain "was suffering continual reverses, 
which still continue, in her war with the little State of the Trans- 
vaal." Ignatieff further noted that, from the time the boundaries 
between Russia and  Afghanistan were fixed, no disagreements had 
arisen between the two countries. I n  conclusion he said he sincerely 
desired that his letter might be the first step toward the establish- 
ment  of direct and  friendly relations between Russia and  Afghani- 
stan and  help to open u p  Afghanistan territory to mutual trade, 
which previously had been confined to petty trade at frontier posts. 
H e  hoped for some communication from the Afghans, which he 
pomised  to transmit to St. Petersburg." 

T h e  government of India noted that Russia's admission that 
Afghanistan was outside her sphere of influence of action was 
renewed many times (1874, 1876, 1877, 1878, 1882, 1884, 1885, 1887, 
and 1888) and  held that "rarely, if ever, has a formal and voluntary 
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engagement been invested, by d n t  of constant reiteration, with 
greater solemnity or a more binding force." l7 The Russian reason 
for change, the claim of the inadequacy of British mediation efforts, 
was limited, according to Indian opinion, only to one such case-the 
Bosaga Canal incident in 1891 in which Russia's spontaneous action 
was to blame. It was feared that establishment of commercial 
relations with Afghanistan might lead to the establishment of a 
Russian agent at Kabul, and, if this agent were insulted, it would be 
a political injury, and the government of India was "most unwilling 
that Russia should incur this risk and its possible consequences." l8 

There followed a series of diplomatic discussions in which Britain 
wanted Russia to explain her intentions in order to ascertain if a 
mutually satisfactory solution could be found. On  November 30, 
1900, Sir Charles S. Scott, the British Ambassador at St. Petersburg, 
was instructed to mention to Count Lamsdorff the subject of Igna- 
tieff's letter, and to state that the Amir had complained about its 
communication. After initially characterizing the letter as highly 
improper," the Russian Foreign Minister attempted to justify it as 
written in response to a question from the Amir's agent. The 
discussions continued, and on January 29, 1902, Scott was instructed 
to make the verbal declaration that "His Majesty's Government did 
not wish to contend that there was no force in the Russian argu- 
ments for direct communications on matters of local detail, but that, 
as having charge of Afghan foreign relations, they held that arrange- 
ments for the purpose could only be made with their consent." It 
was left to Russia to formulate proposals as to the change of the 
status quo and to give guarantees that any relations would remain of 
a nonpolitical character. 

On December 19, 1902, the Novoe Vremyu of St. Petersburg 
published a communique issued by the Russian Foreign OAce, 
which read, in part: 

In regard to our relations to Afghanistan, it must be remarked that in 
this matter we made no request to the London Cabinet, but that we 
merely intimated our decision to enter into direct relations with 
Afghanistan in consequence of altered circumstances. No further 
explanations have taken place on this subject.'' 

The Russian Foreign Minister argued that it was impossible for 
Russia to be bound by old assurances given under diflerent circum- 
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stances. H e  considered it hardly compatible with the dignity of an 
independent power to bind itself forever by engagements with an- 
other power placing limitations on its legitimate intercourse with a 
neighboring country. 

An impasse had thus been reached: if the British government 
permitted direct relations between Russia and Afghanistan, the 
raison d'etre of its Afghanistan policy would no longer exist. O n  the 
other hand, it was both ineffective and impossible to demand that 
Russia should deal with the government of India in such matters of 
a nonpolitical character as the theft of a few sheep by Afghans. 

Russia's diplomatic offensive was soon supported by action result- 
ing in a series of incidents, which the Russian government wanted 
to see mediated in direct talks with the Afghan ruler. The Governor 
of Herat complained to the British Consul General at Meshed in 
September, 1902, that three frontier pillars had been removed by the 
Russians in the area between Chashme Gugerdak and Chaharsunak 
and that a canal had been constructed at the latter place 400 paces 
within Afghan territory. In December the Governor reported the 
destruction of seven more pillars between Kara Tappa and the 
Murghab. The government of India instructed Colonel Whyte to 
remonstrate with the Russian Commandant at Kushk, and to ask 
that the pillars be rebuilt. In  the meantime, the Governor of Ash- 
khabad had complained in a letter reaching Herat in November, 
1902, that there was a scarcity of water in the Murghab and Hari 
Rud rivers, and, since it must have been caused by new dams 
constructed in Afghan territory, the Afghan authorities were re- 
quested to see to it that the water supply was restored. But the Amir 
denied that any new dams had been constructed and claimed that 
the scarcity of water was attributable to the small amount of snow- 
fall in recent years.20 In April, 1903, the British Consul General at 
Meshed reported that the Russians at Kushk were selling wheat to 
Afghans, who were suffering from famine, oflering them cheap 
rates on credit for which some Afghans were reported to be giving 
mortgages on their lands. In another case of direct relations, the 
Governor of Trans-Caspia addressed a long letter to the Governor of 
Herat in April, 1y3, discussing the subject of Afghan representation 
in Trans-Caspia and various matters of irrigation. Turkoman troop- 
ers repeatedly visited Herat, bringing messages from the comman- 
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dant at Kushk. They came to negotiate about horse thefts and 
similar border incidents, and attempted to solve these ~roblems with 
local Afghan  official^.^' 

The apparent effort of local Russian officials to force the question 
of direct relations, while the St. Petersburg and London govern- 
ments were discussing the problem, aroused the government of 
India to the belief that it was necessary to check these contacts by 
establishing a permanent British representative at Herat. When 
Russia oAered to restore the boundary pillars, the British Ambassa- 
dor, Sir Charles Scott informed the Russian Foreign Minister on 
August 14, 1903, that, in response to an invitation of the Amir, His 
Majesty's government would send a British officer to the spot, who 
would be happy to cooperate with a Russian official of similar rank 
in the restoration of the boundary markers. In spite of Russian 
opposition to such a procedure, the government of India sent a 
British official to the area. 

The question of direct relations between local officials on the 
Russian boundary was especially vexing for Britain, since such 
relations had not been ~ermit ted by the Amir along the Indo- 
Afghan frontier. Louis W. Dane, of the Indian Foreign Depart- 
ment, called attention to this "absurd position" in which "our letters 
should be returned by the Amir's frontier officials, and our officers 
arrested if they go a few yards across the border,22 while Russian 
sowars are allowed free access to Herat, and Russian officer's letters 
are not only received but answered by the Governor of Herat." '' 
Several members of the Viceroy's council urged that a British repre- 
sentative should be stationed at Herat, but Lord Curzon cautioned 
against such a move since it would frighten the Amir, who might 
resent Russian pressure just as much as he did British.'* 

In view of the delicate situation, the government of India decided 
not to send a mission to Kabul and to leave the question of renew- 
ing the Anglo-Afghan agreement to a future, more auspicious, 
occasion. It was felt that sending a mission at this time without the 
express invitation of the Amir would merely show weakness on the 
part of the government of India. During the existing period of 
pressure from the government of Russia, a mission could do no 
more than renew the existing agreement, and this was not what the 
government of India desired.26 



In  the meantime, H. R. C. Dobbs, a political officer, was dele- 
gated to Herat in the fall of 1903 to supervise, in cooperation with a 
Russian officer, the repair of the boundary pillars. The Russians, 
however, refused to have any dealings with Dobbs and ignored his 
presence while they invited the cooperation of the Afghan authori- 
ties; and when the Afghans did not respond to their request, the 
Russians themselves repaired some of the pillars.26 Dobbs felt him- 
self greatly obstructed also by the Afghan authorities, who refused to 
deal independently with him but referred all his requests to the 
Amir. Dobbs wanted to use this opportunity to inspect the entire 
Russo-Afghan boundary. But the Governor of Herat told Dobbs 
that the Afghan authorities had petitioned the Amir in connection 
with those damaged pillars which were located within the Herat 
district-the frontier between Khwaja Gugirdak and Dahna- 
i-Zulfikar-and not about the pillars in Afghan Turkestan. Since 
Turkestan was not under the jurisdiction of the Governor of Herat, 
he could not permit Dobbs to proceed to that place.27 

The Amir then wanted Dobbs to leave Herat and Afghanistan by 
the same route he came, namely, by way of Meshed, and suggested 
that anything left to be done could be conveniently settled in the 
coming year when the weather would be better." But the govern- 
ment of India demurred. As so often when it succeeded in getting 
one of its officials into Afghanistan, the government of India wanted 
to make the most of the opportunity to collect information on the 
terrain and the mood of the people, and establish the practice of 
delegating British officers as advisers in matters not necessarily 
limited to the conduct of foreign relations. The government of India 
insisted that Dobbs should stay in Afghanistan and carry out his 
program of inspections and repairs of boundary pillars from And- 
khui to Z~lfikar. '~ 

Dobbs turned his attention to the problem of border relations, 
and he was soon convinced that direct relations on minor matters 
between Russia and Afghanistan could not be prevented. I n  a letter 
to Louis W. Dane, the Secretary to the government of India, dated 
January 7, 1904, he reported that letters on various subjects passed 
almost daily between the Russian authorities at Panideh and the 
Governor of Bala Murghah3' The nomads along the frontier were 
selling their wool and curd to the Russians, and because of the great 
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number of remote passes, running through a wilderness of clay hills, 
it was impossible to patrol the border to stop cross-border trading. 
Dobbs, therefore, thought that the old policy of complete isolation of 
Afghanistan was no longer feasible and should give way to regular- 
ized commerce which could become a source of wealth and content- 
ment for the country. H e  proceeded to devise a complex system of 
commercial intercourse for both the Russian and Indian boundaries, 
which required the presence of a British officer at the Russo-Afghan 
boundary and an Afghan trade boycott of Russia to force her 
adherence to this scheme. Lord Curzon dismissed Dobbs's sugges- 
tions as full of paradoxes, "which isolated officers have a tendency to 
design with most deplorable consequences." 31 

Habibullah's resistance to British pressure led to a worsening in 
Anglo-Afghan relations. The British refusal to pay Habibullah a 
subsidy without a renewal of the previous agreement had not yet 
affected monetary transactions, because Abdur Rahman had accu- 
mulated a sufficiently large deposit with the government of India 
from which Habibullah could draw funds without bringing up the 
question of the subsidy. Finally, however, angered at the Indian 
practice of showing his account as containing only the amount due 
Abdur Rahman, the Amir complained to the Viceroy of these 
 proceeding^.^^ If no subsidy was due him, the Amir wanted to 
know, under what agreement did the government of India insist 
upon controlling his relations with Russia. If the previous agree- 
ments were no longer valid, was not also the Durand Agreement no 
longer valid? This was indeed a difficult question for the govern- 
ment of India to answer. 

In 1go3 a series of incidents occurred on the Afghan border. 
Lieutenant Colonel A. C. Yate visited the frontier area and, "inno- 
cently galloping" on his horse into Afghanistan, he was arrested by 
Afghan soldiers and kept a prisoner for about two weeks. The 
government of India planned retaliatory action, including the arrest 
of Afghan merchants in India and military measures, but Yate was 
released and returned to India. This Afghan action was taken by 
some as due to Afghan excitement over Lord Kitchener's tour of the 
h-xder and his presence in the vicinity. The Amir offered no apol- 
ogy for the incident and said that the Afghan official responsible for 
the arrest should be praised, not punished. The Amir claimed that 



Yate was in attire that could not be recognized, and it was only 
thanks to good fortune that there had not been any Afghans of the 
Achakzay clan at the border, or the Colonel would have been in a 
critical ~ituation.~" 

In 1903 there were also disputes on the Indian border over 
Shinpukh and Smatzai. The former seemed to be in British terri- 
tory, but the latter was in Afghanistan according to the map at- 
tached to the Durand Agreement. Interference by the Afghan Sartip 
of Dakka into both areas was taken as a pretext by the government 
of India to sanction occupation of both areas." Some of the ammuni- 
tion ordered by the Amir was detained at the Indian border; the 
reason for this was, according to the government of India, that it 
was of a type prohibited by the Hague C~nvention.~' 

It was not surprising that, at a time like this, rumors of Afghan 
intrigues with Russia were not lightly dismissed. An article in the 
Cairo newspaper al-Mu'ayyid of April 2, 1902, quoted a London 
Daily Mail correspondent in St. Petersburg saying that "after a short 
time some events of importance will occur in Central Asia and that 
it has been confirmed that Amir Habib Allah wants to renounce the 
alliance with the English, and become an ally and friend of the 
Russians." E. H. S. Clarke of the Foreign and Political Depart- 
ment of the government of India remarked to this that "straws show 
the way in which the wind is blowing." 



3. Qe Jane nissiln 

FORMULATION O F  B R I T I S H  D E M A N D S  

Lord Curzon was greatly disappointed about his lack of success in 
persuading the Amir to come to India where he could meet him 
face-to-face, and convince him of the British government's good 
intentions and arrange new agreements with him. The Viceroy 
stopped arms deliveries to Afghanistan, acting contrary to recom- 
mendations from the home government, but to no avail.' Curzon's 
insistence upon putting Anglo-Afghan relations on a new footing 
and the pressures he brought to bear on the Amir were causes for 
alarm in the London cabinet. London wanted a continuance of the 
status quo and did not share the Viceroy's view of the existence of a 
"strange and sinister parallelism with 1876," the eve of the Second 
Afghan War? 

The government of India discussed at some length whether the 
Anglo-Afghan agreements were personal ones with the Amir or 
agreements concluded with the government of Afghanistan. There 
existed no doubt that the Agreement of 1880 was personal since it 
expressly recognized Abdur Rahman as Amir of Kabul. A subsidy 
of 12 lakhs of rupees was given the Amir in 1883 to permit him to 
consolidate his power within the country and to strengthen his 
forces. But in 1893 the Durand Agreement was signed, which set 
Afghanistan's eastern and southern borders with India and, appar- 
ently in exchange for territorial concessions or to make these more 
palatable to him, gave the Amir an additional subsidy of 6 lakhs of 
rupees as well as the promise that "the Government of India will 
raise no objection to the purchase and import by His Highness of 
munitions of war."' If the treaty was personal, then the articles 
dealing with the boundary question could not be considered perpet- 
ual and would have to be renegotiated. It was not dificult for the 
Viceroy's council to come to the conclusion that provisions of treaties 



are severable, some clauses being perpetual and others temporal. The 
Indian archives were searched, and a letter was discovered which 
Lord Lansdowne sent to Durand during the negotiations warning 
him against saying anything that might later on be construed to 
mean that the increase in subsidy was perpetual. But this letter, 
dated November 8, 1893, did not reach Durand in time to influence 
his decisions since the treaty had already been ~ i g n e d . ~  

The question of the validity of the engagements with the pre- 
vious Amir was more or less an academic one. The desire of the 
government of India to renew the agreements with the new ruler 
was not motivated by doubts about their validity. It was rather 
motivated by the desire to conclude a new treaty that would permit 
India to extend her influence in Afghanistan in order to check any 
forward movement by Russia. 

While Lord Curzon was in London in 1904, the question was 
again raised in India of sending a mission to Kabul to negotiate an 
agreement with the Amir. A definite break in the situation occurred 
when Louis W. Dane, Foreign Secretary to the government of 
India, reported that the Afghan Envoy in an interview with him 
suggested that a high officer be sent to discuss matters and settle all 
problems with the Amir.' 

The sudden willingness of Habibullah to receive a British mis- 
sion at Kabul was apparently prompted by the publication in the 
Allahabad Pioneer of General A. N. Kuropatkin's scheme to invade 
India. The Japanese successes in the Russo-Japanese war may also 
have contributed. What seemed to make the situation exceedingly 
grave was that Russia again tried to arrange direct contact with 
Afghanistan. The Governor General of Trans-Caspia ordered a 
Russian colonel to carry an important letter to the Governor of 
Herat, "with whom he is to confer about necessary matters afFecting 
Russia and Afghanistan." ' 

The Amir finally agreed to the Viceroy, Lord Ampthill's, sugges- 
tion that a high British official be sent to Kabul. In his letter of 
September 22, 1904, the Amir also made the bellicose declaration 
that "now that Japan has broken Russia's leg, we must break her 
back; it is odd if England and Afghanistan cannot tackle Russia in 
her present condition." ' 

The government of India considered it urgent that the British 



mission be dispatched with a minimum of delay. The formulation of 

policy for future relations with Afghanistan and the preparation of 
insuuctions for the Kabul mission were made difficult by the fact 
that Lord Curzon was then in England conferring with the British 
government on the "Afghanistan Question." India informed the 
home government that the Amir had accepted a mission and re- 
quested instructions as to what policy had been devised in London. 
In the meantime, Lord Ampthill, Viceroy during Curzon's absence 
from India, and his government formulated their own program and 
tentative pidelines for his discussions with Habibullah. 

Lord Kitchener, Commander-in-Chief in India, set the tone in a 
"Minute" demanding that military considerations be of primary 
significance. H e  laid down two propositions which were generally 
accepted by the Viceroy's council: ( I )  that the primary and princi- 
pal object of a British alliance with Afghanistan was the defense of 
India, and (2) that the one-sided and indefinite agreement that had 
been concluded with the late Amir was wholly unsa t i s fa~tor~ .~  
Kitchener's conclusion was that military considerations should su- 
persede all others in the agreement that Britain was about to negoti- 
ate with Habibullah. And if a treaty or agreement could not be 
secured which would give Britain the rights of an ally and enable 
her to formulate a definite scheme for the defense of the Empire, 
Kitchener would prefer to have no agreement at all, leaving Af- 
ghanistan to the natural and inevitable process of absorption be- 
tween Russia and Britain? 

Kitchener warned that it had been held as a cardinal point in 
Russian policy that Afghanistan was the most important land fron- 
tier of the British Empire, and he believed it would be there that the 
struggle for the mastery of the Middle East would take place. 
Therefore, Kitchener wanted to impress on the Amir that India and 
Afghanistan had enormous mutual interests that should be pre- 
served either by a "joint understanding and cordial working to- 
gether" or by each party taking such measures as it considered 
necessary lor the protection of its own interests without regard to the 
particular interests of the other.'' Kitchener did not want this alter- 
native to appear to be an ultimatum, but it is dificult to see how it 
could have seemed otherwise to the Amir. 

Lord Kitchener wnntcd to convince Habibullnh that i t  would be 



a long time before he could emulate the successes of the Japanese 
since the situation in Central Asia was profoundly different from 
that in the Far East. Railroad preparations by Russia north of 
Afghanistan were soon to reach a state that would permit her to 
move as many as half a million men into Afghanistan, against 
whom the Amir could not be successful. Having convinced Habi- 
bullah that his salvation lay in an intimate alliance with Britain, 
Kitchener wanted the British Envoy to discuss with the Amir how 
best to concert proper measures for mutual defense. Kitchener 
thought more active participation by Britain was needed. British and 
Afghan officers should jointly visit the various strategic points in the 
country and prepare on-the-spot schemes of defense. Britain should 
be in a position to advise the Amir generally as to the military 
measures deemed necessary. British troops should be permitted to 
enter and defend Afghanistan right from the beginning of a conflict, 
and not after Afghan troops had shown themselves unable to defend 
themselves from aggression. I t  would also be necessary for the Amir 
to improve all the main avenues of approach from India to Afghani- 
stan. Border adjustments would be required to provide sites for 
British railroad terminals, and, since the Amir was so set against the 
introduction of railroads into Afghanistan, he should construct roads 
that would connect with the British railroad tracks and thus make 
possible the rapid laying of rails in case of a Russian attack." 

Lord Ampthill generally agreed with Lord Kitchener on the 
emphasis on military considerations in negotiations with Afghani- 
stan, but he disagreed with the Commander-in Chief's conclusions 
that it would be better to have no agreement at all with the Amir 
than to continue the present unsatisfactory situation.'' He  feared 
that "instead of a lukewarm and suspicious ally, we should have an 
independent, neutral, or possibly an open foe on our borders, and 
instead of having a 'buffer state' to break the force of foreign 
invasion, we should either have to defend ourselves on our actual 
frontier or else invade Afghanistan." Hostility with Afghanistan 
would then arouse the tribes within the Indian North-West and, 
with such a two-front war, the actual defense of India would revert 
to the Indus River." 

Ampthill saw only three possible courses: ( I )  T o  continue as 
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before, being content with the settlement of minor questions at issue 
and hoping for a change of attitude on the part of the Amir. (2) T o  
make an agreement with the Amir whereby Britain was under no 
liability to defend Afghanistan. This could be framed so that by 
implication or otherwise Britain reserved its right of entering Af- 
ghanistan for the defense of India, while the Amir would continue 
to receive his subsidy and permission for the import of arms through 
India. (3) T o  put pressure on the Amir by refusing to make any 
agreement at all. 

Lord Ampthill saw the third course as an all-or-nothing proposi- 
tion and considered a combination of the first and second courses the 
best. If such a compromise were not possible, Lord Ampthill de- 
clared himself "pusillanimous enough to prefer the first course, that 
is 'to muddle on and trust to luck' in the good old British way." l4 

Lord Kitchener gradually retreated from his all-or-nothing stand on 
a treaty by repeatedly modifying his statements until he was in 
virtual agreement with Ampthill. 

The Viceroy then led the discussions in the council and contrib- 
uted a proposal of his own to serve as the basis for further delibera- 
tions. He agreed with Kitchener's "moderate demands" that the 
Amir should consult with Britain on military matters generally, im- 
prove his communications, and permit visits to Afghanistan by Brit- 
ish officers as advisers, and that British participation in Afghanistan 
should begin immediately on the commencement of hostilities.16 
Lord Ampthill felt that a formal treaty should be concluded; Abdur 
Rahman had wanted a formal treaty for a long time, until he 
realized that the advantages under the loose agreements were decid- 
edly in his favor. 

Ampthill saw a clear disadvantage in making a personal treaty 
with the ruler and not with the Afghan government, and he wanted 
a defensive alliance between the two governments.'e As to the form 
of assistance Britain should render Afghanistan, Lord Ampthill 
suggested the following definition: 

Provided that the Amir unreservedly followed our advice in regard to 
his external relations, provided he gave us the stipulated facilities for 
concerting in peacetime a scheme of mutual defence and provided 
that on the outbreak of war he placed no restrictions on the time and 
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manner in which our assistance with military force should be ren- 
dered, we would aid him to the best of our ability to repel unpro- 
voked aggression.'' 

Not explaining how he would induce Habibullah to sign a treaty 
that demanded so many concessions from the Amir without giving 
him anything in exchange, the Viceroy proceeded to outline the 
following provisions of a new treaty : 

I. India and Afghanistan would proclaim the continuance of 
their alliance and friendship and disavow any mutually agressive 
intent. Both states would promise to defend each other against 
unprovoked aggression. 

2. Both states would pledge not to interfere in each other's inter- 
nal affairs and to respect the Indo-Afghan boundary. 

3. The Afghan ruler would promise to follow British advice in 
his external relations and to accord peacetime facilities for a scheme 
of mutual defense in exchange for British protection of Afghanistan 
from outside aggression. The Amir would further pledge not to 
place any restrictions on the time or manner in which British 
assistance was to be rendered. 

4. Britain would agree to pay a permanent subsidy to the state of 
Afghanistan or (if Lord Ampthill's suggestion were to prove unac- 
ceptable to his council or the home government) to the Amir 
personally. The subsidy was to be larger than the previous one, and 
its use was to be limited to the payment of troops, the import of 
arms, and the fortification of the country. The Amir would guaran- 
tee that no arms or ammunitions be sold or given to the tribes on the 
frontier. 

5. The Amir would agree to provide facilities for British military 
officers to confer with their counterparts. 

6. The frontier was to be demarcated in a manner that would 
permit India to construct strategic lines of communications up to the 
Afghan border without any interference from Afghanistan. 

7. Satisfactory diplomatic relations were to be instituted. British 
officers were to be established, i f  not in Kabul, at least in such rural 
areas as Sistan and the Russo-Afghan border. They could be called 
"Consular Agents" to make their existence more palatable to the 
Amir, and some kind of honorific representation of the Amir at the 
Court of St. James could conceivably be granted. 
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8. A detailed customs and trade agreement was to be part of the 
new treaty or, if this might tempt Russia to demand a similar 
agreement, be part of a separate arrangement.'' 

This outline was the basis of discussion in the Viceroy's council, 
and suggestions were offered by several of its members. For exam- 
ple, Lord Kitchener would consider no less than five British officers 
necessary for inspecting the various strategic centers in Afghanistan. 
He also wanted a commitment from Habibullah regarding the 
extension of the British railways into Afghanistan immediately at 
the outbreak of war. The Amir would have to maintain the rails, 
but they would be removed again on the conclusion of hostilities. 
Afghan representation at London was deprecated by E. H. S. 
Clarke, and Lord Ampthill suggested bringing to the notice of 
foreign powers Britain's right to the control of Afghan foreign 
relations by obtaining a request from the Amir that British consular 
and diplomatic officers abroad act on behalf of Afghan  subject^.'^ All 
these suggestions were submitted in a telegram of October 21, 1904, 
to His Majesty's Secretary of State. The government of India sug- 
gested that the military provisions of the new treaty be incorporated 
in a secret military convention. The subsidy was to be partly per- 
sonal to Habibullah and partly permanent and, if necessary, the 
arrears of the subsidy were to be paid. No  Afghan representative 
was to be permitted in London, and, since the existing conditions 
made the British military occupation of Afghan Sistan inadvisable, 
this matter was not to be mentioned to the Amir.20 

The Foreign Secretary's reply made it apparent that the home 
government was not at all willing to "sacrifice the present loose, but 
generally satisfactory relations" with Afghanistan for changes the 
London cabinet doubted would be accepted by the Amir. Even if 
Habibullah were willing to accept the scheme recommended by 
Lord Kitchener, the generally antagonistic spirit among the tribes 
would prohibit its practical application. Furthermore, London held 
that any increase in the military strength of Afghanistan would be a 
danger to Hritnin since there was no certainty that the Amir would 
remain loyal "in all circumstances and under all temptations." The 
home government saw the real value of Afghanistan not in the 
efficiency of her army, but in the barrier against a Russian advance 
created by the geographical position and configuration of the coun- 



try? London doubted that the Amir would be willing to accept 
such a treaty; if he resisted pressure to accept it, Britain would either 
have to modify her demands, which would involve a loss in prestig+ 
or break off relations with the Amir, "leaving Afghanistan to the 
natural process of absorption between Russia and ourselves." In 
short, the risks were greater than His Majesty's government was 
prepared to accept. Therefore the London government had decided 
it would be preferable to approach the Amir with proposals for 
renewing the previous engagement. The home government sent an 
aide-mkmoire with specific instructions to Louis W. Dane, head of 
the Kabul mission, to use as a guide in his talks with the Amir.22 
According to this document, the reason for the deputation of a 
special envoy to Kabul was to close the rift that existed between the 
two governments and to arrive at a renewal of the previous agree- 
ment. Dane was to proceed on the assumption that the objects, the 
interests, and the enemies of the two countries were identical, and 
that their policy was one of harmonious cooperation. 

First of all Habibullah should be assured that he would not be 
pressed to make any concession that would be injurious to his 
dignity and contrary to his policy. Dane, therefore, did not have to 
mention the question of railroads but to impress on the Amir the 
importance of the telegraph and point out to him some of the 
benefits he would derive from such an innovation. Britain was 
prepared to construct a telegraph line and then hand it over to the 
Afghans who would operate it. But in this matter, too, the Amir 
should not be pressed.23 

The document further stated that the deputation of British 
officers to Afghanistan (i.e., McMahon to Sistan, Dobbs to Herat, 
and Donald to Kurram) had recently been successful and not 
accompanied by any unfortunate consequences; therefore, the send- 
ing of other officers to settle problems that undoubtedly arise "from 
a state of ignorance about important matters" was desirable. But the 
Secretary of State felt that the idea of the loan of British officers on a 
more systematic and permanent basis was one that should only be 
pursued with the absolute concurrence of the Amir. The aidc- 
mkmoire also stated that it should be unnecessary, but it might be 
wise, to repeat the assurance to the Amir that no interference in the 
internal administration of Afghanistan was either contemplated or 
desired. 
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The home government felt that the written assurance given to 
Abdur Rahman in 1880 was deemed sufficient and there was no 
need for Dane to press for a more formal instrument. The important 
thing was that this agreement, just as the one before, was a personal 
one concluded between the British government and the Amir, not 
the ruling dynasty or the State of Afghanistan. The absolute control 
by Britain of Afghanistan's foreign relations was the cardinal point 
of the agreement. Dane was to examine the Amir's contention that it 
was impossible to stop communications with Russia in matters of 
commerce. In what sense were commercial communications re- 
quired on the Russo-Afghan frontier which were not wanted on the 
Indian frontier? Dane was also instructed to seek an explanation on 
the status of the Afghan commercial agent at Samarkand. 

The aide-mtmoire reminded Dane that the British obligations 
under the assurances of 1880 should be frankly discussed. Under 
these assurances, the British government was made the sole judge of 
the manner and degree of the assistance in repelling unprovoked 
aggression which it would give.24 

In regard to the military ~ re~a redness  of Afghanistan, the Amir 
was to be made aware of the fact that his forces were incapable of 
making a prolonged stand against a European foe. The example of 
Japan, to which the Amir was in the habit of alluding, presented no 
analogy whatever to the condition of Afghanistan. Habibullah could 
not expect to be successful if he found himself engaged in a war 
with Russia. Dane was to sound out the Amir to determine if he 
wished reports made by British officers on the military features of 
the country between Herat and Kabul to facilitate British assistance 
to Afghanistan in case of war with Russia. 

Subsidies were to be continued. The British Envoy was reminded 
that Britain's object was to bind the Amir to her by the tie of 
self-interest. As long as his conduct was satisfactory, the Amir 
should receive the subsidy and facilities for the import of arms. The 
quid pro quo from him should be: ( I )  control of his foreign 

a # .  relations, (2) abandonment of his intrigues" with the frontier 
tribes, (3) maintenance of a power friendly to Great Britain as a 
barrier to Russian advance, and (4) commercial fa~ilities.~' 

The Defence Committee of the home government had come to 
the conclusion that it would be dangerous to assume the training of 
the Amir's troops, even if he would permit it. Since the amount of 



subsidy limited Habibullah in his purchases of arms, it was consid- 
ered not desirable to increase his subsidy. The aide-mkmoive further 
contained a list of "misunderstandings" that had to be cleared up 
before a new agreement could be concluded: 

I. The Mohmand border question must be settled, and the entire 
line from the Nawa Peak to the Sisubi Pass had to be defined. It was 
necessary for India to build a railroad in the neighborhood of the 
Khyber Pass and another one up the Kurram valley. The Amir 
must not adopt a hostile attitude toward these projects. 

2. The status, treatment, and position of the British Agent at 
Kabul must be discussed and a promise for improvements obtained 
from the Amir. 

3. Incidents on the Anglo-Afghan border, such as Afghan con- 
duct at Shinpukh, Smatzai, and Darband, as well as the imprison- 
ment of Colonel Yate, should not happen between allied countries 
and must not occur in the future. 

4. Afghan relations with transborder tribes must cease. The Amir 
should stop his attempts to enlist transborder tribes into his army. 
(British enlistment of Afghan Hazarah into frontier forces need not 
be mentioned.) 

5. Facilities would be given by the government of India for the 
import of arms into Afghanistan, but it was preferable not to 
include a stipulation to this effect in the agreement. 

6. The question of a more liberal "commercial policy" toward 
India should be discussed with the Amir. After all, "Afghanistan is 
the sole civilized country in the world . . . with which we do not 
possess a commercial agreement. It has been found desirable even by 
uncivilized countries" like Tibet.26 Since the conclusion of a com- 
mercial convention would almost inevitably lead to a similar de- 
mand by Russia, it was preferable merely to obtain assurances for 
the free passage of trade caravans across the Anglo-Afghan frontier. 
As to the form of the new agreement, the home government invited 
the advice of the Foreign Department in India. 

The Viceroy's government acknowledged this communication 
and asked for a general provision that would secure India the right 
to enter the country with military force when it became necessary to 

repel aggression.27 If the home government was unwilling to press 
for the appointment of British officers on the northern frontier, 
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attempts were to be made to obtain the Amir's consent to the 
deputation of native newswriters or commercial agents to Maymana, 
Mazar-i-Sharif, and Faizabad. 

The government of India submitted a two-part draft treaty con- 
sisting of a treaty of friendship and union between India and 
Afghanistan with a more qualified reiteration of guarantees for 
protection in exchange for control of Afghan foreign affairs, and a 
subsidiary agreement defining in ten articles the responsibilities of 
both countries.2s The draft treaty was essentially a compromise 
between the versions suggested by India and Britain, and London 
finally approved it, on the condition that the treaty was made with 
the Amir personally and not with the State of Afghanistan. The 
home government also wanted certain passages changed to prevent 
the commercial provision from developing into a commercial con- 
ven tion." 

The stage was now set for negotiations. The proposed treaty was 
quite similar to the previous arrangement, except that it permitted 
British troops to enter Afghanistan in defense of foreign aggression. 
The subsidiary treaty also permitted British involvement by institu- 
tionalizing the delegation of British oficers to assist the Amir in 
matters of defense. Although the treaty gave the British much less 
than the government of India has desired, it provided for an increase 
of British influence in Afghanistan and could have led to a tighten- 
ing of British control which might have proved fatal to the Amir's 
independence. 

N E G O T I A T I O N S  

Foreign Secretary Dane arrived in Kabul on December 12, 1go4, and 
received a most cordial welcome. H e  ~roceeded to the Mehman 
Khana while five regiments were drawn up with presented arms, 
the Hritish national anthem played, and a salute of twenty-one guns 
fired. A diyajat (present of hospitality) of 30,000 Kabuli rupees was 
presented to Dane." Two days later, Habibullah received the mis- 
sion in formal durbar where friendly greetings were exchanged, and 
the Amir agreed that he was most anxious to renew the agreements 
made between his father and the Hritish government, "since their 
mutual friendship was a boon for both countries." 31 On December 
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15, 1904, the Amir received Dane, Dobbs, and Grant and their 
interpreters in a private interview at his palace. The  Amir was 
surrounded by his council, and the attitude of the Afghans was most 

Thus the discussions began, destined to last for many weary 
weeks, until the end of March, 1905. It became apparent very soon 
that the major issue was the question of the nature of the Anglo- 
Afghan Agreement of 1880. The Amir and his council saw the 
disadvantage of a treaty with Britain which would be subject to 
renewal at the death of every Afghan ruler. (Nasrullah, the Amir's 
brother and principal adviser, expected to accede to the throne one 
day and, therefore, had a stake in this issue.) The Amir had 
managed to hold off the British for three years until he had to 
acquiesce in permitting a mission to Afghanistan. If Habibullah 
finally was successful in obtaining a renewal of the previous agree- 
ment, it was not assured that all future Afghan rulers would be 
equally astute and succeed in maintaining Afghanistan's precarious 
independence. 

Britain's major objective was both to obtain the renewal of the 
Agreement of 1880 with favorable modifications and to solve the 
vexing question of Russo-Afghan relations. Since Russia would not 
be drawn into a definition of how she would limit her relations with 
Afghanistan to local matters of a nonpolitical nature, it was neces- 
sary that the Afghan ruler advance a plan for this purpose. By 
getting the Amir to endorse an acceptable scheme, Britain's position 
vis-a-vis Russia would be strengthened, for Russia could not have 
any relations in the face of an Afghan refusal. 

The discussions began with expressions of mutual goodwill and 
hopes for a speedy settlement of the affair. Dane stated that he was 
instructed to speak with candor and freedom and in a spirit of true 
friendship, and the Amir told him to "lay aside all purda" since he 
would also speak what was in his innermost heart. Dane began by 
attempting to show that the analogy between Japan and Afghani- 
stan was not a correct one, and he denied that the British assisted 
Japan with money and ships before she became involved in the war 
with Russia. Next he asked the Amir whether he wished to receive 
"active military assistance in such time and in such manner as this 
could be effectively rendered"; and he warned that if the Amir 
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relied on the admitted bravery of the Afghans alone, even though 
these were fully armed and equipped, he must fail. Dane cautioned 
that the British government could not acquiesce in the conquest by 
any foreign power of Afghanistan, the gate of India, and that she 
must in any case safeguard her own vital interests. H e  concluded by 
mentioning some of the subsidiary questions that had to be settled 
before the new treaty could come into effect?' 

The Amir reiterated his willingness to conduct all ~olitical rela- 
tions with foreign powers through British mediation and said he 
would ask from his friend such help as he could receive without 
damaging his honor and religious prestige. The Amir saw the 
danger from Russia as being much greater now than during the 
time of his father, and he ~romised to give a written expression of 
his views on Dane's suggestions. 

Dane declared himself generally satisfied with his first interview, 
but in India his tactical error was quickly noticed. Clarke, the 
Assistant Secretary to the Foreign Department, deplored this prema- 
ture emphasis of the military question.34 Indeed, asking the Amir 
whether he would accept British assistance under certain conditions 
was contrary to the British government's desire to concede no veto 
on that proposal. 

Lord Curzon, who had just returned to India, warned Dane in a 
private and confidential letter, dated December 9, 1904, that it had 
required a good deal of effort to get the home government to permit 
the conclusion of a new treaty at all. H e  said that the cabinet wanted 
to keep things quiet and therefore felt no sympathy with the "bold 
military programme put before them." According to Curzon, 
London believed that the Amir was not likely to agree to organize 
his tribes on a British plan of defense, and, even if he did agree, 
there was no guarantee that he could adhere to it. The Amir's main 
objective was to remain independent, not to serve as a "mere pawn 
on the chessboard of Indian military defence." The presence of 
British officers along the northern border of Afghanistan constituted 
a violent departure from the status quo and a challenge to Russia, and 
Britain's close association with the country's defense would bring 
her the odium of failure as it did at the Panjdeh defeat. Arthur 
Balfour and his cabinet also held little regard for the value of the 
A$han forces. They thought that a powerful army, equipped with 



British arms, would be almost as likely to use its arms against 
Britain as against Russia. The treaty with Afghanistan was desired 
solely as a warning to Russia that an attack on Afghanistan would 
be considered a casus belli by Britain.36 

Dane was quite optimistic in his reply to Lord Curzon. He 
defended his approach, saying that the Amir "is almost going too 
fast in the negotiations, and it was partly to prevent his rushing me 
before I could consult Your Excellency fully that I at last agreed. . . 
to give him a brief pro memoria note, and to accept a written note in 
reply." The Amir would not talk of anything but the question of the 
defense of Afghanistan, and Dane felt it was impossible to broach 
the questions of his "intrigues" with the tribes and his treatment of 
the British Agent and other British officials. Dane had learned from 
the Afghan Envoy that the Amir was prepared to agree to British 
examination of the country beyond Kabul, and he wanted to "strike 
while the iron is hot"; he only waited for an opening from the Amir 
to touch the question of British defense of the Sistan area by direct 
military assistance. Dane was impressed by the cordiality of the 
Amir who held his hand for long periods of time and repeatedly 
thanked him for being so frank. It was mainly the clever and quick 
Abdul Kuddus Khan who promised to be diffi~ult.~' 

From the beginning the Amir had insisted on written communi- 
cations during the negotiations and on December 20 he submitted a 
long memorandum in which he gave his position on the subjects 
mentioned by Dane. The Amir protested Dane's contention that his 
nation could not be counted equal to Japan, and he cited in his 
advantage the crores ( I  crore = ro million) of his coreligionists in  
Russia, who would rise and attack the Russians in the rear if 
summoned to jihad by the Amir. T o  Dane's question of whether the 
Amir was willing to accept immediate active military assistance 
from the British, the Amir replied that he required not troops but 
arms and money. On the deputation of British officers, the Amir 
wanted to give his opinion "after the strengthening and increase" of 
the treaty; and he promised he would not tolerate a friendly word 
being uttered in friendship for Russia "after I have seen what 
increase has been made in the promises" of Britain. The Amir 
continued to maintain that the Agreements of 1880 and 1893 were 
made with the Afghan nation, and proceeded to outline a plan 
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which he thought would end the danger of Russian attack. This was 
best done, according to the Amir, by a concerted Anglo-Afghan 
attack upon Russia: Afghan troops armed by Britain would invade 
Central Asia after a declaration of jihad against Russia, and, while 
Afghan troops advanced, British soldiers would besiege the few 
Russian forts in the area.38 

This memorandum caused the government of India a great deal 
of anxiety. Lord Curzon hoped that it represented merely a blowing 
off of steam, but he deplored these rather unexpected developments 
which he somehow related to Dane's tactical error in bringing up 
the question of military support.Jg In India the Amir's stand was 
seen as especially objectionable since he reserved his decisions on 
such questions as the acceptance of British officers to survey parts of 
his territory, the status of Abdur Rahman's treaty, and his position 
on British rail terminals in their own territory, until he had seen the 
new treaty and knew what increase in assistance it would ~ r o v i d e . ~  
Furthermore, Habibullah's success in getting Dane to agree to an 
exchange of written memoranda, thereby providing a written record 
of his stand as "depending on circumstances," was an unexpected 
departure from procedure. Thus the Amir got his remarks recorded 
and Dane was put on the defensive in his replies. Before Dane could 
expound his point of view, the conversation seemed to get diverted 
into new and unforeseen channels. 

Dane quickly discounted the Amir's proposals. He  said he was 
not authorized to discuss a scheme of military attack upon Russia 
and declared himself convinced that his government would not 
sanction such a step since Russia had not provoked an attack. The 
British Envoy also refused to give any specific information regard- 
ing the extent and manner of aid promised by his government and 
only declared that Britain would fully and loyally carry out her 

The Amir then suggested that it would simplify the discussions if 
Dane pave him a copy of the British draft treaty that he was 

authorized to conclude. Dane acquiesced and gave orally the sub- 
stance of the treaty.42 An argument followed when the Amir ob- 
jected to the word "siyusi" as a translation for "political" regarding 
his foreign relations (dar hub-i-n~rmaribat rua tahlluqat-i-biruni- 
ye-thud).  The Amir demanded a definition of what relations 
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were considered political. For example, if a sheep were stolen by 
Afghans from Russian subjects and the Russians asked for com- 
pensation, was this a political procedure? Dane took this oppor- 
tunity to ask why such relations between border officials were not 
permitted at the British frontier. The Amir replied he could not 
leave such matters to his subjects because they were not sufficiently 
civilized to know how to act. Dane concluded the December 22 

meeting by raising some of the subsidiary questions. He  also in- 
quired about the Amir's wishes regarding the subsidy, which "form 
of help, unusual between civilized and allied states," might have 
been expected to be no longer necessary.* Habibullah promised to 

consider these questions in detail. As to the alleged ill-treatment of 
British newswriters, the Amir informed Dane that he had recalled 
the Governors of both Herat and Kandahar. Habibullah also 
wanted to know what Dane meant by saying that Afghanistan 
would not be prevented from importing "reasonable quantities" 
(meqdar-i-munasib) of arms. Dane assured the Amir that the Brit- 
ish government would certainly raise no objection to the importa- 
tion of any arms and munitions of war required by the Amir. 

The government of India saw an undesirable trend reflected in 
this second memorandum, and Lord Curzon remarked pessimisti- 
cally that "there is nothing to be done except prepare ourselves for a 
possible failure in the negotiations." 

In a memorandum of December 26, Habibullah said he had 
agreed to meet Dane since he understood that the subject of their 
discussions would be how to deal with a Russian advance and "not 
with the advance of border outlaws" or the renewal of a treaty 
which had existed for many years and under which Britain was still 
advising him in his dealings with Russia. The Amir said he was 
holding the Russians off because, although they spoke of restoring 
Afghan territories then held by the British, their objective of seeking 
passage through Afghanistan for an attack on India would also lead 
to the destruction of his own country. Another reason the Amir 
cited was that he considered himself bound to Britain in the alliance 
concluded by his father.*' 

Dane's position was made difficult by the fact that, regarding the 
Amir's foreign relations, he was instructed not to "whittle away" at 

the cardinal feature of absolute British control while at the same 
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time His Majesty's government had virtually conceded Russia the 
right to nonpolitical relations with Afghanistan.46 It was hoped that 
Habibullah would formulate a device to guarantee that contacts 
with Russia would remain of a nonpolitical nature. Since the Amir 
did not volunteer any suggestions, Dane found it difficult to bring 
up the question of appointing British consular o6cials to Afghani- 
stan's northern boundary. Furthermore, Dane hoped to obtain some 
kind of concession from the Amir in exchange for the grant of a 
subsidy and the payment of arrears in subsidy. 

Finally Habibullah sent Dane an undated and unsigned memo- 
randum on January I, 1905, which also included a "petition" by his 
State Council (Ahali-ye-Shura) with an Afghan version of a draft 
treaty. The Amir brought pressure to bear on Dane by declaring 
that if Britain insisted on concluding a new treaty he would be 
compelled to consult his nation and would be unable to say anything 
until the representatives (watjilha) of the whole nation were assem- 
bled.'7 On the other hand he declared himself ready to agree to the 
treaty proposed by his council. 

The document of the Amir's council first denied that the 1880 
treaty was personal and insisted that the subsidy was paid in return 
for lands ceded by Afghanistan. Since Afghanistan had gained 
nothing by her friendship with Britain except the enmity of Russia, 
Britain must contribute to Afghanistan's defenses by agreeing to a 
plan of military action. The document gave the text of a treaty 
which confirmed the one concluded with Abdur Rahman," and 
spelled out the details of the type of British assistance expected: 

British aid in arms was to be rendered in a predetermined 
quantity and with a definite schedule of delivery. For the defense of 
Turkestan, British military assistance should proceed by way of 
Chitral, to which place the Government of India was to build a 
railroad. The Afghan Government would agree to construct, with 
British assistance, a connecting road which would lead into Afghan- 
istan. Britain should agree to furnish Afghanistan with ships for the 
Oxus River and assist in the training of Afghan sailors, "so that the 
English can work 011 their own ships." At each port on the Oxus 
there should be constructed a Iort (mahkama) which would be 
garrisoned by Afghans. 

In the Herat area, the Afghan government would agree to build 



with British help, a strong fortification at Hashtadan. This fort 
would be held and defended by Afghan troops until a British 
railroad was constructed to this point; then it would be handed over 
to the Government of India. If Herat were attacked by the Russians, 
British troops were to come to the city's defense, whereas the Af- 
ghan troops at Herat would assist the British against an attack at 

Hashtadan. 
For the defense of Farah, the Afghans were prepared to build, with 

British assistance, a fort in the Sistan area, near the Indian boundary, 
and hand it over to Britain. In case of a Russian attack, the British 
should fight in the south from the direction of Nushki and Chaghai, 
while the Afghans would fight from the north. If the enemy arrived 
at Kandahar, the British should assist from the direction of Chaman, 
while the Afghans would fight within the limits of Qalat, Muqur, 
and Ghazni. Afghan troops would further hold the mountain 
passes, assisted by the Afghan tribes, and British troops would attack 
by way of Paiwar and the eastern tracts of Afghanistan. 

The Afghan Government would permit the government of India 
to construct a railroad which would start at the Indian border and 
travel along the Perso-Afghan boundary northward to Hashtadan. 
The land for the railroad would be ceded by Afghanistan, but the 
entire area was to remain under Afghan jurisdiction. Fortifications 
should also be built in various places in the Hindu Kush. Afghani- 
stan would accept British assistance under the following conditions: 
( I )  as the Afghans gave their lives, the British should give their 
arms; (2) if the Afghans gave territory, the British should give 
territory in exchange; (3) Britain should provide the funds for the 
construction of forts and roads; and (4) if Britain wanted Afghani- 
stan to increase her troops, she should increase her monetary assist- 
ance in proportion to the increase desired. 

The initial reaction in India was conjecture whether the council 
had been set up to assist the Arnir in his negotiations. Clarke was 
inclined to think that the council was ruling the Amir, that it was 
averse to conclusion of a new treaty, and that the threat to call all the 
tribes of Afghanistan if new agreements had to be made was a mere 
bluff. After all, the British treaty was a triviality compared to the 
one the Amir wanted to conclude without consulting his people. 
Clarke also thought that the fear of losing the arrears in subsidy 
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might be behind the Afghan's refusal to admit the personal charac- 

ter of the previous agreements. Therefore, he recommended that 
Dane be authorized to drop a hint that the payment of arrears 
depended on no more than the Amir's cooperation in reaching a 
speedy settlement." Clarke thought one could not be sure that the 
proposals for military cooperation were not put forward in the hope 
that Britain would reject them. The railroad project was, according 
to Clarke, "as impossible as it was undesirable," and the result of 
building it as well as fortifications on the Oxus "would be soon 
followed by war with Russia." The plan for the defense of Sistan 
was worthy of careful consideration, but India could hardly wait 
until Russia reached Kandahar and Kabul before she was permitted 
to come to the defense of these cities. 

The memorandum also showed India that the Afghans did not 
desire active British cooperation in the defense of central Afghani- 
stan, except as a last resort. Clarke thought it remarkable that the 
Secretary of State should have rejected Lord Kitchener's proposal for 
a secret military convention on the grounds that it was more than 
doubtful that the Amir v~ould consent. In the end, Clarke held, 
India would stand on safer ground in adhering to the program of 
the home government. 

Lord Curzon pointed to the "absurdity" of the fact that Afghani- 
stan, rather than rejoicing at the British proposals, should be fright- 
ened of them. He saw the cause of this "strange phenomenon" in the 
fact that Dane failed to "dangle before the Amir the rewards," 
namely the payment of the arrears in subsidy. Curzon thought that 
if Dane let Habibullah know that he would receive both the subsidy 
and the arrears, the Amir's irritation and misunderstanding "could 

be removed in five minutes." This assumption was, however 
proven wrong. 

Dane's interview with Habibullah on January 5, 1905, ended in 
deadlock when the Amir declined to consider any subsidiary ques- 
tions until the decision of the government of India on the Arnir's 
draft treaty was commonicated." The Amir admitted that the pro- 
p~wls  of his council need not be discussed en bloc, and he also 
indicated his willingness to make concessions on his railroad pro- 
posal. 

The government of India now decided to make a concession on 



the question of arms imports. In view of the opinion held by the 
home government that Dane's return without a treaty would be a 
serious misfortune, it was decided to go as far as to allow the Amir 
to import, free of duty, sufficient munitions of war for the full 
equipment of his army, reserving the right of controlling imports 
only under "special and exceptional circumstances." The Secretary 
of State had favored "a reasonable concession" in the question of 
arms which did not involve ( I )  complete abandonment of power to 
control the import of arms in special and exceptional circumstances, 
and (2) an admission that any claim hitherto denied by Britain can 
be made as a right.62 

The Viceroy deplored Dane's tactical error of starting his negotia- 
tions by bringing up the military question. H e  saw that Dane was 
now in the position of the supplicant for information, giving the 
Amir options on questions in which he ought not to have had any. 
Lord Curzon considered the question of arms control irretrievably 
lost when Durand gave his assurances in 1893, and he thought the 
only check that could be imposed on the import of arms was the 
amount of money given to the Amir in subsidy and the threat of 
breaking with him if his imports reached a point where he became 
either a menace to India or forced Britain into a war with Russia. 
Dane was, therefore, instructed to give way in the matter of arms 
imports as he did in the question of the arrears in 

Habibullah's demand for the old Martini rifles that were being 
discarded in the Indian army were met by a British refusal; the 
question of arms gifts was referred for discussion at a separate 
meeting after the signing of the British treaty." 

The Secretary of State finally cautioned the government of India 
that the publication of a blue book on the Anglo-Afghan treaty was 
planned and that the Amir should be told in a form that could be 
made public that ( I )  there was no intention of treating for an attack 
on Russia, and (2) that the views attributed to Edward VII by the 
Amir (namely, that the King favored an offensive alliance against 
Russia) were without f o u n d a t i ~ n . ~ ~  

On January 20, 1905, the home government again urged India to 
agree to the arrangement as it existed before. As to the matter of 
direct communication with foreign powers, Dane was advised to tell 
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the Amir that "except as to purely local matters of non-~olitical 
complexion" such relations are not ~ermitted.~'  Lord Curzon re- 
marked to this that the home government was beginning to "wobble 
badly," but he agreed to demanding from Afghanistan the immedi- 
ate forwarding of only political correspondence, whereas letters of a 
nonpolitical character were to be forwarded in copy at a later time.5' 

Habibullah's intransigent stand finally led Dane to recommend 
confronting the Amir with the ultimatum of either agreeing to the 
British draft treaty or coming to a break in the negotiations.68 On  
February 2,1905, the government of India reported to London that a 
deadlock had been reached.59 The Amir's position was given as 
follows ( I )  the engagements were permanent, and he had a right to 
the full subsidy, complete arrears, and unrestricted import of arms; 
(2) he wanted to strengthen the original agreement, by which he 
meant that his draft treaty should be accepted, the subsidy increased, 
free gifts of arms be given, and the treaty be considered dynastic; 
(3) after these concessions were granted, the Amir would be willing 
to discuss Britain's subsidiary questions. 

The Indian government was of the opinion that a yielding to 
Habibullah's position would mean a surrender of the sole lever 
Britain had over Afghan affairs and would leave the Amir as the 
permanent master of the situation. India had offered the Amir a 
renewal of the personal engagements with his father in identical 
terms, but in the more binding form of a treaty, the sole quid pro 
quo being that the Amir should meet them on a number of subsidi- 
ary points.'O India saw itself unable to discover any more concessions 
that could be made, and thought "future relations with an ally who 
had thus successfully trifled with us could not be satisfactory." The 
Viceroy's council, therefore, unanimously recommended that, after 
one more attempt at negotiations with the Amir, the mission should 
leave on a specified date. 

The Secretary of State responded to this recommendation in a 
telegram of February 3, 1905, declaring that the breaking off of 
negotiations was most undesirable, and suggesting that the only 
alternative left was to accept the Amir's settlement along the lines of 
the Amir's draft treaty, which should, however, include an explicit 
recital of engagements set forth in the British draft?' London 



warned that a break in negotiations "cannot fail to have [a] disturb 
ing effect; and, if Russian preparations in Tashkent mean anything, 
may precipitate their action." 

Dane had already given his opinion that an indefinite stay of the 
mission at Kabul was "neither very dignified nor very safe for a 
representative of the Government of India," and he reported rumors 
to the effect that a plot on the life of British members of his mission 
had been discovered. On  January 31, Habibullah announced the 
withdrawal of the proposal for military cooperation which was 
offered by his council. H e  informed his "dear and beloved friend, 
Louis W. Dane [that] from the expressions and statements used by 
you yesterday, it has become thoroughly apparent and clear that 

your Government has no intentions whatever to deal with Afghani- 
stan with equity and justice, and that whatever is said or stated is all 
by way of high-handedness and force." 62 

It was clear that the Amir realized what it would mean to come 
to a break in the negotiations. In an informal note he warned Dane 
of the results of a dismemberment of Afghanistan, saying that if 
Britain took Kabul and Kandahar, the Russians would take Herat 
and Turkestan, and then he asked, "What will be the state of affairs 
of your Government at the front and in the i n t e r i ~ r ? " ~ ~  

In the meantime, Reuter's reported on February 15 from London 
that Balfour hoped Afghan negotiations would terminate success- 
fully. H e  denied that Britain was pursuing a provocation policy and 
said "it was a cardinal element of sound policy that the Indian 
Government should be on good terms with a neighbor between 
them and a more powerful military Empire." 84 It was, therefore, not 
surprising that the Secretary of State "recommended" on February 
16 that the Amir's treaty was acceptable and Dane should sign it? 

The main point to the home government was that the Amir's draft 
treaty accepted the obligations undertaken by his father, and "if 
control of the Amir's relations is secured, we do not think any 
question of form should stand in the way." 

Alarm over "warlike preparations on a large scale" by Russia in 
Turkestan and the threat of a revival of the dispute over Yangi Kila, 
an island in the Oxus River, seemed to make the Amir more 
receptive to coming to terms with the British. Also the return of his 



son Inayatullah from India, where he had been hospitably received, 
seemed to have strengthened pro-British feelings. 

On March 14, Dane informed Habibullah of his government's 
willingness to accept the Amir's treaty and also showed him Abdur 
Rahman's letter of 1880, in which the former Amir bound himself to 
follow British advice in the conduct of his foreign relations. The 
Amir promised a prompt reply. 

But the battle was not yet over. The Amir was still trying to 
obtain concessions from Britain by adding to the preamble of his 
own treaty a clause that would have made it national rather than 
personal. This Dane would not permit. Habibullah then sought to 
discuss certain points which were not clear to him, especially Clause 
VII of the Durand Agreement, which covered the import of arms to 
Afghanistan. He  said that the treaty would be useless to him with- 
out such clarification. 

But finally Afghan opposition ceased, and the treaty was signed 
on March 21, 1905. Sir Percy Sykes tells the following anecdote 
about the signing of the treaty: As the Amir was affixing his 
signature, he shook some ink from his pen over the English copy of 
the parchment and exclaimed: "It is spoilt; we must write out other 
treaties." Dane, a notable Persian scholar, replied "This is only a 
mole on the fair face of the treaty," and quoted from Hafiz: "If this 
Shiraz beauty will accept my heart, for her Hindu-dark mole I will 
give Samarkand and Bukhara." This  apt quotation eased the situa- 
tion, but Abdul Kuddus Khan exclaimed: "See, Your Majesty, Mr. 
Dane gives you Samarkand and Bukhara." But Dane's prompt reply 
was: "Nay, the mole is on the face of the British treaty and for this 
the Amir abandons Samarkand and Bukhara." 

Two days after the signing of the treaty, the Amir sent Dane an 
d55-d letter in which he set forth his views on various minor 
matters he was willing to consider. They were ( I )  that the Amir 
would guard and preserve the British cemetery at Sherpur, (2) that 
a British arbitrator should be appointed to settle the Perso-Afghan 
frontier at Musabad, (3) that the undemarcated portion of the 
Indo-Afghan frontier should be demarcatecl after the next harvest, 
(4) t h a t  with r ep rd  to the frontier tribes, the Amir would "not go 
beyond his father's principles" (a promise Dane optimistically 



construed to mean that Habibullah would strictly adhere to his 
father's engagements), and (5) that he would appoint a committee 
of seven officers to deal with frontier crime in accordance with the 
Sharia and his code. On  March 27, the mission made a final appear- 
ance before the Amir and then set out on its return to India. 

In Parliament comments on the success of the mission were 
contradictory; 66 foreign observers, especially the Berlin Neue Preus- 
sische Zeitung, saw it as a diplomatic triumph for India, owing to 

the reverses of Russia in the Far East; '' and His Majesty's govern- 
ment, unlike India, was satisfied with the result. The Secretary of 
State expressed his general satisfaction and said that an ultimatum 
to the Amir, as suggested by India, "might have led to a war with 
Afghanistan which would have been a calamity to both India and 
the British Empire." 

The government of India expressed its dissatisfaction with the 
treaty and London's retreat all along the line. India pointed out that 

the relations with Abdur Rahman were anything but satisfactory, 
and that it had been established policy that on the death of the Amir 
a new treaty would be concluded which was to be founded on a 
more satisfactory basis. The home government was at times more 
demanding than India in stressing that new agreements were indis- 
pen~able.Bg 

It is quite apparent that the home government was not willing to 
upset the status quo and risk military action that might involve the 
Russian empire. Lord Curzon's independence and his disputes with 
London over strategic and political requirements had been a contin- 
uous source of friction. Curzon was personally acquainted with 
Habihullah and his father, having been to Afghanistan in 1894, and 
now he expected that this would help him gain the confidence of the 
new ruler and tie him and his country closer to India. Looking at 
the history of Anglo-Afghan relations, it is difficult to understand 
the optimism prevailing in India and the expectation held that an 
Afghan ruler would ever voluntarily agree to subordinate his inde- 
pendence and personal sovereignty to British strategic considera- 
tions. Most of the grievances held by the government of India, such 
as the status of the British Agent in Kabul and the newswriters in  
Herat and Kandahar, the resistance by Afghanistan to better corn- 
munications with India, and the refusal of the Amir to sever his 



communications with the transborder Afghans, showed clearly the 
isolationist character of the Amirs' foreign policy and should have 
been conclusive proof of their desire not to permit ~eaceful penetra- 
tion by India under the auspices of a defensive alliance. 

It is impossible to say whether the Amir was really willing to 
agree to the military plan of his council; but even this plan did not 
provide for the presence of a British force in his country. 

The result of the Dane mission was a complete victory for the 
Arnir. On the question of the character of the Anglo-Afghan treaty, 
the Amir had never abandoned his contention that it was perma- 
nent; and both sides accepted the treaty but interpreted it differ- 
ently, without making specific statements to this effect. 

Britain's control of Afghan foreign relations was continued; Brit- 
ain was willing to permit some local communications of a nonpoliti- 
cal character on the Russo-Afghan frontier, but the Amir was 
expected to submit a proposal as to how he would conduct and 
control such relations. On the matter of British assistance to repel 
unprovoked aggression against Afghanistan, there had long existed 
a disagreement between Afghanistan and India. Beginning with the 
~Sgo's, Abdur Rahman insisted that British aid should not be in 
troops, which he had himself in great numbers, but in money and 
arms. The Dane mission brought this difference of opinion no closer 
to a solution since all matters of a military character were expe- 
diently deferred for future discussions. 

The arrears in subsidy were granted without a quid pro quo from 
the Amir. But India's attempt to make London responsible for this 
is unjustified, for during the negotiations both Clarke and Curzon 
deplored the fact that Dane had waited so long to hint to the Amir 
that he might, indeed, receive both the subsidy and the arrears." 

The question of arms imports to Afghanistan also remained 
where it was, and no limitations were imposed on the Amir in the 
new treaty. The Amir consented to the demarcation of the 
Mohmand boundary, but he appointed for this task the Sarhang of 
Dakka, whom the British considered notoriously unfriendly. 

The position of the British Agent at Kabul was "improved" 
insofar as he was now permitted to be seated in durbar among 
officials of higher rank. Also the Afghan guards were removed from 
his residence. The Amir promised that, regarding his relations with 



the Afridis and other tribes across his frontiers, he "would not in 
future go beyond the principles of his father." And if one looks at 
the principles held by his father and the many complaints of British 
officials about his "intrigues" with those tribes, this could only mean 
that the same unsatisfactory situation would continue. 

Habibullah did not permit the appointment of British newswrit- 
ers at Maymana, Mazar-i-Sharif, and Faizabad; and such questions 
as the admission of British officers to reconnoiter various areas in 
Afghanistan, or the granting of land for a railhead at Dakka were 
postponed for future discussions. 

As far as India was concerned, the Dane mission left Anglo- 
Afghan relations in the same unsatisfactory state as before. It was 
small consolation to India to have left the Amir in a "friendly and 
favourable frame of mind." The question was whether this attitude 
would be la~ting.~' 



After the British mission had left, the Amir thought it advisable to 
tour parts of his country and announce in public durbar that noth- 
ing had happened, except that the old engagements with Britain 
were reconfirmed and relations were to continue as before. 

There was, however, the question remaining from the Dane 
negotiations whether or not military matters should now be dis- 
cussed. Habibullah was approached to determine his feelings about 
making a visit to India, and in February, 1906, the government of 
India first received an intimation that the Amir might be inclined to 
come to India.' There was some opposition in Afghanistan to the 
Amir's visit to India, because it was feared that Britain would force 
a reopening of the Dane negotiations or at least hold the Amir to his 
promise to discuss matters of military cooperation with the govern- 
ment of India.2 Rumors were current in Afghanistan that the British 
wanted to detain the Amir in India, and there was talk of a 
prophecy warning that the Amir would die if he went to India. 

India was not interested in discussing a military alliance but 
wanted the visit mainly for its eflect on the frontier tribes who relied 
on the Amir's support in their opposition to British forward moves. 
An invitation was finally issued, requesting the Amir to come for a 
friendly visit of "sight-seeing and shooting" and Habibullah ac- 
cepted, arriving in India in early January, 1907. The Amir requested 
that Dane be his official host, but Sir Henry McMahon was ap- 
pointed for this function instead, in order to avoid the assumption 
that the previous negotiations were to be resumed. Lord Minto, who 
had become Viceroy after Curzon's resignation, cordially received 



the Afghan ruler. The reluctance of some members of the govern- 
ment of India to acknowledge the Amir's title of "Padshah" was 
overcome when King Edward VII in a message of welcome ad- 
dressed Habibullah as "Your Majesty." A thirty-one gun salute was 
grudgingly presented, and the Amir was feted and generally treated 
with friendship and cordiality. 

Kitchener and McMahon took it upon themselves to initiate the 
Amir in the freemasonic fraternity without consulting the Foreign 
Department of the government of India.3 This act was to have great 
repercussions in Afghanistan and was causing the Amir the loss of 
some popular support. Habibullah proved that this trip was solely 
for pleasure by taking great interest in hunting, socializing, and 
English ladies. So greatly did he like what he saw that he failed to 

adhere to the itinerary to which he had pledged himself and lin- 
gered in Calcutta and Bombay. The Amir ignored and ridiculed the 
sirdars in his retinue,' and he scandalized many by refusing to take 
off his shoes in the Delhi mosque.' It was with considerable diffi- 
culty and amid rumors of plots for his assassination that he was 
induced to move on from Calcutta.' Dane discreetly arranged for an 
interview with the Amir, but only the subject of arms purchases was 
brought up. 

After Habibullah had returned to Afghanistan, the government 
of India nervously began to assess the results of his visit. Impressed 
by what he had seen in India, the Amir had become convinced that 

his country needed reforms. H e  engaged a number of technicians 
and experts in various fields, and he ordered the construction of 
roads from the Indian border to Kabul and even proposed the 
construction of a railroad within Afghanistan. So eager was the 
Amir in his reforms that the Foreign Secretary wondered whether 
the Amir "is not going too fast in opening up his country." And 
Clarke remarked that "if the coming summer passes without trouble 
in Afghanistan, then we may admit the complete success of the 
visit." 

Religious elements, especially certain mullahs of the Laghman 
district, publicly accused the Amir of having secretly embraced 
Christianity and of being now ready to "hand over his country 
bound hand and foot."   he Afghan Agent in India reported similar 
sentiments reaching him from Kabul, and he complained "I have 



come to grief all around. The Sardars who came to India with the 
Amir hate me because they say I made money out of the feeding 
arrangements. Sardar Nasrullah Khan curses me for being the 
originator of the visit to India, and for making the Amir change his 
views and religion." The agitation subsided only when, upon his 
return, the Amir had four mullahs hanged. Habibullah then went 
on a tour of his country to explain to his people that his policy was 
identical to the one of his father, and that no concessions were given 
to Britain.' The Amir's enthusiasm for the more obnoxious of his 
innovations disappeared as rapidly as it was aroused, and the situa- 
tion returned to normal. It was the conclusion of the Anglo-Russian 
Convention which finally brought the Amir again to share his 
people's distrust and hatred for Britain. 

A F G H A N  R E A C T I O N  T O  THE C O N V E N T I O N  

The Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907 was an attempt to prevent 
conflict between the two powers, and, as far as Afghanistan was 
concerned, to obtain a treaty that would formally confirm what the 
Granville-Gorchakov agreements and the discussions subsequent to 
the Russian Memorandum of 1900 attempted. Renewed negotiations 
received an impetus when the Marquess of Lansdowne wrote to Sir 
C. Hardinge on October 3, 1905, about a conversation with the 
Russian Ambassador in which the question of coming to an under- 
standing over the Persian situation was brought up.'' In subsequent 
letters, Lord Lansdowne reported that the Russian Ambassador 
discussed the possibility of an amicable arrangement between Great 
Britain and Russia. The Ambassador declared that the Anglo- 
Japanese agreement had come as a shock to the Russian people, but 
his government was willing to come to an understanding over 
Afghanistan, Persia, and the Near East, provided it was understood 
that such an arrangement was not directed against Germany." Sir 
Edward Grey, the Foreign Secretary, and Sir C. Hardinge reported 
conversations along similar lines. A message from Count Lamsdorff, 
delivered through Count Henckendorff, stated that the Russian gov- 
ernment noted with much satisfaction, how, without any anterior 
agreement, England had gradually shown a tendency to cooperate 
with Russia." 



The London Times correspondent in St. Petersburg quoted the 

"generally Anglo-phobe" Novoe Vremya of April I ,  1906, as seeing 
in a rapprochement between the two powers a natural develop 
ment.13 The newspaper saw a rapprochement or even an alliance 
with England as merely a return to the cordial relations that existed 
before the era of Lords Palmerston and Beaconsfield. For Russia the 
advantages would be to obtain a breathing spell after her defeat in 
the Japanese war; and an agreement with England was seen as 
inevitable for the future settlement of the unavoidable difficulties 
that would accompany the breakup of the Ottoman Empire. Fur- 
thermore such important points as the joining of the Russian and 
Indian railroad systems could be achieved. The Habt at-Matin of 
Calcutta also favored an alliance between England and R~ssia.'~ 

While the Amir was visiting India, Benckendorff asked Grey 
whether he might assure A. Isvolsky, the Russian Foreign Minister, 
that the visit of the Amir to India did not imply any changes that 
would affect the conditions of negotiations with Russia, and the 
Foreign Secretary assured him that the visit was merely "to confirm 
our friendly relations with the Amir, and not to change his political 
status." l5 The India Ofice agreed with the Foreign Office, in a letter 
of March I, 1907, to instruct Sir A. Nicholson (the British Ambassa- 
dor to St. Petersburg) that, although at a later stage of the negotia- 
tions it would become necessary to make certain recommendations 
to the Amir, it was premature to raise the question of communica- 
tions between Russian and Afghan frontier officials. It was desirable 
that the British government first know the Russian proposals re- 
garding Persia to ascertain whether they were likely to be acceptabk 
and to know exactly what Russia proposed in regard to direct 
Russo-Afghan relations, before the Amir was to be contacted on the 
subject.'' Drafts were prepared by both parties and the negotiations 
continued. 

The government of India, which was informed of the negotia- 
tions but not really consulted, was suspicious and did not at all share 
the views of the home government." Dane wrote in a semiotficial 
letter of March 3. 1907, that the Amir might wink at informal 
communications between his frontier oficials and the Russians, but 
he would not readily agree to authorize these formally. ~mrnrnenting 
on British and Russian drafts of certain articles of the Convention! 



Clarke remarked that there was no information available on com- 
mercial dues levied in Afghanistan which would prove or disprove 
the Russian contention that Britain enjoyed a preferential position. 
Article VII of the Convention would give both Russia and Britain 
the same facilities and place their subjects on the same footing when 
trading in Afghanistan. Clarke declared Article VII unsatisfactory 
and denounced Article I11 as impossible. In the latter article Britain 

agreed not to annex or occupy any portion of Afghanistan. Britain 
was to exercise her influence in Afghanistan in a pacific sense and 
take it upon herself to abstain from any military action which might 
be considered a menace to Russia. Reading both articles together, 
Clarke felt that Russia was aiming at the perfect equality of Britain 
and Russia in Afghanistan, and if Britain agreed to such equality 
she could not hope to obtain exclusive railroad concessions in Af- 
ghanistan.'' 

Lord Kitchener held that any arrangement which would disturb 
in any manner India's fundamental relations with Afghanistan 
should be resisted to the "last extremity." The Commander-in-Chief 
believed that Britain was bound by treaty to come to the aid of the 
Amir in case of unprovoked Russian aggression and that it was not 
feasible to distinguish between what were offensive and what were 
defensive measures threatening the Russian frontiers. Kitchener fore- 
saw the possibility of a situation arising whereby Britain might 
either be compelled to prevent the Amir from strengthening his 
defenses or, being unwilling to coerce the Amir, be forced to permit 
Russia to undertake such a measure.'%e also felt that if the Amir 
or his successor were to ally himself with Russia, "we should be 
unable to enter the country and enforce our undoubted rights of 
intervention without a breach of the Treaty and a consequent risk of 
war with Russia." And as serious as war with Russia might be, a 
war with the combined forces of Russia and Afghanistan would be 
infinitely more so. Lord Kitchener, therefore, recommended that an 
entente with Russia be indefinitely postponed. 

London was informed of the opinion of the government of India, 
but the negotiations continued, and a11 that India could do was to 
srlggest modifications in the Ijritish counterdraft to Russian propos- 
als. In the Anglo-Russian Convention, which was signed on August 
31, 1907, Russia's definition of Afghanistan as a buffer state was 



eliminated, and the Russian government declared Afghanistan out- 
side her sphere of influence. Britain on her part declared that she 
had no intention of changing the political status of Afghanistan. She 
would further exercise her influence only in a pacific sense, and, 
recognizing her Treaty of 1905, she had no intention of interfering 
with the internal government of Afghanistan. N o  territory would be 
annexed, provided that the Amir also fulfilled his obligations. Rus- 
sian and Afghan authorities were permitted to establish direct non- 
political relations. Equal facilities were to be granted to both powers, 
and the Convention was to be considered in force with the consent 
of the Amir.20 

While in Europe there seemed to be general satisfaction with the 
Convention, the government of India was faced with the question of 
"how to tell it to the Amir?" During the negotiations with Russia, 
the home government did not want to inform the Amir until it was 
certain that there would be a treaty, and it was not until September 
10, 1907, that the government of India officially contacted the Arnir 
about the Convention. Habibullah was informed that for some time 
past "negotiations of a most delicate character" had been in progress 
between Russia and Britain, "largely, if not mainly, with a view to 
secure the integrity of Afghanistan and removal of causes of jealousy 
between the British and Russian Governments." Lord Minto's letter 
then gave the text of the Afghan portion of the Convention and the 
Viceroy expressed his feelings, saying with somewhat exaggerated 
optimism, "I cannot but think that Your Majesty will regard the 
conclusion of this Convention with lively satisfaction." By way of 
explanation, he pointed to Article I in which Britain stated that she 
had no intention of changing the political status of Afghanistan, 
while Russia declared her neighbor outside her sphere of influence. 
Minto defined Article I1 as a repetition of British  ledges given in 
the Treaty of 1905. Article I11 was explained as a concession in the 
interests of peace in Asia and of the prosperity of Afghanistan and 
India, and the Amir was advised "that the earnest wish of the 
Russian Government should be conceded," and direct contact bt- 
tween frontier officials be permitted in matters of a nonpolitical 
nature. It was left to the Amir to seek the advice of the government 
of India even in these nonpolitical relations. With regard to the 
equality of treatment of Russian trade with that of British subjects, 



the Viceroy thought that the Amir would not object, since "British 
and Russian trade with Afghanistan is already accorded equal treat- 
ment." The Viceroy then pointed to Article V, according to which 
the approval of the Amir was required before the Convention would 
come into force, and asked Habibullah to give his formal concur- 
rence with the least possible delay, because "his prerogatives and 
interests had been jealously safeguarded." Since the Advantages of 
the Convention were so self-evident, the government of India 
thought it unnecessary to add anything more in explanation, but it 
was prepared, if the Amir desired, to send one British officer, 
accompanied by only one assistant, to explain matters more fully.21 

Habibullah answered on September 29, 1907, saying that he was 
at the time making a tour of Afghanistan and could not respond 
immediately, but, God willing, he would do so upon his return to 
Kabul in the middle of the following month." It became apparent 
that God was not willing, for many months passed before the Amir 
took a stand on the Convention. 

Now began a period of anxious waiting. There was uncertainty 
as to the validity of the agreement between the two empires, and the 
fact that the Afghan ruler seemed to have a veto in it caused no little 
embarrassment in several capitals. The government of India care- 
fully studied every lead from the Afghan capital which might 
indicate the reaction of the Amir. The British Agent at Kabul was 
sounding out Afghan officials; British Military Intelligence, frontier 
officers, and British consular officers consulted their agents to precipi- 
tate an answer and to find out what it might be. 

In the beginning of March, 1908, the Afghan Envoy in India told 
Clarke confidentially that the Amir had directed him to send a 
detailed report with all the clauses of the Anglo-Afghan Conven- 
tion. The Envoy also said that he had advised the Amir to sign the 
Convention. From the Afghan agent in Meshed the British military 
attach6 learned that the Amir was determined not to allow any 
closer intercourse either with India or Russia. The Afghan Agent 
also quoted the Amir as saying that he opposed the Convention even 
before he had received any official communication on the subject 
from India.23 

In Parliament the question was frequently raised whether the 
Amir had finally given his assent to the Convention, but embar- 



rassed government officials could merely reply in the negative. Lord 
Curzon, who was at that time again a member of Parliament, 
severely attacked the Con~ention.~' According to the military at- 

tach6 at Meshed, Russian public opinion gave little importance to 

the fact that the Amir had not accepted the terms of the Convention. 
The Russians considered it most important that Britain had come to 
terms with them; and if the Amir refused to receive Russian corn- 
mercial agents and to open his country to trade, they expected that 

Britain and Russia would jointly force him to do so.25 
The hospital assistant with the Kabul agency reported on May 23, 

1908, that the Amir's council had met frequently during the past 
week and decided that the Amir should not sign the Convention. 
Another, more ominous, report from the Kabul agency stated that in 
durbar the Amir declared himself opposed to the Convention, add- 
ing that he now had enough ammunition to last him for ten years of 
war, and enough rifles to arm all adults in Afghanistan. A British 
newswriter reported in April, 1908, from Samarkand that, according 
to a trustworthy source, the Mohmands from the Khyber area had 
sent a deputation to the Amir offering their allegiance and asking 
for help against the British. The Amir purportedly sold them eight 
thousand rifles and promised them other help if they fought the 
Briti~h.~" 

The Russian Novoe Vremya of June 9, 1908, saw in the meeting 
of the British and Russian monarchs at Reval a fresh security for the 
peace of Europe and held that, thanks to the rapprochement, "Eng- 
land can treat the Mohmand rising, and Russia the events in Persia, 
as local incidents, deprived of international character, and can extin- 
guish at leisure a spark which two years ago might have threatened 
a ~onflagration."'~ The paper further urged that "the buffer state 

can now become a linking state, and the material for strategic 
railways collected on both frontiers of Afghanistan in ten years of 
mutual distrust can become the potent means of economic union." 
The field open for the joint political activity of England and Russia 
was wide and pmfitable and, according to the newspaper, "not by 
any means limited by the points mentioned in the agreement." 

On June 23. 1908, Lord Minto sent a wary letter regarding the 
Convention to London in which he said, "the fog is very thick, and I 
cannot see my way out of it." He stressed the immense value to 
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India of a friendly Afghanistan and urged that, in whatever Britain 
might do, the necessity of the Amir's friendship should be an axiom. 
He warned that the hostility of Afghanistan would mean the cer- 
tainty of war in which all the tribes on the frontier from Waziristan 
to Kashmir would join, while India would be faced with serious 
internal dificulties. The Viceroy saw the Amir's refusal as certain, 
and he warned that the Convention might have been a Russian trick 
to involve England and Afghanistan in hostilities. Habibullah was 
reported to have received letters from Persia and Russia asking him 
not to sign the Convention. But the Viceroy was unable to suggest 
much in the way of a remedy. A polite letter might be sent remind- 
ing the Amir to give his reply; a mission might be dispatched 
possibly under McMahon, but it would be surrounded by so many 
dangers that one could scarcely be justified in sending it. A bribe 
would only lead to a demand for more money. There had been 
large-scale Mahsud raids into British territory and there were the 
usual rumors of Afghan connivance. Minto confessed that the "Wa- 
ziristan position has haunted me," and he deprecated the sending of 
a punitive expedition since it was tantamount to "throwing lives and 
money away." 29 

On July 30, 1908, His Majesty's government urged that, in view 
of both the situation of the Russian government and of considera- 
tions of British prestige, it was necessary that another letter be sent 
to the Amir. The Russian government, it was held, could not be 
expected to allow the situation to drift indefinitely, and it would 
regard the refusal of the Amir to send a reply as a formal refusal to 
the conditions of the Convention. London felt that "we should thus 
in  any case be co~lfronted with [the] necessity of discussing with 
Russia arrangements to be made in consequence of [the] Amir's 
direct or indirect refusal to accept [the] Convention and the danger 
you point out of [the] political situation in India consequent on 
[the] Amir's failure to consent becoming known, [the] seriousness 
of which we fully recognize, would arise." The London government 
approved the draft of a letter to the Amir and suggested alternative 
action depending on the Amir's reply or lack of it.30 

Finally, after a delay of over a year, Habibullah responded on 
August 14, 1908, to the British announcement of the Convention.'l 
The Amir wrote a friendly letter to which he added the opinion of 
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his council, contained in a fifty-four-page document. Without stat- 

ing any opinion of his own, the Amir invited Lord Minto's reaction 
and recommendations as to the steps necessary for the "good of the 

Governments of Great Britain and Afghanistan." 
The Afghan council's views were as follows: The Cor1vention 

destroyed the independence of Afghanistan; it had no advantages 
and was equally harmful to Britain as it was to Afghanistan. The 
Indian government had sent to the Amir only a translation of the 

Convention relating to Afghanistan, whereas three conventions were 
drawn up simultaneously. The council, therefore, cited the three 
conventions as telegraphed by Reuter's correspondent from St. Pe- 
tersburg (which was not identical with the one actually signed). 
Referring first to the Persian Convention, the council contended that 

since Persia had been divided into four parts of which two were 
allotted to Russia, one to Britain, and only one part was left to 

Persia, the words of "freedom and independence" as applied to 

Persia were meaningless. Since these words were not mentioned in 
the Convention regarding Afghanistan, the council contended that 

this implied that the position of Afghanistan would be subordinate 
only. Further, since the Persian Convention provided for the con- 
struction of railways, while the Tibet Convention provided that 

neither England nor Russia should make railways or telegraph lines 
in Tibet, the council suspected that the two powers reserved for 
themselves the right to build railways and telegraph lines in Af- 
ghanistan. 

Referring next to the British treaty with Japan, the council held 
that it provided for the protection of the Indian frontier, while the 
Afghan Convention provided for the extension of influence by way 
of trade. Rut without railroads and telegraphs, such commerce 
would not be possible, and troops to protect the railroads and to 
operate them would follow. Russian commercial agents would be 
imposed on the Afghan government, and, since trade was not 
confined to the capital, these agents would spread into other areas. 
This would surely lead to conflict because they would be attacked by 
the Afghans. 

Next the council argued that, since there was a clause in the Tibet 
Convention prohibiting the grant of land to either Russia or Britain, 
the omission of such a clause in the Afghan Convention entitkd 
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Russia to buy lands in Afghanistan from fugitives from Herat. The 
council pointed to the great responsibility that would be imposed by 
this on the Afghan government; it cited the murders of L. Cavag- 
nari and G. Fleischer as examples, and said that the Afghans would 
have to be disarmed like the people of India.s2 These, the council 
represented, were the transparent disadvantages, but what was hid- 
den should also be mentioned: "Afghanistan is the gate of India, 
and Herat is the gate of Afghanistan. Russia is in close connection 
with Herat by three routes, while Britain, seeing only one route 
open to Herat, has relinquished the idea of defending it. And the 
leaving open of this gate is the ruin of the house." 

The council then proceeded to outline a plan by which both 
Afghanistan and India could be protected; it had some resemblance 
to the one proposed to the Dane mission. In conclusion the council 
stated 

. . . [it could] never disregard the written and verbal advice of our 
late King to the effect that the necessity for our friendship with the 
British Government and our enmity with the Russian Government is 
proved by the fact that one is aiming at the protection of India and 
the other at seizing it. In the course of our discussions with the Dane 
Mission it was repeatedly explained by us that, in the interests of our 
nation and Government, we consider this incumbent on us. We will 
not act contrary to our principle. If they [the British] act in contra- 
vention of the principle laid down by them in the past, they will have 
to show a better principle to their own Government and to ours?' 

Although the comparisons and deductions made by the council 
were at times not quite logical, they were not so absurd as some 
members of the government of India asserted. It is clear that, by 
granting Russia concessions in the north of Afghanistan which 
India did not enjoy in the south and for the sake of equity now 
demanded, Britain in fact attempted to solve the Afghanistan ques- 
tion over the head of the Amir. The division of Persia, arranged in 
the same document, seemed to show to the Aighan council what 
might be in  store for them. 

The Kabul agent reported on September 16, 1908, that Sirdar 
Nasrullah and Abdul Kuddus Khan were responsible for the reply 
to the Viceroy, and that they thought their reply was most reason- 
able and at the same time polite and hoped that this was the last 



they would hear of the Convention. Nasrullah was further quoted as 
saying that, according to Islamic law, the Amir had no power "to 
part with or alienate the rights of his subjects on his own personal 
opinion," and the Afghan people and the council, which is their 
representative, were authorized to "guard their rights and interests 
by using force." 34 Lord Minto thereupon suggested that the best 
solution of the difficulty would be an attempt by His Majesty's 
government to persuade Russia to agree to cancel Articles I11 and IV 
of the C ~ n v e n t i o n . ~ ~  Sir Roos-Keppel, Chief Commissioner in the 

North-West Frontier, reported the Amir's "real attitude and feel- 
ings" to S. H. Butler, Secretary to the Foreign Department. He said 
that Habibullah was convinced that the British were determined 
upon his destruction, that Britain had a secret understanding with 
Russia for the partition of Afghanistan, and that Britain would 
within a short time declare war. Having been disappointed by 
Britain, the Amir was said to have gone to the other extreme of 
distrust. H e  did not believe that he could stand alone against India, 
but he knew the strength of the frontier tribes and had, according to 

Roos-Keppel, an exaggerated idea of the power of the Indian Na- 
tionalists, with whom he was in constant communication, and who 
assured him that they welcomed him as the ruler of India. The 
Amir did not want war, but he believed it would be forced upon him 
and he saw his only chance in taking the ~ f f e n s i v e . ~  

The London government had in the meantime agreed with 
Russia that the consent of the Amir was not needed, and, since 
Habibullah neither raised any objections to Article I11 nor ~rohib- 
ited frontier communications, his apparent tacit approval was 
enough until such time as he signed the   on vent ion.^' Thus, once 
again, a crisis in Afghanistan's foreign relations was ~ermitted to 
pass. 

A F G H A N  R E L A T I O N S  AS U S U A L  

In view of the Anglo-Russian pressures on the Amir, it was not 
surprising that the old issues, which the Dane mission had hoped to 

resolve, remained and Afghan foreign relations continued as before 
The isolation of British agents in Afghanistan was not ended. 

Since 1894, Abdur Rahman had made it a custom to reject almost 
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invariably the first British nominee for the position of agent in 
Kabul, and it appears probable that he did so in order to remind 
Britain of the fact that the agent was at Kabul with the express 
permission of the Afghan ruler.38 The reasons given for rejection of 
the British candidates was often that they were Shiah or suspected of 
having such sympathies, or that they were persons of dubious char- 
acter. Habibullah made an innovation of sorts in November, 1907, 
when he vetoed the appointment of Malik Umar Hayat Khan on 
the grounds that he was young and ~nexperienced.~' Lord Minto 
resented this evaluation of the qualifications of a man he had 
appointed, but he was reluctant to force his choice on Habibullah 
because without the goodwill of the Amir the agent's mission would 
be condemned to failure from the start. 

Afghan policy was similar with regard to the newswriters in 
Kandahar and Herat, only that these officials did not have the status 
of the representative in Kabul and were therefore subject to greater 
harassment and s~perv is ion .~~ A serious challenge to the effective- 
ness of the British agent in Kabul and his personnel was the Amir's 
insistence that, with the exception of the agent, all be subject to 
Islamic law. Although it at times surrendered native employees to 
Afghan jurisdiction, the government of India insisted that its em- 
ployees enjoy consular immunity.41 But India did not want to press 
this matter because it would have had to reciprocate in the case of 
Afghan officials in India, and this would have been tantamount to a 
recognition of Afghan independence. Subsequent to the Dane mis- 
sion, the government of India repeatedly addressed the Amir in this 
matter and attempted to induce him to accept the system prevailing 
in the Ottoman Empire, according to which foreign embassies had 
jurisdiction over their nationals. The Amir declined to accept a 
system calculated to "lead to much dishonour" to him and his 
country. There was nothing that could be done, and Britain was put 
in the otlious position of having to surrender her Afghan employees. 
This was rationalized in India by agreeing that an Afghan subject 
"must take his chance of the punishments customary in his own 
country." 42 

That this state of affairs prevented the eAcient collection of 
intelligence is obvious; and the fact that reporters and informants 
for Britain were at times executed as spies was sufficient deterrent to 



Afghans to prevent them from seeking British employment in large 
numbers.43 The dispensary of the British agency in Kabul was open 
to Afghans and could have been a means of access to British officials 
for spies and informants; but the Amir kept an Afghan guard at the 

gate of the agency and thus also closed this channel for British 
intelligence. 

The problem of the tribes was another perennial issue which 
affected Anglo-Afghan relations. Afghan rulers had customarily 
exercised a suzerainty over the independent tribes lying between 
Afghanistan and British India. Habibullah continued this policy, 
subsidizing tribes and inviting tribal deputations to Kabul where 
they would receive khilats (robes of honor) and various presents. 
The Afghan rulers were interested in having a buffer zone of 
independent tribes between Afghanistan and India, and no Afghan 
ruler could see with equanimity that Britain was slowly trying to 

penetrate this security belt to push forward her railroad toward the 
Afghan border. Since there was a reservoir of fighting men which 
could be utilized against Britain if she should attempt to invade 
Afghanistan, it was in the interest of Afghanistan that British 
penetration be foiled and the tribes protected and armed. 

For this reason the Amir could not be expected to cut off the 
illicit arms trade with the frontier, and he could not make common 
cause with the government of India in curbing frontier violence. 
Raids were conducted with some impartiality into both India and 
Afghanistan, and neither of the two governments was able to effec- 
tively guard the frontier. On occasion, both countries arranged a 
settlement of accounts by setting off cases against each other; the 
party with the larger amounts of offenses paid blood money and fines 
according to established rates."q 

The Afghan love of firearms made it inevitable that much raid- 
ing into British India was conducted for the purpose of capturing 
guns. There was even some specialization in these offenses. The Ut 
Khels, a tribe of some three hundred Ghilza~s from the Laghman 
valley in Afghanistan, specialized in the stealing of rifles. They 
roamed far into India a n d  became such a threat that the government 
of India contemplated the restricting of the free influx of Afghans- 
This was, however, not feasible because some half a million seasonal 
immigrants went yearly to India." Arms were also smuggled via 
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Muscat and other Persian Gulf areas and found their way into the 
hands of the Afridis and other transborder tribes.46 In Afghanistan 
arms were freely sold and bought "by every class and creed who 
could afford to buy them." 47 And it was a common boast of the 
Afghans that the price for a good rifle was the same in Kabul as in 
Calc~tta.~' 

The question of demarcation of the Indo-Afghan boundary also 
did not find its solution under Habibullah. The Durand Agreement 
of 1893 laid down the border, but when demarcation was taken up 
in 1895 Abdur Rahman claimed that he was to receive the entire 
Mohmand territory and not merely a section of it. In 1896 the Amir 
protested discrepancies on the map attached to the Durand Agree- 
ment, but Lord Elgin told him that the frontier drawn on the map 
must be followed. The Viceroy made some minor concessions to the 
Amir, coupled with an ultimatum that these concessions would be 
withdrawn if the Amir failed to begin demarcation of the boundary. 
Abdur Rahman permitted British and Afghan commissions to be set 
up for demarcation of the boundaries, but demarcation was never 
accomplished because the Amir failed to arrange for the protection 
of the British commissioners (protection from tribes on the British 
side of the border). During the frontier disturbances of 1897, British 
troops overran the Mohmand territory including Bohai Dag which 
was previously given to the Amir in exchange for an early demarca- 
tion. Habibullah defended his full rights to Bohai Dag, and the 
government of India began to regret having permitted this valley to 
remain in the possession of the Ami~-.'~ Habibullah asserted his right 
to Smatzai in 1905; a request from Lord Curzon for demarcation of 
parts of the boundary did not lead to any solution. 

In 1908 Lord Minto suggested to London the sending of a 
punitive expedition into the Bazar valley against the Zakka Khel 
Afridis who had conducted a series of raids into Indian territory and 
seemed to be encouraged in their anti-British activities by Afghan 
support, especially from Nasrullah Khan. The government of India 
assured London that it did not contemplate the dispatch of a puni- 
tive expedition on the old lines, which included the burning of 
villages, blowing up of houses, cutting down or ringing of fruit 
trees, and other acts of destruction. What was wanted was merely 
the recovery of a fine and the disarmament of the section, the 



capture and trial of ringleaders, and the construction of a road that 
would contain this section in the future.50 

The expedition was approved, and, for the sake of convenience, 
the Mohmands were punished at the same time, although they 
seemed to have taken up arms only in response to British moves into 
their territory. As happened before, the punitive expedition aroused 
the surrounding tribes, and Afghans from Nangrahar prepared for 
jihad and moved large lashkars (tribal armies) to the b~rder.~'  The 
years 1908 and 1909 were consequently marked by unrest on the 
North-West Frontier. 

Russo-Afghan relations under Habibullah were not materially 
affected by Russian pressure either. The Russian Memorandum of 
1900 was a notice of intentions on the part of Russia to Britain, but 
without the concurrence of the Amir relations could not be es- 
tablished. The case of the "lost" boundary pillars did not force any 
relations, nor did the Russian occupation of Yangi Kila, an island in  
the Oxus. In 1908 about fifteen hundred Jamshidis from Afghani- 
stan crossed the border into Russia to flee from what they claimed 
was oppression from the Amir's officials. This wholesale emigration 
led to some correspondence between Russia and Afghanistan, but 
Russia carefully avoided making any reference to the Anglo-Russian 
C~nvention. '~ 

In 1912 Russia asked for the good offices of the British govern- 
ment in helping to bring about an arrangement between the Russian 
and Afghan governments for the regulation of irrigation rights on 
the Murghab and Hari Rud rivers.63 In further exchanges of notes 
between the Russian and British governments, the former corn- 
plained of a lack of Afghan cooperation in fighting the locust 
menace and also brought up the question of  uss so-Afghan trade. 
Britain saw in these steps Russian attempts to force the Amir to act 
in the sense of the Con~ention. '~ 

The actions of Russia in northern Persia, the Turco-Italian War, 
and the Balkan War had affected feelings of Muslim solidarity even 
in Afghanistan, and the government of India did not feel that this 
was a good time to address the Amir in connection with the 
Convention. 

During the reign of Hahibullah, Turkish influence bepan to 

spread in Afghanistan. As sunni Muslims they were better suited for 



work in Afghanistan than Christians. They were subject to Islamic 
law, at least in theory, and they were more acceptable for these and 
other reasons to the people of Afghanistan. The spreading of Turk- 
ish influence in Afghanistan was due, at least in part, to the activities 
of Mahmud Tarzi, an Afghan who was forced into exile by Abdur 
Rahman and lived many years in Damascus and Constantinople and 
other areas in the Ottoman Empire. Tarzi witnessed Ottoman at- 
tempts at reform and saw the vulnerability of a Muslim state in 
relations with Western powers. Tarzi's later activities proved that he 
held Pan-Islamic sentiments, and after he and his family were 
established in Kabul in 1905, Tarzi became the nucleus of a national- 
ist party. Nasrullah and other members of the Amir's court gravi- 
tated into the Tarzi camp. Mahmud Tarzi's influence was consoli- 
dated when he gave two of his daughters in marriage to sons of the 
Amir and he assumed the position of editor of the Sirij  al-Akhbir, 
a most influential Kabuli newspaper.55 

The British Consul at Damascus learned as early as the begin- 
ning of 1904 that Habibullah had developed pro-Turkish tendencies: 
the Amir introduced the fez in Kabul, supported the Hejaz Rail- 
way, and hired Turkish teachers and mullahs.66 

In 1904 the Ottoman government considered sending Habibullah 
the Mejidi Order and refrained from doing so only when discour- 
aged by Britain.57 In 1907 a group of seven Turks arrived in Kabul 
among whom were a physician, a military officer, and an engineer. 
They were brought to Afghanistan through the agency of the 
nephew of the Naqib of Baghdad.58 The British military attach6 in 
Constantinople claimed that the Turks in Afghanistan had Pan- 
Islamic tendencies and were in continuous contact with the Pan- 
Islamic League through the Naqib's  relation^.^' 

In 191 I Count Renckendorff, the Russian Ambassador, informed 
Britain that a high Turkish officer, presumably Shukri Pasha, was at 
Kabul for the purpose of inducing the Amir to conclude a treaty of 
alliance with Turkey." Whatever the connections and secret objec- 
tives of these Turkish nationals may have been, there was no doubt 
that their presence in Afghanistan served to remind the Afghan 
people of their community of interest with other Islamic peoples 
such as the Turks.')' The Turco-Italian War and the Balkan wars 
were factors in dramatizing the common plight of the Muslim 



world in the face of Western imperialism. Events in these wars were 
widely reported in the Sir@-al-Akhbir, and much was made of 
atrocities claimed to have been committed by Turkey's antagonists 
in the Balkan wars. Habibullah publicly criticized Britain for her 
neutrality in the wars threatening Turkey and said that this would 
alienate the hearts of a large number of Muslims. H e  added that this 
neutrality was against Britain's national interests since she had more 
Muslim subjects than any others. The Amir warned that Britain's 
Muslim subjects were no longer passive, and declared that "the eyes 
and ears of all have become open and sentiments of freedom and 
self-government have kindled their brains." e2 

In early 1912, Russian activities precipitated a war scare in Af- 
ghanistan when it was reported that attempts were made to build a 
bridge across the Oxus. The Amir warned the Afghan tribes not to 
raid British territory, and he was said to haw consulted the mullahs 
on the advisability of asking for British aid in case of a Russian 
attack.63 

The military attach6 in Meshed reported in April, 1912, that the 
Russians were greatly frustrated at the paucity of beneficial results 
they got from the Anglo-Afghan Convention. The Russians blamed 
the British for maintaining their suspicions of Russian motives and 
for failing to persuade the Amir to accept their "moderate" wishes? 
Russia also requested the extradition of Russians kept in Afghan 
prisons, basing her request for British assistance in this case on 
Article I11 of the Convention. But Britain was not willing to admon- 
ish Habibullah to have more cordial relations with Russia and thus 
risk the worsening of her own relations with the Amir. Secret 
negotiations between Russia and Britain continued in which Russia 
was willing to make concessions in Tibet for a quid pro quo in 
Afghanistan. Russia demanded more influence in northern Af- 
ghanistan; spheres of influence were to be drawn which would have 
opened Herat to Russian penetration. Negotiations continued until 
the imminence of World War I relegated this question to the 
backgroundP5 



5. Wdd War I and fleutrality 

T H E  N I E D E R M A Y E R  E X P E D I T I O N  

The outbreak of World War I again brought Afghanistan into the 
picture of international politics. And this time, the situation was 
drastically changed: gone were the pressures that had been exerted 
on Afghanistan by her two neighbors; no contributions to the war 
effort were demanded; and the two powers were satisfied to see the 
Amir neutral in the international dispute. While the consequences 
of a major war with Afghanistan were quite unpredictable in ordi- 
nary times, during a period of danger in Europe they could easily be 
catastrophic. Both Russia and Britain were, therefore, prepared to go 
to some lengths to appease Afghanistan, although this was made 
difficult by such events as the arrival of the Niedermayer expedition 
in Afghanistan, which ended the isolation of that country and 
presaged danger to the war effort of the two empires. 

The Niederma~er-Hentig expedition was Germany's answer to a 
proposal of Enver Pasha. Even before becoming a party in the war, 
the Turkish Minister of War had suggested that Germany should 
participate in a Turkish mission to Afghanistan for the purpose of 
aligning that country on the side of the Central Powers.' Enver 
Pasha was thinking in terms of a few men who would represent 
these European powers and thus give greater importance to his 
mission without detracting from its essentially Pan-Islamic nature. 
After Turkey had become a participant in the war, Enver Pasha 
reported receipt of a message from the Afghan ruler, according to 
which Habibullah had asked whether he should attack Russia or 
Britain.' The War Minister saw in this more than a mere gesture of 
Islamic solidarity and believed that the Amir was eager to begin 
hostilities against India and was only waiting for support and 
encouragement from the Central Powers: 

The approval of the project by such Orientalists and world 



travelers as Dr. Max von Oppenheim and Sven Hedin carried great 
weight in the considerations of the German Foreign Office.4 The 
Auswaertige Amt accepted the suggestion and decided to set up a 
group of suitable people. It is clear that the mission was not a 
long-planned and carefully thought-out enterprise, for most of its 
members had been serving in various European battlefields and 
were collected only gradually from all points of the compass. Some 
of the members suggested other suitable persons and thus the group 
began to grow. 

In early September, 1914, the first contingent of twenty-three 
Germans set out for Constantinople under the leadership of Wil- 
helm Wassmuss, the only one of this group with a personal ac- 
quaintance with the Middle East.5 Niedermayer soon followed with 
another group of Germans. After the groups had moved on to 

Baghdad in mid-January, 1915, the expedition was thoroughly reor- 
ganized, new members were added, and those unqualified for the 
task were eliminated. Niedermayer had by that time worked himself 
into a leading position. The German group was to be integrated into 
a Turkish force under the command of Colonel Rauf Bey, a hero of 
the Turco-Italian War; but German preparations had gathered mo- 
mentum and dimensions that no longer permitted the Germans to 

he integrated into a Turkish-led project. Germany paid the cost of 
the expedition, and both Wassmuss and Niedermayer felt that they 
should not become the "tools of Turkish policy"; they wanted to 

take orders only from the German Foreign OAice and the German 
General Staff .6 

These developments, as well as personality clashes between the 
Germans and the Turks, resulted in much friction and mutual 
suspicion. The Turks especially resented German initiatives in 1s- 
lamic propaganda and such independent action as the procurement 
of fetwas calling for jihad. Captain F. Klein, a former military 
attach6 at the German Legation in Teheran, had gone to Karbala 
and obtained fetwas from the Shaykh Ali a!-Iraqayn and the Great 
Muitahids favoring a holy war against the Allies.' Rauf Rry blamed 
German indiscretion for publicizing the existence and purpor of 
the expedition and, in view of the changed character of the mission. 
he became reluctant to continue the project.8 In the meantime, mem- 
bers oE the Indian Committee in Berlin suggested to the German 



Foreign Office that another mission be sent to Afghanistan for the 
purpose of establishing contact with the Indian revolutionaries and 
carrying anti-British propaganda into India.' 

Germany agreed to this project, and a group under the joint 
leadership of the Indian Prince Mahendra Pratap lo and the German 
Lieutenant Werner Otto von Hentig set out for the Middle East. A 
Turkish officer, Kazim Bey, joined the group one day before its 
departure from Baghdad.'' Mahendra Pratap had a series of inter- 
views with German and Turkish government officials and audiences 
with Kaiser Wilhelm 11, Sultan Muhammad Ghazi V, the ex- 
Khedive Abbas Hilmi, and the Shaykh al-Islam. Pratap's mission 
was to seek the advice of the Amir of Afghanistan "whose heroic 
armies had so often destroyed British and Russian forces" regarding 
the steps needed to liberate India. Mahendra Pratap was to report on 
the situation in Europe and to express his conviction that the Cen- 
tral Powers would soon win the war. Hentig was to initiate diplo- 
matic relations between Germany and Afghanistan and assist the 
Indian Prince in establishing contact with revolutionaries in India.'' 

Niedermayer insisted from the beginning that the expedition be 
organized along military lines of command, subject to martial law, 
and urged integration of the Hentig group under his orders. Disa- 
greements as to who would command the expedition had already 
led to the resignation of Wassmuss and others, but the disputes were 
finally resolved when both groups met in Persia and traveled under 
joint leadership from Tabbas via Bushruye to the Afghan border.13 

The Turco-German plans did not remain secret for long. Already 
in September, 1914, the Viceroy had informed London of informa- 
tion received from the political officer in the Persian Gulf, according 
to which thirty-two secret emissaries had set out for the Middle East 
with the object of agitating for jihad in Afghanistan and India.14 
And on July 3, 1915, Lord Hardinge informed the Secretary of State 
for India of the measures he had authorized to counter the activities 
of the Germans in Persia and to prevent their entrance into Afghan- 
istan. Money was to be spent freely to get information on the 
movements of the Germans, and local militia and Russian troops 
were to be organized to capture and annihilate the expedition. T h e  
British Ambassador in Teheran deprecated the use of British troops 
in Persia since this "would antagonize Persia and give the German 



cause a great impetus." Therefore the British Consul at Kerrnan was 
instructed to secretly employ Afghan camelmen for this purpose, so 
that if they were defeated by the Germans there would be no loss of 
British prestige.15 

O n  November 5, 1914, the Viceroy informed Habibullah that 
Turkey had joined the war on the side of the Central  power^.'^ Lord 
Hardinge emphasized that there could be no talk of a religious war 
since Turkey had allied herself with two Christian powers against 
Britain, "the greatest and most sympathetic Muhammadan Power in 
the world." He  also cited the declaration of the British government 
according to which the Islamic holy places would be immune from 
British attack, and he called the Turks the dupes of the Germans, 
tricked into the war by a small minority. The Viceroy claimed 
widespread support for Britain among the Muslim ruling chiefs in 
India and the Arabs in Aden and the Persian Gulf and urged that 
"in view of these facts and of the friendship and alliance of our 
Governments, I feel sure that Your Majesty will not waver from the 
attitude of neutrality which, under my advice, you have already 
guaranteed." Habibullah had declared his neutrality at the outbreak 
of the war and he reconfirmed it on October 3, 1~14." While he 
merely regretted the war in Europe, he was seriously concerned 
when Turkey became a participant. 

On  March 3, 1915, the Viceroy informed the Amir of Russian 
concern over "alarming reports" from frontier officers in Turkestan 
of "unusual military preparations on the Afghan border." Hardinge 
said he personally discounted these rumors, stating he had not the 
least reason to believe that the Amir had ordered any military 
movements beyond what was necessary for the maintenance of peace 
and order. He  said he was absolutely certain of the Amir's intention 
to maintain his neutrality.'Vut the Viceroy expressed his astonish- 
ment that the preposterous German propaganda, according to which 
the Emperor of Germany and his people had embraced Islam, 
should find such widespread credence on the Afghan frontier. 

T o  London, the Viceroy reported that the Afghan people were 
generally pro-Turkish, but that the Amir was sincere in his declara- 
tion of neutrality. H e  warned, however, that the presence of Ger- 
man agents with armed parties in Afghanistan would make It 

doubtful whether or not the Amir could maintain his neutrality?' 



On July 6, 1915, the government of India warned the Amir of the 
passage of groups of Germans, Austrians, Turks, Armenians, and 
Indians through Iran with the intention of entering Afghanistan 
and asked the Amir to treat such groups as they would be treated in 
any other neutral country, namely, to arrest them, disarm them, and 
intern them until the end of the war?' In further communications 
the Viceroy requested Habibullah to contradict the stories current in 
Afghanistan and on the frontier, which announced that a Turco- 
German army was on the march to India via Afghanistan?' 

In his reply, the Amir promised that he would deal with foreign 
parties entering his country in the manner requested by the Viceroy. 
He said he had given instructions to that effect to the Governor of 
Herat, and, in a postscript in his own handwriting, the Amir 
assured the Viceroy to "have no anxiety about the movements of 
those parties, for firstly they will not enter Afghan territory. Should 
they do so, please God, they can in no way interfere with the 
neutrality of Afghanistan." 22 

In spite of Anglo-Russian measures it was impossible to prevent 
the Niederma~er-Hentig contingent from crossing the border, but it 
was possible to close the gap and prevent a group under Seiler 
from following with the radio equipment and much of the baggage 
of the e~pedition.2~ In an intercepted message to the German Am- 
bassador in Teheran it was optimistically stated that "the Afghan 
frontier which is guarded by the British has been happily crossed by 
the southern party. Their welcome locally was very hearty, so that 
we can depend on receiving gratifying news from K[abul]." 24 The 
British Consul General at Meshed reported on August 24, 1915, that 
the remainder of the expedition of about sixty men had arrived in 
Herat and were staying in the Bagh-i-Shah. The Governor visited 
them in full dress and gave them the freedom of the town. Lieuten- 
ant General T. W. Haig had further learned that "some foolish 
people are kissing the hands of the party and otherwise behaving in 
a foolish manner, but public opinion in favour of the visitors is by 
no means unanimous, Kadahari and Kabuli sepoys are at present 
pro-German, but the Herati sepoys are unanimously inclined for 
quietness and peace and it may be hoped that wiser counsels prevail 
among all." 25 

On September 12, the Consul General reported that the Germans 



were received in durbar by the Governor where they exhibited a 
proclamation of jihad from the Sultan of Turkey. The Germans 
were also reported to have promised military assistance to Afghani. 
stan and declared that Germany was prepared to help them gain 
Turkestan, as far as Samarkand, and India, as far as 

It quickly became apparent that the foreign emissaries enjoyed 
considerable freedom in Herat and were being treated by Muham- 
mad Sarwar Khan, the Governor, with great consideration. The 
Governor permitted some members of the expedition to return to 

the Persian border and allowed others who had arrived at the border 
to proceed to Herat. There was some friction between the Governor 
and the commander of the Afghan troops. The Afghan Commander 
objected to the appointment of a colonel as head of the guard over 
German officers no higher in rank than captain, and he warned the 
Governor that he would have to stand guard, should a German 
general succeed in escaping to Afghani~tan.~' The Germans did little 
to gain the goodwill of the Commander and openly criticized the 
Afghan arms as antiquated and many Afghan officers as "old and 
past work." 

C. Nabokoff, the Russian Consul at Simla, complained to For- 
eign Secretary Sir A. H. Grant about the Amir's permissive attitude 
toward the Germans, and Grant admitted that it was casting doubts 
on the sincerity of the Amir's  declaration^.^' The government of 
India, therefore, suggested to the home government that the Amir 
be reminded of his obligations to Britain. The Viceroy wanted this 
accomplished by sending a personally signed letter from the British 
King to Habibullah, commending him on the "scrupulous and 
honourable way" in which the Amir had maintained the strict 
attitude of neutrality which he had paranteed at the beginning of 
the war."' In another communication the Viceroy suggested giving 
some material benefit, and it was finally decided to grant the Amlr 
an increase in subsidy amounting to 2 l akh~.~ '  

Meanwhile, the Niedermayer-Hentig expedition left Herat on 
September 7, and, traveling by the Hazarajat route, arrived in Kabul 
on September 26, 1915. The mission was well received: the ~ ~ r k i s h  
employees of the Amir were pthered to give them a rousing salute! 
and Khayri Bey, who trained the Afghan troops, took it upon 
himself to give the foreigners a parade and a military salute. 



(Khayri was temporarily dismissed by the Amir when he heard of 
this event.)32 The whole group was accommodated in the Bagh- 
i-Baber on the outskirts of Kabul where they were supplied with 
provisions and other necessities at government expense. 

The expedition was not at all the dignified affair which its 
members hoped it would be. For greater mobility, the group had 
crossed into Afghanistan without much of their equipment: a wire- 
less transmitter, ten boxes of money, the letters to the Indian princes, 
and some of their credentials were lost in Persia. The Governor of 
Herat had uniforms made for the leaders of the mission so that they 
would appear more   resent able.^^ The mission was kept strictly 
isolated from the population: upon their arrival in Herat and Kabul, 
the foreigners were kept in confinement, and when they were finally 
permitted to move about, they were constantly escorted by Afghan 
guides. After their promising reception at Kabul, the members of 
the mission were kept confined to the Bagh-i-Baber, and only by the 
threat of a hunger strike did they succeed in obtaining an interview 
with the Amir.34 

Habibullah had remainded longer than usual in his summer 
quarters, staying in Paghman until November 4. Some attributed 
this to a desire on the part of the Amir to put off his encounter with 
the foreign mission, but it appears more likely that he preferred to 
interview the foreign emissaries in the privacy of his mountain 
retreat where the proceedings could be protected better from the 
curious eyes of the British Agent in Kabul. Finally, in the middle of 
October, 1915, the Amir received the group in Paghman, telling 
them that he looked upon them as merchants and they should 
spread out their wares before him so that he could choose whatever 
he liked and leave whatever he did not need." As it turned out, the 
expedition had not much to sell but fiery speeches. They offered 
some of the presents that they had not lost in Iran, and then revealed 
the nature of their mission. Letters from the German Reichskanzler, 
Enver Pasha, and, according to one source, from the German Kaiser 
were presented to the Amir." Hentig, Niedermayer, Mahendra 
Pratap, Darakatullah, and Kazim Bey (who was upgraded to be the 
official representative of the Ottoman Empire) gave their individual 
presentations and the negotiations began. 

In two interviews with the Amir at Paghman during October, 



90 W O R L D  W A R  I A N D  NEUTRALITY 

and in subsequent meetings at Kabul, the mission attempted to 
encourage the Amir to follow the call of jihad and ally himself with 
the Central Powers against his traditional enemies. The letter from 
Enver Pasha was reported to have covered the following points: 

I. Announcement that jihad had been declared by the Ottoman 
Sultan. The Amir was asked whether he would follow the call. 

2. Would the Amir permit the passage of Turkish troops 
through Afghanistan to India? 

3. Afghanistan was called upon to break her relations with Brit- 
ain. 

4. The Amir's permission should be given for influential mullahs 
to follow the call for jihad.37 

Habibullah was reported to have stated in reply that the Afghans 
were devot Muslims but did not have the means to fight. They were 
always ready for war but could not make a sustained effort. The 
Amir said Afghans would be a formidable opponent and the whole 
nation would willingly join the battle in defense of their own 
country. H e  explained away the poverty of his country as the price 
of independence and said that Afghanistan had no national debt and 
was not dependent on any foreign country." 

Members of the mission declared that the nonexistence of arms 
factories was a matter of regret, but they promised, if an understand- 
ing could be reached, that the Central Powers would give Afghani- 
stan every kind of military assistance required. These powers would 
also pay a 12-lakh subsidy so that British help would no longer be 
needed. The main objective of the mission was presented to be the 
desire to prevent a fratricidal war among Muslims when Turkish 
troops reached the Indian subcontinent." The Amir did not give 
any definite answer and referred the matter for study to his 
Maj lis-i-Shura. 

As the negotiations continued it became apparent that the Amih 
advisers, personalities at court, and members of his family were 
generally divided into two camps. The so-called war party included 
Nasrullah, the Amir's brother, and Inayatullah and   ma null ah, the 
Amir's sons, who also had the support of General Nadir Khan and 
Mahmud Tarzi Khan. These personalities were supported by most 
of the members of the religious establishment, the pro~urkish 
element, and a majority of the Afghan tribesmen. The proBritish 



group appeared to center around the person of Abdul Kuddus 
Khan, the Chief Minister, and the group allied with Bibi Halima, 
the stepmother of the Amir, who never ceased intriguing and hop- 
ing that her son Umar Khan would one day succeed to the throne of 
Afghanistan? Some groups in Herat as well as many merchants 
trading with India were also interested in peace with British India. 

The Amir seemed to be playing off the two groups against each 
other, cautiously supporting the pro-British forces. Some of the 
members,of the "war party" were in frequent contact with the 
foreign mission, and public opinion in Kabul expected that the 
Amir would soon proclaim jihad. Hafiz Sayfullah Khan, the British 
Agent at Kabul, was secretly warned that "some mischief-makers 
may want to attack the British Agency to precipitate military action 
with Britain." 41 

On December 12, 1915, Sir A. H. Grant expressed his grave 
concern at the lack of any reply from Habibullah to the letter of 
the British King and the Viceroy's announcement of the increase in 
the Amir's subsidy. H e  expected a momentous pronouncement 
shortly, since the Amir had summoned a Loe Jirga, an assembly of 
tribal leaders and delegates from all over the country, a step which is 
taken only in case of national emergency?' But a report by the 
British Agent at Kabul of an interview with the Amir brought some 
relief to the government of India. 

Habibullah acknowledged receipt of the British Sovereign's let- 
ter, but he complained to the Agent about the "trifling" amount of 
the increase in his sub~idy.'~ He  warned the British Agent to make 
no mistakes in his reports to India about the Amir's attitude, saying: 

You . . . are required by your ~osi t ion and call of duty to judge all 
what happens here, not from what is current as rumours or the Bazar 
gossips, but from what actually occurs as an event resulting from my 
deeds or utterances. As a Muslim and Afghan 44 no one can better 
know than you the gravity of the situation caused by the existing war 
since a year or two, and the strenuous efforts on my part to discourage 
the agitating fronter minds, and it is a fact, no doubt that a slight 
deviation on my part from what I have held laboriously as my ideal, 
at great pain and anxiety, would have thrown me either in the pit of 
doubt in the British Government, a pledged friend of old, or have 
secured for me a verdict of infidelity and heresy at the hands of both 
of my Muslim subjects or the frontier Muslim tribes. . . . You may 



rest assured and can convey my assurances to your Government in 
plain and repeated terms that I am a true friend of the British 
Government, keeping up neutrality to the last so long as the internal 
interests of Afghanistan are not exposed to danger or self-defence, for 
were this to happen it would become an unavoidable necessity to 
appeal to arms, or set aside the neutral it^.^^ 

Sayfullah also reported intelligence according to which the Amir 
had told the German mission that he could not give them a definite 
answer until certain noblemen had perused the old records and 
documents relating to political correspondence and discussions be- 
tween the late Amir and the British and Russian governments. 
These might furnish precedents on which the Amir could then base 
his answers4' 

O n  December 22, 1915, the British Agent reported that it was 
common talk in Kabul that the mission had failed and the Amir had 
refused their demands. The frontier tribesmen both inside and 
outside the Afghan boundary were scoffing, and calling the Amir a 
kafir (infidel). But the British Agent also heard conflicting reports 
indicating that secret preparations for mobilization were under way 
and war was imminent.47 

The government of India wanted to strengthen the Amir and 
sought ways of expressing its appreciation. Relying on what in India 
was proverbially called "Afghan greed" the Viceroy's council ex- 
pected that a gift of money to Habibullah would be all that was 
needed to keep Afghanistan out of the war. The question was only 
how much should be offered. A gift of 15 lakhs was suggested, but 
there were doubts whether this amount would be sufficiently impres- 
sive, considering the fact that the Amir had a balance of over 50 

lakhs of funds from his subsidy with the Indian government.48 A 
decision was finally postponed, and India   referred to wait until the 
Amir himself would bring up the question. In that event it was 
expected to be easier to limit the Amir in his demands. 

Finally on January 16, 1916, the Amir answered the letters of the 
British King and the Viceroy of India and said he considered such 
small compensation an insult to the honor of Afghanistan. ~abibuC 
lah held that his policy of neutrality had to be strengthened by 
internal measures costing much more money than Britain was will- 
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ing to give.4s To  George V, the Amir wrote that he was grateful for 
the King's letter and reiterated that "in future also, provided no 
injury or loss occurs to Afghanistan, the sublime God-granted Gov- 
ernment of Afghanistan will remain neutral and will always view 
with satisfaction and honour the friendship of Your Majesty's Gov- 
ernment." 

As the negotiations with the foreign mission continued, the Amir 
seemed to be temporizing by misrepresenting the state of affairs in 
Afghanistan. The Afghans reportedly claimed that the treasury was 
empty, they asserted that the British subsidy was 36 lakhs of rupees, 
and they demanded enough war material to arm the entire popula- 
tion, all of them being fighting men.61 Wilhelm Paschen, a member 
of the Niedermayer expedition who remained in Herat and was on 
his return to Persia captured by Allied forces, declared in his Tiflis 
prison in October, 1916, that the German officers wanted to leave 
Kabul in early 1916, "as one day the Amir says he is for us and the 
next against us. Twice before this Niedermayer had made up his 
mind to leave, but each time the Amir detained him by giving 
positive assurances, but again backed out of them." Paschen further 
said that "Niedermayer also stated in his letter to me that the Amir 
was unwilling to let them go in case circun~stances should change 
and Afghanistan should declare war, in which case they-the Ger- 
man oficers-would be necessary to him." 52 

On January 24, 1916, Habibullah finally initialed the draft of a 
treaty which gave the mission a face-saving document and at the 
same time appeased the war party and provided a breathing spell in 
order to determine what actions might be required in response to 
subsequent events. 

In a message to the German Foreign Office, Niedermayer and 
Hentig summarized the events leading up to signature of the draft: 

Up till now Amir harping on declared neutrality and traditional 
friendship with England; undecided; leaning (doubtful) on English 
party alone. By November our work so far successful that, in spite of 
complete isolation, tide took a perceptible turn in our favour. On our 
side came in Prime Minister, brother and successor, and his father- 
in-law [ Tarzi 1. When towards the end of December we tried to force 
on a decision, wc were asked by Nasrullah whether we had full 
powers to conclude a treaty. Said no; declared myself [Hentig] ready 
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to draft if he wished. He received promise of German help in money 
and material so far as actually possible, as also of claims to a 
subvention proportionate to achievements at the conclusion of peace, 
provided Afghanistan made preparations for war forthwith. The 
foregoing has been made by the Amir, after and in spite of every 
conceivable objection each more impossible than the last, [into] the 
following Treaty draft: [The text of the treaty followed.] 63 

The treaty had ten articles and began with a declaration of 
friendship between Germany and Afghanistan and their rulers. 
Germany and the Central Powers would recognize the independ- 
ence of Afghanistan, while the latter agreed to "perfect" her military 
resources and administration. Afghanistan was to establish political 
relations with the "peoples" of Persia, India, and Russian Turkestan. 
Germany would supply, with no obligations to Afghanistan, ~oo,ooo 
modern rifles, 300 guns, and other equipment, and the sum of 10 

million sterling. Germany was required to open the way through 
Persia so that she could help Afghanistan effectively. Diplomatic 
relations were established, Hentig being recognized as the German 
representative in Afghanistan, and an Afghan official was to be sent 
to Persia to negotiate there with representatives of the Central 
Powers. Next followed clauses defining in detail various questions of 
consular relations and the establishment of an embassy in Kabul? 

In the same telegram to the German Foreign Office, both Hentig 
and Niedermayer offered their opinions. Hentig noted that "the 
draft may be taken as successful in so far as it affords the basis for 
immediately getting to work, [and] the arrival of Germans [in the 
sense of Niedermayer's proposal] means war." 66 Niedermayer 
added an estimate of the military requirements. He urgently re- 
quested a wireless station, large quantities of arms, and at least I 

million pounds in funds. Niedermayer optimistically judged that the 
best time for war to begin would be at the end of April. In a 
postscript he added that according to the Amir's statement "war 
begins at once as soon as 20,000 to ~oo,ooo German or Turkish 
soldiers arrive in Afghanistan. On these would fall the task of 
covering Afghanistan's rear against Russia." 

With this lesson in Realpolitik Hahibullah could leave the matter 
up to the Germans; for if they could spare a force of a hundred 
thousand men to come to the aid of Afghanistan, they must surely 
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be winning the war. The Russian offensive in the Caucasus and the 
lack of Turkish success against Egypt seemed to make victory quite 
unlikely, however. 

On January 25, 1916, the day following signature of the German- 
Afghan treaty, the Amir summoned Hafiz Sayfullah Khan, the 
British Agent, to a private interview and reiterated his determina- 
tion to remain neutral. H e  further declared that he intended to hold 
a full durbar in which he would make an announcement of neutral- 
ity in the presence of tribal chiefs and representatives from all areas 
of Afghanistan. The Amir thought that such a durbar was necessary 
because of the general excitement aroused by the presence of the 
Turco-German mission. Habibullah told Sayfullah that his an- 
nouncement would be couched in terms calculated to assuage popu- 
lar feeling, but the British should not misunderstand his words. 
Pamphlets explaining the real meaning of jihad would be distrib- 
uted after his ann~uncement.~" 

Durbar was held on January 29, 1916, and, in a dramatic perform- 
ance in which Habibullah appealed to the self-interest of the Af- 
ghans, he told the people of Kabul and the leaders of the country 
that he could not deviate from Afghanistan's traditional policy 
toward her neighbors and must continue to remain neutral in the 
war." The people of Kabul and the Afghans from the frontier, who 
expected a declaration of jihad, were generally disappointed. The 
Germans, whose hopes had somewhat risen again, at first saw in this 
appeal merely a tactical step by the Amir, but soon the Amir ceased 
to cooperate with them and they realized that "the game was up." 
Although he had just agreed to a treaty with the Germans, the Amir 
increased his demands for joining the war and declared that he 
would only act if all of India would rise against Britain." 

Shortly before the Germans left in May, 1916, Nasrullah made a 
final attempt to keep them in Akhanistan by offering to act against 
Habibullah and take over the leadership of the frontier tribes in a 
war against Britain, but it was too late. The Germans had become 
convinced that the Afghans would not act 011 mere promises and 
without any guarantees and tangible help; tired of the prolonged 
negotiations in which they had nothing to offer, they wanted to 
leave and turn to more fruitful activities:' 

The German expedition to Afghanistan was successful insofar as 



it accomplished some of its objectives: it disturbed Russia and 
Britain greatly with its activities, and it carried hostile propapndl 
into an area hitherto the exclusive concern of those two European 
powers. The expedition came with no more than a message and it 
nearly succeeded in involving Afghanistan in the war. 

In their personal evaluatio~is some members of the expedition 
blamed each other for its ultimate failure, or accused the German 
Auswaertige Amt for lack of support, or felt British gold (the 
Germans did not have an adequate supply of it) responsible for 
swaying the mind of the Amir. It seems safe to say that the expedi- 
tion was not successful because the Central Powers did not win the 
war. The Amir and his advisers closely watched the events in the 
war. H e  was willing to conclude a treaty with Germany and her 
allies, for he could not predict the fortunes of war and he wanted his 
independence recognized also by these powers. As long as the Cen- 
tral Powers could not defeat Russia and Britain it was folly for the 

Amir of Afghanistan to attack one of them single-handed. Abdur 
Rahman's advice had not been forgotten; it was merely obscured by 
the appeal of Islamic ideology influencing the minds of some of 
Habibullah's advisers. With the German treaty the Amir wanted to 

buy time to see what the future might bring." 
The claims of German members of the expedition to having 

participated in general-staff planning, to having contributed to the 
construction of fortifications, and to the mobilization of Afghanistan 
were greatly exaggerated. The Germans did participate in various 
activities and contributed to some minor reforms, but only in the 
capacity of advisers and without any authority or veto over Af- 
ghans.'' Of greater practical effect, and therefore much more dan- 
gerous to the interests of Britain, were the non-European members 
of the expedition. The Muslim members could appeal to the Af- 
hans on the basis of Islamic solidarity and incite them to action by 
warning that both the Caliphat and Islam were in danger. They also 
knew local languages and could have a more intimate contact with 
the people and be much more effective with the frontier tribes. 

I N C I T E h f E N T  O F  T H E  T R I B E S  

Although raids into India had never completely stopped, the Amir 
was successful in keeping the tribes relatively quiet. The govern- 
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merit of India for its part chose to play down the importance of 
occasional raids. Major Prideaux, the British Consul in Sistan, sug- 
gested in early 1916 that British troops be allowed to pursue raiders 
into Afghanistan, but the government of India strongly opposed any 
such action. Denys Bray, of the Political Department, remarked on 
this subject that "these are not the halcyon days of 1901 and 1905 
when we could afford to tread on Afghan corns. Afghan susceptibil- 
ities are now factors in world politics, and a violation of Afghan 
territory by regular troops might set the country in a blaze." G3 Sir 
A. H. Grant warned that "if things went bad in Kabul, this could 
be made a casus belli at once." 

Turkish nationals continued where the Germans left off and also 
began to be active on the frontier. The British Agent at Kabul 
reported in January, 1916, that four members of the Turkish mission 
had obtained permission to see Jelalabad in order to inspect the 
border area of Eastern Army A week later he 
reported that some of the mission had been deputed to see tribal 
areas of the Mohmands, Afridis, and Wa~ir is . '~  

In January, 1916, an apparently forged letter purportedly signed 
by the Amir, Nasrullah, and others and addressed to the "mullahs 
and maliks and kazis of the Tirah Ilaka" was circulated on the 
frontier. It read : 

We are much pleased with you and you should prepare yourselves for 
holy war which will, if God pleases, take place in summer next. You 
should completely prepare yourselves. We will supply you with rifles, 
as many as you require. You should make each and every man firm 
to take up this enterprise and fortify each and every place. This is not 
fictitious. We have informed you of the occasion. On arrival of the 
German ships in your country you will be put to t r~uh le . ' ~  

An instance nf the Amir's intervention to curb raiding activities is 
given in a telegram to the Chief of General Staff, Simla, dated June 
20, 1916: 

Amir on receiving news of British conquest of Arhad sent orders a t  
once forbidding men to enlist under Germans and ordered Germans 
to proceed to Kabul. . , . When Germans were preparing Kalahikang 
[Qala-i-kangl Fort, Afghan Sardars of Hclmand district were prepar- 
ing to attack and raid British posts and line of communications west 
of Quetta. This news reached Amir who immediately ordered the 
Governor, Kandahar, to arrest those Sardars and sent them to Kabul. 



. . . British occupation of Sarhad has had great effect on southwest 
Afghanistan and . . . Afghans are afraid to loot in this direction!' 

Activities by members of the foreign mission in Russian Turkestan 
were also reported to India in  January, 1916. T h e  report stated: 

. . . having lost hope of carrying out their original objects in Afghani- 
stan, and with the object of employing profitably their enforced 
sojourn there, the German party are occupying themselves in foment- 
ing sedition among Turkestan Musalmans, especially Turkomans. 
They sent agents to Bokhara, Charjui, Merv, Samarkand, Tashkent 
and Katta Kurgan. The  Russian agent at Herat recently recognized 
two individuals who had returned from Bokhara, Charjui, Merv, and 
Tashkent, whither whey had been sent by Wagner. Both Kazim Bey 
and Barkatulla are assisting in this a~tivity.~' 

Roos-Keppel, the British Commissioner o n  the North-West Fron- 
tier, reported in  July, 1916, that "besides the parties sent to Tirah and 
Bajaur, other parties [of Turks]  with escorts of Afridi deserters have 
gone to the Mahsud border and  to the neighbourhood of Chaman." 
T h e  Commissioner thought it impossible that the Amir  lacked any 
knowledge of this. Roos-Keppel said that these Turks  offered the 
Afridis Ottoman suzerainty and  a share in  the loot of India, but the 
Afridis pleaded poverty and  asked for something on  account? 

Sir A. H. Grant  came close to describing Afghanistan's tribal 
policy when he discussed Afghan "cognizance if not connivance" in 
Turkish activities at  the frontier. H e  saw this in  accordance with 
Nasrullah's traditional policy of "keeping the frontier sore open." 
H e  remarked that Nasrullah : 

. . . has always aimed at preventing, so far as possible, the establish- 
ment of really good relations between us and our transborder tribes. A 
belt of disturbed territory is a safeguard to Aghanistan, so Nasrullah 
thinks. This does not, however, mean that Nasrullah wants war 
between Afghanistan and India-at present anyway. All he wants at 
present is to detach the Afridis from their allegiance to us in case 
circumstances later make war between Afghanistan and India inevita- 
ble. I do not believe that the Amir is a definite party to this business, 
though he probably gives Nasrullah a free hand to intrigue as he 
thinks fit up to a certain point.70 

In  August, 1916, Roos-Keppel noted: 

. . . the Turks seemed to have gotten over their first fright and are 
now more active. . . . They have gone for a tour amongst the 
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Orakzais and the smaller tribes on the Icurram border. Had they 
started this campaign at the beginning of the summer they might 
have caused us considerable embarrassment, but the time is unfavora- 
ble for them as the cold weather is approaching and the Tribesmen 
are looking forward to coming to British territory as usualP1 

The Commissioner thought that the Afridis should be rewarded for 
not having joined the Turks. H e  further proved the collaboration 
between the Turks and Nasrullah by pointing to the fact that the 
daks (mail caravans) carrying messages between them were pro- 
ceeding quite openly.72 

In August, 1917, Roos-Keppel reported that some Mahsuds and 
Waziris had come to Matun to ask the Afghan Governor whether 
the Turks who had come to them and exhorted them to jihad were 
there in the name of the Amir.73 A month later he reported that "the 
Afridis who were sent by the Turks to Kabul have returned, having 
all been granted allowances by Nasrullah. The allowances were not 
large, but their grant has set at rest the doubts of the Afridis as to 
whether the Turks came with authority from Kabul or were merely 
adventurers." 74 The British Agent at Kabul reported an interview 
with the Amir in September, 1916, in which the latter asserted that 
these people were dismissed employees of his who could not leave 
because of the war and were now occupying themselves with these 
kinds of a~t ivi t ies .~~ 

In 1917 isolated acts of raiding erupted into a general uprising in 
Mahsud country; Roos-Keppel blamed public pronouncements for 
this. The Lords Hardinge and Chelmsford had demanded punish- 
ment of the Mahsuds, and when the Mahsuds heard of this they 
feared they "might [as well] be hung for a sheep as a lamb" 2nd 
decided to make the best of it." What complicated the matter was 
that Habibullah sent a letter to the Viceroy, pleading that the British 
should punish the Mahsuds only mildly so as not to embarrass him 
and to prevent the outbreak of a general border conflagration that 
might draw both countries into war." The Mahsuds on their part 
received messages from Kabul telling them that the government of 
India was pledged not to take any offensive measures against them.78 
India took all measures i t  deemed necessary to contain the frontier 
tribes. An electric barbed-wire fencing to bar the Mohmands' access 
to India seemed to have been used with some success according to 
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accounts by Shinwari and Mohmand tribesmenn7' The tribal situa- 
tion was finally permitted to remain quiet and both Afghanistan 
and India endeavored to keep it that way. 

Another potential danger to peace appeared with the announce- 
ment of the Arab revolt in the Hejaz. The British Agent in Kabul, 
Hafiz Sayfullah Khan, reported: 

. . . much excitement is being felt here in favour of the Turks and 
against the improvident Arabs, who are, at the instigation of the 
pro-Turks here, being cursed on account of their lack of sense of 
nationality and co-religion with the Turks. . . . The question of the 
Khalifate is also arising from the discussions and receiving attention 
of those who are better informed. His Majesty the Amir is said to 
have called the secret meeting of the Shura to meet the case of the 
future fate of the Khalifate." 

Again on July 12, 1916, Sayfullah reported that the Afghan ruling 
class was spreading the word that talk of the Arab revolt was merely 
British propaganda; thus they hoped to pacify the people and pre- 
vent trouble caused by popular excitement?' But in the Sir@ al- 
Akhbir of July 16, 1916, an article appeared under the heading 
"When Infidelism Rises from the Ka'ba, Where Will Islam Go?" 
( C h i  kufr az ka'ba bar khizad koji minad muralmini) which 
strongly condemned the treason of the Sharif of MakkaP2 The 
British newswriter at Kandahar reported on August 15, 1916, that 
during the Id durbar in that city the mullahs demanded that since 
the holy places were besieged the time had come to declare jihad. 
The mullahs met for a four-day conference with the Governor and 
drafted a memorial to the Amir.es 

Habibullah finally permitted a show of solidarity with Turkey 
and caused some release of pent-up excitement when he held a 
durbar in August, 19x6. Mahmud Tarzi made the opening speech 
condemning the Sharif, and Barakatuallah and Mahendra Pratap 
were also permitted to speak along similar lines. But no action was 
requested by any of the speakers since it was expected that the revolt 
would soon be crushed by the Turks anyway.M 

T H E  Sirdj al-Akhbir 

With the establishment in Kabul in rgrr of the Sirij al-Akhbb, a 

bimonthly newspaper, a powerful means for the education of the 
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Afghan and for the propagation of Islamic modernism and 

Afghan nationalism had been ~reated. '~ The Sirij aal-Akhbir soon 
became a forum for the expression of Pan-Islamic policies and 
tended to influence Afghan foreign policy along the lines of Islamic 
solidarity. 

Mahrnud Tarzi (1866-1g35), founder and editor of this newspa- 
per, was a member of the ruling Muhammadzay clan and a descen- 
dant of Payanda Khan, one of its leaders. Tarzi was forced by 
Abdur Rahman to live in Ottoman exile for about twenty years. 
Upon his return to Afghanistan, he became a tireless worker for 
reforms and progress. He  advised Habibullah about the need for 
education and was the originator of many reforms. Tarzi has been 
called the "father of Afghan prose" because of his prolific writings, 
with some fifteen books to his credit, including translations of four 
books by Jules Verne and one book on the Russo-Japanese War, in 
addition to about five hundred articles published in his newspaper.'' 

The Sirij al-Akltb~r first became involved in international poli- 
tics as a partisan of the Ottoman Empire at the time of the Turco- 
Italian War. It analyzed the policies of the European powers and 
reported on such subjects as the "European methods of grasping the 
lands of the world" or the "Western intentions of destroying Islam." 
Appeals to Muslim unity were issued from time to time, and in 
May, 1916, an article by Mahendra Pratap of the Niedermayer 
expedition appeared in this newspaper." 

Initially the Sirij a/-Akhbir was not hostile to Britain but, with 
the approach of World War I, its tone became increasingly critical. 
The most offensive attacks on Britain and Russia often appeared in 
the form of "letters to the editor." Excerpts of Allied as well as 
Central Powers newspaper articles were given, but 3 pro-Ottoman 
bias quickly became apparent. Because of the high rate of illiteracy 
in Afghanistan and the fact that it was written in Persian with only 
an occasional poem or article in Pashtu, the Sirzj a/-Akhbir was 
somewhat limited in its impact." "pies of this newspaper were, 
however, read publicly in the bazaars of Afghan towns and in the 
area of the Pashtu-speaking frontier tribes. Furthermore, the paper 
was read and quoted in India, Persia, and the Ottoman Empire. 

In Septcrnber W. M. Hailey, Chief Commissioner of Delhi, 
complained to Sir Charles Cleveland, Director of Criminal Intelli- 
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gence, about the hostile tone of the Sir@ al-Akhbdr, and recom- 
mended that the newspaper be banned in India? Hailey especially 
objected to an article stating that the unrest in Persia was attributa- 
ble to the Anglo-Russian Convention, which put the Persian govern- 
ment against its people. The article further held that in Afghanistan 
the same was tried, but "the infidels were confounded." The Viceroy 
requested the Amir in December, 1914, to forbid the publication of 
such articles, and the Amir promised to do so. But the Pan-Islamic 
tone of the newspaper could not be suppressed, and other articles 
appeared whose authors gloatingly reported that the infidels had 
fallen out with each other and hoped that they might all be ruined." 

After the government of India repeatedly protested about various 
articles, the June, 1915, issues were somewhat improved. Mr. A. H. 
Grant, of the Foreign and Political Department, remarked optimisti- 
cally : 

We cannot expect this paper suddenly to become pro-British. That 
would not only destroy its sale, but would bring the Amir into 
definite odium with his subjects. A Kabul paper must inevitably be 
pan-Tslamic in its tendencies and also anti-foreign. If future issues are 
as temperate as this, we may, I think, congratulate the Amir on the 
faithful manner in which he has carried out his undertaking in this 
matter. 

The Viceroy agreed with this a~sessment.'~ 
In subsequent months, however, the newspaper again appeared 

objectionable to the government of India and discussions began as to 

the best way to suppress it. Grant feared that any action taken 
against the Sirtij a l -Akhb~r  would result in strengthening the war 
party in Kabul. He  favored a "policy of drift" since "every day that 
the Amir is able to maintain his neutrality is a day gained." 

The government of India began nevertheless to intercept all 
copies of the Siraj a!-AkhF~r which were Tent into India. On August 
24, 1916, a new policy was set up which directed that ( I )  the system 
of interception should be continued, but as quietly and unostenu- 
tiourly a$ possible; ( 2 )  no overt action should be taken against the 
Sirl j  a/-Akhhdr; ( 3 )  nothing should hr said to the Amir regarding 
these measures unless the Amir inquired about them; and (4) 
Afghan oficials, if they inquired, should be told that the govern- 
ment of India had no information to give them!' 



The British measures did not escape the attention of the Afghans. 
In the Sir@ al-Akhbir of August 15, 1916, Mahmud Tarzi discussed 
the history of his newspaper and stated that it was forbidden in 
Russia in 1913 and a year later in India. H e  stated that the newspa- 
per was in no way an official organ of the Afghan government. He  
was proud of its influence far beyond Afghanistan's borders and he 
maintained that the newspaper's moderation was often criticised by 
its readers.g3 

T H E  AFTERMATH 

The German Auswaertige Amt attempted once more to conclude a 
treaty with the Amir, but not along the lines of the previous draft; 
i t  wanted merely a treaty of friendship and the establishment of 
diplomatic  relation^.'^ When the German mission left Kabul on 
May 21, 1916, Nasrullah gave Hentig a letter to the German Reichs- 
kanzler which Hentig had transmitted to Berlin. In this letter 
Nasrullah requested that Germany conclude a treaty with Afghani- 
stan on the lines approved by the Amir in January, 1916.'" 
representative of the Amir, Sirdar Abdul Majid Khan, the Governor 
of Shibirghan, had come to Kermanshah in December, 1916, to 
conduct discussions with Turkish and German officials. Nieder- 
mayer, who had by this time also arrived in Kermanshah, took part 
in some of the discussions; it became apparent, however, that Abdul 
Majid had no authority to sign any agreement. The Afghan repre- 
sentative told the Germans that they needed a big bomb-namely, 
Afghanistan. He urged them to continue the war and they would 
surely pass through the "gate of India." If they came with a big 
army to Isfahan and Yazd, Abdul Majid promised that the Afghans 
would meet them at Kirman. But in case the Germans wanted to 
make peace, they would have to guarantee Afghanistan's independ- 
ence and must help her gain access to the seaem The Afghan repre- 
sentative moved on to Constantinople, where he was received with 
pomp and great honors, and finally he returned to Afghanistan with 
the (;rrm;ln draft treaty," 

Secret channels of communications between Kermanshah and 
Kabul remained open and were maintained by Germans in Herat 
and Austrians in Kabul. Habibullah had insisted that all the Ger- 
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mans must either stay in Kabul or leave Kabul at the same time. 
Therefore the Germans delegated their authority to Captain Schrei- 
ner, one of the many Austrian prisoners of war who resided in 
Kabul after they had escaped from camps in Russian Turkestan. 
The last member of the German expedition left Herat in October, 
1917, after he had given up hope of receiving any communication 
from the Amir concerning the German treaty of friendship." 

Turkish defeats in Mesopotamia finally put an end to the hopes 
of the pro-Turkish party for united action against India. The Revo- 
lution in Russia and the defeat of the Central Powers in 1918 again 
changed the international picture. There was some relief in Kabul at 

remaining out of the struggle and not following the Ottoman 
Empire into defeat, but there was also much soul-searching among 
Afghans, who wondered whether they had not betrayed Islam in its 
most crucial hour. There appeared to be widespread resentment 
against the Afghan Amir.'" 

The Indian and London governments were discussing what they 
could do to reward the Amir for his loyalty. It was clear that the 
Afghans expected a reward. The British Agent in Kabul reported in 
August, 1917, that Abdul Kuddus Khan asked him how long he 
intended to remain in Afghanistan. On  hearing that the Agent 
intended to leave at the end of the war, Abdul Kuddus said he must 
remain longer in the interests of the Afghan government, which 
would never permit him to leave "unless their hopes and aspirations 
in connection with the sincere services rendered by the Afghan 
Government in keeping its neutrality during the war . . . are not 
satisfactorily re-adjusted between both Governments. 9 ,  100 

Denys Bray wondered what Habibullah had in mind. He be- 
lieved that the Amir wanted direct representation in London and 
suggested permitting this "since the Amir does not trust his Envoy 
in Simla a yard; he is not likely to trust an Envoy in far-off England 
an inch." He further thought that the Amir wanted territorial 
concessions, and perhaps representation at the Peace Conference 
after the war.'"' 

On December 22, 1918, the British Agent at Kabul reported that 
the Amir and members oE the Shura had expressed in council the 
"ardent wish" for A$han participation at the Peace Conference, and 
they were disappointed a t  not having secured this concession from 



Britain. The Amir wanted his independence recognized by Britain, 
and this was to include the freedom of having political relations 
with any foreign country in the world. But London was remarkably 
unwilling to make any concessions. The Secretary of State for India 
consulted with Lord Chelmsford, the Viceroy, asking if he should 
recommend that the King give Habibullah the "Garter," something 
he really wanted, or if an autographed letter was sufficient reward 
for the Amir.lo2 

The Viceroy replied to London, saying that "the services of the 
Amir have been immense, and when the time comes to reward them 
we must be generous." Chelmsford apparently thought that the time 
had not yet come and he wanted to wait until the Amir started 
asking. But it was clear to the Viceroy that the Amir seemed to 
"hanker after" the following concessions from the British: ( I )  com- 
plete political freedom, (2) territorial aggrandizement, (3) money, 
and (4) representation in England.lo3 

On February 2, 1919, Habibullah wrote to the Viceroy demand- 
ing that Afghanistan be represented at the Peace Conference because 
his country was independent and had remained neutral during the 
war. He said if the Viceroy could bring a signed certificate of 
Afghan independence from the conference he would be satisfied; 
otherwise an Afghan representative must be permitted to go there to 
obtain one.'" 

Lord Chelmsford's council was prepared to offer some conces- 
sions to the Amir, but it was not certain how far it should go. Denys 
Bray remarked on Habibullah's demands that: 

. . . our control of Afghanistan's foreign relations has been so long a 
fundamental principle of our Afghan policy that it requires an effort 
of mind to conceive of our willingly consenting to any diminution of 
it. Possibly it may prove essential that it should continue to dominate 
our policy. Rut the present is so different from the past, and the future 
seems likely to be so much more different still, that the time has come 
for us to scrutinize our traditional policy anew.'05 

Bray thought that Afghan neutrality during the war was attribut- 
able to "the Amir's shrewd perception that Afghanistan until the 
Russian Revolution lay between the 'upper and nether grindstone' 
or to the bias in our favour given him on his visit to India. . . . " 

Denys Dray recalled that "great pressure was put on us from home 



at so late a stage as June 1918 to make some departure (not precisely 
defined) from our traditional policy by an offensive alliance with 
Afghanistan. And secondly that it was only by winking at flagrant 
breaches of the Amir's fundamental Engagement regarding our 
control of his foreign relations" that the government of India was 
enabled to carry its policy to a triumphant conclusion. He  accepted 
the draft treaty between Habibullah and the Niedermayer expedi- 
tion as forced by the circumstances, compelling the Amir to break 
the letter of his agreement with Britain in order to maintain what 
was important to England-namely, Afghanistan's de facto neutral- 
ity. 

Therefore Bray suggested that the Amir be bound to Britain and 
that this could best be accomplished by concluding a definite treaty 
between Afghanistan and the government of India. The 1905 en- 
gagements with the Amir, prohibiting him from having foreign 
relations with other powers, should now not be enforced. If Russia 
was Bolshevist, Bray reasoned, Habibullah would not make an 
alliance with her; and if she were a peace-loving republic, relations 
could not be prohibited. Or  if the Central Asian states created a 
federation of Muslim states "with the Amir of course as Sultan or 
even as Khalif," how could Britain prevent relations between Mus- 
lim states. Bray concluded that, since Britain wanted only two 
things, Afghan independence and her friendship, Britain's political 
position as the most favored nation should continue to be main- 
tained. Bray wanted the subsidy continued even after Afghan inde- 
pendence.lO" 

The mood of generosity prevailing in India, however, was not 
shared by His Majesty's government. London suggested greater 
frankness in the reply to Habibullah to "avoid leading him to make 
embarrassing demands." The Viceroy was advised to stave off the 
Amir, telling him that participation at the Peace Conference was 
open only to belligerents, and that international guarantees would be 
no good to Afghanistan, even if they could be secured, since they 
might lead to interference by other nations."" 

This difference of opinion between England and India over vital 
matters of policy was, of course, not a new phenomenon, but it is a 
matter of regret that at this stage no satisfying solution to future 
Anglo-Afghan relations was found. During the war, when the 



military situation seemed to require such a step, London was ready 
to conclude an alliance with Afghanistan in exchange for which the 
latter would have obtained a measure of independence. In India 
such an alliance seemed an obstacle to a return to the prewar status 
quo, the British suzerainty over Afghanistan, and therefore it was 
opposed by the government of India. 

For Habibullah any reward that might have strengthened his 
internal position came too late. On  January I, 1919, he left Kabul for 
his winter quarters in Jalalabad, leaving his third son Amanullah in 
charge of the capital, and, on the night of February 19-20, Habibul- 
lah was assassinated in Kalla Gush in the Laghman district. 



T H E  THIRD A N G L O - A F G H A N  W A R  

Amanullah's accession to power over the claims of Nasrullah and 
Inayatullah, his uncle and his brother, came as a surprise to many, 
although there were reports as far back as early 1917 indicating that 
Amanullah enjoyed great popularity in Kabul, and it was assumed 
by some courtiers that he would succeed to the throne.' 

Some British observers at the time saw the plot against Habibul- 
lah as the act of an ambitious and vengeful woman, Ulya Hazrat, 
mother of Amanullah Khan.2 According to their view, Ulya Hazrat 
and her son had fallen from royal favor when Amanullah began his 
campaign to win popularity among the people of Afghanistan.' He 
helped men of importance and they were later helpful to him. When 
the royal family moved to Jalalabad, Amanullah had to stay behind 
as a form of p~nishment .~  According to other sources, the plot 
against Habibullah was initiated by members of the so-called war 
party (to which Amanullah also belonged) who wanted to put 
Nasrullah on the t h r ~ n e . ~  

On the day following the assassination of Habibullah, Nasrullah 
was proclaimed Amir in Jalalabad. Two days of durbar followed 
after which Amir Nasrullah Khan addressed the army and ap- 
pointed Inayatullah as Naeb al-Saltana. O n  the same day Amanul- 
lah addressed the Kabul garrison and vowed not to rest until the 
death of his father had been avenged. Amanullah was in possession 
of the Kabuli treasury and the arsenal and was therefore in a 
position of strength. The Kabuli troops then announced their sup- 
port of Amanullah who was proclaimed King. On February 27, 
Nasrullnh, Inayatullah, and members of the Musahihan family (de- 
scendants of the Peshawar sirdars, also called Yahya Khel) were 
arrested by the troops of Jalalabnd; the following day ~asrul lah 
abdicated and joined Inayatullah in offering bay'u (allegiance) to 



Amanullah. The British Agent who had accompanied Habibullah 
to Jalalabad was asked to return to Kabul, and on March 11, the 
European employees of the Afghan government were permitted to 
depart for India under Afghan escort. 

According to eyewitness accounts, Amanullah held durbar at the 
Qanuni Bagh at Kabul on Sunday, April 13, 1919, and presided at 
the trial of the suspected assassins. Colonel Shah Ali Reza Khan was 
indicted for the murder amid rumors of Nasrullah's complicity. The 
colonel was sentenced to death and immediately executed. Nasrullah 
was sentenced to prison for life, and Inayatullah was condemned to 
live in retirement. Nadir Khan and twenty-one other prisoners were 
declared innocent.' 

The British Agent at Kabul reported that the Musahiban family 
had been greatly compensated for the indignities suffered from the 
suspicion of murder held against some of its members. Amanullah 
gave two of his sisters in marriage to Ahmad Shah and Muhammad 
Ali who belonged to the Musahiban family. The Agent further 
reported that the Jalalabad troops were iilcensed at the release of 
members of the Musahiban family since they feared retaliation for 
having arrested them.' The subsequent developments in Anglo- 
Afghan relations and the Anglo-Afghan War of 1919 are described 
by some British observers as the direct result of the assassination of 
Habibullah which compelled the young Amir to consolidate his 
power and unite the people behind him in the face of unrest and 
popular suspicion that Amanullah might have been involved in the 
plot. Thus the Third Afghan War would have been no more than 
an attempt to divert the popular anger from the Amir and set it 
against the British, the traditional enemy.8 While this may have 
been a factor, there was a still more important one: the fear that, 
having overcome her temporary weakness, Britain might return to 
her former forward policy or even aim at the conquest and division 
of the entire Islamic world. 

On March 3, 1919, Amanullah informed Lord Chelmsford of the 
murder of his father. He  said: "I have no doubt that Your Excel- 
lency, my friend, will be much touched by the news of this painful 
event, for the observance of all the conditions of neutrality and the 
upright conduct and friendly relations displayed during the past and 
present by His Majesty, my late father . . . require no mention." He  
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further informed the Viceroy that he was made Amir and that the 
4 4 usurpers" had abdicated, and he added pointedly: 

. . . nor let this remain unknown to that friend that our independent 
and free Government of Afghanistan considers itself ready and pre- 
pared at every time and season to conclude, with due regard to every 
consideration of the requirements of friendship and the like, such 
arrangements and treaties with the mighty Government of England 
as may be useful and serviceable in the way of commercial gains and 
advantages to our Government and yours? 

T h e  British Agent reported that, during durbar on April 13,1919, 

Amanullah announced : 

. . . I have declared myself and my country entirely free, autonomous 
and independent both internally and externally. My country will 
hereafter be as independent a state as the other states and powers of 
the world are. No foreign power will be allowed to have a hairs- 
breadth of right to interfere internally and externally with the affairs 
of Afghanistan, and if any ever does I am ready to cut its throat with 
this sword. 

H e  ended his speech and then gently calling out  the British Agent 
said, "0 Safir, have you understood what I have said?" The British 
Agent answered, "Yes, I have." lo T h e  British Agent also reported 
that the Amir had appointed Muhammad Wali Khan to be the 
Afghan representative at Bukhara, and that the latter was about to 
set out for that city. Amanullah intended to continue his show of 
independence and initiated discussions in his council for the selec- 
tion of a safir for Persia." 

The  government of India was at a loss to decide whether it 
should accept this fait accompli or not. After maintaining for SO 

long that Anglo-Afghan agreements were made personally with the 
amirs, it was difficult to deny that Amanullah had a right to demand 
a new treaty for Afghanistan. Therefore, Lord Chelrnsford was 
quite noncommittal in his reply. H e  decried the loss of the great 
ruler who "by his wise statesmanship preserved it [Afghanistan] 
from the horrors which the war, just ended, has brought upon so 
many nations." H e  merely thanked Amanullah for the information 
that he was acknowledged as Amir "by the populace of Kabul and 
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its surroundings" but referred to the mourning over the former 
Amir as an excuse for not discussing the agreements mentioned by 
~manul1ah.l~ 

The new Amir lost no time in initiating administrative reforms 
and established a cabinet in which Mahmud Tarzi was Minster of 
Foreign Affairs and Abdul Kuddus Khan was Prime Minister. The 
fact that the Amir had ambitions for his country was clear. O n  
March 11, he announced to the Afghan Envoy in India that "the 
Government of Afghanistan hopes by the grace of God, within a 
short time, to have itself counted as one of the most well-known and 
honourable Governments of the world." l3 A firman was issued 
which stated that Amanullah was proclaimed King by the people 
and that he accepted on condition that ( I )  Afghanistan should be 
internally and externally free, (2) the people should unite with him 
to avenge the assassination of Habibullah, and (3) the people should 
be free and no one be oppressed, and government should be by 
law.14 It was soon apparent that these pronouncements would be 
followed by action. 

On May I, 1919, Saleh Muhammad Khan, the Commander- 
in-Chief, moved to the Indian border, arriving at Dakka with two 
companies of infantry and two guns, for the ostensible purpose of 
inspecting the border. At about the same time Muhammad Nadir 
Khan moved to Khost and Abdul Kuddus Khan proceeded to 
Kandahar.16 

On May 3, an escort of Khaibar Rifles accompanied a caravan to 
the border and was stopped by Afghan pickets in the disputed area 
between Landi Khana and Torkham. The leader of the Afghans, 
231 Shah, a Shinwari from Nangrahar with a reputation for daring 
raids across the frontier, declared he was acting under the orders of 
the Afghan Commander-in-Chief and produced a firman from the 
Amir."' The British force then withdrew. 

The Amir's firman, which began to circulate on the frontier, 
called the tribesmen to be ready for uprisings in India. It stated in 
part: 

I send this order to all subjects of the Eastern circles who are Sayyids, 
Shaikhs, Mullahs, Khans and Motabars and tell you that there is great 
unrest in India. Hindus and Muhammedans have almost all remained 
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faithful . . . but it is a pity that they have been rewarded by cruelty 
[zulm] and all kinds of injustice in connection with their religion, 
their honour [izzat] and their modesty [sharm]. 

The firman stated further that risings had occurred in India which 
also affected Afghanistan; therefore Saleh Muhammad was depu- 
tized with full power for the protection of Afghanistan's bounda- 
ries.'' 

During durbar in the beginning of May, the Amir read letters he 
had received from India and then told his people: "See what tyranny 
has been practiced on our brethren in India! Not only this but 
Baghdad and the Holy Places have been seized by tyranny!" He 
then addressed them: "I ask you if you are prepared for holy war. If 
so, gird up your loins! The time has come!" The reply of those 
present was in the affirmative, and Amanullah then said: "I will 
take no more revenue, but all of you should collect grain for the holy 
war and rich men should buy from the arsenal rifles and ammuni- 
tion, while the poor will have them issued on security."ls On the 
following day, leaflets were circulated along the border, claiming 
that Germany had resumed the war, that Egypt and India had 
successfully risen. The leaflets ended with the slogan "cursed be the 
English and cursed be the tyrants." la 

The Viceroy reported to England on May 4 that, although the 
wording of the Amir's firman was about as bad as it could be, it still 
left a loophole and the Amir had not definitely committed himself. 
Lord Chelmsford said that his government was impressing on 
Roos-Keppel the capital importance of avoiding all frontier incidents 
at Torkham or elsewhere and asked him to consider the advisability 
of having Abdul Kayyum, the Political Agent at Khyber, t ry  to 
arrange a meeting on the frontier with Saleh Muhammad Khan.'' 

The Viceroy also addressed a letter to the Amir and informed 
him of the firman shown by Zar Shah and of his action against the 
British escort of the Khyber caravan. Giving the Amir an opportu- 
nity to disclaim any knowledge of it, the Viceroy said that this 
firman could only be the work of an enemy of the Amir, and he 
asked the Amir to denounce it as a forgery and to have Zar Shah 
ar~ested.~' 

On May 4, Afghan uniformed troops occupied Hagh, a ~hinwari 
hamlet above Landi Khana and Kafiri Kot on the British side of the 



frontier, and began to cut the water supply to Landi Kotal. The 
British reacted by closing the Khyber Pass. Two days later the 
Afghan forces at Bagh were increased to three regiments with two 
guns and Afghans occupied Tor Trappar and Spinatsuka. The 
Afghans then moved three regiments from Jalalabad to Mohmand 
country, and Nadir Khan arrived at Khost with troops and several 
thousand tribesmen, most of them Ghil~ays.~" 

The British countered on May 7 by dispatching a column to 
Landi Kotal and another to Parachinar in support of their Kurram 
forces. The first battalion of the first brigade reached Landi Kotal on 
May 7, and the remainder was to reach it on May 8. The second 
brigade was ordered to Jamrud for support, and the third was 
concentrated at Peshawar. A cavalry brigade was sent on May 7 to 
Shahgai on the Malagori Road.23 

On May 5 the government of India had decided to stop demobili- 
zation of all combatant forces in India, as well as the frontier force, 
and to recall all British officers of the Indian Army. India intended 
to confront the Afghans with an overwhelming force in the Khyber 
to induce them to withdraw quietly without fighting. But during 
May 8 the Afghans received large reinforcements and advanced 
their positions to Ashraf Khel, commanding Landi Kotal. The next 
day British forces at Landi Kotal drove back the Afghans from the 
vicinity, and the Afghans moved to positions near Khar Gali. The 
British then began bombing Loe D a k k ~ ' ~  

In Peshawar the situation deteriorated rapidly. The center of 
anti-British activity and propaganda was the ofiice of the Afghan 
postmaster. Roos-Keppel wanted to arrest the postmaster and a 
number of Indian revolutionaries who were in the city, but they 
were in a quarter of the city which was inaccessible and difficult to 
attack without arousing a general riot. On May 7 Roos-Keppel 
reported that the feeling was distinctly bad in the city and that there 
was much talk of an attack by a mob of seven thousand to eight 
thousand on the cantonments. The British Commissioner acted 
swiftly and on May 8, at 2 P.M., he had the city surrounded and 
demanded the surrender of the postmaster and some of the Indian 
agitators. The city depcnded on outside water, electricity, and food 
supplies and could not have hoped to resist for a long time. There- 
fore, the postmaster and the Indians, Milap Singh, Abdul Jalil, and 



Dr. Ghosh, were forced to surrender without any resistance to he 
British. The messenger sent into the city by the British was the only 
casualty in this action." 

Amanullah replied to the Viceroy's letter of May 5, refusing to 
arrest Zar Shah in view of the "tyrannical law" (Rowlatt Bill) 
enforced by the government of India against its Hindu and Muslim 
subjects. The Amir called the firman mentioned by the Viceroy an 
"expression of my Islamic sympathy and human feeling towards 
mankind, and the abhorrence of my Royal mind of things affecting 
the faith and religion, and freedom and liberty of human beings." 
H e  said he meant to unite the tribes for the protection of the 
independence of their country and for the maintenance of peace on 
the frontier, which was being threatened by quickly approaching 
revolutions. The Amir further complained that the Viceroy did not 
reply to his letter within a reasonable time, and that when he did so 
he answered in an ofiensive spirit. Another grievance of the Amir 
was that Chelmsford refused to accept the appointment of the new 
Afghan Agent; Amanullah considered this a hostile act indicating 
that India did not recognize the new Amir. H e  further stated that 

he was still willing to conclude a treaty of friendship with India, and 
he asked the Viceroy to avert the dangers "by abolishing the tyranni- 
cal laws recognizing the absolute independence, equal rights and 
freedom in all respects of the Government of Afghanistan, which is 
ready to conclude treaties and engagements in every way beneficial 
to each other, so that the doors of calamity may not be opened upon 
the world, for it is right to demand right and it is not right to shed 
blood without right in the path of right." 26 

The government of India was not prepared to meet the Amir in 
his demands, so hostilities took their course. On May 15, the Viceroy 
reported to London that British troops had occupied Dakka, which 
is a few miles within Afghan territory, and suggested that ~alalabad 
should be taken since this would demonstrate the British military 
superiority to the tribes and induce them to stay out of the war. 
Jalalabad would also be a p o d  base for a march on Kabul. The 
Viceroy further reported that the at ti tude of the troops was excellent 
and that they were ready for such a move. The occupation of 
Kandahar should also be ~onsidered.~' 

London was reluctant to sanction these steps. The Secretary of 



State for India commented on the seriousness of the Indian proposal 
which would constitute an act of war. H e  feared that such action 
would involve a long commitment of war with Afghanistan, in 
which British troops would be surrounded by hostile tribes. The 
Secretary said he lacked enough information to determine if this 
was really a war or merely a border clash; he also wanted to know 
what kind of armistice the Afghans wanted. The London govern- 
ment warned that an attack on one of the few remaining independ- 
ent Muslim states might have serious consequences elsewhere. The 
Paris peace negotiations would surely be affected, and London 
wanted to know whether peace could be made with a return to the 
previous status 

The government of India felt that an offensive was better than a 
static defense and therefore wanted to move, although no one was 
certain whether a formal declaration of war had been issued by 
the Amir. Amanullah's combination of jihad with agitation against 
the Rowlatt Bill threatened an anti-British conflagration which, the 
government of India feared, would engulf Afghanistan, the frontier, 
and India.29 

The tribal situation proved to be especially serious for Britain. 
The practice in India of controlling the frontier with local tribal 
militia now received a severe setback. The great number of deser- 
tions from the Khaiber Rifles made it necessary to ask the men 
individually whether they wanted to remain in British service or be 
discharged from their units. Out of seven hundred men, six hundred 
elected to be discharged, and the government of India thought it 
safer to disband the entire force.30 

But peace feelers were quickly extended. O n  May 21 the Chief 
Commissioner at Peshawar reported receipt of a telegram from 
Sirdar Abdur Rahman, the Afghan Envoy in India, in which the 
latter informed the commander of the British troops at Dakka that 
he had talked to the Amir and now wanted to meet the British party 
with a view to making peace." 

The government of India had previously permitted the Envoy to 
cross into Afghanistan to ~ersuade the Amir to end his hostile 
activities. The Commissioner, however, did not trust the Afghan 
overtures and suggested to Sirnla (the Indian summer capital) that 
this was merely a tactical move on the part of Afghanistan to gain 



time for winning over the tribes. But the Viceroy considered the 
situation so critical all along the frontier and the time of such vital 
importance that he authorized the commanding officer to meet with 
the Afghan Envoy?* 

The London government had in the meantime informed Sirnla 
that it agreed with the measures proposed by Lord Chelmsford and 
urged resolute action. Nevertheless, London deplored the fact that 
an advance on and occupation of Jalalabad was necessary at such an 
unhealthy time of the year and warned India "that you will not have 
forgotten [the] lessons of history, that we have not so much to fear 
from [the] Afghan regular Army as from the irregular tribesmen 
and their constant attacks on our isolated camps and lines of com- 
munications." 33 

The government of India soon learned that the Amir's diplo- 
matic initiative had included talks with Soviet Russia. There were 
reports of Bolshevist emissaries en route to Major General 
W. Malleson reported to India that both Amanullah and Mahmud 
Tarzi had written messages to Lenin and the Commissar of Foreign 
Affairs. Amanullah announced his accession to the throne and his 
intention of adhering to the principle of equality of all men and 
peaceful union of all people, and Tarzi expressed his hopes that 
permanent and friendly relations would soon be established between 
Russia and Afghanistan?5 

The government of India began to search for means to counter 
Afghan propaganda. It obtained a letter from the Aga Khan for 
distribution in India and on the frontier in which he condemned the 
"wanton and foolish" attack on India and exhorted his followers to 

remain loyal to the British and "open the eyes of ~thers ."~ '  The 
so-called Hindustani Fanatics, who had long conducted a verbal war 
against the British, did not show themselves as "fanatic" as expected, 
and their Amir discouraged talk of jihad in exchange for a personal 
pardon and some land in India.97 

It was also suggested in India that the Sultan of Turkey be 
approached to obtain his pronouncement for prohibiting jihad and 
"disowning those by whom it may be proclaimed." 3Wothing came 
of this, nor were other moves very successful. The Naqib of Bagh- 
dad, who had two brothers in the area, one in Kabul and the other 
in Chaman, also declined to issue any declarations. He held that he 



could give a fetwa only in answer to a question by members of the 
Indian ~lema.~ '  

Finally a letter from Amanullah, dated May 24, 1919, gave official 
sanction to previous peace feelers. He  stated that Afghanistan was 
induced by fear of disorder in India to take steps to protect the 
Afghan border. This led to mistakes on both sides. Afghan soil was 
invaded and the Afghans had to fight. When Abdur Rahman 
learned in India that war was not wanted by the government of 
India, the Amir revoked his call to jihad and his National Council 
decided that the Envoy should be deputized to explain matters and 
to stop the bloodshed. Amanullah bitterly attacked British aerial 
bombings of Jalalabad and Kabul in which among other targets, the 
tombs of Abdur Rahman and Habibullah were destroyed; he ex- 
pressed his regret that Britain was copying in these bombings the 
example of the Germans. But the Amir did not want the old 
friendship between the two states to be broken and enmity grow 
through further bloodshed and therefore suggested the establish- 
ment of an honorable and dignified peace that would be useful to 
both parties.40 

The events in the war now took a new turn. While the frontier 
around Dakka had become stabilized, Britain's favorable military 
situation was seriously upset when Nadir Khan advanced into the 
Waziristan area and British troops were forced to withdraw. The 
Chief Commissioner of the North-West Frontier reported on May 
31 that he had ordered the withdrawal of all frontier constabulary 
posts in Shirani country. H e  reported the Thal post in danger and 
the situation in Idak acute. The Khoedad Khel Zaimukhts were said 
to have joined the Afghans, and all the Kurram border tribes 
seemed likely to rise "unless we have success against Nadir Khan 
shortly."41 In addition, rumors appeared that the Afghans were 
strengthening the garrisons at Jalalabad and Kahi and that airplanes 
from Russia had arrived. 

Roos-Keppel, the Chief Commissioner at Peshawar, reported on 
June I ,  1919, that the Jandola and Manji posts were surrounded by a 
large number of Mahsuds and a Mahsud lashkar was approaching 
the Zarkani p s t .  The Kajuri and Shinkai posts were abandoned 
and the Isha post taken by the Afghans. As for the tribes, the 
"Orakzai were still quiet, the attitude of the Kohat Pass Afridis was 



good, and the Mohmands were quiet and in a good mood." '2 To 
check the tribes it was suggested that leaflets be distributed over the 

area to announce receipt of the Amir's letter and to express the hope 
that peace negotiations would soon begin. India hoped that this 
would prove that it did not want to destroy Afghanistan." 

British strategy was greatly affected by this new move. John 
Maffey, the chief political officer with the field force, indicated in an 
unofficial letter to Simla that the "threat to Thal has delayed the 
Jalalabad move, as the motor transport available does not admit of 
two simultaneous offensives." Maffey thought that this delay "serves 
the purpose of giving the Amir a breathing space to consider some 
further diplomatic overture. It will also prevent the Afridis and 
Mohmands from rushing into the dangerous half-held belief that 
we are pledged to a swift war of extermination." He addressed 
Simla, saying, "You will appreciate the danger of steam roller 
tactics. As it is, these tribes will think that negotiations may still be 
going on and that they had better keep on their fence." Maffey also 
feared a revolt in Kabul and said he was "desperately afraid of our 
having to push so far that there will be nobody to settle up with."" 
When Amanullah's letter of peace arrived, Maffey welcomed it with 
great satisfaction, saying, "Having seen the trials the troops are 
undergoing, and knowing from experience up and down the line 
what little keenness there is among the troops to face the Kabul 
River Valley at this season of appalling heat, I can assure you 
Amanullah's communication has been a great relief to me!" This 
move by the Amir would put the Afridis and Mohmands perma- 
nently out of the hostilities, and Maffey thought it advantageous to 
Id carry things on through the rozha and to give all the tribal organi- 
zations time to break up for lack of work." Meanwhile, Mafiey 
suggested, "we can pack the healthy Kurram Valley with troops and 
our peace terms can then be presented as an ultimatum with a short 
time limit. Let us avoid too much chat1 . . . This time we shall have 
got the Afghan really cold, I hope." Maffey continued: "The tribal 
mess still wants clearing up, but the defection of the Afghan will rob 
the position of any real danger and we can put off dealing with the 
Mahsud till weather permits. A squadron of good aeroplanes next 
autumn will soon finish the job." '' 

A week later, Maffey suggested that no forward move be made in 



Dakka, saying, "I see a great rock of offence in a British Dakka and 
a whole fabric of hate and distrust built thereon to our danger and 
discredit." He reported that the loyal Shinwari chiefs had cautioned 
him not to seek any territorial surrender. Maffey thought they 
showed a good deal of sympathy with Amanullah, who, they felt, 
was gossly misled and deceived. The Shinwari chieftains expected 
Britain to show gener~sity.'~ 

In fact, the Amir was impressed by reports from the Afghan 
postmaster in Peshawar which indicated that India was on the verge 
of revolt and that it required only the spark of an Afghan invasion 
to destroy the British in India. In an intercepted letter to the Amir, 
the postmaster reported that he was ready to begin holy war in 
Peshawar City. H e  claimed that about eight thousand of the people 
came to his assistance who were to be strengthened by two thousand 
more men from the surrounding villages. The Sikhs, according to 
the postmaster, assured the Muslims that they would not shoot at 
them, and both Muslim and Hindus would be "much displeased" if 
the Amir did not attack.47 

The government of India was quite willing to accept the advice 
from London to seek a return to the previous status quo, and it was 
searching for ways to end this situation which was so fraught with 
danger and uncertain consequences. Denys Bray, of the Foreign 
Department, noted that magnanimity was the best policy in making 
peace with Amanullah because Afghanistan was needed as a buffer. 
Also, Muslim opinion, already aroused by the treatment of Turkey, 
would be alienated. Furthermore, without Afghan cooperation it 
was difficult to establish peace on the frontier. Therefore, Bray 
wanted the old days back--only more so. He  wanted Afghanistan to 
be "still more conservative, shutting her doors to all foreigners, 
especially Russians, and while just as passive as ever in so far as 
opening the closed door to ourselves is concerned, to be more 
actively friendly as regards the frontier tribes." H e  recalled that 
Britain was prepared to "consider releasing Afghanistan from our 
tutelage over her foreign affairs as a reward for Habibullah. We 
were even prepared to consider accepting with as good grace as 
might he the fait accompli when presented to us by a not openly 
unfriendly Amanullah." But Bray thought it out of the question to 
accept it under the threat of war. Since Britain wanted so little from 
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the Amir, "the solution will probably have to be found more in the 
stern wording of the terms than in the terms themselves." 48 

As to the terms with the Amir, Bray suggested the following: 
I. Control of Afghan foreign affairs. 
2. Improvement of the status of the British agent at Kabul and 

the representative at Kandahar. 
3. Instant dismissal of all foreigners. 
4. Nonadmission of delegates from foreign powers to Afghani- 

stan. 
5. Acceptance of the old border, except where Britain defines 

adjustments. 
6. Surrender or expulsion of Indian "seditionists." 
7. Surrender or dismissal of Mahmud Tarzi and Abdul Kuddus 

Khan. 
8. Abolition of the Afghan post ofice. 
g. The right of Britain to regulate the import of arms. 

10. Arming of the tribes by Afghans to be prohibited. 
11. Permission of direct relations between frontier officers. 
12. Removal of restrictions such as the Chaman 
13. Permanent removal of outlaws and raiders from the border. 
14. Payment of a reduced subsidy, conditional on friendly rela- 

t i o n ~ . ~ ~  
Lord Chelmsford finally replied to Amanullah's proposals for 

peace of June 3, 1919, and transmitted the following conditions for a 
cease-fire: The Afghans would have to withdraw 20 miles from the 
British positions, whereas British troops would remain where they 
were and keep their freedom of action, but without advancing any 
further. British planes would also be free to reconnoiter and must 
not be attacked by the Afghans. If a British pilot was forced to land 
in Afghan territory he must be safely returned. Finally, the tribes on 
both sides of the border must be restrained; they were to be in- 
formed of the cease-fire and warned that they would not receive any 
help from the Afghans if they attacked the British forces. The 
Viceroy suggested that the peace conference be held at ~awal~indi:' 

On June 11 the Arnir replied that he was glad about the success of 
their mutual peace efforts. But he defiantly recalled that Afghans 
had previously defeated intruders, getting strength from their reli- 
gion, which makes death a cause of revival, and from their nature, 
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which makes Afghans "prefer visible death to subordination to a 
foreign power and to consider it perpetual life." Regarding the 
withdrawal of Afghan troops, the Amir said that the Afghan people 
could not be moved-all of them being soldiers. H e  wanted the 
troops to remain where they were and objected to British reconnais- 
sance by air since "there are guns in every house" and even if he 
wanted to he could not restrain the people from firing at the planes. 
Thus peace could easily be endangered by "someone with an evil 
mind." The Amir agreed to the selection of Rawalpindi as the site 
for negotiations and announced the composition of the Afghan 
delegation which was to be headed by Ali Ahman Khan, his Minis- 
ter of Home 

6 t  The home government was somewhat surprised at the unex- 
pected clemency" shown by the government of India, but India said 
in defense of its stand that, having demonstrated British strength 
and punished the Afghan troops, resulting in Afghan prayers for 
peace, the termination of hostilities was consistent with the mainte- 
nance of British prestige. India expected that if Afghanistan would 
"quit now, humiliated, the tribal situation would at once cool." 
India pleaded that the entire frontier was in a condition of acute 
tension, British troops were exposed to intolerable heat and most 
unhealthy conditions, and, as a most effective warning, the govern- 
ment of India held that the continuance of the war would involve 
large and constant demands on England for technical troops and 
material of all kinds. The government of India feared that, if its 
reply to Amanullah had been delayed, the Amir would have con- 
cluded that Rritain was implacably determined on war and would 
not agree to any peace. This would have forced an indefinite prolon- 
gation of the war. So long as Amanullah remained de facto ruler, 
there was no alternative to accepting him and treating with him. 
The fall of Amanullah would mean chaos and anarchy. Lord 
Chelmsford thought this a good opportunity to show the Muslim 
community that Britain had no wish to wipe out or trample her 
Muslim neighbor. He  held that there was really no halfway house 
between a policy of complete subjugation of Afghanistan and a 
policy of attempting to establish mutual trust and really friendly 
relations." The home government, although skeptical about the 
favorable interpretation by India of the Amir's letter which it found 
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questionable and in parts defiant, approved the proceedings with the 
hope that India's belief would be justified.64 

In further correspondence with the Arnir, the Viceroy named the 
composition of the British delegation to the peace conference. He 
chose to ignore the Amir's defiant attitude since it was clear that 

only a resumption of hostilities could force the Amir to change it.55 

The Third Afghan War was started by Afghanistan to wrest from a 
weakened India what it was unwilling to concede-Afghan inde- 
pendence and territorial concessions. 

Amanullah had an exaggerated view of the events in India, and 
he overestimated his resources and capability for offensive action. 
The war was to be a concerted attack on Britain from three Afghan 
bases: Dakka, under the command of Saleh Muhammad, the Com- 
mander-in-Chief; Khost, under General Nadir Khan; and Kanda- 
har, under Abdul Kuddus Khan. The Afghan forces were to be 
supported by tribal lashkars. An uprising in Peshawar was to coin- 
cide with an Afghan offensive. 

But these activities were not properly coordinated. The revolt in 
Peshawar was nipped in the bud on May 8, 1919, and premature 
action on the Khyber front led to British capture of Dakka before 
Nadir Khan had started his march on Spinwam on May 23 and 
attacked Thal on May 28. On the Kandahar front no major moves 
occurred until May 27-28, when British forces attacked the Spin 
Boldak Fort and finally captured it in the face of brave Afghan 
resistance. 

Nadir Khan's success prevented British offensive moves against 
Jalalabad and aroused tribal attacks against the British lines of 
communications. British aerial bombings caused some panic in Jalala- 
bad and led to looting of arms and material by Afghan tribes from 
the surrounding area. In Kabul the King's palace and other targets 
were bombed on May 24; cease-fire was declared on June 3, and an  
Afghan delegation arrived in Rawal~indi on July 25 to begin peace 
negotiations. 

The Third Afghan War was not won by the British. Both the 
Afghans and the British held enemy territory, and no decisive 
battles were fought and no one was definitely defeated. But this war 
did result in an end to Britain's suzerainty over Afghanistan and for 
this reason is justly called a victorious war by the Afghans--vcn 



though the victory was finally won in the field of diplomacy rather 
than the field of military action. 

PEACE N E G O T I A T I O N S  

The government of India now began to consider the terms it should 
offer the Afghans. Lieutenant General Kirkpatrick recommended a 
"rectification" of the border by annexing Dakka and the surround- 
ing area, Khost, Lat Poti, and Shurawak, and the area north of 
Chaman. Others also thought of territorial changes: ( I )  the Wakhis 
had petitioned the British to take them under their protection; (2) 
the Mehtar of Chitral wanted Nasrat, and the Kafirs wanted the 
British to take over at least part of Kafiristan; and (3) the British 
agents of Sistan and Baluchistan wanted to take over Gaud-i-Zirreh 
and the headwaters of the Helmand?' 

Henry Dobbs, the Foreign Secretary, did not favor any drastic 
territorial changes, but he thought that minor border "corrections" 
would not seriously embitter the Afghans or arouse general Islamic 
sentiment. After the "benevolent" tone in the Viceroy's message to 
the Amir it was difficult to make territorial demands without being 
accused of trickery by the AfghansS5' 

The government of India submitted for approval by the home 
government the terms it wanted to see in a peace treaty with 
Afghanistan. The following terms were drafted: 

I. From the day of signing there should be peace. 
2. Because of Afghan aggression, the importation of arms 

through India would be prohibited. 
3. No subsidies would be granted, and the arrears were forfeited. 
4. If the Amir were contrite, after six months, new negotiations 

might establish new friendly relations. 
5. Until that friendship was established, British troops would 

remain in Afghan territory in the Khyber area. Other positions 
would be withdrawn. 

In order to obtain a treaty of friendship from Britain, the Amir 
must show his condition by: 

I .  dismissing all hostile foreigners from his country; 
2. having foreign relations with no country other than Britain; 
3. expelling Obeidullah and other Indian "seditionists"; 
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4. cooperating in keeping the borders safe from outlaws; 
5. improving the position of the British agent and other British 

representatives. The position of the Afghan envoy would be corres- 
pondingly upgraded.58 

The government of India held that the attitude of the Amir 
would decide what kind of final arrangement he would get. The 
Viceroy was, however, wary about Article V, which he adopted only 
at the insistence of his military advisers. H e  felt that British occupa- 
tion of Dakka was an irritant not only to the Afghans but also to the 
Afridis and Mohmands. Therefore, he recommended that British 
troops should withdraw after the undemarcated parts of the border 
had been defined by the Briti~h.~' 

His Majesty's government expressed approval of the suggested 
probationary period, but objected at first to two-stage negotiations.BO 
The Secretary of State maintained that the treaty seemed to contain 
only penalties and offered the Amir no inducement to sign. And 
after the probationary period, he thought, there would be fruitless 
discussions and arguments as to whether the Amir had fulfilled the 
conditions for renewed friendship. London wanted a provision for 
obtaining a rail terminal at Kam Dakka, and suggested that Aman- 
ullah should forfeit all arrears of his subsidy and that the practice of 
maintaining an Afghan postmaster in Peshawar be discontinued. 
The Amir would get a subsidy if after six months the British 
government was satisfied that he had faithfully observed the terms 
of the treaty. 

The Viceroy was impressed by the need for establishing an 
immediate peace and wanted to leave the more dificult task of 
obtaining an acceptable treaty for future negotiations. Lord Chelms- 
ford saw the crux of the matter in the problem of British control 
over Afghanistan's foreign relations. He  recognized that there were 
profound changes in the political outlook of the Middle East which 
were caused by "general unrest, awakened national aspirations, the 
pronouncements of President Wilson, and Bolshevik catchwords." 
Afghanistan could no longer be forced into isolation, and the Amir 
would not accept British protection from unprovoked aggression as 

a quid pro quo for their control of his foreign relations. The Viceroy 
thought that Amanullah would soon be convinced of the impossibil- 
ity of conducting his affairs single-handed and expected that, "if we 



regain the confidence of Afghanistan and get them to turn voluntar- 
ily to us in their difficulties, we shall have secured more than we can 
do by any 'scrap of paper.'" The hands of the British negotiators 
should not be tied to any rigid preconceived draft treaty to avoid the 
example of the Dane mission, but matters should be referred for 
orders before committing the British government.61 

The Secretary of State finally agreed to Lord Chelmsford's 
suggestions but warned that negotiations with Afghans had a tend- 
ency to take a different course from the one anticipated. As a whole 
he did not contemplate any substantial change in the political rela- 
tions with Afghanistan, and he impressed on the Viceroy to leave no 
doubt in his actions that British troops had been v i c to r io~s .~~  

Although Afghan and British regular forces stopped all offensive 
military action, the position of British troops was endangered at 
several places by tribal snipers and raiding attacks. Tribesmen har- 
assed the British supply lines and carried off whatever they could. 
Lieutenant General G. N. Molesworth tells of the successful theft by 
tribesmen of a tent from over the heads of the British soldiers 
sleeping in it.63 The government of India hoped that the arrival of 
the Afghan peace delegation in India would have a sobering and 
calming effect on the tribes.64 

The tribal situation was aggravated by the personal disappoint- 
ment of Abdul Kuddus Khan. The Afghan Prime Minister felt 
greatly dishonored by his inability to prevent the loss of Spin Boldak 
Fort. With British troops within Afghan territory, he could not 
permit the withdrawal of his troops to 20 miles from the British 
position as demanded by the British. He  therefore incited the tribes 
to attack British lines of communications and continued the war 
verbally, trying to win British concessions he could not win by 
military action. 

In a number of messages to the British general commanding at 
Chaman, the Afghan minister warned the British not to set them- 
selves against the Islamic world by "trifling with Afghanistan," and 
to give Russia her chance at gaining influence in Afghani~tan.'~ H e  
wanted the British to surrender Spin Boldak Fort, claiming that 
otherwise his tribesmen would not obey his orders for a cease-fire. 
He also wanted to have the British promise that they would not 
punish the tribes for supporting the Afghans. Abdul Kuddus feared 



that his position and power would be endangered if he as Prime 
Minister were not a participant at the peace negotiations. Therefore 
he wanted to conduct his own negotiations with the British at 
Chaman, and held back the news of the cease-fire and the signing of 
the peace treaty until the evacuation of Spin Boldak by the British.BB 
H e  wanted to give the impression in Kandahar that peace was 
established only after he himself had induced the British to surren- 
der Spin Boldak. 

Sir A. H. Grant, head of the British delegation at the peace 
conference, suggested improving the deteriorating situation in Balu- 
chistan by hitting those tribes that were within British territory. But 
Grant did not want to give Abdul Kuddus an ultimatum to with- 
draw since he feared that the Afghan would not comply, and "we 
have to eat our words" or start hostilities without having a chance to 
commence negotiations.67 

When the Afghan peace delegation had arrived in India, the 
Amir issued a proclamation in which he acknowledged the proof of 
courage he had received from the Afghan people and the frontier 
tribes. He  announced that an armistice existed at the time and said if 
honorable peace were retained with all respect and honor for Af- 
ghanistan, well and good, but if not he would carry on holy war 
until death." 

The Afghan peace delegation was headed by Ali Ahmad Khan 
and consisted mainly of men who had been in India before and who 
could generally be called "pro-British." '' The Afghans met with the 
British for the first time on July 26, 1919, and the heads of both 
parties delivered their initial statements. 

Grant began by warning the Afghans to keep the tribes under 
control. He  said that in spite of his government's desire for peace it 

could not show infinite patience and ignore tribal aggression. He 
wanted the Afghans to realize how "near the breaking point had 
come during the armistice," and he warned that "any continuance of 
intrigues with the tribes must make negotiations between us impos- 
sible." " 'Grant then deplored the senselessness of the war, saying 
that all India mourned the death of Habibullah and claiming that 

the Viceroy was so astonished at the Afghan attack that he could not 
believe it had occurred with Amanullah's approval. Now believing 
the Amir contrite, Grant was ready to make peace." 



Ali Ahmad alluded in his opening address to recent legislation in 
India which he claimed was responsible for the war. H e  said that 
the government of India needed Afghan friendship more than vice 
versa, and he complained that Afghan friendship had not been 
rewarded. Ali Ahmad made no attempt to excuse Afghan actions. 
He maintained that Afghanistan did not sue for peace and that the 

first peace overtures came from the British when the Foreign Secre- 
tary sent a message to the Amir through Abdur Rahman, the 
Afghan Envoy in India. Ali Ahmad did not offer any concrete 
proposals. He merely talked about the awakening of national senti- 
ment all over the world and the growth of "national requirements 
and aspirations." He  suggested friendship and unity between Britain 
and Afghanistan in the face of the "Communist threat," and he 
deplored the fact that Britain broke with the Turks and was now 
faced with reperc~ssions.~~ 

At the second meeting on July 29, 1919, Ali Ahmad dwelt on 
Britain's difficulties with the tribes and asserted that they were 
caused by British hostility toward Afghanistan. He  declared Britain 
responsible for the Anglo-Afghan war. The Viceroy withheld recog- 
nition of Amanullah by failing to reply to his letter, and Britain did 
not reward Afghanistan for her neutrality in the war and did not 
permit her to send representatives to the Paris peace conference. The 
Rowlatt Bill legislation in India and Afghan sympathy with Turkey 
were other factors in the deterioration of Afghanistan's relations 
with Britain. 

Grant replied, calling British control of Afghanistan's foreign 
relations a partnership in which "wise rulers of the past" had 
delegated to the British a task which they, with their greater diplo- 
matic experience and their eAcient diplomatic agency, could per- 
form better than the Afghans. Grant said there was great mutual 
advantage accruing from this arrangement and he urged that it 
h . ~ l d  therefore be continued. Ali Ahmad made it quite clear, 
however, that the Afghans would not continue the previous arrange- 
ments and would insist on Afghanistan's complete internal and 
external independen~e.~~ Ali Ahmad again warned of the danger of 
Communism, expressing his "horror" of it and claiming that i t  was 
in their joint interest to keep the Communists out of Afghanistan. 
He also protested formally against the British bombings of Kabul 



and Jalalabad and deplored the damage caused to the graves of the 

two former amirs. 
Grant reported to the Foreign Secretary about intelligence he had 

obtained which indicated that the Afghans were not prepared to 

agree under any circumstances to relinquish control of their foreign 
relations. The Afghans intended to propose an "astounding" read- 
justment of the border whereby they would receive Waziristan and 
other tribal areas. The Afghans further expected territorial conces- 
sions at Panjdeh and Kushk from the Bolsheviks. Grant also learned 
that the Afghan desire for complete independence seemed comected 
with hopes for the transfer of the Caliphate to Afghani~ tan .~~ Grant 
learned further that the Afghans would present the following de- 
mands : 

I. freedom in foreign relations, 
2. payment of the arrears in subsidy, 
3. payment of a new subsidy, 
4. payment of a war indemnity, 
5. amnesty for the Afridis and Mohmands, and 
6. cession of Waziristan.15 
In view of these demands, Grant thought it better not to mention 

anything about the British desire for Dakka, leaving it for the 
subsequent friendship treaty when the Afghans would be "hungry 
and more compliant." Grant also obtained permission to present his 
treaty in the form of an ultimatum when he thought that the time 
was auspicious for such a step. H e  said he wanted to make use of 
this ultimatum only in connection with the terms of the treaty and 
not in response to local breaches of the armi~tice.~' 

On July 31 Grant finally submitted the British demands, as 
worked out between London and Simla, to the Afghan delegation 
and Ali Ahmad refused them in toto. It was not before August 4, 
during the fourth meeting of the delegates, that the Afghans ac- 
quiesced and accepted the treaty in principle, suggesting only some 
changes in its wording. They insisted, for example, on the substitu- 
tion of "Afghan Government" for "Amir of Afghanistan," making 
the treaty between the two governments rather than with the person 
of the Amir; and they insisted on the elimination of passages that 
were derogative or fixed the blame for the war upon the Afghans. 
The Afghans also demanded the I crore of rupees which had ken 



pomised to the late amir and wanted the continuance of payment of 
the British subsidy and the arrears. They reasoned that the arrears 
were deposited in the British treasury and, being trust money, were 
not subject to confiscation. As they did during the Dane mission, the 
Afghans considered the subsidy a payment by India in exchange for 
the cession of territory. The Afghans suggested demarcation of the 
boundary to be made by a joint commission six months later.77 Ali 
Ahmad next demanded that Britain withhold any action they might 
have planned against the tribes pending negotiation of the friend- 
ship treaty. 

He g a x  the following conditions for a treaty: ( I )  Afghanistan 
and the British government should have the same enemies. (2) The 
British government should bolster the military strength of Afghani- 
stan. (3) The entire tribal territory should be ceded to Afghanistan, 
who would run it along lines that would spare the British govern- 
ment all the trouble they had had in this matter. The Afghan 
government should be awarded half the amount of money spent by 
the British government on the control of the tribes.7e 

Grant found these demands unacceptable, but he permitted modi- 
fications in the wording of his treaty to make it more acceptable to 
the Amir. Grant was prepared to make important concessions, but 
was afraid to make them on his own authority. H e  complained to 
India about the lack of instructions regarding Afghanistan's foreign 
relations, and he expressed the rather novel view that "our policy 
throughout has been to give Afghanistan the liberty she now regards 
as essential, in the confident belief that money-hunger and need for 
guidance will before long bring her back to us for help and advice in 
practice, an infinitely better solution than the old arrangement." 7g 

The Viceroy also felt that the time for concessions had come. He  
reported to London that the Afghans were adamant in their insist- 
ence on independence and were unwilling to go home without 
having it confirmed. For this reason Grant had not pursued the 
question of British control over Afghan foreign affairs and was 
willing to make the Amir's future conduct the test of his friendliness 
toward Rritain. The Viceroy felt that "if we now surrender our hold 
on the shadow we may hereafter secure the substance of real control, 
such as we have never been able to exercise satisfactorily in the 
past." 
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On August 5, 1919, His Majesty's government somewhat ambig- 
uously sanctioned the treaty of the government of India, saying 
that "formal recognition of our control of foreign relations of ~ f -  
ghanistan has for [the] past forty years been [a] cardinal article of 
British policy, and you will appreciate reluctance of His Majesty's 
Government to abandon principle, to which great importance is still 
attached by them."'l As to the subsidy, London deprecated the 
payment of a subsidy of any appreciable amount without control 
over Afghanistan's foreign relations. 

During the fifth meeting of the conference on August 6, Grant 
submitted the text of his treaty to the Afghans, and two days later 
Ali Ahmad affixed his signature to it. 

The treaty contained the following provisions: 
I. establishment of peace; 
2. prohibition of the import of arms through India; 
3. confiscation of the arrears in subsidy and discontinuance of 

subsidy payments to the Amir; 
4. acceptance by Britain of an Afghan mission after six months 

for the discussion of matters of common interest and the reestablish- 
ment of the old friendly relations, provided the Afghan government 
had shown by its acts and conduct that it was sincerely anxious to 
regain the friendship of Britain; and 

5. acceptance of the Indo-Afghan frontier as it was previously 
recognized, subject to demarcation of undemarcated portions of the 
boundary by a British commission.B2 Not included in the treaty, and 
expressed in a separate letter to Ali Ahmad Khan, was an assurance 
by Grant that the treaty contained nothing that would interfere with 
Afghanistan's internal and external independence. 

Asked whether Britain intended to publish the treaty, Grant 
answered in the affirmative, but stated that his letter would not be 
published with it since otherwise the entire correspondence and the 
record of the negotiations would also have to be published. He 
would, however, not object if the Afghans wanted to publish the 
letter in Afghanistan.Ra The home government was not entirely 
reconciled to the course of events, and it protested that Grant 
appeared to have underestimated the importance of his decision, "for 
his letter is either useless to Afghans or else involves permanently 
that substantial change in our political relations and that repudiation 
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by Afghans of obligations hitherto acknowledged . . . [and] that 
they [the home government] would acquiesce in it, could not be 
taken for granted." " 

But the government of India regarded the result of the peace 
negotiations as highly satisfactory, asserting that with few modifica- 
tions, none of them essential, the Afghans had accepted their draft. 
India wanted to believe that this somewhat new experiment would 
prove in the end more satisfactory than the old arrangement, for the 
Afghans "are very sensitive on the outward shadows of their liber- 
ties, but . . . if due allowance is made for this, there is every chance 
that they will eventually seek our advice of their own accord in 
essential matters." '" 

The government of India did not have much space in which to 
maneuver. It could only make war or conclude a peace that was 
acceptable to the Afghans. Having reluctantly permitted Afghan 
independence, they had to stand by their decision and hope for 
future developments that might reestablish the former Anglo- 
Afghan relations. The fact that this decision was made without 
awaiting sanctions from London was excused in India by the need 
for swift action to avert the risk of a breakup in the negotiations.@ 

The home government could show its anger only by refusing to 
sanction the title of "Majesty" for the Amir, in spite of intimations 
by British delegates to the Afghans that such recognition would be 
given. London insisted to see first some evidence of goodwill on the 
part of the Amir before such recognition could be sanctioned, and it 
deprecated the tactics of the government of India "which are widely 
thought here to have involved us in the surrender of prestige." 

Before the British evacuated Spin Boldak on August 14, and 
Dakka on September 13, they completed the demarcation of the 
boundary. Demarcation was accomplished by John Maffey, who was 
actually on the spot defining the border as he went along. The 
Afghan General, Ghulam Nabi, accompanied the Englishman, but 
merely watched the proceedings without taking any part in them. 

Britain was generous. It postponed the "rectification" in British 
favor of the Durand line, over and above assertions of previously 
disputed claims, for future discussions and negotiations when the 
treaty of friendship was concluded.RR Demarcation was completed on 
August 29, and the British boundary commission attended a dinner 



given in their honor by Ghulam Nabi Khan. On  the way back to 
their camp, the British officials were forced to a somewhat undigni- 
fied retreat by Afghan snipers.sg 

Throughout the peace negotiations nothing had been heard of 
the British Agent in Kabul. On  September 2, 1919, the chief political 
officer in Peshawar received the assurance of Ali Ahmad Khan that 
Hafiz Sayfullah Khan was safe and had permission to leave Afghan- 
istan "as soon as the roads were safe." But it finally became known 
in India that the members of the British agency were kept in strict 
isolation and that all messages to India were suppressed. Sir A. H. 
Grant suggested that the Amir should be presented with an ultima- 
tum to permit the return of the British agency personnel or face a 
renewal of hostilities. But Tarzi, in a letter to Lord Chelmsford, 
plausibly excused the Afghan measures as having been necessary for 
the protection of the British agency, and said that the Afghans did 
not interfere with Sayfullah's property and arms, and that he was 
again permitted to move about freely and would, after an interview 
with the Amir, return shortly to 

The Afghan peace delegation returned to Kabul, and at the 
Amir's durbar on August 14, Ali Ahmad gave his version of the 
peace negotiations, asserting that Britain had conceded every point 
they had demanded. H e  also stated that the tribes were included in 
the agreement with Britaine9l 

In a letter to Denys Bray, Grant attempted to justify his actions in 
the negotiations by saying that it was impossible to maintain control 
over Afghanistan's foreign relations except by subjugating the coun- 
try. He  believed that the old treaty served well with regard t~ 

Russia, but was not of much help against the ~erman-Turkish 
mission. Grant thought that change was bound to come, and his 
solution fit in with the spirit of the time. He  held that freedom in 
foreign affairs would not be worth much to the Afghans, for they 
would not ally themselves with the Bolsheviks and permit them to 
spread their influence in Afghanistan. Future relations with what 
was left of the Ottoman Empire also could not be very cordial 
because the Afghans had let them down. Recause of their commu- 
nity of interest, Grant believed that the Afghans would side with 
Britain. The important thing was that the Afghan idiosyncracies be 
considered. Grant felt they responded to treatment, but were not 
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cowed by words or threats: "They will accept the refusal of their 
most cherished desire, if it is put to them in temperate, friendly 
words and the reason for the refusal honestly explained. But any 
attempt to browbeat them, and still more any attempt to trick them, 
is doomed to instant failure." Grant compared the Afghans to the 
proverbial highlander whom harsh words will drive to harsh 
answers which they may afterward regret, but which they will never 
admit that they regret.92 

It matters little whether the views of Grant, the government of 
India, or the home government were justified by the actual situation. 
What was important was that Britain had made a fundamental 
change in her relations with Afghanistan, and only the future could 
prove the wisdom or folly of the decision. It can be assumed with 
safety that in both England and India the hope persisted that all was 
not lost and that Afghanistan would in fact soon return to the fold, 
but it must have been clear that the international situation no longer 
permitted a return to the former Anglo-Afghan relations. 

The Third Afghan War was attributable to the change in the 
international situation as much as it was to such factors as Afghan 
irredentism, Pan-Islamism, and fear of British aggression. The 
international picture had changed radically at the end of the war. 
The Russian Revolution had ended the pressure from the north. 
Internal divisions and agitation by the Muslim population for self- 
rule kept Russia busy at home. Afghanistan, no longer fearing an 
attack from the north, could risk military action against India. 
Britain seemed greatly weakened after the war, and her hold upon 
India was threatened by widespread strikes, open rebellion, and 
riots, culminating in the Amritsar Massacre. 

Many Afghans felt that Habibullah had not taken advantage of a 
good opportunity to secure tangible rewards in the form of money 
and territorial concessions as a compensation for his neutrality in the 
great war. They did not want to let another, perhaps last, opportu- 
llity go by, so they convinced Am;lnullah that he must act at once. 
The defeat of the Ottoman Empire by thc Allies and the occupation 
of and interference in places holy to Islam by the British aroused 
violent hatred among the Afghans who believed that the Christian 
powers were bent on the destruction of Islam. 

Many Afghans, who had believed in the eventual victory of the 
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Central Powers and therefore obeyed the command of their Amir 
forbidding them to take an active part in the hostilities, felt that they 

had failed in their Islamic duty of rallying to the call for jihad. For a 
nation of warriors who were never at a loss in finding an excuse for 
attacking an enemy or avenging an insult, it was not an unusual 
thought to attempt to even the score. 

No matter how cordial the friendship of Afghan amirs for Brit- 
ain seemed at times, it cannot be denied that there was no love for 
Britain in Afghanistan. Afghan policy toward Britain was based on 
the fact that a community of interest existed between British India 
and Afghanistan. The differences of opinion between the pro-British 
party and the war party were not basic but merely concerned the 
manner in which Afghan interests would be served best. There was 
no doubt about the right and proper policy among the Afghan 
people. Two Anglo-Afghan wars had made Britain Afghanistan's 
national enemy, and the fact that the British troops always left the 

country after a more or less tenuous occupation did not impress the 
Afghans as acts of charity but rather of necessity. 

Afghans could never believe in the sincerity of Britain, who, in 
the name of assisting Afghanistan, never failed to return to her 
forward policy. Hatred against Britain was kept alive as a result of 
periodic punitive expeditions by Indian troops into the territory of 
Afghan tribes along the North-West Frontier. The buffer zone of 
independent Afghan tribes between Afghanistan and the adminis- 
trated borders of India, which Afghans considered as vital to their 
security from British aggression, was gradually penetrated by the 
British. While Russia merely loomed as a danger, Britain was 
actively aggressive. The Anglo-Russian Convention convinced many 
that sooner or later the two European powers would agree to divide 
Afghanistan between themselves. When Amanullah ascended the 
throne the political climate at Kabul had changed. Ideas of democ- 
racy, nationalism, Islamic solidarity, self-determination, and social- 
ism had penetrated into the mountain fastnesses of Afghanistan. 
The Sirrij-al-Akhbir with its nationalistic tenor brought new ideas 
into the country and broke the intellectual isolation of Afghanistan. 
The Afghan people became involved in the issues of the day: the 
fate of the Caliphate, the fate of Islam, and the fate of their own 
nation. 
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As a newly appointed Amir, who did not personally benefit from 
the legitimizing power of having been a recognized ruler for many 
years, Amanullah could not flout the popular demands for an 
Islamic policy and, above all, for a policy of complete independence 
from Britain. The government of India could not help attempting to 
use its power of recognition of the new ruler as a lever to come to an 
advantageous arrangement with Afghanistan: but events moved too 
swiftly and the Afghans started the Third Afghan War. Although 
the course of this war did not go as the Afghans anticipated, it was 
destined to be a great victory, for as a result of it Afghanistan ob- 
tained her complete and permanent independence from Britain. 



7. T h e  Settlement 

P R E L I M I N A R I E S  TO M U S S O O R I E  

Peace had not long been concluded before Amanullah began testing 
the sincerity of the British recognition of Afghan independence. He 
sent a letter to the British King in which he expressed his thankful- 
ness for British recognition of the independence of Afghanistan and 
conveyed his high esteem and due respects to "his great and kind 
friend." l The Amir sent similar friendly messages to Lord Chelms- 
ford and Sir A. H. Grant. A letter from Mahmud Tarzi to Lord 
Curzon, his counterpart in London, conveyed the request that 
Amanullah's letter be transmitted to the King. Tarzi thanked God 
for the happy termination of the recent "unpleasantness" and re- 
joiced that direct channels for independent correspondence with the 
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs had been opened.' 

His Majesty's government, still not reconciled to this novel situa- 
tion, thought it would be inappropriate for the King to correspond 
directly with the Amir, whom it considered not even technically a 
friendly potentate at the time. The home government, therefore, 
requested that the Viceroy acknowledge receipt of the Amir's letter, 
expressing once again his sorrow that the son of his loyal friend, the 
Amir Habibullah, should have without warning or provocation, 
waged war on him and his Indian people? Lord Chehsford should 
further state his hope that, at the subsequent meeting of their 
representatives, the relations between the two countries might be 
restored upon a "secure foundation." London wanted to see the 
Afghan Foreign Minister's letter answered by the Foreign Secretary 
to the government of India. 

But the government of India was unwilling to accept London's 
suggestions, which implied a return to politics as before, and went 
counter to the promises and concessions made to the Afghans. The 
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Viceroy rightly felt that the Arnir would see it as a refusal on the 
part of the King to regard him as a brother sovereign and to 
recognize his independence. Lord Chelmsford also deprecated the 

that there would be a meeting with Afghan representa- 
tives in any event, for it ignored the fact that such a meeting was 
conditional on the Amir's fulfillment of Article V of the treaty. The 
Viceroy considered inadvisable the reiteration of reproaches for an 
unprovoked war, for it might revive a controversy that was by that 
time only of academic interest. In order to avoid any embarrassment, 
India recommended that no reply should be sent.4 

It soon became apparent that the Amir was far from being 
contrite, making it difficult for the government of India to proceed 
with its plan for a treaty of friendship. Bolshevik missions arrived 
and stayed in Kabul, the Indian revolutionaries continued their 
activities, and the Amir continued to support the transborder tribes, 
keeping them agitated in case hostilities were to be resumed. 

While he continued his policy of fait acconzpli, Amanullah main- 
tained contact with the government of India. On November 5, 1919, 
he indicated in a letter that he desired to settle the frontier question 
with India and suggested border discussions between Grant and 
Nadir Khan. In the meantime the Amir wanted Britain to suspend 
all hostilities against the tribes. But the Amir left no doubt that to 
him a settlement required the cession of Waziristan and other tribal 
areas to Afghanistan.5 

Grant suggested to Dobbs, the Foreign Secretary, that London be 
6 6 .  informed of continuing Afghan ~ntrigues" with Indian tribes 

which India must either ignore or use as a reason for the renewal of 
war. If London did not want war, Grant desired that they protect 
Indian actions from the criticism of the "Jingo" press and hostile 
politicians. He recognized that the tribes were the only real military 
asset of Afghanistan, and therefore the Amir could not afford to lose 
his hold over them, and he suggested that India fight the tribes 
piecemeal and thus weaken Afghanistan. But Dobbs deprecated 
such proceedings since it would show London that India's Afghani- 
stan policy hiid failed. Dobbs held that Britain did not need the 
Afghans and could wait until they came for money and arms and 
were ready to sign a friendship treaty. I-le thought that Amanullah 



was merely trying to frighten the British by informing the tribes 
that the cease-fire would last only six months and would be resumed 
if Britain did not agree to the demands of the Afghans? 

The Amir continued his diplomatic offensive by sending a new 
Afghan envoy to India and by attempting to send a consul general 
to Peshawar. The government of India now began to fear that the 
Amir might send Afghan negotiators six months after the peace 
conference and confront the British with the decision of whether to 
accept them or not. 

The value of a probationary term now became debatable. The 
government of India had insisted on the probationary term to 

facilitate a rapid conclusion of peace, and it had hoped that after six 
months things would have cooled down enough to obtain an 
advantageous treaty of friendship from the Afghans. But time was 
not on the side of Britain; in order to avoid a still further drift by 
Afghanistan, Dobbs suggested a meeting to "clear up suspicions and 
prepare the way for a permanent and friendly agreement."' The 
Viceroy agreed to the need for a preliminary meeting but wanted 
the overtures to come from Afghanistan.' 

The Amir's letter to Grant was interpreted as such an overture, 
and the government of India replied that such important questions 
as frontier and commercial matters should be discussed only at the 
top level between the Viceroy and the Amir.g O n  January 5, 1920, 

Lord Chelmsford contacted London for approval of the text of a 
letter to Amanullah. The Viceroy wanted to let the Amir know that 

India would tolerate no interference in her relations with the fron- 
tier tribes on her side of the border. He  also wanted to invite the 
Amir or his Foreign Minister to ascertain why Afghanistan had not 
complied with the stipulations of the peace treaty and to remove all 
the misunderstandings which might have arisen. 

The Secretary of State for India thought that such a departure 
from the previous policy would be seen by the Amir as a sign of fear 
rather than magnanimity on the part of Britain, but he authorized 
the message to the Amir, provided that India made it clear beyond 
any doubt that the proposed discussion did not represent the second 
stage of the negotiations as provided by Article 1V of the treaty.'' 

Lord Chelmsford obtained authorization from London by point- 
ing out that Afghanistan possibly mistrusted British motives, sus- 
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pxting an imperialist policy. H e  warned that the Amir's enemies 
might try to topple him by getting him embroiled with the British." 
To dispel the hostile atmosphere, the Viceroy thought a personal 
meeting necessary. Another factor felt by the Viceroy was that 
Britain faced a period of weakness which would last until October, 
1920, and this period could easily be bridged by preliminary discus- 
sions. If the Amir did not come to India, a mission could be sent to 
Afghanistan. As inducements for friendship, the Viceroy thought 
that the subsidy should be continued and the arrears be paid- 
including the I crore of rupees promised to Habibullah. Further 
inducements would be some kind of Afghan representation at the 
Court of St. James, recognition of the title of "Majesty" for the 
Amir, and technical and military aid to Afghanistan. The Viceroy 
thought that a tolerable friendship could be maintained with the 
Amir without forcing him to break with the Bolsheviks, with whom 
Britain herself considered concluding a commercial agreement.12 
The Viceroy wrote to the Amir on January 17, 1920, inviting him to 
the discussions and saying that talks were needed "for separation is 
the parent of misunderstanding and . . . the absent are always 
wrong." l3 

On February 10, Amanullah replied to the Viceroy's letter, justi- 
fying his relations with the frontier tribes and the Russian govern- 
ment. He said that the awakening of the tribes was motivated by the 
same feelings affecting the whole Islamic world; the tribes wanted 
the same liberties and freedom as others, and the British actions 
against them only fanned the fires of jihad. As to the proofs of 
friendship required by Britain, the Amir considered them irreconcil- 
able with the national independence of Afghanistan. Amanullah 
wanted to be friends with all mankind and remain at peace with all. 
He could not expel the Indians from Afghanistan, and in giving 
them asylum he merely followed an inter~iationally established prac- 
tice. Reviewing Afghan foreign policy, the Amir said: 

When the Government of Afghanistan considered itself free in for- 
eign affairs it  looked in four directions. The first thing which at- 
tracted its attention was the Russian Government. . . . For long years 
Afghanistan was in distress between these two Governments, one of 
which is  Russia and the other is the Government of my friend. Its fate 
was always decided between these two rival Governments with the 



result that first the lands of Panjdeh and Kushk went out of our 
hands and were allowed to be swallowed by that sharp-toothed wolf; 
and in the same way, even more lands were taken out of our hands 
by your Government from our southern and eastern boundaries. 
Eventually when their friendship became stronger they intended to 
divide our country between themselves in a brotherly way. The friend- 
ship, however, turned into enmity. There was no occasion to carry 
out that di~ision.'~ 

The Amir declared that his relations with Russia were good for 
the protection of the rights of Muslims in that country and especially 
in Bukhara. Relations were first established with Russia because no 
other great power was able to carry out commerce and political 
relations in a free manner.'5 The Amir declared himself willing to 

help remove difficulties and misunderstandings between the two 
countries and invited suggestions from the Viceroy as to the time 
and place of negotiations. 

Grant reported in a semiofTicia1 letter of February 23 to the 
Viceroy that Afridi resistance to Britain was stiffening, and he made 
some suggestions for the coming negotiations. H e  recommended 
that Afghan relations with Russia and the Central Asian states be 
permitted, provided Afghanistan would not serve as a base for 
anti-Indian activities; and he thought that friction would soon cause 
this entente to die a natural death. Grant wanted Britain to make no 
territorial concessions to Afghanistan since every subsequent raid 
would constitute an  international incident, threatening war between 
the two states."' 

Amanullah continued to put India on the defensive. On February 
23, 1920, he requested that the Viceroy render facilities and assistance 
to an Afghan deputation he wanted to send to England to ascertain 
the intentions of His Majesty's government regarding the question 
of the Caliphate and the custody of the holy places. The Amir 
claimed to speak on behalf of Turkestan, Bukhara, Khiva, and 
Ferghana in addition to Afghanistan, and he insisted that the Caliph- 
ate should have full and independent authority and rule over the 
Islamic holy places.17 

The government of India was inclined to comply with the Amir's 
request, hoping that the difficulty of the trip would discourage the 
enterprise, or, if it succeeded, that it would offset the Afghan mi$- 



sion to Moscow and give Britain hostages during the Anglo-Indian 
negotiations. But the Indian government also feared that if the 

Afghans were going to London they would become aware of the 
Allied plans concerning the fate of the Ottoman Empire, and they 
would appear as the champions of Islam. Furthermore, the Amir's 
Central Asian ambitions, now coming to the fore, would cause 
trouble with Russia; and if Afghans were permitted to go to Lon- 
don, it might appear that Britain supported Afghan designs in that 
area.ls The home government felt that the disadvantages far out- 
weighed the benefits and it did not agree to receive the Afghan 
mission.lg 

On March g, 1920, Lord Chelmsford invited the Amir to send his 
delegation to Mussoorie and asked for the names of the Afghan 
 delegate^.^' A firman of the Amir, published in Nangrahar in the 
Ittihid-i-Mashriqi, a newly founded newspaper, called on all Afghans 
to unite under the banner of Islam. An article signed by Nadir 
Khan said that the six-month period with the British would expire 
in eight days and, turning to the question of the tribes, asked how 
the frontier tribes who had helped so much could be left in the 
hands of strangers. It was also reported that a conference on national 
union was held in response to the Amir's firman, and after speeches 
flags were distributed to the tribes.21 

The Times of India of April 7 ,  1920, suggested that the Afghans, 
perturbed over Bolshevik absorption of the Turkoman states, desired 
friendship with Britain. The newspaper stressed that India wanted 
to see Afghanistan independent, free, and strong, but would not buy 
this friendliness at the cost of her self-respect. The newspaper sug- 
gested that India again pay a subsidy to the Amir, but that control 
over Afghan foreign relations would have to be maintained under 
such circ~rnstances.~~ 

The Afghan delegation finally arrived at the border, and, after 
being politely turned back for lack of proper credentials on April 7, 
the delegation, headed by Mahmud Tarzi, finally crossed the Indian 
frontier on April 12, and arrived in Mussoorie on April 1 4 . ~ ~  Britain 
was at the height of her power and in an unchallenged position 
throughout the Middle East at the time of the signing of the peace 
treaty, but since then a marked deterioration had affected Britain's 
international standing In August, 1919, Mesopotamia was peaceful, 



Persia had signed the Anglo-Persian Agreement, and the Bolsheviks 
were under constant attack by the forces of Kolchak and 
and the fall of Petrograd and Moscow appeared imminent. The 
Caspian province was controlled by counter-revolutionary forces, 
and the Bolsheviks in Turkestan, cut off from Russia, seemed on the 
verge of defeat. But by April great changes had occurred. Mustafa 
Kemal was in power in Anatolia, the Arab countries were in revolu- 
tionary ferment, British influence in Persia was waning, and the 
anti-Bolshevik forces had disintegrated, leaving the Bolsheviks in 
firm power in Turkestan and permitting them to support anti- 
British forces in Afghanistan. 

RUSSO-AFGHAN R E L A T I O N S  

Russo-Afghan relations had received a sudden impetus when Ama- 
nullah ascended the throne of Afghanistan. On  April 7, 1919, the 
Amir and his Foreign Minister sent messages to Lenin and Tchiche- 
rin in which they conveyed their greetings and expressed their desire 
to establish friendly relations with Soviet Russia. The Amir declared 
that hitherto Afghanistan had stood apart from all other nations, 
but, now that the standard of Bolshevism had been raised by Russia, 
he wanted to acknowledge that she had earned the gratitude of the 
entire 

General Wali Muhammad Khan was sent in April, 1919, on a 
mission to Russia and arrived in Moscow on October 10, 1919. The 
Afghan mission was accompanied by Kazim Bey and Barakatullah, 
who had previously come to Afghanistan with the Niedermayer 
expedition." They were received by a guard of honor and accompa- 
nied by a band and the flags of the two states. Commissary N. N. 
Narimanov, director of the Musulman Near East Department, de- 
livered the greetings, saying, "Welcomel In the name of the Soviet 
Authority and the Commissariat for Foreign Affairs, I greet in the 
person of Your Excellency, Afghanistan, and its first Embassy to the 
Capital of the Russian Workers' and Peasants' Government. This 
historic fact proves that Russian Imperialism striving to enslave and 
degrade small nationalities, has gone, never to return. . . . 9' 28 sul- 
tan Galiev welcomed the Afghan Ambassador in the name of the 
Revolutionary Council of the Republic, saying, "Your small but 



heroic country is fighting for its emancipation from the age-long 
oppressors of the East-British Imperialism. We know that you 
need help and support, and that you expect this support from Soviet 
Russia. In the name of the Revolutionary Council, and in the name 
of the revolutionary organizations of the many million labouring 
Muhammadan masses of Soviet Russia, I declare to you that Soviet 
Russia will give you that assistance, as she herself is fighting against 
International Imperialism and for the rights of the oppressed nations 
of the whole world." 27 In reply Wali Muhammad said: "We know 
that the Muslim peoples of Russia are now free, and we strongly 
hope that, with the assistance of Soviet Russia, we shall succeed in 
emancipating our Afghanistan and the rest of the East." The Am- 
bassador then inquired after the health of Lenin, Trotski, Tchiche- 
rin, and others.28 

On October 18, Moscow Radio reported on Lenin's reception of 
the Afghan Ambassador. The meeting lasted over half an hour, and 
the Afghan Ambassador was quoted as again expressing his hope 
for Soviet assistance in emancipating the whole of Asia from Euro- 
pean Imperialism. H e  presented Lenin a letter from the Afghan 
King which Lenin accepted "with great pleasure," promising an 
early reply.29 

The Afghans seemed to have hoped for an offensive-defensive 
alliance with Russia. The Soviets were not prepared for such a step, 
but they were willing to give Afghanistan military and technical 
a~sistance.'~ Rogoyavlenski, the Turkestan Minister of Foreign Af- 
fairs, had already promised help, and he was authorized to permit 
the recruitment of Turkestan Muslims into the Afghan army. But 
the Russians did not want to sign any agreement as yet. 

A Russian mission at Herat urged the governor to send a message 
to Kabul, pointing out the futility of fighting the British until the 
Afghans were properly equipped with airplanes and machine guns. 
The Russians wanted to impress the Afghans with the necessity of 
gaining time pending the arrival of aid from Ru~sia.~'  The Bolshe- 
viks further urged the construction of a railroad from Kushk to 
Herat, a request which the A@hans sce~ned unwilling to grant. 

In another message to Tashkent, dated August 14, rgrg, Moscow 
informed the Tashkent Soviet that military help to Afghanistan 
would be given frce of charge as soon as railroad communications 
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could be established with Tashkent. Airplanes would be dispatched 
in the near future. In the interest of a speedy liquidation of ~ ~ 1 -  
chak's front, Moscow felt it desirable that a small detachment of 
Afghans should cooperate with the Red Army in fighting against 
the Cossacks. Moscow wanted to hear Afghan opinions regarding 
this proposal.32 

A mission, headed by the Bolshevik representative, K. Bravin, 
arrived in Kabul and was received by Amanullah on September 4, 
1919.3~ Negotiations in Kabul resulted in the drafting of an arrange- 
ment by which Russia ceded territory to Afghanistan in the Panjdeh 
area and supplied money, arms, ammunition, and technical assist- 
ance in return for Afghan cooperation with Russia in anti-British 
agitation in India and on the frontier.34 On October I British sources 
reported the arrival in Kabul of a Russian caravan of some two 
hundred camels which was presumed to have brought ammuni- 
ti0n.3~ The Bravin negotiations were, however, overshadowed by 
Afghan activities in Russian Central Asia. An ever-increasing num- 
ber of Afghan missions entered Russian territory, ostensibly for the 
purpose of pro-Bolshevik and Pan-Islamic propaganda, but the Rus- 
sians suspected the motives of the Amir. Various potentially hostile 
forces were at work in the area. Kazim Bey had moved from 
Afghanistan into Khiva and Bukhara in January, 1919, and then 
proceeded to Ashkhabad where he soon became one of the leading 
personalities. He collaborated on the Voice of the Poor, a Bolshevik, 
Turkish newspaper, and he had himself made the virtual ruler of 
A~hkhabad.~' In October, 1919, he was reported to have helped to 

consolidate Turkoman feeling and supervised the "Young Rokhara" 
party in Kagan, assisting in the training of political agitators. Kazim 
Bey kept in constant touch with Afghanistan and reported on one 
occasion to the Governor of Herat that vast Bolshevik and Pan- 
Islamic forces would soon enter Persia and expel the British from 
that country. About his Bolshevik friends he said: "I give you my 
strongest personal assurance that the Bolsheviks are the real friends 
of the Mohammedans. I can tell you privately but with authority, 
that the Rolsheviks are preparing several fleets, aeroplanes and much 
heavy artillery for presentation to the Heroic Arnir ~rnanullah."" 

Maulvi Rarakatullah had stayed in Afghanistan until March, 
1919, and then moved into Russia and appeared in Moscow in the 



following May. From there he returned to Russian Central Asia and 
collaborated in anti-British agitation. H e  wrote a pamphlet titled 
"Bolshevism and Islam" which explained Marxist Socialism as a 
return to the concept of the bayt al-mal, the common treasury for the 
whole According to an intercepted message from 
Tashkent, the Afghan Ambassador in Tashkent had arrived in 
Kabul in the company of Mahendra Pratap and a German and 
Turkish legation. The Tashkent Bolsheviks urged the Ambassador 
to recognize Mahendra Pratap as president of the "Republic of 
India." 39 

By October 1919, the Afghans had begun a policy of peaceful 
penetration of the Panjdeh province. Major General Malleson, head 
of the British mission to Meshed and Ashkhabad, reported that 
Afghan influence was consolidating in Merv and to the south, and 
that the Afghan Consul in Merv was recognized as a more impor- 
tant person than the local Bolshevik Commis~ar~. '~  A Sarakhs agent 
reported to the British on October 20, that there was great alarm in 
Merv over Afghan advances and an agent from Tejend said that 
four hundred or five hundred Bolshevik troops had been hurriedly 
called up in Merv for defense against the Afghans. He  further said 
that the Afghan Consul in Merv was attempting to allay the excite- 
ment by explaining that the Afghans had no aggressive designs, and 
were merely establishing consulates in various important towns of 
Turkestan and, because of the disturbed state of the country, re- 
quired large escorts for their consular 06cers.~l 

The Pan-Islamic policy of the Afghans appeared clearly in a letter 
by the Afghan Consul at Merv to a friend in Herat, in which he 
said : 

I am working hard to bring local Shiahs and Sunnis together, and I 
am paying particular attention to the Persians, many of whom I have 
won over by saving them from Bolshevik oppression. I also give alms 
to destitute Persian families. I utilize every opportunity of impressing 
on the Persians that the safety and national independence of their 
country lies entirely in closest association with Afghans and Bolshe- 
viks who have sworn to rid the Islan~ic world of the hated British 
oppressors. As an instance of the manner in which I am cooperating 
with the Bolsheviks, I have enlisted many wandering Afghans in the 
Bolshevik ranks. This measure reassures the local Bolsheviks and 
gives Persians here a great idea of Bolshevik-Afghan s~lidarity.'~ 



According to a French source, a conference was held in Bukhara 
by representatives of Bukhara, Khiva, Afghanistan, and Persian 
nationalists in which it was decided to form a Muslim confedera- 
tion. A suggestion was also made to form a corps in the Caucasus 
under the command of Khalil Bey, auxiliary to the force under 
Mustafa Kemal. The latter wanted, however, to await the results of 
the peace conference first.43 

Other Afghan emissaries to Russian Central Asia included 
the Herat Shrine custodians, who left Herat in early September with 
great ceremony to travel via Panjdeh to Karshi, Bukhara, and 
Samarkand in order to preach jihad against the British and enlist 
the sympathy and help of Central Asian Muslims for Afghanistan? 

When communications were reestablished, Moscow sent a mis- 
sion headed by the Bolshevik, Z. Suritz, to discuss the situation with 
Amanullah and to make arrangements for providing aid to Afghan- 
i ~ t a n . ~ ~  Suritz arrived in Herat on November 11, 1919, with a party 
of eighteen officials, two Afghan colonels, and the Herat Shrine 
custodians. The mission was received with great honor. A salute of 
sixty guns was fired and a jirga of all local mullahs and khans and 
the entire garrison met the mission and accompanied it in procession 
to a banquet at Char Bagh.46 The mission left Herat on November 
18, and proceeded via Maymana and Mazar-i-Sharif to Kabul. 

Suritz reached Kabul in January, 1920, and immediately set about 
to continue the negotiations started by Bravin. The main features of 
the proposed treaty were: ( I )  each country should supply the other 
with both raw materials and manufactured goods; (2) on the part 
of Russia all trade with Afghanistan was to be conducted by the 
government Department of Foreign Trade, but the department was 
willing to deal with individual Afghan merchants as well as with 
the Afghan government; and (3) Russia would impose no import 
duty on goods from Afghanistan. The Soviets insisted that this 
commercial treaty be concluded as a preliminary to a more genenl 
agreement.17 

Amanullah was reported to be willing to resume hostilities 
against Britain after delivery at Kabul of 8opw to roo,wo rifles, 
with 600 rounds per rifle, 1,500 machine guns, and 50 million rubles 
in gold. The Amir was further reported willing to conclude a treaty 
of friendship or mutual support with Russia on the following terms: 



(I)  the Kerki and Terek districts were to be ceded to Afghanistan; 
( 2 )  Afghan delegates were to be appointed to the Russo-Bukharan 
Commission; (3) a subsidy of 10 million rubles in gold was to be 

to Afghanistan; (4) the Bolsheviks were to supply an installa- 
tion for the production of smokeless powder; and (5) the Bolsheviks 
were to provide: ( a )  telegraph lines from Kabul directly to Herat, 
and via Kandahar to Herat, ( 6 )  10,000 rifles, ( c )  civil and military 
interpreters, (d) a number of batteries of artillery, ( e )  wireless 
telegraphy stations at Kabul, Herat, and Kandahar, ( f )  assistance in 
arming the Indian frontier tribes, and (g) permission for Afghani- 
stan's use of two steamers on the Oxus. 

A proposal by Suritz to discuss the Afghan demands at Tashkent 
by a joint commission was declined by the Afghans. Suritz then 
declared his willingness to agree to the Afghan demands with the 
exception of the one provision demanding the cession of territory to 
Afghanistan. He  also reserved his decision as to the amount of aid 
Russia would give to Afghanistan. Suritz seemed eager to obtain a 
treaty of friendship which would have the following general provi- 
sions: ( I )  neither party should conclude any agreement that might 
be injurious to the other; (2) the Afghans would keep the Bolshe- 
viks informed of any negotiations with the British which might affect 
Russia; (3) the Bolshevik representative should be formally recog- 
nized; and (4) factories should be established by the Bolsheviks at 
Kandahar, Ghazni, and Jalalabad.48 

It appears that Suritz did not have a free hand in these talks, and 
that he had to refer to Moscow for approval. Moscow evidently was 
reluctant to conclude an alliance with the Afghans which might 
force Russia into a war with the British, since they hoped for 
Western recognition and resumption of commercial relations with 
Britain?g What Russia apparently wanted was to draw Afghanistan 
away from Britain and to gain a11 ally who would support her in the 
consolidation of her power in the East." The government of India 
also thought that i t  would be better to come to an understanding 
with Russia to avoid having Afghanistan play off one country 
against the other.61 Lord Chelmsford even submitted to London the 
draft of an Anglo-Russian treaty permitting both to establish consu- 
lar relations, but pledging both states to refrain from supporting 
Afghanistan against each otherP2 



Suritz was not successful in obtaining a treaty; it appears that he 
had exceeded his instructions, and the negotiations were temporarily 
suspended on orders from Moscow. The period of temporary weak- 
ness of the Russians in Turkestan ended when Bolshevik troops 
finally defeated the anti-Bolshevik forces in Ferghana and Semi- 
rechia and deposed the Khan of Khiva. The Afghans were grad- 
ually forced out of their de facto recovery of Panjdeh and M e r ~ . ~ ~  

T H E  M U S S O O R I E  C O N F E R E N C E  

Afghan activities on the Indian frontier had not ended with the 
signing of the peace treaty at Rawalpindi. The peace was reported to 

the tribes as merely a cease-fire for six months, after which the 
Afghans, strengthened by assistance from other powers, were to 
renew their attacks. The tribes were told that the British would 
evacuate all trans-Indus areas in six m0nths.6~ Militia deserters from 
India attended the Amir's durbar at Kabul and were feted by the 
populace, and Afghan officers remained in Waziristan to work with 
the 

The "Provisional Government of India" in Afghanistan, headed 
by Mahendra Pratap as president, Barakatullah as prime minister, 
and Obeidullah as administrative minister, continued to direct its 

propaganda into India and to supply Indian revolutionaries with 
bombs and armsm5@ 

When the Mussoorie Conference began, Afghanistan's position 
vis-a-vis Britain was stronger than ever. Policy clashes between 
Afghanistan and Soviet Russia had not reached a point where 
cooperation between them was impossible. On the eve of the confer- 
ence, Lord Chelmsford reported to the India Office, discussing the 
points that were likely to be raised. The government of India was 
willing to permit the establishment of Afghan consulates at Bom- 
bay, Karachi, and Calcutta, but not in Peshawar. A simple 
exchange arrangement would have to be devised. India would grant 
Afghanistan the same rebates on customs duty as Kashmir, Persia, 
and China received. The Viceroy wanted to explain to the Afghans 
that there had been no response from the British King to the 
Afghan ruler's letter because no friendship agreement existed be- 
tween the two countries. The question of subsidy payments would 
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not be mentioned, but if it came up India would refer the matter to 
London for advice. India hoped to be permitted to recognize the 
Amir's title of "Majesty." 57 London approved the above points with 
the exception of recognizing the title of Majesty, on which the 
Secretary of State did not want to commit himself in advance, owing 
to strong opposition in ~ n ~ l a n d . ~ '  

Major F. Humphrys and Ghulam Muhammad Khan held infor- 
mal talks prior to the first meeting of the conference in which the 
latter gave an indication of Afghan demands, declaring "that Eng- 
lishmen bore the reputation in Kabul, and probably all over the 
world, of being land grabbers with an insatiable appetite for new 
conquests. They had laid their hands on half the world and were 
ever pressing forward." H e  recounted how the British took Ali 
Masjid, Landi Khana, and other areas, but made the mistake of 
taking tribes they could not control. Ghulam Muhammad Khan 
stated that "only a Muhammadan king could keep these tribes in 
order and the Amir would willingly undertake the task at half the 
expense and succeed where the British had failed." The Afghan 
official further indicated that if the Afghan conditions were not 
accepted the Afghans would be determined to fight to the bitter end. 
He also indicated that the Amir wanted a Peshawar-Kabul railroad, 
but it would have to be under Afghan control.69 

The first meeting took place on April 17, 1920, and the heads of 
the two delegations, Dobbs, the foreign secretary to the government 
of India, and Mahmud Tarzi Khan, the Afghan foreign minister, 
made their opening  statement^.^' The British raised the question of 
Afghan propaganda against Britain and the incitement of the tribes 
on the frontier. They also commented on the apparent readiness of 
Afghanistan to assist Bolshevik policy by acting as a corridor for the 
passage of anti-British emissaries and propaganda. 

The Afghans on their part wanted to know what the British 
attitude toward Turkey and the question of the Caliphate was. 
Tarzi claimed that the Muslims of Ferghana, Rukhara, Turkoman 
country, and even Persia "have appealed to Afghanistan and are 
asking our king for help and have submitted documents of alle- 
giance." The Afghans further wanted to know British intentions 
regarding the Afghan tribes on the British side of the frontier, and, 
finally, the real British attitude toward Afbrhan independence!' 



Tarzi incidentally but definitely stated that it was the desire of 
Afghanistan henceforth to abandon her policy of isolation and to 

have free intercourse with other nations. 
During the second meeting, on April 19, Dobbs reassured the 

Afghans that Britain recognized Afghan independence, but that an 
Afghan representative could not be established in London before the 

conclusion of a friendship treaty. Dobbs commented on the difficulty 
of conducting Anglo-Afghan relations by way of London, since 
most questions are related to Indo-Afghan affairs, and referral to 

London would cause great delay. Dobbs gave Canada and the 

United States as an example of having such direct relations, disre- 
garding the fact that their power relationship and cultural factors 
were unlike those of India and Afghanistan. But Tarzi was not to be 
moved in this matter which he considered one of national sentiment 
and insisted that Afghanistan wanted to be treated just like any 
other independent state. H e  considered representation in England 
especially necessary at this point since Afghanistan wanted to send 
students to England and intended to make purchases in England 
directly and not with the help of India. Tarzi further held that 

Afghanistan had to be able to bring her point of view directly to the 
attention of the British government in case a difference of opinion 
developed with India. The Afghans were prepared to accept a 
Rritish representative in Kabul. Dobbs replied that he could not give 
any assurances on this matter.s2 

The Afghans showed themselves greatly concerned with the 

problem of national independence. As long as their foreign relations 
with Britain had to be conducted through India, the Afghans felt 
they had little protection from an Indian forward policy; they also 
had doubts about the sincerity of the British assurances. The Af- 
ghans were disturbed about the failure of the British King to answer 
the Amir's letter. They suspected sinister motives behind the non- 
publication of Grant's letter conceding Afghanistan freedom in 
foreign relations. On  the arrival of the Afghan Envoy in India, the 
British held that his functions would be the same as before. The 
nonrecognition of the title of "Majesty" for the Amir seemed a 
further example of Rritish unwillingness to act on their promises of 
Afghan independence. The Afghans expected that the change of the 
status of Afghanistan would be reflected by an exchange of ministers 



London and the establishment of Afghan consuls general in 
Simla and Delhi, as well as consuls and vice consuls in other areas in 
~ndia.'~ 

To this Dobbs could only declare that British policy had always 
been to favor a strong and independent Afghanistan. H e  excused 
Afghan accusations of Britain's "nibbling away at Afghanistan" by 
the need of Britain to "create safe doors for itself to Afghanistan to 
defend Kabul and Kandahar from Russian aggression." British 
policy was, according to Dobbs, almost identical with her policy 
toward Belgium. Dobbs excused the failure of London to reply to 
the Amir's letter on grounds of the existing period of doubt as to 
who was the de facto ruler, and he claimed that Grant's letter was 
not published because of the hostility of British opinion.s4 

During the fourth meeting, on April 22, the matter of consular 
representation was further discussed. The Afghans held that dis- 
missal of hostile foreigners from Afghanistan could not be de- 
manded since it was contrary to the Islamic injunction of hospitality 
and the practice in international law of granting asylum; further- 
more such demands were irreconcilable with Afghan independence. 
But Tarzi conceded "if our material interests are involved and 
substantial friendship is shown to us, we might, perhaps, be willing 
to waive some of these moral scruples." 

At this point in the negotiations, both parties almost simulta- 
neously suspended the discussions because of aggression on the part 
of the other. In a verbal message to Tarzi, Sir Abdul Kayyum 
informed him of the suspension of negotiations and said it was the 
result of Afghan encroachments at Lambabat, Tandisar, Chaman, 
and other points on the frontier.'" letter from the Afghan delega- 
tion stated that it must suspend discussions pending satisfactory 
settlement of the Waziristan 

S. E. Pears, political adviser to Dobbs, monitored Afghan corre- 
spondence and reported that Amanullah had no information about 
Afghan aggression and had not given Abdul Kuddus any orders. 
With regard to Nadir Khan, the ~ m i r  was quoted as saying, "You 
know what I think about raids; so long as the British are perplexed 
the retort is at your discretion. Send word to Nadir Khan whenever 
you think necessary and remind him to blow softly." '' 

I n  a memorandum to the government of India, Dobbs com- 
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mented o n  the break in  the conference. H e  thought that the ~ f -  

ghans were merely b l u f i g  about their Waziristan position and he 
believed it would not constitute a sine qua non to continued negotia- 
tions. Dobbs hoped to keep the question of the tribes in  the back- 
ground o n  the chance that the longer the Afghans stayed in India 
the more likely would be the possibility of a break between Afghani- 
stan and Russia. H e  also wanted to stall for time in order to obtain 
London's approval for the permanent British occupation of the 
Mahsud country to confront the Afghans with a fait accompli.B8 

During  the break in  the negotiations Ghulam Muhammad at- 
tempted to end the deadlock when he  spoke to Sir Abdul Kayyum, 
saying: 

We do not understand all the niceties of diplomacy and do not see the 
object of these long discussions. W e  wish to get to the point. The 
truth is this. We can still make a good bargain with the Bolsheviks; 
but we prefer to deal with Great Britain, because she is firmly 
established and an ancient state, and is also wealthier than the 
Bolsheviks. Moreover, she is our old friend and we would prefer to 
turn towards her first. We can easily settle the question of our 
relations with the Bolsheviks and of our giving an asylum to the 
Indian seditionists, if we come to terms; but we want to know what 
the British will offer us. If they will not offer us enough, we must 
turn to the Bolsheviks. There is still time to do so. But also we require 
Waziristan. The  British Government must be tired of trying to 
restrain these tribes and we could keep them in much better order. 
We cannot possibly desert them since they rose against the British and 
helped us, and they are Mu~alrnans."~ 

Dobbs believed that Tarz i  was serious in his threat to return to 

Kabul if Britain did not stop her Waziristan operations, because this 
fact was uncovered in an  intercepted, ciphered message to Kabul. 
H e  also did not think that the Afghan invasion of Chitral and other 
border areas was officially sanctioned in Kabul;  it seemed to be 
merely a n  Afghan response to British moves into Waziristan. Dobbs 
favored a return to the conference to tell the Afghans that there 
could be no  talks until the Afghan troops withdrew and to give 
notice that if they refused to negotiate because of British actions in 
Waziristan they would have to return and the conference would be 
over.'" 

T h e  Afghans did not neglect the field of propaganda in India 



One incident was reported during prayers at the Landour Mosque, 
where the Imam Abdul Kadir read khutbah in the presence of the 
Afghan delegation in the name of the "Amir al-Mu'minin Amir 
Aman Allah Khan Ghazi." One person present said that the nonbe- 
lievers attempted to extinguish the Light of Islam, and urged all to 
keep Afghanistan victorious and flourishing.'' During a meeting in 
the lum'a Masjid in Mussoorie in which Tarzi and the Afghan 
delegation participated, the Caliphate question was discussed. Tarzi 
said that the objective of his mission was to obtain a just peace for 
Turkey. He stressed the lesson of unity and, referring to a speech of 
Amanullah, he quoted that the Amir was ready to die for the 
integrity of the Caliphate and was very happy to receive Indian 
Muslims who felt compelled to leave their country.72 

On April 30, 1920, India requested the home government to 
authorize recognition of the title of "Majesty" and payment to 
Afghanistan of the same subsidy that was previously granted to 
Habibullah. The Viceroy wanted this concession because he felt that 
the hand of his government was forced after the blunt Afghan 
statement, and he had to declare what he wanted to offer. India 
feared that if the Afghans returned home tribal tension would result 
and involve India in military operations.73 His Majesty's govern- 
ment regretted, however, that it could not accept the Indian point of 
view in this matter, and did not authorize the above measures.74 
Two weeks of unofficial talks followed in which the Afghans denied 
charges of aggression and insisted on obtaining a settlement on the 
question of the tribes, either by cession to Afghanistan or by guaran- 
tee of an independent tribal area as a buffer state between India and 
Afghanistan." Finally, during an unofficial tea on May 9, at which 
only Mahmud Tarzi, Ghulam Muhammad, and their counterparts, 
Dobbs and Abdul Kayyum, were present, the Afghans revealed the 
full  scope of their objectives. Tarzi admitted that the Afghans had 
sent sixty military instructors and six guns to the Amir of Bukhara 
2nd were considering the question of assisting the anti-Bolsheviks in 
Ferghana. If given Waziristan, the Afghans declared themselves 
willing to conclude an alliance with Britain against the Bolsheviks 
to extricate the Turkomans, Rukhara, and Khiva from Russian 
influence. The Afghans also wanted British assistance in the devel- 
opment of their country and professed their willingness to give 
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Britain a monopoly in such developments. The Afghans further 

hoped for financial assistance from Britain." 
Tarzi admitted that the tribes were kept in a state of agitation, 

ready for war if Britain should renew it. Dobbs reported the ~ f -  
ghans "crestfallen" when they were told that they could not expect 
any concessions on the frontier, and they immediately withdrew 
their own concessions. Dobbs felt however that some way would 
have to be found to give the Afghans a face-saving device in this 
matter.77 

In the meantime the peace terms with Turkey were announced, 
and Tarzi complained that it looked like a new holy war was afoot 
against Islam--especially since Germany was not similarly divided.'' 
It was now Britain's turn to be intransigent and to pursue a policy of 
the fait accompli. Instead of giving Tarzi a way out and rewarding 
him for achieving the withdrawal of Afghan troops from the areas 
into which they had intruded, the British not only continued their 
operations in Waziristan but also planned the permanent occupation 
of Mahsud country.70 

Discussions were otficially resumed on June 7, 1920, and in this 
and subsequent meetings Dobbs brought up British complaints 
against the Afghans and asserted that no monopolies or concessions 
were wanted, and all that Britain desired was an end to hostilities. 
Next the Turkish peace terms were discussed. Dobbs finally recom- 
mended to his government that some concessions be made to the 
Afghans, who could not go away empty-handed. In response to the 
comment from the home government that the conference was tak- 
ing place without any definite agenda? Dobbs declared the "whole 
object of my management of these discussions [is] to present Af- 
ghans on matters of importance such as [the] Waziristan policy and 
Turkish treaty with a series of faits accomplis which while open to 
explanation cannot be modified and against it would be useless for 
them to protest." He  assured His Majesty's government that "I am 
expounding British policy without any pretense of idealistic aims 
and without false sentiments." 

On June 23, at the eighth meeting of the conference, the tribal 
question was brought up again, and the British delegate remarked 
that Wilson's right to self-determination applied only to the de- 
feated. Dobbs said that if Britain admitted self-determination it 
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would mean the end of the Empire. But he reasoned also, trying to 
win both sides of the argument, that although India had more 
pashtu-speaking people than Afghanistan she did not claim any 
portion of Afghanistan. Abdul Hadi replied that for a hundred 
years the Afghans had not forgotten that Peshawar belonged to 
~ f~han i s t an . ' ~  

The London government in the meantime authorized India to 
grant a subsidy in exchange for the Afghan promise that they would 
stop their intrigues with the tribes, deny a base in Afghanistan to 
aliens hostile to India, and refrain from encouraging Indian agita- 
tors. The home government warned that the Afghans might merely 
use a British bid as a lever to obtain more from the Russians. 
London, furthermore, was still reluctant to grant a subsidy without 
maintaining control of Afghan foreign relations and suggested that 
a treaty and loans be offered similar to those contained in the 
Anglo-Iranian Agreement of I ~ I ~ . ~  The government of India saw, 
however, no chance that Afghanistan would permit control of its 
foreign affairs or accept a loan that might lead to foreign depend- 
e n ~ e . ~  

During the Mussoorie Conference (April 17-July 18, 1920) the 
political situation had again changed. Vusuq al-Daula fell in Persia 
and the new government dispatched a Persian envoy to Moscow. 
The Bolsheviks took over in Azerbaydjan, and Mustafa Kemal 
strengthened his power in Anatolia. In Mesopotamia the Arab 
uprising occurred, and in India the Caliphate question and the 
Amritsar atrocities had kept the people agitated. T o  these problems 
was added the hijrat movement which induced many mtrhajirun to 
move from infidel-controlled India to the Muslim country of Af- 
ghani~tan.'~ 

Suritz, still in Kabul, finally received permission from Moscow to 
conclude a treaty with the Afghans. Bukhara seemed on the verge of 
defeat by the "Young Bokharan" movement which leaned on Soviet 
support, and Jemal Pasha, accompanied by a group of Turkish and 
Bolshevik officials, was on his way to Afghanistan.BB 

These events led Dobbs to the belief that the Russians would both 
want and support an Afghan war. Therefore, he thought the time 
ripe for stabilizing the situation by concluding a treaty of friendship 
with Afghanistan. He  submitted a draft treaty by which Britain 



recognized Afghan independence and arranged for consular repre- 
sentation. Afghanistan was to pledge herself to refrain from interfer- 
ing with the transborder tribes and to prohibit anti-British activities 
in her territory. Britian would grant Afghanistan a subsidy of 18 

lakhs of rupees and an unspecified amount of material support for 
the development of the country. Britain would also help in he 
construction of railways and telegraph lines. Other assistance would 
be given, including the free import of arms and ammunitions 
through India as well as tax and import reductions for trade and 
transit of goods. Afghanistan would be permitted to export opium 
through India to those places where the sale of opium was permit- 
ted. Finally there were provisions for a postal arrangement between 
the two countries?' 

Lord Chelmsford was skeptical about the value of this draft, and 
the Indian government ruled not to offer Afghanistan any treaty at 
this time." 

On the final meeting of the conferees, on July 24, 1920, Dobbs 
presented the Afghan delegation an aide-mkmoire containing provi- 
sions similar to his draft treaty, but postponed the conclusion of a 
treaty to a later date?' The aide-mtmoire also provided for gifts to 
Afghanistan of telegraphic material, trucks with spare parts, some 
military equipment, and an American touring car to be delivered 
after a friendship treaty was signed by the Afghans. Left for consid- 
eration during subsequent meetings was the question of Afghan 
representation in London, and permission for Afghanistan to export 
ruble notes to such places where their sale was permitted.m 

The Afghan delegation returned to Kabul with only the promise 
of an arrangement, which seemed not at all certain of attain- 
ment-not much, indeed, to show for three months of grueling 
negotiations. Commenting on the aide-memoire, the Viceroy wrote 
to the Amir on August 9: 

I trust that in this memorandum you will find evidence of the sincere 
goodwill of the British Government towards Afghanistan, and I wish 
to assure you that if, after having fully considered this statement, you 
desire to conclude a Treaty of Friendship, and if the attitude of your 
Government and officials is clearly consistent with that desire, there 
will be no obstacle on the part of my Government to negotiating a 
treaty ? 



Back in Kabul the Afghans continued the negotiations with 
Suritz during August and September, 1920. Since they did not 
obtain a treaty from Britain, the Afghans readily signed a draft of a 
Russo-Afghan treaty which was then sent to Moscow for approval. 
But Suritz had obtained this treaty only by making greater conces- 
sions to the Afghans than he was instructed to make and the Soviet 
government was unwilling to give its approval. Suritz's concessions 
were prompted by friction between the two countries resulting from 
Jamshidi raids and the overthrow of the Amir of Bukhara in 
September, 1920. The Afghans seemed to feel that without having a 
treaty with Britain they could not break with the Russians. A good 
opportunity for Britain to obtain a treaty seemed lost when the 
Afghans became reconciled to the Bukhara situati0n.8~ 

KABUL MISSION-THE SETTLEMENT 

The government of India expected that Amanullah would appeal 
for British aid against the Russians in Bukhara, and Lord Chelms- 
ford telegraphed London on September 24, requesting permission to 
give Afghanistan immediate military aid, but ruling out the conch- 
sion of a defensive alliance. But the Secretary of State warned of the 
danger in such a move if this military material fell into the hands of 
the Bolsheviks and insisted that such aid, if given at all, be given 
only after conclusion of a treaty of friendship. The home govern- 
ment felt that the best form of assistance would be a substantial 
grant of money.93 

Contrary to Indian expectations, the Amir did not ask for British 
assistance, but he answered the Viceroy's message regarding the 
aide-mtmoire, saying that "notwithstanding that some of the items 
contained in the written statement and the memorandum have been 
found in our Supreme Council not to be free from possibility of 
complaint and objection, I can assure Your Excellency that this 
objection and complaint does not conflict with the basis of the 
question on which we wish to found the conclusion of a treaty of 
friendship, but refers to certain things which are considered to be 
trivial." The Amir then invited a British mission to Kabul. 

Dnhbs thought that this Afghan willingness to come to terms 
with the British was caused by events that strengthened the position 



of Britain. The muhajirun movement had turned out to be a &sap 
pointment to many, and the noncooperation movement in India 
appeared greatly weakened. The Mahsud were on the verge of 
accepting the permanent British occupation of their territory. The 
Treaty of Shres  had been signed and French forces had occupied 
Damascus and Aleppo. Furthermore, in Afghanistan there was 
unrest among the troops, and the Khostwal and Mangal tribes were 
restive and causing some incidents. Dobbs saw the policy of "pin- 
pricks," the tribal raids and kidnapings, continue along the frontier, 
but he nevertheless saw the time auspicious for the conclusion of a 
treaty with the Afghans.% 

Therefore the government of India recommended to the home 
government that a mission be dispatched to Afghanistan for conclu- 
sion of a friendship treaty, provided that the mission be authorized 
to address the Amir officially as "His Majesty" and that the Afghans 
release two kidnaped British officers. London, however, was stub 
bornly persistent that it would not recognize this title except as a 
reward for a treaty. When it had become known in India that 
Afghanistan and Russia had reached an agreement, the government 
of India reported to London on October 19, deprecating the impor- 
tance of the agreement and stating that "we do not consider that the 
acceptance by Afghanistan of help from the Bolsheviks, which we 
believe now inevitable, should preclude us from carrying out to the 
end, if possible, the programme laid down by us at Mussoorie."" 
But the government of India found it necessary to add a new 
condition for granting Afghanistan a treaty of friendship, namely, 
that the Afghans give "full and accurate" information of the terms 
of the Russo-Afghan treaty to ascertain whether it did not contain 
any provisions unfriendly to Britain. Hostile provisions would have 
to be abrogated before an Anglo-Afghan treaty could be signed. 

The Secretary of State wrote on October 20, 1920, that the Russo- 
Afghan treaty makes it impossible for Britain to authorize the 
payment of a subsidy and the granting of military assistance to 

Afghanistan. London also thought that the Amir should be ap 
proached and told that Britain would give him an opportunity to 

repudiate the Russo-Afghan treaty; but until this matter was cleared 
up and Britain informed of the full details of the treaty London 
thought that "no useful purpose would result from sending an 
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,-~voy to Kabul." OB The Viceroy wrote to the Amir according to 
these instructions, objecting especially to Bolshevik consulates at 
Ghazni and Kandahar, and informing the Amir of the British 
intention of conducting operations against the Wana Wazirs. 

The Amir denied that the Russian consulates were being set up 
in return for a subsidy, saying, "I confidentially assure you that, just 
as [the] matter of Consulates at Kandahar and Ghazni has not yet 
been formally and finally arranged, so they will never be established 
for the purpose of causing harm to and creating mischief in your 
dominions." The Amir, however, did not reveal any details of the 
treaty with Russia. On  the subject of Waziristan, the Amir said that 
the sending of a mission would also solve this problem without 
harm or injury to anyone.97 

The government of India had become anxious to see her relations 
with Afghanistan settled on a satisfactory basis and it felt convinced 
that the Amir sincerely wanted an early agreement. Therefore it 
urged London to authorize the sending of a mission to Kabul. The 
question was discussed in the English cabinet and finally, not with- 
out serious misgivings, permission was granted to India to send a 
mission to Kabul. London held that "no treaty of friendship can be 
concluded with Afghanistan if it ultimately appears that the Af- 
ghans have committed themselves definitely to a treaty with the 
Bolsheviks including obviously anti-British provisions such as the 
establishment of Consulates in Eastern Afghanistan," but the home 
government was reluctant to override the "deliberate judgement" of 
the government of India in a matter "lying so peculiarly within its 
province." ee 

The Viceroy then informed the Amir that he accepted his invita- 
tion, and the British mission crossed the Afghan frontier on January 
5, 1921, and arrived two days later in Kabul. The discussions be- 
tween the Delhi and London governments about the advisability of 
sending a mission had delayed its arrival in Kabul for about two 
months, and, as so often during the early postwar period, the politi- 
cal situation had again changed. The Russo-Afghan treaty was near 
ratification, and Russia, after overrunning Azerbayjan and establish- 
ing Soviet rule in Armenia, came in direct contact with the Anato- 
lian forces of Mustafa Kemal. Germany, reluctant to pay her repara- 
tion$, seerncd preparing for ;I new war. Jemal Piisha had established 



himself in Kabul and began the training of Afghan forces; while 
Talaat Bey and Enver Pasha encouraged the Afghans by sending 
word that Germany, after solving her internal divisions, would 
renew the warsg9 

Overshadowed and continually influenced by changes in the in- 
ternational situation, the British mission, headed by Dobbs, con- 
ducted eleven months of grueling negotiations which finally led to a 
permanent settlement in Anglo-Afghan relations. Dobbs was in- 
structed to negotiate a treaty according to the lines set in the 
Mussoorie aide-mtmoire. Afghanistan would have to follow a 
good-neighbor policy and, furthermore, not permit Russian consu- 
lates along the Indian frontier, but Britain would not end her policy 
of tribal pacifications and annexation in the Waziristan area-a 
fateful decision which never permitted really cordial relations be- 
tween Afghanistan and her southeastern neighbor. 

Dobbs describes the course of negotiations as falling into four 
distinct phases: First, from January 20, 1921, to April 9; second, 
from April 9 to mid-July; third, from mid-July to September 18; and 
fourth, from September 18 to December 8,1921. 

During the first phase the Afghans began by demanding territo- 
rial concessions from the British. They based their demands on the 
principle of self-determination and asked that those tribes who so 
desired be permitted to join Afghanistan. In the Chitral area, the 
Afghans wanted the cession of the Arneway village. They further 
demanded payment of 4 crores and 36 lakhs of rupees as a reward for 
Afghan neutrality during the war. The Afghans did not want any 
development assistance which required British supervision, and they 
would not promise the exclusion of Russian consulates from the 
Afghan border. Internationally, the Afghans demanded a revision of 
the Turkish peace treaty. 

Dobbs expressed his willingness to grant Afghanistan an initial 
payment of 36 lakhs and a yearly subsidy of 20.5 lakhs of rupees. 
Dobbs also agreed to the establishment of an Afghan legation i n  
London. Furthermore, Britain was willing to give the concessions 
listed in the Mussoorie aide-mdmoire, except for the unwanted 
development projects. Rut Dobbs insisted on the exclusion of Rus- 
sian consular offices from southeastern Afghanistan. He  also offered 



to illform the Afghan goverilment in advance of any military action 
taken by Britain against the frontier tribes.''' 

The tribal question threatened several times to lead to a rupture 
in the negotiations and, according to Dobbs, a breakdown was 
averted only when Britain signed the trade agreement with Russia 
on March 17, 1921. Russian internal difficulties and famine, leading 
to the New Economic Policy and abortive uprisings, and disagree- 
ments with Turkey over the division of Armenia, may have induced 
the Russians to sign treaties with both Britain and Afghanistan. 
Dobbs thought the Afghans feared that an Anglo-Russian agreement 
might be reached over their heads; therefore they appeared reluctant 
to break with the British at this time. 

The second ~ h a s e  in the negotiations started with the conclusion 
of a friendship treaty between Russia and Turkey. The Amir told 
the British delegates that their insistence on exclusion of Russian 
consulates from the border areas forced Afghanistan to decide for 
friendship with one or the other. If Afghanistan failed to uphold the 
Russo-Afghan treaty, Britain would have to be ready to defend her 
with arms and money from a Russian attack. The Amir intimated 
that Russia's unwillingness to give independence to her Central 
Asian states inclined him toward Britain, and all he wanted was an 
amnesty from Britain for the tribes who supported him against the 
British in the war. 

His Majesty's government suggested that the Amir be induced to 
break completely with Russia by giving him liberal grants in arms 
and money. This suggestion was readily accepted in India. O n  June 
4, 1921, after the Afghans had unsuccessfully attempted to obtain an 
offensive-defensive alliance from Britain, they made the following 
proposal: Afghanistan would break with Russia, using the Soviet 
inroads in Bukhara and Khiva as a pretext. Britain, in turn, would 
pay Afghanistan a subsidy of 40 lakhs of rupees and give an 
immediate present of 20,000 rifles, zoo machine guns, and two 18- 
pounder batteries with an adequate supply of ammunition. Further- 
more, Britain was to provide six airplanes and material for a tele- 
graph line extending from Kabul to Kandahar and Herat. In case 
Russia responded with unprovoked aggression, Britain should sup- 
ply additional military assistance. The Amir further wanted a face- 



saving device by which Britain would recognize the Amir's efforts 
as helpful in getting a favorable and lenient arrangement for he 
Waziristan tribes. 

Dobbs was permitted to grant all these concessions, but not before 
June 15, 1921, was he authorized to give assurances regarding he 
tribes. In the meantime Suritz pressed the Afghans to sign the 
Russo-Afghan treaty that had been ratified by the Soviets on May 26 
and brought back from Moscow. Dobbs believed that the two-month 
delay had cooled the Afghans' enthusiasm for the British treaty, 
causing them to raise their demands, reasonably enough, to include 
the reservation that they not be forced to break with Russia until 
they had had time to transport British arms up to the border. 

On June 21, the Afghans asked for an increase in ammunition 
and some tribal concessions, but did not commit themselves not to 
make any agreement with a third power which might affect the 
mutual interests of Britain and Afghanistan. When Britain refused 
to grant these concessions, the Afghans turned again to Suritz who 
now promised that Russia would not press for consulates on the 
Afghan frontier. 

The arrival in Kabul of the new Russian Ambassador, F. Raskol- 
niknofl, on July 6 and new Turkish victories against the Greeks 
appeared to lead to a stiffening in the Afghan attitude and to their 
refusal, on July 14, of the British stipulation regarding treaties 
between Afghanistan and other powers. The Afghans viewed this 
stipulation, which prohibited the making of agreements with third 
powers if they affected the mutual interests of Britain and Afghani- 
stan, as control of their foreign relations under a new disguise. 

In the beginning of the third phase, the Afghans were quite 
doubtful as to the honesty and intentions of Britain. An Afghan 
mission, headed by Sirdar Muhammad Wali Khan, had finally 
succeeded in getting to Europe and attempted to establish consular 
relations after talks with government officials in a number of coun- 
tries.''' The Afghans were to inform the world that their country 
had become an independent member of the community oE nations 
and they were to establish diplomatic relations with various c~un- 
tries and to contract for experts in various specialties to come to 
Afghanistan and work on development projects. When Britain 
heard that Italy was about to sign a treaty for commercial and 



consular relations with Afghanistan, His Majesty's Foreign Ofice 
protested, informing the Italian government that Britain was about 
to conclude an agreement with Afghanistan which would "admit 
the superior and predominant political influence of Britain" in that 
country.lo2 The British government further declared that it "still 
considered Afghanistan to lie within the sphere of British political 
influence." 

When news of this reached Kabul on July 17, it aroused bitter 
resenunent in the capital. The Afghans expressed their feelings by 
inviting the representatives of Russia, Anatolia, and Revolutionary 
Bukhara to a banquet at the Foreign Ministry and treated them to a 
feast of anti-British pronouncements. 

The Afghans now refused to accept the British treaty and sought 
to return to a more general agreement that would exclude from 
eastern Afghanistan consulates of "any power opposed to the Brit- 
ish" and provide an amnesty for the tribes together with a promise 
of lenient terms for the Wazirs. The Afghans also did not want any 
provision that would bind them to refrain from having relations 
with the frontier Afghans. The Afghan government wanted the 
right to import arms by way of India and it wanted to be paid a 
subsidy of 20.5 lakhs of rupees and a gift of 31 lakhs. The Afghan 
provisions regarding tribal relations and the import of arms made 
the treaty unacceptable to Britain. 

On July 31, the mailbag of the British mission was seized by 
unknown persons while it was en route from Kabul to the border 
and Dobbs suspended the negotiations pending its return. 

In the meantime, His Majesty's government suggested that the 
Indian government settle for a general treaty with Afghanistan such 
as would exist between two civilized powers, containing provisions 
merely for the exchange of envoys and consuls and for the continu- 
ance of neighborly relations without any provisions for a subsidy or 
alliance. 

On August 13 the Amin-i-Afghin announced the ratification of a 
treaty with Russia. A week later the mailbag was restored to the 
British. Dobbs thereupon wrote to Mahmud Tarzi, asking him to 
reveal the content of the Russo-Afghan treaty. 

Lord Curzon, who had in 1919 become Secretary of State of 
Foreign Affairs, now again fanned the passio~ls of the Afghans. The 



Afghan mission to Europe and the United States had finally arrived 
in London and had an interview with the Foreign Secretary. When 
Sirdar Muhammad Wali mentioned the discussions in Kabul, Lord 
Curzon curtly broke off the conversation, saying that the negotia- 
tions in Kabul were the affair of Afghanistan and India and not his 
concern. The Afghan mission wanted to be introduced to the King 
by Lord Curzon, but the latter refused and referred them to the 
India Office for this purpose. 

The Afghan Foreign Minister reacted angrily. He  sent Dobbs a 
letter, dated August 28, which was "couched in language of studied 
insult," omitting all titles and merely addressed to "Janab-i-Dobb," 
and complaining about the treatment of the Afghan mission in 
London.lo3 In a second letter, Tarzi refused to give Dobbs any 
information about the Russo-Afghan treaty, telling him he could 
read the text in the newspaper. Finally on September 3, the Afghan 
government officially informed the British delegates of the text of 
the treaty.lo4 But in this copy the clause which promised Afghani- 
stan a subsidy and military and technical assistance was omitted. His 
task being completed, Suritz left Afghanistan in August and a 
month later Jemal Pasha left Kabul to return to Turkey. 

The fourth and final phase in the negotiations was marked by a 
serious impasse, and twice the government of India sent transporta- 
tion from Peshawar to the Afghan border to bring the British 
mission back to India, but a solution was finally reached.'06 

Dobbs had become reluctant to return without a treaty and he 
asked the Indian government whether or not he might try for the 
kind of neighborly treaty which the Secretary of State had pre- 
viously suggested. His request was granted, ~rovided he could ob 
tain such a treaty without any loss of dignity to the British govern- 
ment. Dobbs' departure had been set for September 18, and on the 
day before he sent two of his officers, Pipon and Acheson, to visit 
Mr. Tarzi at Paghman and to inform him that the government of 
India was prepared to conclude a neighborly treaty with Afghani- 
stan. An oacial meeting was held on the next day at which Dobbs 
produced a new treaty. 

When no progress was made, the Amir stepped into the picture, 
inviting Dobbs to Paghman on September 27, and personally took 
part in the negotiations. The Amir now declared himself ready to 



break with the Russians, as suggested before, if Britain reverted to 
her "exclusive treaty" and gave additional aid, but permitted the 
Amir more time for repudiation of the Russo-Afghan treaty. The 
Amir also wanted the Afghan Ambassador in London to be permit- 
ted to deal directly with the British Foreign Ofice rather than with 
the India Ofice. The following six weeks were spent in discussions 
between the Delhi and London governments with the result that the 
home government ruled that Afghan acceptance of a Russian treaty 
precluded the conclusion of a treaty of friendship with Afghanistan. 

When Dobbs informed the Amir of this decision, the Amir told 
him that he must leave. A farewell interview was set for November 
12 at which no business was to be discussed. During this visit, faint 
hopes for a treaty were again aroused when the Afghans demanded 
customs concessions and permission for the free import of arms as 
long as Afghanistan remained friendly. In return for this they 
would promise to keep Russian influence away from the border. On 
November 15, the Amir appeared ready to accept a treaty of neigh- 
borly relations, ~rovided that the British Ambassador, who would be 
residing in Kabul, was empowered to continue the negotiations for a 
treaty of friendship. 

The treaty was finally signed on November 22, 1921, and Dobbs 
announced that the government of India was ready to give Afghani- 
stan the gifts suggested in the aide-mkmoire. When Dobbs suggested 
that Afghan troops evacuate from the Arneway area, which they 
had occupied during the Third Afghan War before he would 
arrange for a realignment of the border at Torkham, the cordial 
atmosphere was again seriously upset. 

On December I, 1921, the Amir announced the conclusion of the 
treaty in the presence of the British delegation. H e  emphasized the 
fact that this was not a friendship treaty, but merely one for 
neighborly relations. The conclusion of a treaty of friendship the 
Amir made contingent on the generosity which Britain would show 
toward Turkey and the frontier tribes, and the treatment it would 
~ v e  to the inhabitants of India. 

I n  his report to the government of India, Dobbs asserted that "in 
a l l  hut name the treaty is one of friendship, giving us what we had 
wished for more cheaply than had heen contemplated." By not 
paying a subsidy, the government of India had lost some of its 



influence, but Dobbs saw that the real hold of Britain over Afghani. 
stan lay in the fact that the latter depended on Britain for its 
supplies and communication with the outside world. 

As for the future, Dobbs believed that as long as Britain persisted 
in her policy of dominating the Khyber and Waziristan, she would 
be strong enough to discourage any Afghan moves on the frontier. 
But Dobbs also saw the Amir's "ruling passion" as tending toward 
expansion, which could be directed only in three directions: India, 
Central Asia, and Persia. India appeared most attractive, followed by 
Central Asia; and Dobbs warned that "unless . . . the gaze of the 
Amir can be safely diverted towards Central Asia, it will almost 
inevitably be fixed upon India." Dobbs said the Amir had hinted 
that on the collapse of Bolshevik rule in Russia he would attempt 
with British assistance to extend his hegemony over the area of 
Central Asia. 

The Viceroy commented to London that the Amir's intentions 
were disturbing, and no less disturbing was the policy recommended 
by Dobbs of assisting the Amir in his expansionist policy in Central 
Asia.log 



The Anglo-Afghan Treaty of 1921 freed Afghanistan from British 
suzerainty and marked the beginning of a new era in the history of 
Afghanistan. While Afghan rulers were successful in preserving 
their independence, they were unsuccessful in their big-power aspi- 
rations. The Third Afghan War was an attempt at reestablishing 
Afghanistan's former borders with India, of redressing what the 
Afghans felt was a great injustice to them. The North-West Fron- 
tier, which some called the "Alsace of Afghanistan," was Afghan 
land, and this was never forgotten on both sides of the Afghan 
border. 

The time seemed auspicious, India was in revolt, and the British 
were weak as seldom before. Amanullah tried his fortunes, but he 
could not win his objectives in India. For a short time he looked 
north where Muslim rebels were attacking the Bolshevik forces, 
where Enver Pasha was riding the tide of popular revolt, and the 
Afghan King toyed with the idea of seeking compensation in the 
north for what he could not win in the south. But the forces of the 
Amir of Bukhara and Enver Pasha and the Basmachis were in turn 
defeated, and Amanullah's dream of leading a Central Asian Con- 
federation did not come true. 

Amanullah may at that time have remembered the words of his 
grandfather, Abd al-Rahman, who wished that "as long as Russia 
and Britain exist, my countrymen, the tribes of Afghanistan, should 
live quietly in ease and peace; and that these two states should find 
us true and faithful; and that we should rest at peace with them: for 
my tribesmen are unable to struggle with Empires." 

Amanullah gave up all attempts of territorial aggrandizement 
and mmed his attention to internal reforms and the development of 
his country. 

Afghanistan ended its policy of isolation, for independence re- 



quired political relations with the world. The existence of foreign 
representatives at Kabul was in itself a guarantee that no single 
foreign power would gain a preponderant influence in Afghanistan. 

Afghan rulers continued to assert their national independence; 
they remained the masters of their country. The nationals of many 
countries came to Afghanistan, but they came as temporary guests, 
working in many professions and trades which needed to be devel- 
oped and they left after they had finished their tasks. No permanent 
European colony existed in Kabul. Foreign influences tended to be 
balanced in Afghanistan and no country obtained a vital monopoly 
in any particular field. 

After World War I1 when both the United States and the Soviet 
Union were attempting to draw the "uncommitted" into their orbits, 
Afghanistan gravitated to the bloc of neutral powers, practicing 
bi-tarafi-now positive neutrality: an old policy indeed. 







TREATIES 

I. Letter from Lepel Grifin to Sirdar Abdur Rahman Khan, Iune 14, 
1880. 

My friend, I have received your letter of the 16th May by the hand of 
Sirdar Ibrahim Khan, Sirdar Bahadoor, who arrived at Kabul on the 
~ 3 r d  May, and have fully understood its friendly sentiments, and the 
desire which it expresses for a cordial understanding between the British 
Government and  ourse elf. This letter, together with the memorandum of 
the members of the Mission, which was shown to you before despatch, 
and which mentioned certain matters regarding which you desired 
further information, has been laid before His Excellency the Viceroy and 
Governor-General of India; and I am now commanded to convey to you 
the replies of the Government of India to the questions which you have 
asked. 

Firstly.-With regard to the position of the ruler of Kabul to Foreign 
Powers, since the British Government admit no right of interference by 
Foreign Powers in Afghanistan, and since both Russia and Persia are 
pledged to abstain from all political interference with Afghanistan af- 
fairs, it is plain that the Kabul ruler can have no political relations with 
any Foreign Power except the English; and if any such Power should 
attempt to interfere in Afghanistan, and if such interference should lead 
to unprovoked aggression on the Kabul ruler, then the British Govern- 
ment will be prepared to aid him if necessary, to repel it, provided 
that he follows the advice of the British Government in regard to his 
external relations. 

Secondly.-With regard to limits of territory, I am directed to say 
that the whole province of Kandahar has been placed under a separate 
ruler, except Pishin and Sibi, which are retained in British possession. 
Consequently the Government is not able to enter into any negotiations 
with you on these points, nor in respect to arrangements with regard to 
the North-Western Frontier, which were concluded with the ex-Amir 
Muhammad Yakub Khan. With these reservations the British Govern- 
ment are willing that you should establish over Afghanistan-including 
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Herat, the possession of which cannot be guaranteed to you, though 
Government are not disposed to hinder measures which you may take to 
obtain possession of it-as complete and extensive authority as has been 
hitherto exercised by any Amir of your family. The British Government 
desires to exercise no interference in your internal government of these 
territories, nor will you be required to admit an English Resident 
anywhere; although, for convenience of ordinary friendly intercourse 
between two contiguous States, it may be advisable to station, by 
agreement, a Muhammadan Agent of the British Government at Kabul. 

If you should, after clearly understanding the wishes and intentions 
of the British Government, as stated in former letters and now further 
explained, desire these matters to be stated in a formal writing, it is 
necessary that you should first intimate plainly your acceptance or refusal 
of the invitation of the British Government, and should state your 
proposals for carrying into effect friendly arrangements. 

Sirdar Wazirzada Muhammad Afzal Khan has been ordered to leave 
Khanabad within five days after receipt of this letter, as it is necessary to 
understand from him, by word of mouth, the position of affairs, and 
your wishes and sentiments. Should your reply be sent by his hand, it 
will prevent delay and accelerate the conclusion of final arrangements, 
and consequently the Government trusts that you will be able to make 
use of his agency. 

2 .  Letter from Sirdar Abdur Rahman Khan to Lepel Grifin, Iune 22, 

1880. 

The kind letter, sent by the hand of Taj  Muhammad Khan, telling 
me of your welfare and friendship, arrived on the 11th Rajab (20th 
June), and caused me great pleasure. What was the wish and object of 
myself and my people you yourself have kindly panted. 

Regarding the boundaries of Afghanistan which were settled by 
treaty with my most noble and respected grandfather, Amir Dost Mu- 
hammad, these you have granted to me. And the Envoy which you have 
appointed in Afghanistan you have dispensed with, bur what you have 
left to (be settled according to) my wish is, that I may keep a Mussulman 
Ambassador, if I please. This was my desire and that of my people, and 
this you have kindly granted. 

About my friendly relations and communication with Foreign Pow- 
ers, you have written that I should not have any without advice 2nd 

consultation with you (the British). You should consider well that if I 
have the friendship of a great Government like yours, how can I corn- 
municate with another Power without advice from and consultation with 
you? I agree to this also. 

YOU have also kindly written that should any unwarranted (im- 
proper) attack be made by any other Power on Afghanistan, you will 



under all circumstances afford me assistance; and you will not permit 
any other person to take possession of the territory of Afghanistan. This 
also is my desire, which you have kindly granted. 

As to what you have written about Herat. Herat is at present in the 
possession of my cousin. So long as he does not oppose me, and remains 
friendly with me, it is better that I should leave my cousin in Herat, 
rather that any other man. Should he oppose me, and not listen to my 
words (advice) or those of my people, I will afterwards let you know. 
Everything shall be done as we both deem it expedient and advisable. 

All the kindness you have shown is for my welfare and that of my 
people, how should I not accept it? You have shown very great kindness 
to me and my people. 

I have written and sent letters containing full particulars to all the 
tribes of Afghanistan, and I have given copies of these papers to Sirdar 
Muhammad Afzal Khan, for transmission to you; and I have also 
communicated verbally to Afzal Khan certain matters. 

Three days after this I will give him leave to start. Consider me also, 
the slave of the threshold of God, as having already arrived at Parwan. 

Send me back a verbal reply by Muhammad Afzal Khan, so that he 
may reach me on the road wherever I may be. Dated 18th Rajab. 

(P.S.-In Abdur Rahman's own hand.) 
I have signed this and sealed this envelope with wax. 
In this letter, and the former letters, all is written by the same hand, 

and there is no alteration (erasure) anywhere. 

3. Letter from Lepel Grifin to His Highness, Sirdar Abdur Rahman 
Khan, Amir of Kabul, July, 1880." 

After compliments.-His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor- 
General in Council has learnt with pleasure that Your Highness has 
proceeded toward Kabul, in accordance with the invitation of the British 
Government. Therefore, in consideration of the friendly sentiments by 
which Your Highness is animated, and of the advantage to be derived by 
the Sirdars and people from the establishment of a settled government 
under Your Highness's authority, the British Government recognises 
Your Highness as Amir of Kabul. 

I am further empowered, on the part of the Viceroy and Governor- 
General of India, to inform Your Highness that the British Government 
has no desire to interfere in the internal government of the territories in 
the possession of Your Highness, and has no wish that an English 
Resident should be stationed anywhere within those territories. For the 

This letter (No. 3),  which is generally referred to as the letter from the 
Foreign Secretary, dated the 20th July, 1880, is known to have been sealed by 
Mr. Griffin and delivered by him on the 31st July, 1880. 
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convenience of ordinary friendly intercourse, such as is maintained 
between two adjoining States, it may be advisable that a Muhammadan 
Agent of the British Government should reside, by agreement, at 
Kabul. 

Your Highness has requested that the views and intentions of the 
British Government with regard to the position of the ruler at Kabul in 
relation to Foreign Powers, should be placed on record for Your High- 
ness's information. The  Viceroy and Governor-General in Council autho- 
rises me to declare to you that since the British Government admits no 
right of interference by Foreign Powers within Afghanistan, and since 
both Russia and Persia are pledged to abstain from all interference with 
the affairs of Afghanistan, it is plain that Your Highness can have no 
political relations with any Foreign Power except with the British 
Government. If any Foreign Power should attempt to interfere in Af- 
ghanistan, and if such interference should lead to unprovoked aggression 
on the dominions of Your Highness, in that event the British Govern- 
ment would be prepared to aid you, to such extent and in such manner 
as may appear to the British Government necessary, in repelling it: 
provided that Your Highness follows unreservedly the advice of the 
British Government in regard to your external relations. 

4. h t t e r  from the Viceroy of India (the Marquess of Ripon) to the 
Amir of Afghanistan, Simla, June 16,1883. 

After compliments.-Your Highness will remember that, at Sir Lepel 
Griffin's interview with you at Zimma on the 31st July 1880, he said that 
the Government of India could only start your administration by giving 
you a grant to pay your army and officials and your immediate expenses; 
and that, having recognised you as Amir, it was anxious to see you 
strong; but after you had taken possession of Kabul, you must rely on 
your own resources. 

I have always interested myself so much in Your Highness's success, 
and have felt so great a desire for the establishment of a strong and 
friendly power under Your Highness's auspices in Afghanistan, that I 
have on various occasions gone beyond the determination then communi- 
cated to you and have from time to time aided Your Highness with sums 
of money and arms, besides devoting some lakhs a year to the support of 
Afghan refugees and detenus, whose presence in Afghanistan is, 1 
understand, regarded by Your Highness as dangerous to your power. 
Still my view of the relations to each other of the two countries has 
throughout been that, in matters of internal policy and finance, India 
should not seek to interfere with Afghanistan, but should confine herself 
to the part of a friendly neighbor and ally. On these conditions it wollld 
be in accordance with the practice of nations that Afghanistan should 
regulate her own finance and bear her own burdens as she has always 
done heretofore. 



As regards matters of external policy, Your Highness was informed in 
the from the Foreign Secretary to the Government of 
India, dated the 20th July 1880, and again in my letter of the 22nd 
February 1883, that if any Foreign Power should attempt to interfere in 
Afghanistan, and if such interference should lead to unprovoked ag- 
gression on the dominions of Your Highness, in that event the British 
Government would be prepared to aid you to such extent and in such 
manner as might appear to the British Government necessary in repelling 
it; provided that Your Highness follows unreservedly the advice of the 
British Government in regard to your external relations. 

On consideration, however, of your accounts of the condition of your 
north-west frontier, I have been satisfied that Your Highness has to 
contend with exceptional difficulties in that quarter. I have understood 
that, owing to various untoward circumstances, Your Highness has not 
yet been able to reduce the important frontier province of Herat to the 
orderly and secure condition so essential for the protection of Afghani- 
stan as a whole; and, therefore, that, for the settlement of the affairs of 
that frontier, some friendly assistance may be needful to you. I further 
observe, with satisfaction, Your Highness's assurances of good faith and 
loyalty to the British Government; and Your Highness's language con- 
vinces me that you realise how much it is to the interest of Afghanistan 
to maintain friendly relations with the Government of India. 

Impressed by these considerations, I have determined to offer to Your 
Highness personally, as an aid towards meeting the present difficulties 
in the management of your State, a subsidy of 12 lakhs of rupees a year, 
payable monthly, to be devoted to the payment of your troops, and to the 
other measures required for the defence of your north-western frontier. 
1 feel that I may safely trust to Your Highness's good faith and practised 
skill to devote this addition to your resources to objects of such vital 
importance as those which I have above mentioned. 

5. Agreement Signed at Kabul by H .  M .  Dzrrand and Amir Abdur 
Rahman Khan, November 12,1893. 

Whereas the British Government has represented to His Highness the 
Amir that the Russian Government presses for the literal fulfilment of 
the Agreement of 1873 between Russia and England by which it was 
decided that the river Oxus should form the northern boundary of 
Afghanistan from Lake Victoria (Wood's Lake) or Sarikul on the east 
to the junction of the Kokcha with the Oxus, and whereas the British 
Government considers itself bound to abide by the terms of this Agree- 
ment, if the Russian Government equally abides by them, His Highness 
Amir Ahdrir Rahman Khan, G.C.S.I.; Amir of Afghanistan and its 
Dependencies, wishing to show his friendship to the British Government 
and his readiness to accept their advice in matters affecting his relations 
with Foreign powers, hereby agrees that he will evacuate all the districts 



held by him to the north of this portion of the Oxus on the clear 
understanding that all the districts lying to the south of this portion of 
the Oxus, and not now in his possession, be handed over to him in 
exchange. And Sir Henry Mortimer Durand, K.C.I.E., C.S.I., Foreign 
Secretary to the Government of India, hereby declares on the part of the 
British Government that the transfer to his Highness the Arnir of the 
said districts lying to the south of the Oxus is an essential part of this 
transaction, and undertakes that arrangements will made with the Rus- 
sian Government to carry out the transfer of the said lands to the north 
and south of the oxus. 

6.  Agreement Signed at Kabul by H .  M .  Durand and Amir Abdur 
Rahmnn Khan, November 12, 1893. 

Whereas certain questions have arisen regarding the frontier of Af- 
ghanistan on the side of India, and whereas both His Highness the Arnir 
and the Government of India are desirous of settling these questions by a 
friendly understanding, and of fixing the limits of their respective 
spheres of influence, so that for the future there may be no difference of 
opinion on the subject between the allied Governments, it is hereby 
agreed as follows:- 

I )  The eastern and southern frontier of His Highness's dominions, 
from Wakhan to the Persian border, shall follow the line shown in the 
map attached to this agreement. 

2) The Government of India will at no time exercise interference in 
the territories lying beyond this line on the side of Afghanistan, and His 
Highness the Amir will at no time exercise interference in the territories 
lying beyond this line on the side of India. 

3) The Rritish Government thus agrees to His Highness the Amir 
retaining Asmar and the valley above it, as far as Chanak. His Highness 
agrees, on the other hand, that he will at no time exercise interference in 
Swat, Rajaur, or Chitral, including the Arnawai or Bashgal valley. The 
Rritish Government also agrees to leave to His Highness the Birmal tract 
as shown in the detailed map already given to His Highness, who 
relinguishes his claim to the rest of the Waziri country and Dawar. His 
Highness also relinquishes his claim to Chageh. 

4 )  The frontier line will hereafter be laid down in detail and demar- 
cated whereever this may be practicable and desirable, by Joint British 
and Afghan Commissioners, whose object will be to arrive by mutual 
understanding at a boundary which shall adhere with the greatest 
possible exactness to the line shown in the map attached to this agree- 
ment, having due regard to the existing local rights of villages adjoining 
the frontier. 

5 )  With reference to the question of Chaman, the Arnir withdraws 
his objection to the new Rritish Cantonment and concedes to the British 
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Government the rights purchased by him in the Sirkai Tilerai water. At 
this part of the frontier the line will be drawn as follows:- 

From the crest of the Khwaja Amran range near the Peha Kotal, 
which remains in British territory, the line will run in such a direction as 
to leave Murgha Chaman and the Sharobo spring to Afghanistan, and to 
pass half-way between the New Chaman Fort and the Afghan outpost 
known locally as Lashkar Dand. The  line will then pass half-way 
between the railway station and the hill known as the Mian Baldak, and 
turning southwards, will rejoin the Khwaja Amran range, leaving the 
Gwasha Post in British territory, and the road to Shorawak to the west 
and south of Gwasha in Afghanistan. The  British Government will not 
exercise any interference within half-a-mile of the road. 

6) The above articles of agreement are regarded by the Government 
of India and His Highness the Amir of Afghanistan as a full and 
satisfactory settlement of all the principal differences of opinion which 
have arisen between them in regard to the frontier; and both the 
Government of India and His Highness the Amir undertake that any 
differences of detail, such as those which will have to be considered 
hereafter by the officers appointed to demarcate the boundary line, shall 
be settled in a friendly spirit, so as to remove for the future as far as 
possible all causes of doubt and misunderstanding between the two 
Governments. 

7) Being fully satisfied of His Highness's goodwill to the British 
Government, and wishing to see Afghanistan independent and strong, 
the Government of India will raise no objection to the purchase and 
import by His Highness of munitions of war, and they will themselves 
grant him some help in this respect. Further, in order to mark their sense 
of the friendly spirit in which His Highness the Amir has entered into 
these negotiations, the Government of India undertake to increase by the 
sum of six lakhs of rupees a year the subsidy of twelve lakhs now granted 
to His Highness. 

7. Letter jrom Sir Mortimer Durand, K.C.I.E., C.S.I., to His Highness, 
the Amir of Afghanistan and Its Dependencies, Kabul, November r r ,  
'893. 
After compliments.-When Your Highness came to the throne of 

Afghanistan Sir Izpel Griffin was instructed to give you the assurance 
that, i f  any Foreign Power should attempt to interfere in Afghistan, and 
if  such interference should lead to unprovoked aggression on the domin- 
ions of Your Highness, in that event the British Government would be 
prepared to aid you to such and extent and in such manner as might 
appear to the British Governtnent necessary in repelling it, providcd that 
Your Highness followed unreservedly the advice of the British Govern- 
ment in regard to your external relations. 



I have the honour to inform Your Highness that this assurance 
remains in force, and that it is applicable with regard to any territory 
which may come into your possession in consequence of the agreement 
which you have made with me today in the matter of the Oxus frontier. 

It is the desire of the British Government that such portion of the 
northern frontier of Afghanistan as has not yet been marked out should 
now be clearly defined; when this has been done, the whole of Your 
Highness's frontier towards the side of Russia will be equally free from 
doubt and equally secure. 

8 .  Translation of Treaty Signed at Kabul by Amir Habibulla and Louis 
W .  Dane, Foreign Secretary, March 2 I ,  1905. 

H e  is God. Extolled be His Perfection. 
His Majesy Siraj-ul-millat-wa-ud-din Amir Habibulla Khan, Inde- 

pendent King of the State of Afghanistan and its Dependencies, on the 
one part, and the Honourable Mr. Louis William Dane, C.S.I., Foreign 
Secretary of the Mighty Government of India and Representative of the 
Exalted British Government, on the other part. 

His said Majesty does hereby agree to this, that in the principles and 
in the matters of subsidiary importance of the Treaty regarding internal 
and external affairs, and of the engagements which His Highness, my 
late father, that is Zia-ul-millat-wa-ud-din, who has found mercy, may 
God enlighten his tomb! concluded and acted upon with the Exalted 
British Government, I also have acted, am acting, and will act upon the 
same agreement and compact, and I will not contravene them in any 
dealing or in any promise. 

The said Honourable Mr. Louis William Dane does hereby agree to 
this, that as to the very agreement and engagement which the Exalted 
British Government, concluded and acted upon with the noble father of 
His Majesty Siraj-ul-millat-wa-ud-din, that is, His Highness Zia- 
ul-millat-wa-ud-din, who has found mercy, regarding internal and exter- 
nal affairs and matters of principle or of subsidiary importance, I confirm 
them and write that they (the British Government) will not act contrary 
to those agreements and engagements in any way or at any time. 

Made on Tuesday, the fourteenth day of Muharram-ul-haram of the 
year thirteen hundred and twenty-three, Hijri, corresponding to the 
twenty-first day of March of the year nineteen hundred and five 

9. Extracts from Seiler's Shorthand Diary, May 23, 1916. 

Kabul, Jan. 24, 1916. Foreign Office, Berlin. Previous reports summar- 
ired. Up till now Amir harping on declared neutrality and traditional 
friendship with England; undecided; leaning (doubtful) on ~nglish 
party alone. By November our work so far successful that, in spite of 



complete isolation, tide took a perceptible turn in our favor. On  our side 
came in PM, brother and successor, and his father-in-law. When toward 
the end of December we tried to force on a decision, we were asked by 
Nasr Allah whether we had full powers to conclude a treaty. Said no; 
declared myself ready to draft if he wished. H e  received promise of 
German help in money and material so far as actually possible, as also of 
claims to a subvention proportionate to achievements at the conclusion of 
peace, provided Afghanistan made preparations for war forthwith. The 
foregoing has been made by the Amir, after and in spite of every 
conceivable objection each more impossible than the last, (into) the 
following Treaty draft. 

The following Friendship Treaty is concluded between the All- 
highest God-given Afghan Gotlernment and the Highest German Gov- 
ernment. 

This Treaty and Friendship shall exist for the present and future 
between the All-highest God-given Afghan Government and the Highest 
German Government and their revered masters. 

I )  The Afghan Government postulates her complete independence 
and political freedom. 

2) The German Government takes it upon herself to help the Af- 
ghan Government so far as she can do so. ~ e c o ~ n i s e s  the independence 
of Afghanistan, and will cause the Austrian and Bulgarian Governments 
to recognise it on their part. 

3) The Afghan Government begins forthwith with the perfecting of 
her military resources and administration, as also with political relations 
with the peoples of Persia, India and Rusian Turkestan. 

4) The German Government is pledged to furnish the Afghan Gov- 
ernment as assistance as quickly as possible, gratis and without return, 
roo,ooo rifles of the newest pattern, and 300 guns, small and big, with 
complete new pattern equipment of the appropriate munitions, and other 
necessary war material, and a crore fund, i.e., ro mil. sterling. She takes - 
it upon herself, moreover, to open the way through Persia in order that 
the German Empire may give the Afghan Kingdom officers, engineers, 
and other officials, of whom Afghanistan stands in need, and that these 
may remain officials of the Afghan Kingdom and be honored as such. 

5) The Afghan Kingdom lays down categorically that these measures 
are for this purpose, that when they are taken she may strengthen herself 
and will draw benefit from them in time of necessity. 

6) The German Government is pledged in the event of Afghanistan 
having entered into the war or making expeditious preparations of a 
military or external political character, to enter the lists for the possession 
of lost and conquered territories and always to defend the Afghan 
Kingdom with all measures against foreign conquest in the rear of the 
Afghan Kingdom. 



7) The Afghan Government recognises the Embassy Secretary of 
the German Empire, Herr von Hentig, and sends forthwith her own 
envoy with limited powers to the Persian capital in order to negotiate 
there in secrecy with the German, Turkish, and Austrian envoys. As 
soon as the time is come and he can show openly that he is the deputy of 
the Afghan Government, he will openly declare himself Minister of 
Afghanistan; and at the time of the general conclusion of peace a 
plenipotentiary, qualified for the Conference, will be appointed with 
plenary powers as Afghanistan's Plenipotentiary on behalf of the rights 
of the Afghan Government. 

8) Relating to the Embassy are: 
a)  The  escort of the Embassy shall not be more than 20 to 30 

strong. 
b) It will be permitted to buy up to 20 jaribs of land for the 

Ambassador's residence and to build the Embassy on it. 
c) If a subject of Afghanistan or some other Power seeks refuge 

in the Embassy after the commission of a crime, it is essential that the 
Embassy should give him no protection. 

d) If a subject of the Kingdoms possessing an Embassy in 
Afghanistan has a lawsuit, the decision shall be pleaded according to 
Afghan laws, and his Ambassador shall have no concern with it. For 
various commercial suits and others which have not yet arisen in any 
form in Afghanistan, the Afghan Government will make new laws. 

g) After the general peace a Commercial Treaty will be concluded 
between the Afghan and German Governments with mutually binding 
conditions. 

10) Both parties shall regard themselves bound when the Afghan 
envoy in the Persian capital receives news from the German Government 
that this Treaty has been ratified by the German Government. 

True copy of His Majesty's endorsement. 

I, on behalf of the Highest Afghan Government, in accordance with 
the conditions of the above Treaty with the German Government, desire 
that an alliance shall be concluded. 

Signed. Lamp of the Nation and Religion, Kabul, the 18th Rabi- 
ul-Awal, 1916. 

True copy of the endorsement by Captains Niedermayer and von Hen- 
tig. 

The Afghan Government desires the friendship of the German Gov- 
ernment and to conclude a treaty in accordance with this draft. I md 
this copy of the Afghan Treaty to the German Government. NOW that I 
have seen Afghanistan I recommend one to the German Government, 
and I hope that she will accept this Friendship Treaty. 

24th January 1916. Niedermayer. von Hentig. 



The remarks by Niedermayer and myself that stand below the draft 
were added at the request of the Amir and Nasr Allah, to whom I made 
it quite clear that none of the conditions protocolled by me were 
withdrawn, and that a recommendation of acceptance was simply to 
serve the purpose they themselves had mentioned, viz., the facilitating 
for them of the work over the draft with the notables. I beg, however, 
that the draft may be taken as successful in so far as it affords the basis 
for immediately getting to work, and on the arrival of Germans in the 
sense of Niedermayer's proposal means war. Summonses issued. Connec- 
tions established with Indian leaders. Niedermayer admitted to General 
Staff work. Emissary sent across Persia to Central Powers. Shall hand to 
Amir on next opportunity the large cross hitherto held back. Beg 
appropriate distinctions for his brother and crown prince, two princes, 
and the three governor-generals. Portraits of the Kaiser, illustrated war 
literature greatly wanted. General health good. Hentig. 

(Possibly to General Staff, Berlin) 

Regular Afghan Army to be reckoned at 80,000 strong, 42,000 of 
them mobilised; 16,000 modern rifles; capable of expansion to 
400,ooo-~oo,ooo on money and arms being furnished. General feeling 
and prospects of military success appear everywhere favorable. The  
English have concentrated strong troops, chiefly European and also 
Canadians, on Afghan frontier. Sharp look-out also on Indian frontier 
for some weeks past. Extension of field works at Ford Jamrud. Great 
nervousness on the part of the English. Wireless station urgently re- 
quired. Large number of rifles, guns and munitions. Money, if possible, 
not less than a million pounds. Aeroplanes or at least one (of) or two 
fliers wanted. On the appearance of ~o,ooo men, whether German or 
Turkish, well equipped, on Afghan soil, war might begin even without 
Amir's large demands being fulfilled. It would give us desired support in 
present situation. Most favorable time for war to begin, end of April. 
Our work in the meantime: secret mobilisation; construction of field 
works on the frontier; release of prisoners in Turkestan; attack on 
English arms and bullion transports; destruction of factories in India and 
Turkestan, and agitation work in India. External work to be done: 
covering Afghanistan's rear urgently necessary; expulsion of Russians 
from Khorasan; securing the Persian frontier; keeping open at least the 
central Persian roads over Kerman and Tabriz; two gendarmerie regi- 
ments to Khorasan; one to Kerman. War situation in Persia of decisive 
significance. Afghan frontier station informed. Middle January 1916. 
Niedermayer. 

P.S. Kabul, 2 ~ t h  January. According to the Amir's statement war 
begins at once as soon as 20,000 to 100,ooo German or Turkish soldiers 
arrive in Afghanistan. On these would devolve above all the covering the 



rear against Russia. Recommend collection of troops in Kerman and 
making general advance along the line of the Helmand and Kandahar, 
Flank column via Birjand or Herat. Breaking down of strong English 
opposition in east Persia to be calculated for. There 12,000 to 15,000 

Indian troops. Further troops lately sent from India to Egypt. Conditions 
for offensive at present very favorable. All possible preparations wiu be 
made on our side. Urgently request despatch of desired support. Nieder- 
mayer. 

10. Treaty of Peace between the Illustsious British Government and the 
Independent Afghan Government, Concluded at Rawalpindi on 
August 8, 1919 ( I  rth Ziqada 1337 Hijra), Signed by A. H .  Grant, 
Foreign Secretary, and Ali Ahmad Khan, Commis~ary for Home 
Aflairs. 

The following Articles for the restoration of peace have been agreed 
upon by the British Government and the Afghan Government: 

Article I 

From the date of the signing of this Treaty there shall be peace 
between the British Government, on the one part, and the Government 
of Afghanistan on the other. 

Article I1 

In view of the circumstances which have brought about the present 
war between the British Government and the Government of Afghani- 
stan, the British Government, to mark their displeasure, withdraw the 
privilege enjoyed by former Arnirs of importing arms, ammunition or 
warlike munitions through India to Afghanistan. 

Article I11 

The arrears of the late Amir's subsidy are furthermore confiscated, 
and no subsidy is granted to the present Amir. 

Article IV 

At the same time, the British Government are desirous of the re- 
establishment of the old friendship that has so long existed between 
Afghanistan and Great Britain, provided they have guarantees that the 
Afghan Government are, on their part, sincerely anxious to regain the 
friendship of the British Government. The British Government are 
prepared, therefore, provided the Afghan Government prove this by 
their acts and conduct, to receive another Afghan mission after six 
months for the discussion and settlement of matters of common interest 



to the two Governments and the re-establishment of the old friendship 
on a satisfactory basis. 

Article V 

The Afghan Government accept the Indo-Afghan frontier accepted 
by the late Amir. They further agree to the early demarcation by a 
British Commission of the undemarcated portion of the line west of the 
Khyber, where the recent Afghan aggression took place, and to accept 
such boundary as the British Commission may lay down. The British 
troops on this side will remain in their present positions until such 
demarcation has been effected. 

Annexure, Rawalpindi, August 8, 1919, from the Chief British Repre- 
sentative, Indo-Afghan Peace Conference, to the Chief Afghan Repre- 
sentative.* 

After compliments.-You asked me for some further assurance that 
the Peace Treaty which the British Government now offer, contains 
nothing that interfered with the complete liberty of Afghanistan in 
internal or external matters. 

My friend, if you will read the Treaty carefully you will see that there 
is no such interference with the liberty of Afghanistan. You have told me 
that the Afghan Government are unwilling to renew the arrangement 
whereby the late Amir agreed to follow unreservedly the advice of the 
British Government in regard to his external relations. I have not, 
therefore, pressed this matter: and no mention of it is made in the 
Treaty. Therefore, the said Treaty and this letter leave Afghanistan 
officially free and independent in its internal and external aflairs. 

Moreover, this war has cancelled all previous Treaties. 

r I .  Treaty between Great Britain and Afghanistan Establishing Friendly 
and Commercial Relations, Signed at Kabul, November 22,  1921 

(30th Aqrab 1300 Hijra Shamsi), by Henry R. C .  Dobbs, Envoy 
Extraordinary and Chief of the British Mission to Kabul, and Mah- 
mud Tarzi, Chief of the Delegation of the Afghan Government for 
the Conclusion of the Treaty. Ratifications Exchanged at Kabul, 
Febrzrary 6,  1922. 

The British Government and the Government of Afghanistan, with a 
view to the establishment of neighbourly relations between them, have 
agreed to the Articles written hereunder whereto the undersigned duly 
authorised to that effect have set their seals: 

+ For appended Schedules I and 11 and Appendixes I ,  2,  3, 4 see C. U. 
Aitchison, Treaties, Engagements and Sanadr (Calcutta, 1933), Vol. XIII. 



Article I 
The  British Government and the Government of Afghanistan mu. 

tually certify and respect each with regard to the other all rights of 
internal and external independence. 

Article I1 

The  two High Contracting Parties mutually accept the Indo-Afghan 
frontier as accepted by the Afghan Government under Article V of the 
Treaty concluded at Rawalpindi on the 8th August, 1919, corresponding 
to the 11th Ziqada, 1337 Hijra, and also the boundary west of the 
Khyber laid down by the British Commission in the months of August 
and September 1919, pursuant to the said Article, and shown on the 
map + attached to this Treaty by a black chain line; subject only to the 
re-alignment set forth in Schedule I annexed, which has been agreed 
upon in order to include within the boundaries of Afghanistan the place 
known as Tor Kham, and the whole bed of the Kabul River between 
Shilman Khwala Randa and Palosai and which is shown on the said 
map by a red chain line. The  British Government agrees that the Afghan 
Authorities shall be permitted to draw water in reasonable quantities 
through a pipe which shall be provided by the British Government from 
Landi Khana for the use of Afghan subjects at Tor Kham, and the 
Government of Afghanistan agrees that British officers and tribesmen 
living on the British side of the boundary shall be permitted without let 
or hindrance to use the aforesaid portion of the Kabul River for purposes 
of navigation and that all existing rights of irrigation from the aforesaid 
portion of the river shall be continued to British subjects. 

Article 111 

The British Government agrees that a Minister from His Majesty the 
Amir of Afghanistan shall be received at the Royal Court of London like 
the Envoys of all other Powers, and to permit the establishment of an 
Afghan Legation in London, and the Government of Afghanistan like- 
wise agrees to receive in Kabul a Minister from His Britannic Majesty 
the Emperor of India and to permit the establishment of a British 
Legation at Kabul. 

Each Party shall have the right of appointing a Military Attach4 to its 
Legation. 

Article IV 

The Government of Afghanistan agrees to the establishment of Brit- 
ish Consulates at Kandahar and Jalalabad, and the British Government 
agrees to the establishment of an Afghan Consul-General at the head- 

+ Not reproduced. 



quarters of the Government of India and three Afghan Consulates at 
Calcutta, Karachi and Bombay. I n  the event of the Afghan Government 
desiring at any time to appoint Consular officers in any British territories 
other than India a separate agreement shall be drawn u p  to provide for 
such appointments if they are approved by the British Government. 

Article V 

The two High  Contracting Parties mutually guarantee the personal 
safety and honourable treatment each of the representatives of the other, 
whether Minister, Consul-General or Consuls, within their own bounda- 
ries, and they agree that the said representatives shall be subject in the 
discharge of their duties to the provisions set forth in the Second 
Schedule annexed to this Treaty. T h e  British Government further agrees 
that the Minister, Consul-General or Consuls of any other Government 
in the countries in which the places of residence of the said Minister, 
Consul-General and Consuls of Afghanistan are fixed; and the Govern- 
ment of Afghanistan likewise agrees that the Minister and Consuls of 
Great Britain shall, within the territorial limits within which they are 
permitted to reside or to exercise their functions, notwithstanding the 
provisions of the said Schedule, receive and enjoy any rights or privileges 
which are or may hereafter be granted to or enjoyed by the Minister or 
Consuls of any other Government in the countries in which the places of 
residence of the said Minister and Consuls of Great Britain are fixed. 

Article VI  

As it is for the benefit of the Rritish Government and the Govern- 
ment of Afghanistan that the Government of Afghanistan shall be strong 
and prosperous, the British Government agrees that whatever quantity of 
material is required for the strength and welfare of Afghanistan, such as 
all kinds of factory machinery, engines and materials and instruments 
for telegraph, telephones, etc., which Afghanistan may be able to buy 
from Britain or the Rritish Dominions or from other countries of the 
world, shall ordinarily be imported without let or hindrance by Afghani- 
stan into its own territories from the ports of the British Isles and British 
India. Similarly the Government of Afghanistan agrees that every kind 
of goods, the export of which is not against the internal law of the 
Government of Afghanistan and which may in the judgment of the 
Government of Afghanistan be in excess of the internal needs and 
requirements of Afghanistan and i~ required by the Rritish Government, 
can be purchased and exported to India with the permission of the 
Government of Afghanistan. With regard to arms and munitions, the 
Rritish Government agrees that as long as it is assured that the intentions 
of the Government of Afghanistan are friendly and that there is no 
immediate danger to India from such importation in Afghanistan, per- 
mission shall be given without let or hindrance for such importation. If, 



however, the Arms Trafic Convention is hereafter ratified by the Great 
Powers of the world and comes into force, the right of importation of 
arms and munitions by the Afghan Government shall be subject to the 
proviso that the Afghan Government shall first have signed the Arms 
Traffic Convention, and that such importation shall only be made in 
accordance with the provisions of that Convention. Should the Arms 
Trafic Convention not be ratified or lapse, the Government of Afghani- 
stan, subject to the foregoing assurance, can from time to time import 
into its own territory the arms and munitions mentioned above through 
the ports of the British Isles and British India. 

Article VII 

N o  Customs duties shall be levied at British Indian ports on goods 
imported under the provisions of Article VI on behalf of the Govern- 
ment of Afghanistan, for immediate transport to Afghanistan, provided 
that a certificate signed by such Afghan authority or representative as 
may from time to time be determined by the two Governments shall be 
presented at the time of importation to the chief Customs officer at the 
port of import setting forth that the goods in question are the property of 
the Government of Afghanistan and are being sent under its orders to 
Afghanistan, and showing the description, number and value of the 
goods in respect of which exemption is claimed; provided, secondly, that 
the goods are required for the public services of Afghanistan and not for 
the purposes of any State monopoly or State trade; and provided, thirdly, 
that the goods are, unless of a clearly distinguishable nature, transported 
through India in sealed packages, which shall not be opened or sub- 
divided before their export from India. 

And also the British Government agrees to the grant in respect of all 
trade goods imported into India at British ports for re-export to Afghani- 
stan and exported to Afghanistan by routes to be agreed upon between 
the two Governments of a rebate at the time and place of export of the 
full amount of Customs duty levied upon such goods, provided that such 
goods shall be transported through India in sealed ~ackages which shall 
not be opened or subdivided before their export from India. 

And also the British Government declares that it has no present 
intention of levying Customs duty on goods or livestock of Afghan 
origin or manufacture, imported by land or by river into India or 
exported from Afghanistan to other countries of the world through India 
and the import of which into India is not prohibited by law. In the 
event, however, of the British Government deciding in the future to levy 
Customs duties on goods and livestock imported into India by land or by 
river from neighbouring States, it will, if necessary, levy such duties on 
imports from Afghanistan; but in that event it agrees that it will not levy 
higher duties on imports from Afghanistan than those levied on imports 
from such neighbouring States. Nothing in this Article shall prevent the 



levy on imports from Afghanistan of the present Khyber tolls and of 
octroi in any town of India in which octroi is or may be hereafter levied, 
povided that there shall be no enhancement over the present rate of the 
Khyber tolls. 

Article VIII 

The British Government agrees to the establishment of trade agents 
by the Afghan Government at Peshawar, Quetta and Parachinar, pro- 
vided that the personnel and the property of the said agencies shall be 
subject to the operations of all British laws and Orders and to the 
jurisdiction of British Courts; and that they shall not be recognised by 
the British authorities as having any official or special privileged position. 

Article IX 

The trade goods coming to (imported to) Afghanistan under the 
provisions of Article VII from Europe, etc., can be opened at the railway 
terminuses at Jamrud, in the Kurram and at Chaman for packing and 
arranging to suit the capacity of baggage animals without this being the 
cause of reimposition of Customs duties; and the carrying out of this will 
be arranged by the trade representatives mentioned in Article XII. 

Article X 

The two High Contracting Parties agree to afford facilities of every 
description for the exchange of postal matter between their two coun- 
tries, provided that neither shall be authorised to establish post offices 
within the territory of the other. In order to give effect to this Article, a 
separate Postal Convention shall be concluded, for the preparation of 
which such number of special officers as the Afghan Government may 
appoint shall meet the officers of the British Government and consult 
with them. 

Article XI 

The two High Contracting Parties having mutually satisfied them- 
selves each regarding the goodwill of the other and especially regarding 
their benevolent intentions towards the tribes residing close to their 
respective boundaries, hereby undertake each to inform the other in 
future of any military operations of major importance which may appear 
necessary for the maintenance of order among the frontier tribes residing 
within their respective spheres, before the co~nmencement of such opera- 
tions. 

Article XI1 
The two High Contracting Parties agree that representatives of the 

Government of Afghanistan and of the British Government shall be 
appointed to discuss the conclusion of a Trade Convention, and the 



Convention shall in the first place be regarding the measures (necessary) 
for carrying out the purposes mentioned in Article IX of this Treaty, 
Secondly. (They) shall arrange regarding commercial matters not now 
mentioned in this Treaty which may appear desirable for the benefit of 
the two Governments. The  trade relations between the two Governments 
shall continue until the Trade Convention mentioned above comes into 
force. 

Article XI11 

The  two High Contracting Parties agree that the First and Second 
Schedules attached to this Treaty shall have the same binding force as 
the Articles contained in this Treaty. 

Article XIV 

The  provisions of this Treaty shall come into force from the date of 
its signature, and shall remain in force for three years from that date. In 
case neither of the High Contracting Parties should have notified twelve 
months before the expiration of the said three years the intention to 
terminate it, it shall remain binding until the expiration of one year from 
the day on which either of the High Contracting Parties shall have 
denounced it. This Treaty shall come into force after the signatures of 
the Missions of the two parties and the two ratified copies of this shall be 
exchanged in Kabul within two and a half months after the signature. 

12.  Agreement between Russia and Afghanistan, February, 1921. 

With a view to strengthening friendly relations between Russia and 
Afghanistan and confirming the actual independence of Afghanistan, the 
Russian Socialist Federated Soviet Republic of the one part and the 
Sovereign State of Afghanistan of the other part have decided to con- 
clude the present treaty, for which purpose there have been appointed as 
their plenipotentiaries:- 

For the Government of the Russian Socialist Federated Soviet Re- 
public: Georgy Vasilievich Chicherin, Lyov Mihailovich Karahan, and 
for the Government of the Sovereign State of Afghanistan: ~uhammad 
Wali Khan, Mirza Muhammad Khan, Gulyam Sadlik * Khan. 

The above-named plenipotentiaries, after mutual presentation of their 
credentials, which were found to be in due and proper form, have agmd 
as follows:- 

The  High Contracting Parties, recognising their mutual independ- 
ence and binding themselves to respect it, now mutually enter into 
regular diplomatic relations. 

' Ghulam Sadiq. (Tr.) 



The High Contracting Parties bind themselves not to enter into any 
military or political agreement with a third State which might prejudice 
one of the Contracting Parties. 

The Legations and Consulates of the High Contracting Parties shall 
mutually and equally enjoy diplomatic privileges in accordance with the 
uses of International Law. 

Note I.-There shall be included in that category- 
a) The right to hoist the State flag. 
6) Personal inviolability of registered members of Legations and 

Consulates. 
c) Inviolability of diplomatic correspondence and of persons fulfill- 

ing the duties of couriers with every kind of mutual assistance 
in these matters. 

d) Communication by telephone, wireless and telegraph, in accord- 
ance with the privileges of diplomatic representatives. 

e) Exterritoriality of premises occupied by Legations and Consulates, 
but without the right of giving asylum to persons who are 
officially recognised by their Local Government as having 
broken the laws of the country. 

Note 11.-The Military AttachCs of both Contracting Parties shall be 
attached to their Legations on the basis of equality as regards the above. 

The High Contracting Parties mutually agree to the opening of five 
consulates of the Russian Socialist Federated Soviet Republic on Afghan 
territory and of seven consulates of Afghanistan on Russian territory, of 
which five shall be within the boundaries of Russian Central Asia. 

Note.-In addition to the above, the opening of further consulates 
and consular points in Russia and Afghanistan shall be arranged in each 
particular case by special agreement between the High Contracting 
Parties. 

Russian consulates shall be established at Herat, Meimen, Mazar- 
i-Sharif, Kandahar and Ghazni. Afghan consulates shall be established as 
follows:-A Consulate-General at Tashkend and consulates at Petrograd, 
Kazan, Samarkand, Merv and Krasnovodsk. 

Note.-The manner and time of the actual opening of the Russian 
consulates in Afghanistan and of the Afghan consulates in Russia shall 
be defined by special agreement between the two Contracting Parties. 



Russia agrees to the free and untaxed transit through her territorg of 
all kinds of goods purchased by Afghanistan either in Russia herself, 
through State organizations, or from abroad. 

VII 
The  High Contracting Parties recognise and accept the freedom of 

Eastern nations on the basis of independence and in accordance with the 
general wish of each nation. 

VIII 

In confirmation of Clause VII of the present treaty, the High Con- 
tracting Parties accept the actual independence and freedom of Bokhara 
and Khiva, whatever may be the form of their government, in accord- 
ance with the wishes of their peoples. 

In fulfilment of and in accordance with the promise of the Russian 
Socialist Federated Soviet Republic, expressed by Lenin as its head to the 
Minister Plenipotentiary of the Sovereign State of Afghanistan, Russia 
agrees to hand over to Afghanistan the frontier districts which belonged 
to the latter in the last century, observing the principles of justice and 
selfdetermination of the population inhabiting the same. The manner in 
which such self-determination and will of the majority of the regular 
local population shall be expressed shall be settled by a special treaty 
between the two States through the intermediary of Plenipotentiaries of 
both parties. 

In order to strengthen friendly relations between the High Contract- 
ing Parties, the Government of the Russian Socialist Federated Soviet 
Republic agrees to give to Afghanistan financial and other assistance. 

The  present treaty is drawn up in the Russian and Persian languages; 
both texts are accounted authentic. 

The present treaty shall come into force upon its ratification by the 
Governments of the High Contracting Parties. The exchange of ratifica- 
tions shall take place at Kabul, in witness wherof the ~leni~otentiarirs 
of both parties have signed the present treaty and set their seals thereto. 

Drawn up in Moscow on the 28th day of February 1921. 
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Supplemental Clause 

In amplification of Clause X of the present treaty, the Government of 
the Russian Socialist Federated Soviet Republic gives the following 
assistance to the Sovereign State of Afghanistan:- 

I )  A yearly free subsidy to the extent of one million gold or silver 
roubles in coin or bullion. 

2) Construction of the Kushk-Herat-Kandahar-Kabul telegraph 
line. 

3) In addition to this, the Government of the Russian Socialist 
Federated Soviet Republic expresses its readiness to place at the 
disposal of the Afghan Government technical and other specialists. 

The Government of the Russian Socialist Federated Soviet Republic 
shall afford this assistance to the Government of the Sovereign State of 
Afghanistan within two months after the coming into force of the 
present treaty. 

The present supplementary clause shall have the same legal validity as 
the other clauses of the present treaty. 

Moscow, this 28th day of February 1921. 
N.B.-The second half of XI1 appears to consist of the witnessing 

clause, which should surely have a paragraph to itself. Otherwise, it 
would only appear to refer to the ratification-(Translator). 

13. Translation of Treaty of Alliance between Turkey and Afghanistan, 
Signed at Moscow, March I ,  1921, by Youssouf Kemal, Dr .  Reza 
Nour, and Muhammad Wali.* Ratifications Exchanged at Kabul, 
October 20,1922. 

(The blessed clauses which bind together two brother Governments 
of the East united in faith and interest.) 

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate! 
The Turkish and Afghan Governments, convinced that they are 

bound together by sincere ties of sympathy, are imbued with one desire 
and one sacred purpose, and each possess the same high moral and 
material interests, and that the happiness or misfortune of one State will 
redound to the happiness or misfortune of the other, and recognising 
that it is no longer possible that they should remain disconnected and 
isolated as in the past, and that certain historical duties necessarily 
devolve upon them at this moment, when is seen with infinite thankful- 
ness that an era of awakening and deliverance of the Eastern world has 
begun. 

These two brother States and nations, therefore, observing that as 
with the members of one body the troubles and afflictions of one of the 

' Signed in the Turkish and Persian languages. 



parties must affect and pain the other, have resolved to transfer their 
age-long moral unity and natural alliance to the political sphere, to bring 
about a state of material and official alliance, and, in the name of the 
future welfare of the whole East, to conclude a Treaty of Alliance as a 
prelude to future welfare. 

For this purpose Delegates have been nominated-Youssouf Kemal 
Bey, Commissioner (Minister) of Economic Affairs; and Dr. Reza Nour 
Bey, Commissaire of Public Instruction, Members of the Government, on 
behalf of the Government of the Grand National Assembly of Turkey; 
and His Highness General Muhammad Wali Khan, Ambassador Ex- 
traordinary on behalf of Afghanistan; who, having communicated their 
full powers, found to be in due and proper order, have accepted the 
following Articles:- 

Article I 

The Turkish nation, in possession of an independent existence for 
such time as God wills, considers it to be a sacred duty to recognise the 
independence, in the full significance of the term, of the Afghan nation, 
to which she is bound with ties of the utmost sincerity and conscien- 
tiousness. 

Article I1 

The two High Contracting Parties recognise that all Eastern nations 
possess complete liberty and right of independence, and that each of 
these nations is free to administer itself by such form of administration as 
it may particularly desire, and they recognise the independence of the 
States of Bokhara and Khiva. 

Article 111 

Turkey having for centuries given p idance  to and rendered distin- 
guished services to Islam, and holding in her hand the standard of the 
Caliphate, Afghanistan in this connection recognises the leadership of 
Turkey. 

Article IV 

Each of the High Contracting Parties will consider as directed against 
herself personally, and will oppose with all the means at her disposal, any 
attack made against the other by any Imperialistic State in pursuance of 
the policy of invasion and exploitation of the East. 

Article V 

Each of the Contracting Parties undertakes not to conclude any 
Treaty or Convention injurious to the interests of the other party or 
which would be in the interests of a third State with which the other is 
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not on friendly terms, and to give prior notice to the other of the 
forthcoming conclusion of an Agreement with any nation whatsoever. 

Article VI 

With a view to the regularisation of commercial and economic 
relations and Consular affairs, the two Contracting Parties will conclude 
the necessary Conventions separately, and Ambassadors will from hence- 
forth be sent by each to the capital of the other. 

Article VII 
Turkey agrees to help Afghanistan militarily and to send instructors 

and officers. These missions of teachers and officers will serve for a 
minimum period of five years, and on the expiration of that period, if 
Afghanistan so desires, a new mission of instructors will be sent. 

Aricle VIII 
This Treaty will be ratified with the least possible delay, and its 

clauses will be in force from that time. 

Article IX 

This Treaty has been drawn up  at Moscow in duplicate signed and 
exchanged by the Delegates of the two parties. 

14. Agreement T o  Facilitate Commercial Relations betureen France and 
Afghanistan, Signed at Paris, April 28, 1922 by R. Poincark and 
Mohammed Waly Khan. 

DCsireux de faciliter les relations de commerce et d'amitiC entre la 
France et l'Afghanistan, son Excellence M. Raymond PoincarC, PrCsident 
du Conseil, Ministre des Affaires Ptrangeres de la RCpublique fransaise, 
et son Excellence le GknCral Mohammed Waly Khan, Ambassadeur 
extraordinaire de Sa MajestC 1'Emir d'Afghanistan, sont convenus des 
dispositions suivantes: 

I. LC Gouvernement franqais consent d recevoir une mission diploma- 
tique permanente du Gouvernement afghan. 

Le Gouvernement afghan consent ?I recevoir une mission diploma- 
tique permnnente du Gouvernement franqais. 

Ces missions jouiront. dans l'un ct l'nutre pays, d'un traitement Cgal 
conforme au droit international public europeen. 

2. 12s missions de l'un et l 'au~re pays pourront etre composCes 
de:-nn reprdsentant du rang de Ministre plinipotentiaire; un conseiller; 
un secritaire; un attach4 commercial; un attach; militaire; trois in- 
terpr?tes et fonctionnaires de chancellerie. 

3. Les reprisentants de l'un et de l'autre pays pourront arborer lcur 
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pavilion national sur l'immeuble de leur residence. 11s pourront cornmu- 
niquer, en langage clair et en language conventionnel, par tClCgramme et 

par radiotClCgramme, avec leur Gouvernement et ses autres reprCsent. 
ants. 

4. En  attendant la conclusion d'un trait4 de commerce et 
d'etablissement, les ressortissants de chacun des deux pays jouiront, sur 
territoire de l'autre, de la pleine libert6 de commerce sous la protection de 
l'un et I'autre Gouvernements. 

15. Afghan-Italian Treaty, Signed at Rome, lune  j ,  1921, by Muham- 
mad  Vali Khan and Count Sforza.' 

I. The  high contracting Governments are agreeing to establish per- 
manent diplomatic representations and are ready to grant them all equal 
rights recognized by the European International Public Law. 

The Missions may contain the following persons: 
11. a )  Minister Plenipotentiary 

b) Councellor 
c) Secretary 
d) Commercial Attach6 
e )  Military Attach6 
f )  Director, Office of Chancellor 
g )  Praying Master 
h )  Clerks and Interpreters 
i) Diplomatic Couriers 
j )  Servants. 

111. The High Contracting Governments are also recognizing the 
following mutual rights of each other's diplomatic Missions: 

I )  to take up the national flag 
2) to use Telegraph, Telephone and Radio services 
3) to use conventional codes. 

16.  Translation of Treaty between the Exalted Governments of Afghani- 
stan and Persia, Signed at Tehran, Iune 22, 1921, by Mohtashtm- 
es-Sultaneh, Minister for Foreign Af la i r~ ,  for Persia, and Abdul 
Aziz, Envoy, for Afghanistan. 

In the name of Allah, the Compassionate, the Merciful! There is no 
God but Allah. Mohammed is his Prophet! Hold fast by the rope of 
Allah all together and be not disunited! 

Whereas Islamic unity, the ties of race and the bond of p o d  and 
neighbourly relations between the two States required that friendly 

From an unnfficial, unpublished copy in the United States ~ a r i o n a l  
Archives, Washington (call number 7or.6ggoh/orig.). 



intercourse should be consolidated by the conclusion of a Treaty; there- 
fore, in order to carry out this holy purpose, His Majesty the Shah of 
Persia appointed His Excellency Hajji Mohtashem-es-Sultaneh, the Min- 
ister for Foreign Affairs, and His Majesty the Ameer of Afghanistan 
appointed His Excellency Sardar Abdul Aziz Khan, his Minister Pleni- 
potentiary and accredited Envoy, as their authorised agents, who after 
exchange of their official credentials, concluded the following Articles:- 

Article I 

From this day henceforth, sincere friendship and good relations will 
be established between Persia and Afghanistan and the subjects of the 
two Governments. 

Article I1 
The Ambassadors, Ministers Plenipotentiary, Charges (d'Affaires) 

and Officers of the High Contracting Parties at the Court of the other 
will enjoy all the rights and privileges which are ordained and customary 
according to international law and usage. 

Article I11 

The subjects of the two Contracting Governments, whether residing 
or travelling (in the other's country) will be respected and wholly under 
the protection of the officials of their own Governments. 

Article IV 
The subjects of the two Contracting Governments, whether residing 

or travelling in the territory of the other, will be subjected to the laws of 
such territory. Civil and criminal cases will be heard and decided by the 
local judicial Courts of Persia and Afghanistan. 

Diplomatic and Consular Officers of the High Contracting Parties 
will have no right of interference in civil and criminal cases in each 
other's territory, and the internal Courts of the country in which they are 
staying will be those to which all claims must be referred by the subjects 
of either Government. 

Article V 

The Two High Contracting Parties will have the right to appoint 
Consuls General, Consuls, Vice-Consuls, and Consular Agents in the 
important towns and trading centres of each other's country; but the said 
officials will not enter upon the duties of their appointments until after 
the exequaturs of their commissions have been issued according to the 
custom of the country in which they arc staying. 



Article VI 

The  subjects of either Government staying in the territory of the 
other will be exempt from military service and all other duties incum- 
bent only on subjects of the country. 

Article VII 

If a subject of either of the two Contracting Governments commits a 
crime and absconds to the territory of the other, the officers of his 
Government will have the right to demand, through diplomatic chan- 
nels, his extradition, and the local authorities will not fail to give 
assistance in the matter. Political offenders, however, will be excepted 
from this arrangement. 

Article VIII 

In order to strengthen friendly relations and to establish trade connec- 
tions, the two Contracting Parties will, at the first opportunity, conclude 
such Agreements and Conventions as may be necessary in regard to trade 
relations, Customs duties, postal and telegraphic exchanges, which will 
come into force after signature and ratification. 

Article IX 

The outbreak of war between one of the Contracting Parties and a 
third State will not operate to cause a rupture of the friendly relations of 
the two parties. The  other party will be bound, according to the rules of 
neutrality, to avoid giving facilities to the enemy. 

Article X 

The Contracting Parties, in order to manifest the friendship and trust 
existing between the Imperial Government of Persia and the Kingdom 
of Afghanistan, have decided that all important difficulties and disputes, 
which they may not be able to settle satisfactorily by negotiation, should 
be referred to arbitration according to international law and custom. The 
Contracting Parties engage to carry out the award with all sincerity. 

Article XI 

This treaty will be drawn up in duplicate in the Persian language. 

Article XI1 

The representatives of the two Contracting Parties undertake that 
within three months of the signature of this Treaty, or, if possible, at  an  
earlier date, all documents necessary for its ratification will be exchanged 
at Tehran or Kabul. 



I 6a. Supplementary Articles, Signed by Muham med Wali Khan, Minis- 
ter for Foreign Aflairs, for Afghanistan, and Nasrullah Itela-ul- 
Mulk, Minister Plenipotentiary and Envoy, for Persia. 

Article I 

The meaning of the sentence in Article 111 of this Treaty, viz., "The 
subject of the two Contracting Governments, whether residing or travel- 
ling (in the other's country) will be respected and wholly under the 
protection of the officials of their own Governments," is that the oficials 
of either Government can, within the scope of the laws of the 
country in which they reside, refer to the officials of that country, for the 
arrangement of facilities for their subjects. 

Article I1 

The tribes and nomads who have previously emigrated from Afghan- 
istan to Persia (including Barbaris, kc.) will remain Persian subjects as 
before. The Barbaris who intend to travel to Afghanistan shall not be 
allowed to enter Afghan territory unless their passports have been visC by 
the Afghan officials residing in Persia. The  frontier tribes, who have 
their summer quarter in one country and their winter quarters in the 
other, will be treated as Persian subjects during their stay in Persia, and 
as Afghan subjects during their stay in Afghanistan. Persons who have 
come from Afghanistan and settled in Persia previously to the establish- 
ment of an Afghan Legation in Tehran will remain Persian subjects as 
before. Merchants, who have come to Persia from Afghanistan only for 
purposes of trade and have not settled permanently in Persia, and who 
are proved by documentary evidence not to have been treated as Persians 
by Persian Government Departments, will be recognised as Afghan 
subjects. 

Article 111 

Similarly, the tribes and nomads who have emigrated from Persia to 
Afghanistan will remain subjects of the Government of the country in 
which they reside, and will have no right to enter Persia unless their 
passports have been visC by the Persian representatives. The same treat- 
ment, as detailed in supplementary Article 11, will be applicable to the 
tribes and nomads who have previously emigrated from Afghanistan to 
Persia. Persons who have previously to the establishment of a Persian 
Legation in Kabul emigrated from Persia to Afghanistan and settled 
there, will remain Afghan subjects as before. 

Merchants, who have gone to Afghanistan from Persia only for 
purposes of trade, and have not settled there permanently, and who are 
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proved by documentary evidence not to have been treated as Afghanr by 
Afghan Government Departments, will be recognised as Persian subjects, 

16b. Ratification of Treaty and Supplementary Articles, Signed by His 
Majesty the Ghazi on September 7 ,  1923. 

In the name of God, Most Holy! 

We, the slave of Allah, the toiler in the path of God, Ameer Amanul- 
lah, King of the Exalted State of Afghanistan, ratify this friendly Treaty, 
consisting of twelve Articles and three supplementary Articles, which has 
been concluded through the authorised representatives of the two exalted 
Governments on the different dates specified, between us and His Maj- 
esty Sultan Ahmed Shah, Kajar, Shah of all territories comprised in 
Persia, and undertake to carry it out without any alteration. 



DOCUMENTS 

I .  Letter from von Bethmann-Holltueg, German Chancellor, to Amir 
Habibullah Khan. 

Der Ueberbringer dieses Schreibens, der Kaiserliche Legationssek- 
retaer Leutnant von Hentig, ist beauftragt, den K u n ~ a r  Raja Mahendra 
Pratap von Mursen nach Eurer Majestaet Hauptstadt zu begleiten. Der 
Kumar Raja, den Seine Majestaet der Kaiser und Koenig, mein erhabe- 
ner Herr, in Audienz zu empfangen geruht haben, und der hier Gele- 
genheit gehabt hat, sich davon zu ueberzeugen, dass Deutschland und 
seine Verbuendeten, Oesterreich-Ungarn und das Osmanishe Reich, als 
Sieger hervorgehen werden aus dem Kampf gegen England, Russland 
und Frankreich, gedenkt Eurer Majestaet eine Schilderung von dell 
Eindruecken zu machen, die er in Deutschland gewonnen hat und Eurer 
Majestaet Rat zu erbitten, wie Indien, das unter dem Joche einer ihm 
aufgezwungenen Fremdherrshaft seufzt, entgueltig befreit werden kann, 
so dass es wieder den ihm gebuehrenden Platz im Rate der Voelker 
einnimnt. Die Kaiserliche Regierung ist davon ueberzeigt, dass Eure 
Majestaet, deren heldenhafte Heere die Englaender und Russen schon 
oft zu Paaren getrieben haben, dem Kumar Raja den richtigen Weg zur 
Erreichung seines hohen Zieles weisen werden. 

Die Kaiserliche Regierung ergreift mit ausserordentlicher Genug- 
tuung diese Gelegenheit, um Eurer Majestaet ihre besondere Wertschaet- 
zung und Hochachtung zu versichern in der Hoffnung, dass zwischen 
dem erhabenen Koenigreich Afghanistan und dem Deutschen Reich von 
nun an dauernde Reziehungen hergestellt werden moegen zum Nutzen 
und Gedeihen beider Laender. 

Der Kaiserliche Legationssekretaer von Hentig hat Wcisung, Eurer 
Majestaet jeden Aufschluss ueber die gegenwaertige Kriegslage zu geben 
und Eurer Majestaet wichtige Eroeffnungen zu machen ueber die von 
der kaiserlichen Regierung erhoffte kuenftige Gestaltung des Verhaelt- 
nisses zwischen Afghanistan, den1 Deutschen Reiche, Oesterreich- 
Ungarn und der Turkei. 
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2.  Letter from Zimmermann, German Foreign Ofice,  to Werner Otto 

von Hentig, April 17, 1915. 

Euer Hochwohlgeboren beauftrage ich hierdurch sich nach Kabul zu 
begeben, um eine Verbindung mit dem Emir von Afghanistan her- 
zustellen und den Kurnar Mahendra Pratap bei ihm einzufuhren. Dieser 
ueberbringt seiner Majestat dern Emir von Afghanistan ein Aller- 
hoechstes Handschreiben Seiner Majestaet des Kaisers und Koenigs und 
ein Begruessungsschreiben der Kaiserlichen Regierung. 

Euer Hochwohlgeboren ersuche ich ergebenst, den Kurnar Pratap bei 
der Behandlung indischer Angelegenheiten, die ihm ausschliesslich 
uberlassen bleibt, in jeder Weise zu unterstuetzen. 

Die Leitung der Expedition nach Kabul und alle Massnahmen zu 
ihrer Durchfuehrung, insbesondere alle Anordnungen bezueglich der 
Reise, der Aufenthalte pp. und die Verwaltung des Expeditions fonds 
ubertrage ich hierrnit Eurer Hochwohlgeboren und ueberlasse ihnen 
gegebenenfalls die Bestellung eines Vertreters. 

3.  Letter from Sirdar Nasrullah Khan to von Bethmann-Hollweg, Ger- 
man Chancellor, May 12,1916. 

Der Kaiserliche Vertreter Leutnant von Hentig hat Euer Exzellenz 
Brief an Seine Majestaet meinen erhabenen Herrscher gelangen lassen 
und er hat auch Seine Hoheit den Radscha Mahandra Puratab Mursani 
Seiner Majestaet meinem erhabenen Herrscher vorgestellt. Seine Majes- 
taet haben sie in Gnaden aufgenommen und zaehlen sie unter die teuren 
Gaeste der afghanischen Regierung. Und Seine Hoheit der Radscha 
Mahandra Puratab Mursani widrnet sich in Kabul seiner Sache und die 
afghanische Regierung wird bei den Arbeiten des genannten Radscha 
Beistand und Mitarbeit leisten. 

Ferner war in Euer Exzellenz Brief geschrieben worden, dass die 
Kaiserliche Regierung mit groesster Lust und Freude diese penstige 
Gelegenheit ergreift, ihre ausgezeichnete Hochachtung und ihre aufrich- 
tige Anerkennung Seiner Majestaet zu entbieten, in der Hoffnung, dass 
zwischen dem rnaechtigen Kaiserreich Afghanistan von Gottes Gnaden 
und dern Kaiserreich Deutschland kuenftighin bis in Ewigkeit die 
freundschaftlichen Beziehungen und die andauernde ~reundschaft im 
gegenseitigen lnteresse und die Macht und der Glanz der heiden Reiche 
von Restand sein moegen. Der Kaiserliche Vertreter "on Hentia 
beauftragt worden, dass er Seiner Mafestaet jedwede noetigen 
AufilaerunRen ueber die jeteig Kricgslage unterbreite und ueber die 
Staerkung tler kuenftigen Rezieh~ln~en zwischen dem afghanischen 
Reiche und den Staaten Deutschland, Oesterreich-Ungarn und Tuerkei, 
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deren Verwirklichung die Kaiserlich Deutsche Regierung ins Auge fasst, 
und dass er wichtige Fragen dem allerhoechsten Throne aufklaere. 

Euer Exzellenz! Ueber diesen aufrichtigen Wunsch der Kaiserlich 
Deutschen Regierung ist Seine Majestaet men Herrscher und die afghan- 
ische Regierung sehr erfreut und entzueckt. Auch die afghanische Regie- 
rung wuenscht mit aeusserster Bereitwilligkeit ( ? )  die andauernde 
Freundschaft der Kaiserlich Deutschen Regierung im Interesse der bei- 
den Laender und hofft, dass die Freundschaft der beiden Staaten, die 
beiden Laendern zum Vorteil gereicht, bald die Gestalt des 
Vertragsabschlusses finden moege. 

Euer Exzellenz! Die afghanische Regierung bat Herrn von Hentig, 
dass der offizielle Freundschaftsvertrag zwischen der afghanischen Regie- 
rung und der Kaiserlich Deutschen Regierung zum Abschluss komme, 
und sie hat Herrn von Hentig auch die Bedingungen unterbreitet. Er  
sagte: "Ich kann den Vertrag nicht in offizieller Weise zum Abschluss 
bringen, aber ich werde es der Kaiserlich Deutschen Regierung 
unterbreiten. Wenn man mir oder einer anderen Person die Vollmacht 
erteilt, dann wird der offizielle Vertrag zwischen der afghanischen Regie- 
rung und der Kaiserlich Deutschen Regierung abgeschlossen werden." 

Da jetzt Herr von Hentig gebeten hat, dass fuer ihn die Erlaubnis 
zur Heimkehr gegeben werde, so schreibe ich an Euer Exzellenz diesen 
Brief und entbiete die aufrichtigen, freundschaftlichen Gefuehle seitens 
des Kaiserreiches Afghanistan von Gottes Gnaden an die hohe Kaiserlich 
Deutsche Regierung, in der Hoffnung, dass in sehr grosser Eile die 
Freundschaft der beiden Regierungen Afghanistan und der Kaiserlich 
Deutschen Regierung aus dem Projekt zur Tat werde. Ich hoffe, dass 
Euer Exzellenz bei vollster Gesundheit und bei vollstem Wohlbefinden 
sein moegen. 

4. Proposed German-Afghan Treaty of Friendship. 

Es ist der Wille und das Glueck der Herrscher und der Voelker des 
Deutschen Reiches und Afghanistans, dass sie in alle Zukunft in 
angestammter Freiheit ihre Gebiete bewohnen und nach ihren eigenen 
Gesetzen und Sitten leben sollen. Die Weisheit der Herrscher aber hat es 
erkannt, dass Wohlfahrt und Wachstum der Voelker nur moeglich sind, 
wenn sie glei~hberechti~t in Freundschaft mit anderen freien Voelkern 
verbunden sind und mit ihnen geistige Gueter und Handelswaren 
austauschen und so das Wissen und den Reichtum ihrer Untertanen 
erhoehen. So hahen denn die beiden erhabenen Herrscher Seine Majes- 
taet der Deutsche Kaiser, Koenig von Preusscn, im Namen des Deutschen 
Reiches, und Seine Majestaet Strai-ul-Millat-wa-ud-Din, Emir Habib- 
Ullah-Khan, Koenig von Daulat-i-Khudadad, Afghanistan und den vom 
Koenigreich Afghanistan abhaengigen Staaten, beschlossen, den fol- 
genden gerechten Vertrag miteinander zu schliessen, zu welchem Gott 
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der Allrnaechtige, zum Heile der Herrscher und der Voelker, seinen 
Segen geben wolle. 

Satz I 

Ich, der Deutsche Kaiser, erkenne feierlich und fuer alle Zeiten die 
Wahrheit dessen an, dass Seine Majestaet der Koenig von Daulat- 
i-Khudadad, Afghanistan und der vom Koenigreich Afghanistan 
abhaengigen Staaten Siraj-ul-Millat-wa-ud-Din, Habib-Ullah-Khan Sohn 
des grossen Abder-Rahman, aus dem erlauchten Geschlecht der Barak- 
zai, welches von Alters her dem Lande der Afghanen seine Emire 
geschenkt hat, von Gottes Gnaden den Thron Seiner Vaeter in Kabul 
einnimmt und in voller Unabhaengigkeit von seinen Nachbarn Seines 
hohen Arntes waltet. 

Es ist daher Mein aufrichtiger Wunsch, einen Vertreter Seiner Majes- 
taet des Emirs, wie solche von allen unabhaengigen Fuersten an Meinem 
Hofe beglaubigt sind, bei Mir zu ernpfangen und dauernd in Meiner 
Naehe zu sehen. Durch seinen Mund werde ich erfahren, welches die 
Gefuehle und welches die Auffassung seines erhabenen Herrn fuer Mich 
und Mein Land in allen Angelegenheiten sein werden. Er sol1 alle 
Vorrechte, Befreiungen und Ehren geniessen, wie sie den uebrigen 
Vertretern unabhaengiger Staaten im Deutschen Reiche zugebilligt wer- 
den. 

Satz I1 

Ich, Habib-Ullah-Khan, Emir aller Provinzen Afghanistans, trage den 
Wunsch, einen Vertreter Seiner Majestaet des Deutschen Kaisers an 
Meinem Hofe zu empfangen und dauernd in Meiner Naehe zu sehen. 
Meinen starken Schutz fuer seine Person und alle Vorrechte, Befreiun- 
gen und Ehrungen, wie sie dem Vertreter eines befreundeten und 
unabhaengigen Reiches zukornmen, werde ich ihm gewaehren. Aus 
seinen Worten werde Ich die Gefuehle und die Auffassung seines 
erhabenen Herrn in allen Angelegenheiten erkennen. 

Satz I11 

Ausser diesen diplomatischen Vcrtretern haben die beiden hohen 
Vertragschliessenden das Recht, in dem Lande des anderen konsula- 
rische Vertreter an einzelnen fuer den Handel und Verkehr besonders 
wichtigen Posten zu ernennen, deren Zulassung und Anerkennung vor 
Beginn ihrer Taetigkeit jedesmal durch den diplomatischen Vertreter 
erbeten werden wird. Diese Konsuln werden den gleichen persoenlichen 
Schutz geniessen, wie die diplomatischen Vertreter. 

Satz IV 

Alle unter 1-111 erwaehnten Vertreter werden Cine von ihrcm 
Herrscher selhst unterzeichnete Restallung erhalten, die bei ihrer An- 
kunft zum Zweckc ihrer Zulassung an hocchstrr Stelle vorzulegen rein 



wird. Nachdem sie anerkannt und zugelassen sind, haben diese Vertreter 
das Recht, in allen Angelegenheiten ihrer Staatsangehoerigen und 
Schutzgenossen mit den Behoerden ihres Amtsbezirks unmittelbar zu 
verkehren und sich fuer sie zu verwenden. Sollte es sich als erwuenscht 
herausstellen, so werden die hohen Vertragschliessenden noch naehere 
Vereinbarungen ueber einzelne Befugnisse der Konsuln treffen. Alle 
Vorrechte, Befreiungen und Befugnisse, die einer der hohen Vertrag- 
schliessenden den konsularischen Vertretern eines dritten Staates ge- 
waehrt oder gewaehren wird, wird er auch denen des anderen Vertrag- 
schliessenden gewaehren. 

Satz V 

Beide vertragschliessenden Teile sichern den Staatsangehoerigen und 
Schutzgenossen des anderen in ihrem Gebiete vollkommenen Schutz der 
Person und des Eigentums zu. Bei ihrem Eintritt in das Gebiet des 
anderen, ebenso wie bei ihrem Ausgang soll ihnen nichts in den Weg 
gelegt werden. Sie sollen freien und ungehinderten Zutritt zu allen 
Orten der Gebiete des anderen Teiles haben, zu welchen allgemein den 
eigenen Angehoerigen der Zutritt freisteht. 

Satz VI 

Den Angehoerigen und Schutzgenossen der beiden Teile soll 
gegenseitig vollstaendige Freiheit des Handels in und mit den Gebieten 
der beiden hohen vertragschliessenden Teile gewaehrt sein. Sie sollen 
gegenseitig dieselben Rechte und Freiheiten im Handel und Verkehr 
(2.B. bei Benutzung der Bahn, der Post und des Telegraphen) genies- 
sen, welche den eigenen Angehoerigen allgemein zustehen und kuenftig 
zustehen werden, ohne dass sie hoehere Gebuehren oder Steuern als 
diese oder als andere Fremde zu zahlen haetten. 

Satz VII 

Fuer Ein- und Ausfuhr der afghanischen und der deutschen Waren 
werden keine hoeheren Zoelle in den beiden Laendern erhoben werden 
als bei den gleichen Waren aus anderen Laendern. 

Satz VIII 

Die Deutschen in Afghanistan und die Afghanen in Deutschland 
sollen frei von allen persoenlichen oder sachlichen Diensten fuer das 
Heer sein. 

Satz IX 

Der gegenwaertige Vertrag soll von unbegrenzter Dauer sein und soll 
auch fuer alle Nachfolger der hohen Vertragschliessenden bindend sein. 
Gefaellt es aber einem der Vertragschliessenden oder einem seiner Nach- 
folger, dass der Vertrag wieder anfgehoben werden soll, so wird er es ein 



Jahr vorher dem anderen Vertragschliessenden durch den Mund seines 
Vertreters an dessen Hofe kund tun. 

Der Vertrag sol1 in Kraft treten einen Monat nach dem Tage, an 
welchem die feierliche und amtliche Veroeffentlichung mit der Unter- 
schrift Seiner Majestaet des Deutschen Kaisers im Deutschen 
erfolgt und diese Seiner Majestaet dem Emir aller Provinzen Afghani- 
stans, Habib-Ullah-Khan, zur Kennulis gebracht sein wird. 

Zu Urkund dessen haben Seine Majestaet der Emir aller Provinzen 
Afghanistans, Habib-Ullah-Khan, im Namen Seines Reiches, und der 
Kaiserlich Deutsche Geschaeftstraeger, Wirklicher Legationsrat Na- 
dolny, im Namen der Kaiserlich Deutschen Regierung diesen Vertrag in 
zwei gleichlautenden Exemplaren abgeschlossen, unterzeichnet und mit 
ihren Siegeln versehen. 

5 .  Convention concerning Afghanistan, Signed on August 31, 1907, 
between Great Britain and Russia. 

The  High Contracting Parties, in order to ensure perfect security on 
their respective frontiers in Central Asia and to maintain in these regions 
a solid and lasting peace, have concluded the following Convention:- 

Article I 

His Britannic Majesty's Government declare that they have no inten- 
tion of changing the political status of Afghanistan. 

His Britannic Majesty's Government further engage to exercise their 
influence in Afghanistan only in a pacific sense, and they will not 
themselves take, nor encourage Afghanistan to take, any measures threat- 
ening Russia. 

The Russian Government, on their part, declare that they recognise 
Afghanistan as outside the sphere of Russian influence, and they engage 
that all their political relations with Afghanistan shall be conducted 
through the intermediary of His Britannic Majesty's Government; they 
further engage not to send any Agents into Afghanistan. 

Article IT 

The  Government of His Britannic Majesty having declared in the 
Treaty signed at Kabul on the ~ 1 s t  March 1905, that they recognisc the 
Agreement and the engagements concluded with the late Amir Abdur 
Rahman, and that they have no intention of interfering in the internal 
government of Afghan territory, Great Britain engages neither to annex 
nor to occupy in contravention of that Treaty any portion of Afghanistan 
or to interfere in the internal administration of the country, 
that the Amir fulfils the engagements already contracted by him towards 
His Britannic Majesty's Government under the above mentioned TrcaY. 



Article 111 

The Russian and Afghan authorities specially designated for the 
purpose on the frontier or in the frontier provinces, may establish direct 
relations with each other for the settlement of local questions of a 
non-political character. 

Article IV 

His Britannic Majesty's Government and the Russian Government 
a6rm their adherence to the principle of equality of commercial opportu- 
nity in Afghanistan, and they agree that any facilities which may have 
been, or shall be hereafter obtained for British and British-Indian trade 
and traders, shall be equally enjoyed by Russian trade and traders. 
Should the progress of trade establish the necessity for Commercial 
Agents, the two Governments will agree as to what measures shall be 
taken, due regard, of course, being had to the Amir's sovereign rights. 

Article VI 

The present arrangements will only come into force when His Britan- 
nic Majesty's Government shall have notified to the Russian Government 
the consent of the Amir to the terms stipulated above. 

6. Letter from King George V to His Majesty, the Anzir of Afghanistan, 
BucFjingham Palace, September 24, 1915. 

I have been much gratified to learn from my Viceroy of India how 
scrupulously and honourably Your Majesty has maintained the attitude 
of strict neutrality which you guaranteed at the beginning of this War, 
not only because it is in accordance with Your Majesty's engagements to 
me, but also because by it you are serving the best interests of Afghani- 
stan and of the Islamic religion. 

I am confident that Your Majesty will continue to preserve un- 
changed this friendly attitude towards me and my Government till 
victory crowns the arms of the Allies, a prospect which daily grows 
nearer. 

You will thus still further strengthen the friendship I so greatly value, 
which has united our peoples since the days of your father, of illustrious 
memory, and of my revered predecessor, the great Queen Victoria. 

7. British Aide-Mtmoire Presented by Henry R. C .  Dobbs to the Afghan 
delegates on July 24, 1920. 

Note on proposals of British and Afghan Governments discussed by 
delegates of two States at the Conference held at Mussoorie between 
months of April and  July 1920 as a preliminary to definite negotiation of 
a treaty of friendship. 



I )  It was agreed that it is in the mutual interests of both Govern- 
ments that the Afghan State shall be strong and prosperous. 

2) British Government will be prepared to reiterate understanding 
given by them to respect absolutely integrity and independence of ~ f -  
ghanistan both in internal and external affairs, and to restrain to the best 
of their ability all persons within the British boundaries from actions 
obnoxious to the Afghan Government. 

3) British Government expects that Afghan Government will simi- 
larly undertake to prevent to the best of their ability all action within the 
boundaries of Afghanistan, whether by their own subjects or by British 
subjects, who are, or may be in the future, refugees from the British 
Dominions, or by subjects of other nations which may tend to stir up 
strife or produce enmity against British Government within the bounda- 
ries of India. British Government expects that Afghan Government will 
undertake in particular to restrain their subordinate officials and others 
from inciting frontier tribes within the British boundaries against the 
British, to prevent to the best of their ability passage through Afghan 
territory to the British frontier of arms and ammunition, and of persons 
raising agitation against British Government, to prohibit preparation 
within Afghan territory for making raids into British territory, to punish 
persons found guilty of committing such raids, and to abstain themselves 
from all interference with tribes or persons on the British side of frontier, 
and from all kinds of political propaganda within the British Empire. 

4)  If the Afghan Government were willing to give formal under- 
standing as set forth in the foregoing ~ a r a ~ r a p h ,  then British Govern- 
ment, in the event of a treaty of friendship being signed, and in order to 

show their sympathy for desires of Afghan Government to develop their 
country, would be willing to consider as part of a treaty of friendship the 
grant, for so long as Afghan Government ~erformed its undertakings to 
the satisfaction of the British Government, of assistance and concessions 
to Afghanistan on the following lines:- 

a) A yearly subvention of I S  lakhs of rupees. 
6 )  Reasonable assistance towards education in Europe, at such places 

as might be agreed upon between the two Governments, of a moderate 
number of Afghan youths, to be selected by the Afghan Government 
with due respect to their educational qualifications. 

c )  Reasonable assistance to be granted gradually, as financial and 
other circumstances might permit, towards the construction in Afghani- 
stan of railways, telegraph lines, and factories, and towards the devel0~- 
ment of mines. 

d) Technical advice regarding irrigation. 
e) The manufacture and supply of specially   re pared paper for the 

printing of Afghan currency notes, and (if necessary) provision of 
special machines for the note printing. 



f )  Technical advice regarding establishment of an Afghan Govern- 
ment or commercial bank, and regarding possibility of improving the 
system of commercial credit in Afghanistan. 
g) The restoration of the privilege of importing arms and ammuni- 

tion and military stores through India to Afghanistan, provided that the 
Government of Afghanistan shall first have signed the Arms Traffic 
Convention, and provided that such importation shall only be made in 
accordance with the provisions of that Convention. 

h )  The grant, in respect of all goods imported into India at British 
ports for re-export to Afghanistan and exported to Afghanistan by routes 
to be agreed upon between the two Governments of a rebate at the time 
and place of export of the full amount of the Customs duties levied on 
such goods subject to a deduction of not more than one-eighth of such 
duty as recompense for the work of the Customs registration, and 
provided that such goods shall be transported through India in sealed 
packages which shall not be broken before their export from India. 

i) An understanding to levy no Customs duties on such goods of 
Afghan origin or manufacture as may be lawfully imported into India, 
provided that such goods shall not be exempted from levy of the present 
Khyber toll and from levy of octroi in any Indian municipality in which 
octroi is or may be hereafter levied. 

j )  An understanding to permit export from Afghanistan through 
India in bond and in sealed packages by routes to be agreed upon 
between the two Governments of opium and charas produced and 
manufactured in Afghanistan, provided that such opium and charas shall 
not be despatched from India to any destination to which British 
Government are under an obligation prohibiting or limiting despatch of 
opium or charas. 

4 )  The facilitating of the interchange of postage articles between 
India and Afghanistan and arranging in accordance with a separate 
postage agreement establishment of offices of exchange of their frontiers, 
provided that neither Governments shall be permitted to establish a 
post office in the territory of the other Government. 

1) Permission to establish at Peshawar and Quetta trading agencies of 
Afghan Government, provided that personnel and property of agency 
shall be subject to operation of all British laws and orders and to 
jurisdiction of British courts, and that they shall not be recognised by 
British authorities as having any official or privileged position. 
m) Permission to establish Afghan Consulates at Calcutta, Bombay 

and Karachi, provided Afghan Government permit establishment of 
British Consulates at Jalalabad, Ghazni and Kandahar. 

The Consuls of both Governments with their staffs to enjoy all the 
privileges conceded by international practices to such officials. 

5) In the event of conclusion of a treaty of friendship, British 



Government would be prepared on its signature to make following gih 
to the Afghan Government as immediate and tangible tokens of 
of their intentions either following:- 

A) ( a )  One hundred and sixty miles of steel telegraph posts with a 
double wire to be handed over either at Chaman or at Peshawar. 

6 )  Ten new large motor lorries with spares. 
c )  Twenty new touring cars with spares, American make, owing to 

difficulty in obtaining prompt delivery of new English cars. 
d) Three hundred soldiers' pats, bivouac tents. 
Or  the following:- 
B) Four hundred and sixty steel telegraph posts with a double wire. 
(N.B.-This would be sufficient for construction of a telegraph sys- 

tem from the British frontier to Kabul, and from Kabul to Kandahar; 
but it must be explained that immediate delivery could be made only of 
160 miles, which would su6ce for the line from the British frontier to 
Kabul. The balance of 300 miles could not be made available in less than 
a year from now, owing to shortage of material in India.) 

The  following points are reserved for consideration at the time of 
negotiating a treaty of friendship:- 

a) Permission to export from Afghanistan rouble notes through India 
to countries outside India where their entry is permitted. 

6) Representation of Afghan Government in London. 

8.  Translation of  Letter from Amir Amanulla Khan, Amir of Afghoni- 
stan and Its Dependencies, to His Excellency the Viceroy, March 3, 
'9'9. 
A f t m  compliments.-I am desirous of informing my friend, His 

Excellency the Viceroy of the great and mighty British Government in 
the Indian Empire, with much despair and regret, of the particulars of a 
crime full of poignant grief, namely, the crime of the unjust and 
unlawful assassination of my late father, His Majesty Siraj- 
ul-Millat-wad-din Amir Habibulla Khan, King of the Government of 
Afghanistan, who was killed by a pistol shot at 3 A.M. in his royal bed on 
Thursday, the 18th Jarnadi-ul-Awal 1337 Hijra, corresponding to the 
20th February 1919, during his stay at a place called Kalla Gosh in his 
royal dominions by the hand of a treacherous perfidious traitor. I have no 
doubt that Your Excellency, my friend, will be much touched by the 
news of this painful event, for the observance of all the conditions of 
neutrality and the upright conduct and friendly relations displayed 
during the past and present by His Majesty my late father, the martyr, 
towards my esteemed friend's mighty Government were clearly proved 
and require no mention. I, Your Excellency's friend, had been appointed 
by order and command of His late Majesty, my assassinated pious father, 
as his plenipotentiary in the capital of Kabul, and consider mydf in 



every way his heir and successor as Amir and the rightful caller to 
account and avenger at this time of my father's blood. The people and 
populace of the capital of Kabul and its surroundings, Saiyads, Ulemas, 
military and civil classes, traders, artisans, Muhammadan and Hindu 
subjects of Afghanistan itself, as well as all foreign subjects who were in 
the capital, unanimously and unitedly, with great enthusiasm and of 
their own free will and consent, swore allegiance to me, your friend; and 
putting my trust in God I placed on my head the crown of the Amirship 
of my Government of Afghanistan in the capital of Kabul amid the loud 
acclamations of the people and troops. And this by the grace of God. 
Later on our Government Armies in camp at Jalalabad also took their 
stand on the path of Right, which was wholly on our side, and proved 
their fidelity and loyalty by deposing and divesting of ofice my uncle 
Sardar Nasrulla Khan, who had as usurper declared himself Amir 
without any right at Jalalabad, and by submitting to me their oaths of 
allegiance. Thereupon my uncle Sardar Nasrulla Khan abdicated the 
throne of the kingdom, and my brothers Sardars Inayatulla Khan and 
Hayatulla Khan and other members of the Royal family, who had sworn 
allegiance to him, considered that allegiance illegal and submitted their 
oaths of allegiance to me at Kabul and acknowledged and recognised my 
succession as Amir and King. Therefore relying upon the friendship and 
sympathy that exist and will continue to exist between us, I have 
considered it necessary to do myself the great honour of informing my 
friend. 

Nor let this remain unknown to that friend that our independent and 
free Government of Afghanistan considers itself ready and prepared at 
every time and season to conclude, with due regard to every considera- 
tion for the requirements of friendship and the like, such agreements 
and treaties with the mighty Government of England as may be useful 
and serviceable in the way of commercial gains and advantages to our 
Government and yours. 

For the rest kindly accept considerations of my friendly esteem. 

9. Letter from His Excellency the Viceroy to Amir Amanulla Khan, 
April 15, 1919. 

After compliments.-I have received from you with deepest regret the 
lamentable news of the untimely death of your revered father His 
Majesty the late Amir Habibulla Khan Siraj-ul-Millat-Wad-din. United 
from of old by ties of friendship, the British Government and the 
Government of Afghanistan are now united in a common sorrow. For 
while Afghanistan mourns the loss of a great ruler who ever sought the 
welfare of his countrymen and by his wise statesmanship preserved it 
from the horrors which the war, just ended, has brought upon so many 
nations, the British Government mourns the loss of a staunch friend who 
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throughout his reign maintained firm the alliance between the two 
Governments. 

I thank you for informing me that you have been unanimously 
acknowledged as Amir by the populace of Kabul and its surroundings, 
Saiyads, Ulemas, Military and Civil classes, that your uncle Sardar 
Nasrulla Khan has abdicated, and that your brothers Sardars Inayatulla 
Khan and Hayatulla Khan and other members of the Royal family, 
together with the troops at Jalalabad, have sworn allegiance to you. 

I note with pleasure that you say that you have sent me this informa- 
tion relying upon the friendship and sympathy which exist and will 
continue to exist between the two Governments. That friendship is based 
on the treaties and engagements concluded with the British Government 
by the late Zia-ul-Millat-Waddin and confirmed by the late Siraj- 
ul-Millat-Wad-din, and I understand from what you say that the Govern- 
ment of Afghanistan intends to act upon them as in the past. 

You say moreover that the Government of Afghanistan considers 
itself ready at every time and season to conclude with due regard to the 
requirements of friendship such agreements and treaties with the British 
Government as may be to the commercial advantage of the two Govern- 
ments. From this it seems possible that the commercial requirements of 
Afghanistan are thought to call for some agreement with the British 
Government subsidiary to the treaties and engagements above- 
mentioned. At this period of mourning I refrain from pursuing the 
matter further. But the Government of Afghanistan may rest assured 
that I shall be prepared at all times to invite His Majesty's Government 
to give careful consideration to anything it may wish to put forward and 
that it will be my constant endeavour in the future as in the past to foster 
friendly relations between the two Governments. 

10. Translation of Proclamation by Amir Arnanulla Khan (undated). 

In the name of God, most merciful and compassionate. 
0 high-minded nation l 
0 courageous army! 
This weak creature of the Creator of the Universe, uiz., your Amir, 

Amir Amanulla, gives you joyful tidings that thank God-again thank 
God-the Government of this great nation of ours and the sacred soil of 
our beloved country have in a very admirable way remained peaceful 
and safe from the horrors of such a disturbance as was calculated to 
make our enemies-near and far-happy and joyful and our friends 
much concerned. And this by the grace of God. 

Listen, the facts are as follows:- 
You have already been informed by proclamations, firmans and 

notices of the details of what has happened. 
The happy news now is this. The bold and courageous army of our 
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Government at Jalalabad displayed the greatest sense of honour and 
courage in the discharge of all their obligations. On Thursday the 25th 
Jamadi-ul-Awal 1337 Hijra (27th February rgrg), all the officers and 
soldiers who had accompanied His late Majesty, my father, the martyr, 
assembled on the parade ground of the cantonment at Jalalabad, swore 
allegiance to me with the band playing, a salute of guns and great 
rejoicings. Thereafter they arrested and imprisoned all persons who were 
entrusted with the safeguarding of His late Majesty and who were on 
special duty in the Royal bedroom at the time of the assassination and 
demanded their being called to account and punished by my uncle, who, 
without any religious or worldly right, had acted as usurper and declared 
himself as Amir. Since no false claimant can establish his illegal claim, 
my uncle, who had no right, voluntarily abdicated the Amirship and 
recognised me as Amir. The deeds of his allegiance and those of my 
brothers, Sardars Inayatulla Khan and Hayatulla Khan and other mem- 
bers of the Royal family have been received by me. Copies of these are 
herewith sent for your perusal and information. 

0 high-minded nation of Afghanistan! Let us offer thousands of 
thanks and praises most humbly to the imperishable God of the Earth 
and Heavens with our burning hearts and bleeding eyes that H e  has 
saved our sublime Government from the horrors of commotion and 
confusion and has inspired our Islamic Government with more strength, 
power and freedom. Please do not for a moment think that this King of 
yours expresses his thankfulness for his success in securing the throne. 
No, I express my thankfulness to God for safeguarding peace and 
prosperity of yourselves, my beloved nation, for saving the Muslims of 
the great nation of my beloved country Afghanistan at these perilous and 
hazardous times from various troubles and misfortunes and their painful 
consequences and for giving us a new lease of life. 

0 courageous army of the Government of Afghanistan1 I offer 
thollsands of thanks and endless praise to God, the Most Holy-Glory be 
to Him-that your soulconsuming bullets and your heart-piercing steel 
spearheads which were kept ready for the protection of the honour of the 
faith and nation of our country have by the grace of God been prevented 
from being used for our self-destruction and against each other. Under- 
stand it well and carefully realise that this is due to the special favour 
and mercy of God Almighty and the spiritual blessings of the Prophet 
which have been showered on our Government and nation. It is the 
eternal will of the unchangeable Creator-Exalted be His Glory-that all 
hardship and oppression may be removed from the heads of your nation; 
and that Afghanistan may be protected from the mischief of enemies of 
the faith and the country. 

0 nation with a nice sense of honour. 
0 brave army. 

While my great nation were putting the Crown of the Kingdom on my 
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head, I declared to you with a loud voice that I would accept the Crown 
and throne only on the condition that you should all co-operate with me 
in my thoughts and ideas. These I explained to you at the time and I 
repeat here a summary thereof :- 

I )  Firstly that the Government of Afghanistan should be internally 
and externally independent and free, that is to say, that all rights of 
Government that are possessed by other independent Powers of the 
world should be possessed in their entirety by Afghanistan. 

2) Secondly that you should unite with me with all your force in 
avenging the unlawful assassination of my late father, the martyr, who 
was spiritually a father to all of you. 

3) Thirdly that the nation should be free, that is to say, that no 
individual should be oppressed and subjected to any highhandedness or 
tyranny by any other individual. Of course obedience to the sacred law of 
Muhammad and Civil and Military laws is looked upon as a glorious 
honour for which we, the great nation of Afghanistan, are by disposition 
and nature well-known. 

I would not accept your Crown except on these conditions. All of you, 
members of the high-minded strong nation, accepted these conditions 
with enthusiasm and acclamation, and I also put that great supreme 
Crown on my head with extreme honour and with determined resolu- 
tion and purpose thus putting my head under the heavy weight of 
"imamat and amarat" (religious leadership and rulership). I hope that 
you, my faithful prudent and high-minded nation, will pray to the 
Creator of the Earth and the Heavens to favour me with strength to be 
successful in my undertaking and in doing all that may be necessary for 
your welfare and prosperity; and that you will co-operate with me 
manfully in the execution of my thoughts and ideas. 0 nation1 at present 
I abolish at the outset the system of "begar" (impressed labour) in the 
country. Henceforward no labour will be impressed and not a single 
individual will be employed by force from among you on making roads, 
working on public works, tree cutting, etc., and by the grace of God 
sublime Government will adopt such measures of reform as may prove 
serviceable and useful to the country and nation so that the Government 
and nation of Afghanistan may make a name and gain great renown in 
the civilized world and take its proper place among the civilized I'owers 
of the world. 

For the rest I pray to God for His favours and mercy and seek His 
help for the welfare and prosperity of you Muslims and all mankind. 
From God I seek guidance and the completion of my wishes. 
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